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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND TO THE CLAIM 

THE QU'APPELLE VALLEY INDIAN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

The Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development Authority (QVIDA) is made up of 
eight member First Nations, six of which are participating in the present pro- 
ceedings. The four western bands are the Piapot, Muscowpetung, Pasqua, 
and Standing Buffalo First Nations, and the four eastern hands are the 
Sakimay, Cnwessess, Kahkewistahaw, and Ochapnwace First Nations. Piapot 
and Kahkewistahaw are not involved in this inquiry. 

THE IMPORTANCE OF WATER IN THE QU'APPELLE VALLEY 

There are six lakes in the Qu'Appelle Valley in the vicinity of the reserve lands 
at present held by the six participating First Nations. Four lakes located in 
close proximity to the western First Nations are known as the Fishing Lakes, 
including Pasqua Lake (also known as Qu'AppeUe Lake), Echo Lake, Mission 
Lake (also known as Lebret Lake), and Katepwe Lake. The remaining two 
lakes are Crooked and Round Lakes, on which the three participating eastern 
First Nations are located. 

Treaty 4, or the Qu'Appelle Treaty, was entered into on September 15, 
1874, by representatives of the Government of Canada and by the Chiefs of 
four of the QWA First Nations: Cnwessess ("Ka-wey-ance" or "Ka-wezauce," 
also known as "The Little Boy" or "The Little Child), Pasqua ("The Plain"), 
Kahkewistahaw ("Him That Flies Around), and finally Kakisheway ("Loud 
Voice") and Chacachas (whose bands later merged to become Ochapowace). 
In the years following settlement on their respective reserves, the QMDA First 
Nations developed economies that took advantage of the abundant natural 
resources available in the Qu'Appelle Valley. The relatively flat landscape 
resulted in seasonal Uoodiug of hay Uats and ongoing "natural irrigation," 
which stimulated high yields of top-quality hay. Other products of the valley 
included cattle (fed on hay), firewood, farm produce, senega root, berries, 



INDIAN C L A I M S  C O M M I S S I O N  P R O C E E D I N G S  

small game, and all of the First Nations took advantage of the fishing in the 
various lakes. The Indians also supplemented their livelihoods by freighting, 
hauling hay, tanning and managing cattle for the agency f m ,  trading, and 
working off the reserves. 

In 1894, the federal government passed the North-West Irrigation Act, 
which was designed to vest property rights in water to the Crown throughout 
the North-West Territories. The Act provided that any person who already 
held water rights s d a r  to those recognized under this Act, or who bad 
constructed or was operating dams and other works, could obtain a licence 
or authorization within a certain period of time to continue to be able to 
exercise those rights. Failure to obtain a licence resulted in the water rights 
being forfeited to the Crown. There is no evidence that any applicdtion was 
made by Indian Affairs on behalf of the Qu'AppeUe Valley Bands for such a 
licence or authorization. 

During the 1930s, water in the Qu'AppeUe Valley took on even greater 
importance as a result of extended drought conditions on the prairies and a 
worldwide economic depression. These events prompted the federal govern- 
ment to create the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration (PFRA), whose 
mandate was to provide for the rehabilitation of the drought and of soil- 
drifting areas of the three Prairie Provinces and to assist in the conservation 
of surface water supplies for household use, stockwatering, and irrigation. 
The Qu'AppeUe Valley was just one possible area for large water development 
projects, and investigations began across the Prairie Provinces to assess the 
viability of many potential sites for the erection of water control structures. 
Comprehensive field investigations, including topographical surveys and soil 
investigations, were required to determine the foundations needed for the 
structures that would have to be built. 

DEVELOPMENT OF DAMS IN THE QU'APPELLE VALLEY 

Echo lake Project 
In May 1941, the PFRA asked Indian Affairs for permission to erect a dam at 
the east end of Pasqua Lake that would have the effect of continuously flood- 
ing portions of the Muscowpetung and Pasqua reserves. Indian Mairs 
responded that it was obvious that damage would result from this project and 
that investigations would be undertaken to quantify the compensation that 
would have to be paid to the affected bands. P.A. Fetterly, an engineer with 
the Department of Mines and Resources, estimated that the total damages 
payable to the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands would be $8050. No recog- 



nition was given to any potential flooding of lands on the Standing Buffalo 
reserve. 

The proposed dam on Pasqua Lake was not built, but instead a structure 
on Echo Lake was substituted to control the water levels of both lakes. No 
adjustment or reconsideration of Fetterly's damage estimate was made since 
it was believed that, in the short term, less damage would be caused by a 
structure on Echo Lake and, in the long term, it was likely that a structure 
would also be constructed on Pasqua Lake. The dam was built shortly after 
approval of the project was obtained in 1942. However, Fetterly's estimate of 
$8050 to compensate the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands for damage to 
their reserve lands was never paid to the Bands, even though the PFRA and 
Indian Affairs considered the amount to be reasonable. There is no evidence 
that the Bands authorized the project or were even consulted regarding the 
dam. 

Crooked Lake and Round Lake Project 
In 1941, Fetterly was asked by the PFRA to provide his opinion regarding the 
potential &amages and benefits that might arise from the construction of 
dams on Crooked and Round Lakes. In the meantime, the PFRA commenced 
construction on the two dams without obtaining consent from a£fected Bands. 
The PFRA apparently proceeded on the advice of the Acting Director of 
Indian Affairs who assumed that band consent was not necessary because the 
PFRA had powers of expropriation. In Februaq 1942, Fetterly recommended 
that, in addition to paying damages of $3300 to the Sakimay, Cowessess, and 
Ochapowace Bands, the PFRA should also construct a bridge west of the 
flooded area on Crooked Lake to replace a ford that would be made impass- 
able by the higher water levels. Approval of the payment of $3330, including 
an additional $30 in respect of the Cowessess Indian Residential School, was 
given in November 1942, and the payment was paid to the respective Bands 
in May 1943. 

EFFECTS OF THE DAMS 

The economies of the Qu'Appelle Valley First Nations before 1940 featured 
considerable reliance on activities and resources in the valley bottom, includ- 
ing native hay, timber, beaver, muskrat, deer, berries, maple sugar, and 
important cultural and medicinal herbs and vegetation, such as sweetgrass 
and senega root. The water in the river system itself was also fundamental to 
the Bands' existence, not only for domestic purposes but also for fishing, 



stockwatering, and the natural irrigation that it provided by means of sed- 
sonal flooding of low-lying lands. Lower water levels also permitted band 
members to cross the river to access hay and other resources on both sides. 
Several of the reserves "developed a strong attachment to economic, social 
and cultural activities based on the river habitat." 

The construction of the dams resulted in the continuous flooding of cer- 
tain areas of the reserves, with other areas occasionally flooded and still 
other areas damaged by capillry action and salinization. Various trees, 
shrubs, and nutrient rich grasses were replaced by saline plants, and the loss 
of shelter and food resulted in the reduction of small game. At the same time, 
the Indian economies were undermined by the shift away from large-scale 
use of horse-drawn wagons for transport and wood for heating fuel. 

THE BAND COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS OF 1977 

In late 1972, the PFRA determined that it had not compensated either Mus- 
cowpetung or Pasqua for damages caused by the Echo Lake dam and that 
there was no evidence of any agreement between the PFRA and Indian Affairs 
or the Bands. Negotiations commenced in September 1973, and by July 1975 
all three participating western Bands had retained lawyer Roy WeUman to 
negotiate on their behalf. On November 16, 1976, the Bands offered to 
accept a lump sum settlement of $265,000 in consideration for a permit 
authorizing future use and occupation of reserve lands for flooding purposes 
as well as a release of past, present, and future damages caused by the 
structure. 

The PFRA initially objected to this proposal, noting that the Bands had 
previously agreed to a settlement of $100 per acre based on the acreage 
determined by a joint engineering assessment. Eventually, however, the PFRA 
concluded that the sum of $265,000 could be justified, and the Bands passed 
Band Council Resolutions confirming the settlement. The settlement was 
approved on July 7, 1977, and payments were deposited to the credit of the 
respective Bands. 

DISSATISFACTION WITH THE S E W M E N T  

In October 1977, the new Chief of the Muscowpetung First Nation, Ron 
Rosebluff, raised concerns about the "perpetual" nature of the settlement, 
which he later equated to a surrender. Although Muscowpetung initially 
intended not to use or even accept the funds allocated to it, the evidence 
indicates that all three First Nations spent all or virtually all of the sums paid 



to them. Despite assurances from the PFUA that the settlement did not repre- 
sent a permanent alienation of land requiring a surrender and the consent of 
a majority of eligible hand members, Muscowpetung issued a Band Council 
Resolution in February 1978 rescinding the 1977 Band Council Resolutions. 

In addition to the objections of Chief Rosebluff, Indian Affairs was having 
difficulties identifying the lands to be covered by the permits contemplated by 
the 1977 settlement. A dispute regarding the permits developed between 
Indian Affairs and the Department of Regional Economic Expansion (DREE). 
Although the dispute was elevated to deputy ministerial level by late 1981 and 
early 1982, the departments reached an impasse and no permits were ever 
issued. 

In the meantime, QVIDA had been formed in 1979 to represent the inter- 
ests of its eight member First Nations. Standing Buffalo issued its own 
rescinding Band Council Resolution on November 10, 1980, and Pasqua fol- 
lowed suit on February 10, 1982. In mid-1986, the QVIDA Bands issued 
Band Council Resolutions approving the submission of specific claims for 
compensation arising from "the illegal ahenation and flooding" of their 
respective reserves. However, owing to a lack of activity, QVIDA's claim file 
was closed in 1989 by the Specific Claims Branch of Indian Affairs subject to 
the understanding that it could be reopened when QVIDA was ready to resub- 
mit its claim. QVIDA viewed this as a "constructive rejection" of the claim by 
Indian Affairs. Accordingly, in September 1994, the QVIDA First Nations 
requested that the Indian Claims Commission conduct an inquiry into the 
claim. 

ISSUES 

The broad question before the Indian Claims Commission in this inquiry is 
whether the claims of the six QVIDA First Nations disclose a breach of the 
Crown's "lawful obligations" to the First Nations under the Specific Claims 
Policy. In answering this question, the Commission must determine whether, 
based on the evidence and submissions, these claims were properly rejected 
by Canada. 

Canada and the participating QVIDA First Nations have agreed that, to 
assess the claims properly, the Commission must consider the following five 
issues: 

1 Could the Crown authorize the PFRA under section 34 of the Indian Act, 
1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes? If so, was 
the PFRA so authorized? If not, did Canada breach its fiduciary obligations 
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to the QVIDA First Nations by failing to obtain proper authorization under 
the Act? 

2 Lf Canada could and did properly authorize the PFRA under section 34 of 
the Indian Act, 1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding pur- 
poses, did the Crown nevertheless have a fiduciaq obligation to consult or 
otherwise consider the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations before 
proceeding? 

3 Did the terms of Treaty 4 preclude the Crown from relying on section 34 
of the Indian Act, 1927, or otherwise require the consent of the QVIDA 
First Nations to authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for 
flooding purposes? 

4 Did the Band Council Resolutions signed by the Pasqua, Standing Buffalo, 
and Muscowpetung First Nations in the 1970s effectively release the Crown 
and the PFRA from all past, present, and future claims for damage caused 
by the Echo Lake control structure built in the 1940s? 

5 Did those QVIDA First Nations with reserves adjacent to or on both sides 
of the Qu'Appelle River and lakes have common law riparian water rights, 
including rights to the river beds? If so, did the Crown have an obligation 
to ensure that these water rights were protected under the North-West 
Irrigation Act, 1894, and the Dominion Power Act, and to act in the First 
Nations' best interests when those rights might be affected? Moreover, did 
the Crown act in the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations when it 
authorized the PFRA to construct control structures that altered the First 
Nations' riparian interests and caused consequential losses? 

THE COMMISSION'S ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS 

Issue  1: Section 34 of the Indian Act, 1927 
Canada acknowledged that it had not acquired the right to use and occupy 
reserve lands of the QVIDA First Nations by way of exproptiation or surren- 
der, so the question that remained was whether such use and occupation 
could be authorized by the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs under 
section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act. Based on the reasoning of the Supreme 
Court of Canada's recent ruling in Opetchesabt Indian Band u. Canada, the 
Commission concludes that, wen if section 34 enabled the Superintendent 
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General to authorize the use and occupation of reserve land, the rights con- 
veyed to the PFRA were too extensive, exclusive, and permanent to be author- 
ized under section 34. Moreover, unlike subsection 28(2) of the later Indian 
Act, section 34 does not contemplate consent by either a band or a band 
council, meaning that it should be interpteted even more narrowly than sub- 
section 28(2). 

Since section 34 did not form an appropriate basis for authorizing use and 
occupation of reserve lands for flooding purposes in this case, it was not 
necessary for the Commission to consider whether Canada actually did 
authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands under the section. It was 
necessary for the PFRA to acquire by surrender or expropriation the right to 
use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes. Having failed to do so, 
the PFRA has trespassed on the reserve lands of all six participating First 
Nations from the early 1940s to at least 1977, and on the reserve lands of the 
Sakimay, Cowessess, and Ochapowace First Nations to this day. The impact of 
the 1977 settlement on the PFRA's use and occupation of the reserve lands of 
the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo First Nations is addressed 
below. 

Issues 2 and 3: Canada's Fiduciary and Treaty Obligations 
Given that the Commission has concluded that it was inappropriate for 
Canada to authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding 
purposes under section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act, it is unnecessary to 
determine whether Canada breached a fiduciary or treaty obligation to con- 
sult or otherwise consider the best interests of the QWlA First Nations before 
procedng. 

Issue 4: Effects of the 1977 Band Council Resolutions 
For the same reasons that it was not open to Canada to authorize the use and 
occupation of reserve lands for flooding purposes under section 34 of the 
1927 Indian Act, Canada could not authorize such use and occupation 
under subsection 28(2) of the 1970 Indian Act as part of the 1977 settle- 
ment discussions with Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo. The 
present case is distinguishable from Opetcksaht and the Commission's 
inquiry into the Eel River Bar First Nation because of the more extensive, 
exclusive, and permanent interest granted to the PFRA than to the British 
Columbia Hydro and Power Authority and the New Bmnswick Water Authority 
in those other cases. Moreover, the 1977 settlement was void from the begin- 
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ning under subsection 28(1) of the Indian Act, either entirely or at a mini- 
mum with respect to that portion of the settlement relating to the permits and 
damages for future use and occupation looking fonvard from 1977. The 
effect of these conclusions is that the PFRA remained in trespass on the Mus- 
cowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo reserves a@ 1977. The question 
of whether any pre-1977 trespasses were settled depends on whether the 
Band Councils had the power to enter into binding settlements with respect 
to the unauthorized use and occupation of reserve lands and whether the 
release clause in the 1977 Band Council Resolutions can be severed from 
those portions of the agreement rendered void by subsection 28(1) of the 
Indian Act. 

Unless it chooses to remove the control structures at Echo Lake, Crooked 
Lake, and Round Lake, Canada should immediately commence negotiations 
to obtain, whether by surrender or expropriation, the interests in land it 
requires for flooding purposes from all six reserves. Canada should also 
commence negotiations to determine the remaining compensation, if any, 
payable to the Sakimay, Cowessess, and Ochapowace First Nations for flood- 
ing damages since the 1940s, taking into account the $3270 received by 
those First Nations as compensation in 1943. Similarly, Canada should com- 
mence negotiations to determine the remaining compensation, if any, payable 
to the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo First Nations for flooding 
damages to those reserves, again taking into account the compensation of 
$265,000 paid to the three First Nations under the terms of the 1977 settle- 
ment. Whether the settlement entered into by the Band Councils in relation to 
damages prior to 1977 is binding on the respective Bands, and whether this 
part of the agreement can be severed and can operate independently to settle 
the damages arising during that period, are issues the parties should negoti- 
ate. If they are unable to settle those issues or any other question relating to 
the quantum of compensation arising out of the PFRA's use and occupation 
of reserve lands, the parties may return to the Commission for a further 
inquiry into such matters. 

The Band Council Resolutions by which the three western Bands pur- 
ported to rescind the 1977 Band Council Resolutions and the settlement are 
irrelevant to these proceedings. If the 1977 settlement was entirely void ab 
initio under subsection 28(1) of the Indian Act, this issue is academic since 
it would not have been necessary for the Bands to issue rescinding Band 
Council Resolutions to render the earlier resolutions ineffective. However, to 
the extent, if any, that the 1977 settlement can be considered valid under 
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section 28 of the Indian Act, the 1977 Band Council Resolutions were 
merely evidence of the intention to enter into a contract. As such, it would be 
contrary to basic principles of contract law to permit the First Nations unilat- 
erally to withdraw from the 1977 settlement without the concurrence of the 
PFRA. 

Issue 5: Aboriginal, Treaty, and Riparian Water Rights 
It is nnoecessary for the Commission to address the nature and extent of the 
First Nations' aboriginal, treaty, and riparian water rights in Light of our find- 
ings in relation to the first four issues. Nevertheless, to the extent that the 
interference with such water rights constitutes an alternative cause of action, 
and if the PFRA and its successors can be shown to have interfered with the 
First Nations' water rights, we consider the First Nations to be entitled to 
claim compensation for the damages caused by such interference. Due 
regard must be had, of course, for compensation already paid to the First 
Nations to avoid any element of "double counting." 

The evidence before the Commission is insufficient to link pollution in the 
Qu'AppeUe River conclusively to the construction and use of the Echo Lake, 
Crooked Lake, and Round Lake control structures. Similarly, we have been 
shown no evidence that the failure by Canada to license the First Nations' 
consumptive rights under the North-West Irrigation Act of 1894 has caused 
any damage to the First Nations. The Commission therefore deches the invi- 
tation to decide whether the First Nations' riparian or other water rights were 
extinguished by that statute, or whether the Crown failed to protect those 
rights. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Having found that the Government of Canada owes an outstanding lawful obli- 
gation to the First Nations of the Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development 
Authority with respect to the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration's 
acquisition of the right to use and occupy their reserve lands for flooding 
purposes, we therefore recommend: 

1 That Canada immediately commence negotiations with the QVIDA 
First Nations to acquire by surrender or expropriation such inter- 
ests in land as may be required for the ongoing operation of the 
control structures at Echo Jake, Crooked Lake, and Round Jake 
or, alternatively, remove the control structures. 



2 That the flooding claims of the Sakimay, Cowessess, and 
Ochapowace First Nations be accepted for negotiation under 
Canada's Specific Claims Policy with respect to 

(a) damages caused to reserve lands since the original construc- 
tion of the dams in the early 1940s, and 

(b) compensation for 

(i) the value of any interest that Canada may acquire in the 
reserve lands, and 

(ii) future damages to reserve lands, 

subject to set-off of compensation of $3270 paid to those First 
Nations in 1943. 

3 That the flooding claims of the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Stand- 
ing Buffalo First Nations be accepted for negotiation under 
Canada's Specific Claims Policy with respect to 

(a) damages caused to reserve lands 

(i) since the original construction of the dams in the early 
1940s, or 

(ii) alternatively, since 1977, if these First Nations can he 
bound by the 1977 Band Council Resolutions and if the 
release for damages prior to 1977 can be severed from 
the invalid part of the settlement, and 

(b) compensation for 

(i) the value of any interest that Canada may acquire in the 
reserve lands, and 

(ii) future damages to reserve lands, 

subject to set-off of compensation of $265,000 paid to those First 
Nations in 1977. 
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PART I 

INTRODUCTION 

BACKGROUND TO THE C W M  

To understand the claim of the Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development 
Authority (QVIDA) in this inquiry, it is first necessary to understand the com- 
position and purpose of the organization as well as the geography from 
which it derives its name. 

QVIDA was established in 1979 in response to concerns of its member 
First Nations that, among other things, their culture, rights, and interests 
were not being sufficiently protected and articulated in the use and develop- 
ment of land and water resources in the Qu'Appelle Valley. Of particular 
relevance to this inquji, the organization sought to obtain redress for dam- 
age caused to reserve lands by control structures erected by the Prairie Farm 
Rehabilitation Administration (PFRA) in the early 1940s, and to exert greater 
iniluence over the future operation of the water rkgime in the valley. 

Eight First Nations constitute QVIDA's membership - from west to east, 
Piapot, Muscowpetung, Pasqua, Standing Buffalo, Sakimay, Cowessess, 
Kahkewistahaw, and Ochapowace - although only six are participants in the 
present inquiry. Smce the inquiry relates strictly to damages caused by the 
PFRA's control structures at Echo Lake, Crooked Lake, and Round Lake, 
Piapot is not involved because it is located too far upstream to have been 
affected by those structures. It may initiate a separate claim in relation to 
damages alleged to have been caused by structures constructed on the river 
in the 1970s. 

Similarly, Kahkewistahaw is not a participant in this inquiry because, in 
rejecting QVIDA's flooding claim, Canada did not understand that the flood- 
ing may have affected Kahkewistahaw's reserve lands and did not address the 
issue at that time. As a result, Canada has more recently undertaken to review 
further submissions from Kahkewistahaw with regard to damages, to deter- 
mine what (if any) compensation was paid to the First Nation for the flooding 
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of its reserve lands, and to provide a response. In the meantime, to allow the 
inquiry to proceed without further delay, Kahkewistahaw has elected to pro- 
ceed separately should its claim be rejected by Canada after the First Nation 
has submitted additional claim materials. 

At the centre of the QVDA claims is the Qu'AppeUe River (see map on 
page 186). At its west end, the river originates at Lake Diefenbaker, where 
the Gardiner and Qu'Appelle Dams have made a long, winding lake of the 
South Saskatchewan River reaching upstream almost to the boundary 
between Saskatchewan and Alberta. In dry years, water from the South Sas- 
katchewan can be diverted around the Qu'Appelle Dam and down the valley 
to the thirsty farmlands below. 

As the Qu'AppeUe River meanders through the flat Saskatchewan land- 
scape, its flow is first impeded by a control structure near Eyebrow, Sas- 
katchewan, which creates tiny Eyebrow Lake. From there the river continues 
to the southeast until its current is again slowed by Buffalo Pound Lake, the 
product of another man-made control structure. Immediately below the dam, 
the river swings to the northeast, its volume augmented by the combined 
flows of the Moose Jaw River and Thunder Creek. Farther east it is joined just 
upstream of Lumsden by Wascana Creek, coming from Regina and supple- 
mented by Cottonwood Creek. At Lumsden the Qu'AppeUe River passes 
beneath Highway 11, the major roadway connecting Regina and Saskatoon, 
and extends northeast to Craven. There, the Craven and Valeport control 
structures permit water to be diverted northward into the huge storage 
capacity of Last Mountain Lake for later release to irrigate the Valeport Flats 
and other areas downstream. 

Having passed Craven, the Qu'AppeUe River maintains its northeast head- 
ing until it reaches Highway 6 directly north of Regina, where it veers to the 
east. At this point it enters the Piapot First Nation's Indian Reserve (IR) 75, 
which spans both sides of the river for several miles. Following a tortuous 
journey eastward, the river is joined from the north by Loon Creek, then 
traverses the northern edge of Muscowpetung's IR 80 and Pasqua's IR 79. 
Across the river from IR 80 is IR 80B, a hay reserve set apart for Mus- 
cowpetung and other bands, including Standing Buffalo. As the river flows 
along the northern boundary of the Pasqua reserve, it slows and empties into 
Pasqua Lake (at one time also known as Qu'AppeUe Lake), the first of four 
lakes in quick succession which have come to be known collectively as the 
Fishing Lakes or the Qu'AppeUe Lakes. Pasqua's reserve occupies almost the 



Q U ' A P P E L L E  V A L L E Y  I N D I A N  D E V E L O P M E N T  A U T H O R I T Y  I N Q U I R Y  

entire southern shore of Pasqua Lake, other than the most easterly mile or 
SO. 

Jumping Deer Creek drains from the north into the east end of Pasqua 
Lake about a half-mile upstream of the short channel between that lake and 
the second of the Fishing Lakes - Echo Lake. Standing Buffalo's IR 78 strad- 
dles Jumping Deer Creek along portions of the north shores of both Pasqua 
and Echo Lakes and the intervening reach of the river. Situated at the lower 
east end of Echo Lake, the Echo Lake Dam controls the water levels of both 
Pasqua Lake and Echo Lake. The structure floods valley lands on the Mus- 
cowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo reserves, and it is this flooding that 
constitutes one aspect of the present claim before the Indian Claims Commis- 
sion (the Commission). 

Immediately below the dam axe the town of Fort Qu'AppeUe and the con- 
fluence of the Qu'AppeUe River with the northward-flowing Echo Creek. As 
the river snakes to the southeast, it flows past the towns of Lehret and 
Katepwa and into Mission Lake and Katepwa Lake - the last two Fishing 
Lakes - before being restrained yet again by another control structure at the 
lower end of Katepwa Lake. From that point it continues to the southeast, 
supplementing its flow with drainage from Pheasant Creek to the north and 
Indianhead Creek, Redfox Creek, and Adair Creek to the south. Once again 
the river angles to the northeast, joining forces with Pearl Creek before 
resuming a southeasterly course and entering another Indian reserve just 
upstream of Crooked Lake. This land belongs to the Sakimay First Nation, 
including IR 74 on the south shore of the river and the western third of 
Crooked Lake, as well as Shesheep IR 74A on the opposite bank of the river 
and the western half of the lake. 

Occupying the remaining south hank of Crooked Lake and some miles of 
the river downstream is Cowessess IR 73. Kahkewistahaw's IR 72A - a small 
fishing station - was initially positioned on the north shore near the Crooked 
Lake Dam at the lake's eastern outlet. The south end of the dam sits on land 
that originally formed part of the Cowessess reserve, although the First Nation 
and the PFRA disagree on the current status of title to the dam site. The dam 
is used to control the level of Crooked Lake and has resulted in certain 
portions of the Sakimay and Cowessess reserves being hooded. Immediately 
east of the dam, Ekapo Creek drains into the Qu'Appelle River from the south 
through IR 73. 

As the river winds its way to the southeast, Kahkewistahaw's IR 72 occu- 
pies some five miles of the south shore of the river midway between Crooked 
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and Round Lakes and adjacent to the eastern boundary of the Cowessess 
reserve. Kahkewistahaw's eastern neighhour is Ochapowace, whose IR 71 
fronts the entire south shore of Round Lake and some distance both 
upstream and down. On the north side of the river and the east end of Round 
Lake are former Round Lake Indian Residential School lands which 
Kahkewistahaw purchased from the federal government in 1960 as an addi- 
tion to IR 72. At Round Lake's eastern outlet, the eighth and last control 
structure was erected - its south end located on Ochapowace reserve lands - 
to store water in the lake for irrigation purposes. This dam caused flooding 
on the Ochapowace reserve at the west end of the lake. As noted at the 
outset, the full measure of the dam's impact on Kahkewistahaw's land 
remains to he determined and may form the subject matter of separate pro- 
ceedings before the Commission. 

The Qu'AppeUe River finally meanders eastward to the Manitoba border, 
gaining additional flows from Squawhead Creek and Scissors Creek to the 
south and Kaposvar Creek and Cutarm Creek to the north. Ultimately, it 
reaches its confluence with the Assiniboine River just inside the Manitoha 
border at St Lazare, where it is swallowed up by the larger river before con- 
tinuing eastward to its ultimate union with the Red River in central Winnipeg. 

We have already alluded to the fact that the issues at the heart of this 
inquiry arise from the effects of the PFRA's construction and operation of 
dams on Echo Lake, Crooked Lake, and Round Lake on the reserves of the 
six QVLDA First Nations participating in these proceedings. The evidence is 
clear that the dams were constructed in the aftermath of severe drought con- 
ditions during the 1930s to store annual spring runoffs for later use in irri- 
gating lands during periods of scant precipitation. It is just as clear that, 
although the PFRA and Indian Affairs were aware that the dams would flood 
Indian lands, the Bands themselves were not consulted and never authorized 
the projects to proceed. Three of the participating Bands - Muscowpetnng, 
Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo - were not even paid the compensation to 
which the two government departments had agreed they were entitled. As a 
result, the first three issues in this inquiry consider whether section 34 of the 
Indian Act permitted Indian Affairs to authorize the flooding of reserve lands 
without Band consent; whether Indian Affairs did in fact authorize such 
flooding; and, if authorization was given, whether Indian Affairs was never- 
theless required by treaty or as a fiduciary to consult with the Bands before 
allowing the PFRA to proceed. 
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In 1977, after Canada's failure to pay the Muscowpetuug, Pasqua, and 
Standing Buffalo Bands had been discovered, the Band Councils of the day 
negotiated a settlement with the PFRA that would pay them the combined sum 
of $265,000 as compensation for past, present, and future damages caused 
by the dams. The Bands also agreed to allow permits to be issued pursuant to 
suhsection 28(2) of the Indian Act that would allow the PFRA to continue 
flooding reserve lands. However, soon after Band Council Resolutions 
(BCRs) bad been executed to authorize the settlement, and after the election 
of a new Muscowpetung Band Council, the three First Nations became con- 
cerned that they had permanently alienated reserve lands without obtaining 
surrenders approved by majorities of their respective voting memberships. 
AU three First Nations purported to rescind the 1977 settlement Band Council 
Resolutions with later resolutions. These facts give rise to certain additional 
issues - namely, whether the settlement could be effected by way of Band 
Council Resolutions and permits issued under subsection 28(2), and 
whether it was open to the First Nations unilaterally to rescind the settlement, 
particularly since they had already received and have since spent the settle- 
ment proceeds of $265,000. 

Finally, the Commission has been asked to consider the First Nations' 
water rights, whether arising as part of aboriginal title or as a result of treaty 
or riparian rights. The First Nations question whether their water rights were 
protected when the federal government laid claim to the beds and waters of 
non-navigable rivers by enacting the North-West Irrigation Act in 1894. If 
those rights were protected, the First Nations claim another basis for the 
damages caused by the construction and operation of the three dams without 
their consent. If the water rights were not protected, the First Nations claim 
that Canada breached fiduciary obligations to the First Nations in failing to 
protect those rights. 

THE MANDATE OF THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION 

The Commission's mandate to conduct inquiries pursuant to the Inquiries 
Act is set out in a commission issued on September 1, 1992. It directs: 

that our Commissioners on the basis of Canada's Specific Claims Policy . . . by consid- 
ering only those matters at issue when the dispute was initially submitted to the Com- 
mission, inquire into and report on: 

(a) whether a claimant has a valid claim for negotiation under the Policy where 
that claim has already been rejected by the Minister; and 
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(b) which compensation criteria apply in negotiation of a settlement, where a 
claimant disagrees with the Minister's determination of the applicable 
criteria.l 

The Specific Claims Policy is set forth in a 1982 booklet published by the 
Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development entitled Outstand- 
ing Business: A Native Chims Policy - Spec@c C h i m ~ . ~  In considering a 
specific claim submitted by a First Nation to Canada, the Commission must 
assess whether Canada owes an outstanding lawful obligation to the First 
Nation in accordance with the guidelines provided in Outstanding Business: 

The government's policy on specific cMms is that it will recognize claims by Indian 
bands which disclose an outstanding "lawful obligation," i.e., an obligation derived 
from the law on the part of the federal government. 

A lawful obligation may arise in any of the following circumstances: 

i) The non-fulfillment of a treaty or agreement bemeen Indians and the Crown. 
ii) A breach of obliption arising out of the Indian Act or other statutes pertain- 

ing to Indians and the regulations thereunder. 
iii) A breach of an obligation arising out of government administration of Indian 

funds or other assets. 
iv) An illegal disposition of lndian land. 

In addition to the foregoing, the government is prepared to acknowledge claims 
which are based on the following circumstances: 

i) Failure to provide compensation for reserve lands taken or damaged by the 
federal government or its agencies under authority. 

ii) Fraud in connection with the acquisition or disposition of lndian reserve land 
by employees or agents of the federal government, in cases where the fraud 
can be cleuly demonstrated.' 

BACKGROUND TO THE INQUIRY 

QVIDA submitted a claim to Indian AfF& in 1986 requesting compensation 
for the damages caused by the flooding of reserve lands.4 On November 5, 

1 Commission ~ssued September 1, I%Z. pursuant to Order in Council PC 1992~1730, July 27, 199'2, amenhng 
the Commission issued to Chiei Camrmsrioner Hany S. Wome on August 12, 1991, pursuant lo Order in 
Council PC 1991-1329, July 15, 1991 (Consolidated Terms of Reference). 

1 Depmnent of Indian firs and Ronhcm Development (DIAND), Outsfonding Busitless: .4 Nafiw Chims 
Policy - Speciijic Chims (Ottawa: MinisYr of Supply and Senices, 19821, reprinted in I19941 1 ICCP 171-85. 

3 DIAND, OuIslonding Busitles~: A .Votive Claim Policy - Speclfrc Cbim (Ooawa: Minister of Supply and 
Fe~ces, 1982), 20. 

4 116782 Canada Lrd., "Qu'AppeUe Valley Indian Development A u b o n ~  Land Clzim; Aptil 14. 1986 (ICC 
Exhibit 5 ) .  
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1992, Carol Cosco of Indian Affairs advised Chief Lindsay Cyr, then President 
of QVIDA, that, owing to inactivity on QVIDA's claim since 1989, the Depart- 
ment intended to close the organization's file.5 In that letter and follow-up 
correspondence on November 17, 1992, Cosco made it clear that the step 
was being taken primarily as a housekeeping measure and that the claim 
could be reopened from the point at which QVIDA had left off, without having 
to "start from scratch or be delayed in l~andling.~ Nevertheless, these letters 
were interpreted by the First Nations as a constructive rejection of their 
claim, and in October 1994, the claim was forwarded to the Indian Claims 
Commission with a request for an inquiry.' 

On December 1, 1994, the Honourable Robert F. Reid, the Commission's 
Legal and Mediation Advisor, advised the parties that, having accepted 
QVIDA's request for an inquiry, the Commission sought to convene a plan- 
ning conference? Just over one week later, Rem Westland, the Director Gen- 
eral of the Specific Claims Branch, expressed concern that the Commission 
would agree to conduct an inquiry in the QVIDA claim and in others that 
were "still in the research phase."Y Nevertheless, counsel for Canada agreed 
to attend the first planning conference on January 30, 1995, and to discuss 
QVIDA's options in advancing its claim. 

In fact, six planning conferences were conducted, and the parties were 
able to clarify and narrow the issues to be considered by the Commission. 
The first three conferences took place in Regina on January 30, June 6, and 
September 28, 1995. Before the fourth planning conference, which was held 
on April 3, 1996, Canada had completed its research into QVIDA's claims 
and provided its preliminary position in two "without prejudice" letters dated 

5 Carol J. Cosco, Uaims Maiyt ,  SpeclGe Uairns West, Department of lndian and Uatihern hBairs, to Chief Undsay 
Cyr. i'resident, QVlDh November 5, i992, DlAND Gle BW82(~0/SKS552-CI, vol L (ICC Documents, p. 1549) 

6 Carol J. Cosco, Claims Analyst. Specific Claims West, Departmen1 of lndian and Nonhem Afain, to Chief Lindsay 
Lb, Presidmt, QVlDA, November 17, 1 3 2 ,  DlAND file BWBZ6O/SK85j2-CI, val. 2 (ICC Dacumem, p. 1350). 

: Matthew Bellegarde, Claims and Policy Development Officer. Federauon of Saskateheruan Indian Nations. to Kim 
Fullenon, Commission Counsel. Indian Claims Commission, October 11. 1994, enclosing Qu'Appelle Valley 
lndian Development Authariy Record of Decision, September 12, 1994, with respect to a request by Chief Mel 
Imana, Standing DuEalo. Chief Todd Peigan, Psqua ,  Chief Eugene Maquod, Muscowpetung, and Chief Joe 
Fourhams, Piaprt, to have the lndian Claims Commission carry out an inquiry into Canada's reiection of the 
QVIDA daim; Mgeia Delorme, Ewcutive Seeretw, Yorkon Ttibal Council, to Kim Fullerton, Commission 
Counsel, lndian Claims Commission, October 26, 1994, enclosing Qu'AppeUr V d e y  Indian Development 
Authorify Record of Decision. September 12, 1994, with respect to a requs t  by Chief Louis TaypaW. Kahkewis- 
rahaw. Chief Denton George. Ochapowace, Chief Terry lavallee, Cowessess, and Chief Lindsay Kaye, $&may, u, 
have the Indian Claims Commission eany out an inquiry into Canada's rejection of the QVlDA claim. 

8 Justice Roben F. Reid, Legal and Mediation Advisor, lndian Claims Commission, to Marthew BeUegarde, Claims 
and Policy Development Officer, Federation of Saskatchewan Indian Nalions, and Bmce Decker, L e g  Counsel, 
Specific Waims West, DlAND Legal Services. December 1, 1194. 

9 Rem Westland, Director General, Specific C l h  Branch. Oepamnent of Indim and \(or!hehem &rs, lo Justice 
Roben Reid. Legal and Mediation Advisor, Indian Claims Commhsion. December 9,  1994. 
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March 29, 1996. In the first of these letters relating to the four western First 
Nations, Jack Hughes of Specific Chms West advised QVIDA Co-ordinator 
Gordon Lerat that Canada was prepared to recommend acceptance of the 
claim as it related to Standing Buffalo, but not with regard to Pasqua or 
Muscowpetung: 

Muscowpetung and Pasqua Resewe Iands 
It is our position that the PFRA obtained proper authorization for the use and occu- 
pancy of land on the Muscowpetung and Pasqua reserves pursuant to section 34 of 
the Indian Act of 1927. Canada did not compensate the Muscowpetung and Pasqua 
bands in respect of their flooded reserve lands in the 1940's, but eventually paid 
adequate compensation in 1977. In addition, the Muscowpetung and Paqua band 
councils have provided Canada with effective releases with respect to compensation 
for the flooding of their lands by way of Band Council Resolutions authorizing the 
flooding. Accordingly, it is Canada's view that no lawful obligation is owed to either 
the Muscowpetung or Pasqua hands. 

Standing Buffalo Resene  Lands 
Upon our review of the file it does not appear that Canada was aware that Standing 
Buffalo reserve lands would be affected by flooding in the 1940's. Although the Stand- 
ing Buffalo band council passed a Band Council Resolution in 1977 releasing Canada 
for the flooding of the band's land, it does not appear that Canada issued a permit at 
that time for the flooding. Therefore, we are prepared to negotiate based on the 
band's submission that there exis& no authority for the flooding of their lands. Any 
compensation paid to the band in exchange for their consent for the Minister to issue 
a permit should take into account the compensation paid to the band in 1977 by way 
of set-off.1° 

Canada was not prepared to deal with the claim as it related to Piapot, since 
the Flooding of that reserve appeared to result from upstream releases of 
water rather than the construction and use of the Echo Lake Dam. Hughes 
added that Canada had three means of authorizing the flooding of reserve 
lands - surrender, expropriation, or authorization under section 34 of the 
Indian Act - and that it had apparently authorized use and occupation under 
section 3 4 . 1 L  

In the second letter, which dealt with the four eastern First Nations, 
Hughes informed Lerat that Canada had reached the preliminary position that 

l o  Jack Hughes. Research Manager, Pmiries. Specific Claims We%, Depanment of lndian and Nonhem hiairs, to 
Cordon ~erat, QnDA Co-ordinator, March 29, 1 9 5  Note that the date on the lener appears lo be in ermr and 
that the proper dace should be March 29, 1996. 

1 1  Jack Hughes. Resmrch Manager, Pmiries, Specific Claims West, D e g m e n t  af Indian and Nonhern &in, to 
Gordon Lerat, QVIDA Co-ordinator. March 29. 19[61. 
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it owed no lawful obligation because, again, it had authorized the use and 
occupation of reserve lands under section 34. However, Canada was pre- 
pared to consider additional submissions from QVlDA with regard to the 
adequacy of the compensation paid for the use and occupation of these lands 
as well as compensation to Sakimay for funds expended to move a house to 
higher ground and for damages associated with road flooding.12 

At the fourth planning conference, Canada acknowledged that its rejection 
of the flooding claim in relation to the four eastern First Nations had not 
addressed the impact, if any, suffered by Kahkewistahaw. It was at this point 
that Canada agreed to review Kahkewistahaw's claim and provide a response. 
Canada also conceded that it had not proceeded by way of "surrender 
[orlexprnpriation nor did it secure a permit for the lands now flooded by 
construction of the dams at Echo Lake, Round Lake or Crooked Lake."') 

The fifth planning conference was convened in Regina on May 14, 1996. 
The parties agreed that, because Canada had accepted Standmg Buffalo's 
claim for negotiation, Standing Buffalo would no longer be a party to the 
inquiry. Kahkewistahaw at that time intended to remain a party to the inquiry 
"unless and until Canada offers to accept Kahkewistahaw's claim for negntia- 
tion and that offer is accepted by the First Nation."14 

By the time the last planning conference took place on Februaq 28, 1997, 
however, Canada had changed its position with regard to Standing Buffalo 
and informed the First Nation that it was no longer willing to negotiate the 
First Nation's flooding claim. Kahkewistahaw's submission was still not com- 
plete, however, and Chief Amanda Louison considered withdrawing the First 
Nation's portion of the claim to allow the inquiry to proceed without further 
delay.15 In short order, Standing Buffalo had elected to participate in the 
inquiry, and Kahkewistahaw had decided it would not participate. 

THE INQUIRY 

To assist the Commission in its deliberations, the parties tendered more than 
1300 pages of historical documents, a further 35 exhibits consisting of sev- 
eral thousand more pages of material, and a video prepared by the Federa- 

I L  Jack Hughes, Research Manager, Pmiries, Spe&c Claims West, Department of Indian and Nonhern Atfarn, to 
Cordon Lerat, QYlDh Co-ordinmr, March 29, 119I61 

13 Indian Claims Comrmssion Planning Conference, Qu'Appelle Valley lndian Development Aulharity. Apnl 3, 1996, 
n z  a. 

I 4  lndian Waims Commission Planning Conference, Qu'AppeUe Valley Indian Development Authority, May 14, 
196 ,  p. 6. 

I5  lndian Waims Commission Planning Conference, Qu'Appelle Valley lndian Development Authority. March 4. 
1997, pp. 3-4. 



tion of Saskatchewan Indian Nations. In four separate community sessions, 
the Commission also received oral evidence from elders of the six participat- 
ing First Nations, as well as testimony from elders of the Kahkewistahaw First 
Nation, which, at the time of the community session in which its members 
took pact, was stiU part of the inquiry. 

The first community session was a joint meeting of the four eastern QVIDA 
First Nations held in the Community Hall on the Sakimay reserve on Septem- 
ber 18, 1996. The Commissioners heard from elders George Ponicappo, Alex 
Wolfe, Marie Kaye, Raymond Acoose, Edna Sangwais, Emma Panipekeesick, 
Jimmy Wahpooseywan, and Leonard Kequahtooway of Sakimay; Joseph 
Crowe, John Alexson, Mervin Bob, AUan McKay, and Urbin Louison of 
Kahkewistahaw; Henry Delome of Cowessess; and Margaret Bear, Marlowe 
Kenny, Arthur George, and Calvin George of Ockdpowace. 

The second session was conducted in the Pasqua Band Hall on October 2, 
1996. The participants included the following elders from the Pasqua First 
Nation: David Obey, St;?ley Pasqua, Clara Pasqua, Andrew Gordon, Raymond 
Gordon, Clayton Cyr, Lawrence Stevenson, Jimmy Iron Eagle, George 
Kahnapace, Lawrence Chicoose, Agnes Cyr, Dora B. Stevenson, Marsha 
Gordon, Bernard Gordon, Edith Merrifield, and Ina Kahnapace. The following 
day the Commissioners convened another community session in the Mus- 
cowpetung School gymnasium to hear the evidence of 11 elders of the Mus- 
cowpetung First Nation: Calvin Poitras Sr, Violet Keepness, Isabelle Keepness, 
Wibam Pratt, Evelyn Cappo, Winonah Toto, Ervin Toto, Earl Cappo, Paul Poi- 
bas, Norma Cappo, and Eugene Anaquod. 

Finally, after Standing Buffalo's participation in the inquiry had been con- 
firmed, the fourth and final community session was held on April 4, 1997, at 
the Standing Buffalo Cultural Centre to hear from that First Nation's elders. 
Testifying were Charlie Buffalo, Susan Yuzicappi, Isabelle Jackson, Felix Bear- 
shield, Ken Goodwill, Clifford Goodwill, Tony Yuzicappi, and - through Band 
Councillor Velma Bear - Cecil Wajunta, Victor Redman, Catherine Good- 
feather, and Celina Wajunta. 

Counsel for the QVIDA First Nations submitted written arguments to the 
Commission on May 5, 1997, to which counsel for Canada replied on June 6, 
1997. Oral submissions were made at a final session in Regina on June 26, 
1997. 

A complete summary of the written submissions, documentary evidence, 
transcripts, and the balance of the record in this inquiry is set forth in 
Appendut A of this report. 
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PART I1 

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

TREATY 4 

The circumstances forming the backdrop to the present claim of the QVIDA 
First Nations originated in the signing of Treaty 4 in 1874 by representatives 
of the government of Canada and by the Cree, Saulteaux, and other Indians of 
what is now southern Saskatchewan. By that time, white settlers and traders 
had arrived in the British North-West Territories. The demise of the buffalo, 
to which many Indians owed their existence, was already foreseen. It was a 
time of considerable upheaval and turmoil, as bands and individual Indians 
sought, in many tragic cases unsuccessfully, to find the best way to survive in 
a rapidly changing world. People were on the move, both geographically and 
from band to band, as they tried to identlfy whether their prospects would be 
better served by continuing the hunt or by settling on reserves and taking up 
agriculture and other pursuits. Canada and the prairie Indians recognized 
that, with the expected arrival of more and more white settlers, it was essen- 
tial to formahze relations to give some protection to aboriginal interests. 

In its previous reports dealing with the treaty land entitlement inquiries of 
the Kawacatoose and the Kahkewistahaw First Nations, the Commission has 
already reviewed at some length the events that spurred Canada and the Indi- 
ans to enter into Treaty 4.16 We do not propose to consider those events 
further in this report, other than to identify the relevant signatories to the 
treaty and to note the specific treaty provisions spawned by the negotiations. 

Treaty 4, which became known as the Qu'AppeUe Treaty, was first exe- 
cuted at the Qu'Appelle Lakes on September 15, 1874, with the initial signa- 
tories including the Chiefs of four of the present eight QVIDA First Nations: 
Cowessess ("Ka-wezauce," also known as "The Little Boy" or "The Little 

16 Indian Clams Commission (ICC), Report on ffiwacatwse Firs1 !V&n Teag k n d  Entitlement hpuiv 
(Omwa, March 19961, (19%) 5 Indian Cbims Commision Pmceedings (ICCPI at 73;  ICC, Report on 
ffihkwislubau., Pirsl ,V&n Twaly Iand Entithenf Inquiry (Omwa, February 19%) 



Child), Pasqua ("The Plain"), Kahkewistahaw ("Him that flies around), 
and finally Kakisheway ("Loud Voice") and Chacachas (whose bands later 
merged to become Ochapowace). At the subsequent meeting with bands in 
the Fort Ellice area on September 21, 1874, the Treaty Commjssioners 
included the Sakimay ("Mosquito") people ~6 members of Waywaysecappo's 
band. Cheekuk signed an adhesion to the treaty on behalf of Muscowpetung 
on September 8, 1075, and Piapot ("Payepot") adhered the next day. 

The lone exception was the Standing Buffalo Band, which descended from 
Minnesota Sioux Indians who came to Canada as refugees of the American 
Sioux War of 1862-63. As such, they were apparently excluded from Treaty 4, 
although they were later encouraged to settle within the Treaty 4 area as long 
as the location they chose was not close to the American border.[' 

Under the terms of Treaty 4, the adhering Indians agreed to "cede, 
release, surrender and yield up" to Canada "all their rights, titles and privi- 
leges" to some 75,000 square miles of land encompassed by the treaty. In 
exchange, Canada agreed to set apart reserves for the Indians, 

such reserves to be selected by officers of Her Majesty's Government of the Dominion 
of Canada appointed for that purpose, after conference with each band of the Indians, 
and to be of sufficient area to allow one square mile for each family of five, or in that 
proportion for larger or smaller families; provided, however, that it be understood 
that, if at the time of the selection of any reserves, as aforesaid, there are any settlers 
within the bounds of the lands reserved for any band, Her Majesty retains the right to 
deal with such settlers as She shall deem just, so as not to diminish the extent of land 
allotted to the Indians; and provided, further, that the aforesaid reserves of land, or 
anypart thereo1; or any interest or right therein, or appurtenant thereto, may be 
so4  [eased or otherwise disposed of by the said Government for the use and 
benefit of the said indians, with the consent of the indians entitled theretofirst 
had and obtained, but in no wise shall the said indians, or any of them, be 
entitled to sell or otherwise alienate any of the lands allotted to them as 
reserves. la 

The treaty further stipulated that Canada would provide treaty annuities to 
each Indian man, woman, and chid, as well as agricultural implements and 
seed to assist those bands that were ready to settle and convect to an agrarian 
lifestyle. For those Indians who were not yet ready to settle, the treaty pro- 

17 116782 Canada Ltd., "Qu'AppeUe Vdey Indian Development Authority land Clarm: April 14, 1986, p. 7 ilCC 
Odubit 5). 

I8 Tma@ No. 4 k t m  Her Mesly tbe Queen and t k  C m  and Saulteaw Triks of Indians at @Xpplb 
and Fort Elice (OUaw Queen's Printer, 1966), p. 6 .  Emphasis added. 
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vided that they were to receive "powder, shot, ball and twine" and assured 
the following rights with regard to hunting, fishing, and trapping: 

And further, Her Majesty agrees that Her said Indians shall have right to pursue their 
avocations of hunting, trapping and fishing throughout the tract surrendered, subject 
to such regulations as may from time to time be made by the Government of the 
country, acting under the authority of Her Majesty, and saving and excepting such 
tracts as may be required or taken up from time to time for settlement, mining or 
other purposes, under grant or other right given by Her Majesty's said Go~ernment.'~ 

Finally, for the purposes of the present inquiry, the following provision of the 
treaty is also relevant: 

It is further agreed between Her Majesty and Her said Indian subjects that such sec- 
tions of the reserves above indicated as may at any time be mquiredforpublic 
works or huiMing of u'hatsoeuer nature may he appmpriated for that purpose by 
Her Majesty's Government of the Dominion of Canada, due compensation being 
mude to the Indians for the value of any impmements thereon, and an 
equivalent in hnd or money f ir  the ama of the reserve so appmprrited zo 

SELECTION OF RESERVES 

Within a few years of the initial signing of Treaty 4,  survey work on the 
reserves for the six QWlA First Nations participating in this inquiry had been 
commenced, and by 1884 all had been allocated their principal reserves 
within the Qu'Appelle Valley.L1 The government's policy of promoting reserve 
agrarianism had begun. 

Pasqua 
Pasqua's IR 79 was surveyed in October 1876 by Dominion Land Surveyor 
(DIS) William Wagner along most of the south shore of Pasqua Lake - the 
most westerly of the four Fishing Lakes - and further upstream for a couple 

19 Treaiy ,No. 4 bermen Her Majesiy the Queen and the Cree and Vaulteaur Mbes ofIndians at Qu'3$plNe 
and Pwt Ellice (Otuwa: Queen's Printer, 1966). p. 7. 

zn Treatj ,No. 4 between Her Majesty the @wn a d  the Cree and Caulteam Tribes of Indians a1 Qu'AppeIle 
and Fort EUice (Omm:  Queen's Printer, 19661, p. 7. Emphasis added. 

21 It should be noted that the dales of 6n~ survey for t ra ly  land entitlement purposes for some of !he QVIIIA Fint 
Nations are or have been in issue before the Commission. The respective dates of first survey for these First 
Nations are not in issue in these proceedings, however, hny slatemen& that the Comdssion may make in this 
report reguding survey dares for any of the First Nations are merely far the purpose of setting the general 
historical con ta t  for this inquiry. b a e d  on the limited evidence before us at this time, and do not represent the 
findings or views of the Cammission on the subject of the respective First Nations' dates of fin1 survey. 
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of miles along the meandering course of the Qu'Appelle River. The original 
reserve contained 60.15 square miles, or 38,496 acres,22 described by Wag- 
ner in these terms: 

The soil in this reserve is a clay loam of first quality. The surface is level, and undulat- 
ing, and partially wooded with poplar and willow. Fish and wild-fowl abound in the 
lake and swanips in the valley of the Q~'AppeUe.~' 

Muscowpetung 
Muscowpetung's band attempted to survey its own reserve immediately after 
adhering to Treaty 4 in 1875, but Cheekuk, who had signed the adhesion, 
died during the final leg of the work and it was never completed.24 Eventually, 
in November 1881, district land surveyor John C. Nelson began to mark off 
IR 80 along the south side of the Qu'Appelle River immediately upstream of 
Pasqua's reserve, but he was interrupted by the onset of winter. He returned 
in May 1882 to find that, at the request of the Chief and the Band, Indian 
Agent Alan McDonald had extended the proposed reserve four miles west 
along the Qu'Appelle River, and had reduced its depth by 2% miles, to pro- 
vide the Band with more building wood." Ultimately, IR 80 contained 58.8 
square miles, or 37,632 acres, and the Band received a further 472.9 acres 
as Hay Reserve 808, which it was to share with other bmds." With regard to 
IR 80, Nelson reported: 

like most of the choice land of the Qu'AppeUe district the soil uf this reserve is t~early 
all first-class. There are groves of small p o p h  and clumps of willow, and in the 
gullies leading to the Qu'AppeUe Valley there is a considerable supply of good poplar 
for building and fencing purposes, and a few small maples. The bonoms along the 

: 1 1  >-n! m ~ l ~  114 I A , .  I .  I I I .  t 1 . 1  "l.rl~ I,,?.. I I w 1, h It ,' 
I .  ; I I t 1  I t  > d l !  I! I r I J - J r I 1111 
n 3 . .  " 2  I t  I ,  4 , , r e  I , ! 4 ,  . I t - ! . ,  I !),I \,llrll, l d l n  I, I r , ,  

, . 
~evrlopment i~utharitv ~and~ lkm;~  ,\otil 14. 1986. ". 18 (ICC Exhihit 5 ) .  

L3 Ttc~ty NO. 4, ~of lh -wes t  Territories, indian ~ e s e r v e  N O  79, Chiei 'Pasquaw," sunryed by WUam Wagner, 
ULS. October 1876 (ICC Fxhibit 296). 

li Blair Stonwhrld, Inman Consultant Enterprises, "A H i s t o d d  Overview of the Occupanq m the Valley of the 
Qu'AppeUe Valley B a n W  (March IWZ), tab 2. p. 12 ,  m lndian Consultant Enterprises. "Put Damqes Corn- 
pensation Studf (March 1991) (ICC tvhibir 3). 

21 A. McDondd, lndian Agent, Trew 4, to Superintendent General of Indian .@drs, May 9, 1882. Cnnada, Drp;m- 
men1 oi Indian Atfain, Annull Report, 1882 (ICC Documen&, p. 18). 

26 Blair SLonechlld, lndian Consultant Et~terptises, ",\ Histodeal Ovelvlew of rhe Occupancy in the Valley of thc 
Qu'AppeUe Valley Raods" (March 1992), lah 2.  p. 22, in Inman Consultant Enterprises. "Pz t  Damages Com- 
pensation SNdy" (March 1992) (ICC FMihd 3) On January 4, 1909, the Muscowperung Band surrendered 
27.5 squw miles. or 17.600 acres (%.a%), of IR 80. lewing it wirh 31.3 square miles, or 20,032 acres, horn 
that resene: 116782 Canada I.td., "Qu'Appelle Valley lndian D~elopmcnt  Authority f a d  Claim," Aptil 14, 
19%. p. 18 (ICC Exhihit 5 ) .  
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river are valuable for the immense quantity of hay which can be cut on the Less 
rlevated parts of them. The best bottom is at the north-west comer of the reserve at 
the mouth of Prairie Creek and nearly opposite Long Valley Creek." 

Nelson also described the hay lands in IR 808 as being "of the best 
quality."28 

Standing Buffalo 
Standing Buffalo died in 1869, hut some of his followers had already camped 
in the vicinity of Fort Qu'Appelle. Although the Band was not permitted to 
adhere to Treaty 4, Lieutenant Governor Alexander Morris encouraged the 
Band to select a reserve, and in early November 1881 Nelson surveyed 1R 78 
along the north side of Pasqua and Echo Lakes and the intervening reach of 
the Qu'Appelle River. Since the Band was not a signatory to Treaty 4, IR 78 
contained only 7.6 square miles, or 4864 acres - an allocation of only 80 
acres per family of five rather than the one square mile per family of five 
stipulated by the treaty.29 Of this reserve, Nelson commented: 

This reservation has a remarkably be;cutiful situation. It has an area of seven and a 
half square miles, bounded on the west side by Jumping Creek, and on the front by 
the Qu'AppeUes. The soil is a clay loam of the fint order, and there is [anlabundance 
of wood. Hay is scarce and consequently a small meadow was reserved at the exten- 
sive hay grounds farther up the r i~er .3~  

Sakimay, Cowessess, and Ochapowace 
In 1876, surveyor William Wagner surveyed reserves for the Sakimay, Star- 
blanket, and Kalusheway Bands along the entire north shore of the 
Qu'Appelle River from a point upstream of Crooked Lake to a point below 
Round Lake. Two other reserves were surveyed on the other side of the river 

27 John C. Nelson, UIS, Indian Reserve Sunry, to Superintendent tiened of lndian r\ffain, December 29, 1882. 
Canada, Depament of lndian Affairs. Ann& Ruporl, 1852 (ICC Documenu, p. 33). 

28 T r e a ~  NO. 4, North-West Territories, lndian Reserve No. ROB, Hay-Lands for h e  Bands of "Museowpetung" & 
Othen, survqed by John C. Nelson, DIS, November 1881 (ICC &bit 298). 

29 Bl*r Stonehild, Indian Consultant Enterprises, "A Historical OveMw of the Occupancy in h e  Valley of the 
Qu'Appelle Vdle &anW (March IWZ), mh 2, yp. 33-34, in Indian Consultant Enterprises. "Past Damages 
Compensation Smdy" (March 1992) (ICC Wibit  3); 116782 Canada Ud., "Qu'Appelle Wq Indian Dwelop- 
men1 Auhoriq Land Claim,"Apnl 14, 1986, pp 7 and 9 iICC Exhibit 5). The Band surrendered 2.59 acrm on 
Januq  12, 1897, but lam received additional a r m  of 406 acres on May 23. 1930, 144 acres on June 7, 
1956, and 187.4 acres on July 12. 1956, for a rrsene that wenually loralled 8.75 square miles, or 5598.81 
acres: 116782 Canada Ltd.. "Qo'AppeUe Y a q  lndian Dwelopment Authori~ land Clam: April 14, 1986, pp. 
9 and I8 (ICC W h i t  5). 

30 John C. Nelson. DIS, lndian Reserve Sunrey, Tcmties Nos. 4 and 7, Januxy 10, 1852, Canada, Deparunent of 
Indian h&dm,Ann&Reporf, 1881 (ICC Documtnu, p. 9). The upstream hay grounds reiened to by Nelson 
likely meant IR XOR, which had been set a p m  for Muscowpetung and "others." 
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in the vicinity of Round Lake for Kahkewistahaw and Chacachas. In 1880, 
O'Soup (joined later by Cowessess) was situated by surveyors AUan Poyntz 
Patrick and Waam Johnson on the south shore of eastern Crooked Lake and 
a few miles of the Qu'AppeUe River downstream. 

By 1881, the three bands on the north side of the river were expressing 
their dissdtisfaction with the lack of wood and other resources on their 
reserves, and Nelson extensively revised the boundaries of all six reserves. 
Sakimay was moved to IR 74 south of the river at the west end of Crooked 
Lake, while IOkisheway and Chacachas were consolidated on IR 71 along the 
south shore of Round Lake and some distance both upstream and down. 
O'Soup's IR 73 remained in much the same location south of Crooked Lake 
and east along the Qu'Appelle River, although five miles of river frontage at 
the east end became the new Kahkewistahaw IR 72 flanked by Cowessess to 
the west and Ochapowace to the east. Starblanket relocated to a more 
northerly site outside the Qu'Appelle Valley. 

Nelson's impressions of the 33.88 square mile (21,683.2 acre) Sakimdy 
reserve were as follows: 

The reserve is undulating prairie interspersed with groves of poplar and clumps of 
willow, with the exception of the part along the Qu'Appelle Valley, which is broken by 
ravines and heavily wooded with poplar and balm of Gilead. Ponds frequently occur 
throughout the prairie portion. The land throughout is of the choicest quality" 

This reserve was extended to the north shore of the Qu'AppeUe River at the 
west end of Crooked Lake in 1884 to provide separate land for a faction of 
the Band that refused to take government assistance. The new Shesheep IR 
74A comprised 5.6 square miles, or 3584 acres, about which Nelson wrote: 

This reserve is greatly cut up with conlks in which there is a considerable supply of 
poplar and maple. Along the Qu'AppeUe River the land is swampy. On the high prairie 
the soil is a very good black loam with some boulders on the surface.'" 

In 1883, Nelson added 15 square miles, or 9600 acres, to the 63 square 
mile (40,320 acre) reserve he had surveyed for O'Soup in 1881. He 
explained his reasons in describing the reserve: 

%I Trrdri No. 4. Noh-West Territories. Indian Reserve No. 74. Chlrt "Sakimav" suwwed bv lohn C. Nelson. DU. . .. 
~avckbe r  1081 (ICC Exhibit 298)' 

12 Treaty Yo. 4, North-West Territories. Indian Reserve No. 744 at Crooked lake, "Sheesheep's" Band. surveyed by 
John C. Nelson, DU. 1884 (ICC Exhibit 298). 



This reserve is well watered by "Ecapo" or Weed Creek, which flows through an 
immense wooded ravine and empties into the Qu'Appelle River. Nong the creek it is 
heavily wooded with poplar, balm of Gilead and some elm. The south-western pan is 
undulating prairie with clumps of willow and poplar. The soil throughout is of choice 
quality. There are several mill sites on Weed Creek. 

This reserve was origk~ally allotted to the band of Chief "O'Soup", and contained 
an area of sixty-three square miles, which was considered sufficient to meet the 
requirements of the band at that time. An extension of fifteen square miles was subse- 
quently added by special order of the Department, as it was thought "Cowessess" 
would bring many Indians with him from the plains, when he assumed the 
 chieftainship.^^ 

Following the death of Kakisheway in 1884, his son Ochapowace w a  
elected as the new chief of the combined Kakisheway and Chacachas Bands. 
The consolidated IR 71 set apart for Ochapowace's band in 1881 comprised 
82.6 square miles, or 52,864 acres, about which Nelson commented: 

The southern portion of the reserve is an undulating prairie with numerous ponds, 
hay swamps and scattering bluffs and poplar and clumps of willow. The northern pan 
slopes gently towards the Qu'Appelle River, and is thickly wooded with poplar and 
balm of Gilead. Along the vdley of the Qu'Appelle and the eastern boundaw, the land 
is much broken by immense ravines which extend back from the river, and are heav- 
ily wooded with poplar, uillow, a few oaks, ash and birch. The soil is a rich sandy 
103m, with some gravelly spots and a few boulders. 

The fishing in Round Lake is said to be good.3 

DEVELOPMENT OF AGRARJAN ECONOMIES 

Although the record in this inquiry includes the annual reports of Canada's 
Indian agents and other representatives until only 1905, these reports speak 
for themselves as to the kind of progress made by the Qu'Appelle Valley 
Bands in the early years following the selection of their reserves. There are 
also many comments that illustrate the resources available to the Bands and 
some of the difficult conditions that the people were forced to endure. 

33 TreaN No. 4. Noh-West Terrilories, Indian Reserve No. 73. Chief "Cawessss." surveyed by John C. Nelson, 
DLS, August 1881 (ICC Exhibit 298). On Janualy 29. 1907. Ihe Cowess%~ Band surrendered 32.35 square 
rmie, or 20,704 acre (41.5%), o l  irr rcserve. It surrendered a further 350 acres on November 13, 1908, 
learing it with 45.1 square mils, or 28,866 acres 116782 Cansda ltd., "Qu'Appdle Valley lndian Development 
Authority Land Claim," Apnl 14, 1986, p. 19 (ICC Exhibit 5). 

34 Treary No. 4. North-West Temtories, Indian Reserve No. 71 at Round lake, Chi& ''Kakeeshmy" and Cha. 
cachu, sumeyed by John C. Nelson. DIS. August, 1881 (ICC Exhibit 29R) Alter the Fin1 Wodd War, the 
Ochapowace Band surrendered 28.5 square miles, or 18,240 acres (34.5%), of i~ reselve on June 30, 1919, 
leaving it with 54.1 square miles, ar 34,624 acres: 116782 Canada Ltd.. "Qu'hppelle Valley lndian Dwelapment 
.4uthotiw land Claim,'' April 14, 1986, pp. 19-20 (1% Exhibit 5). 
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The Eastern Bands 
By 1883, the federal government had introduced its policy of removing Indi- 
ans from the Cypress Hills and the vicinity of the American border,3' and 
Indians who had made their way south to continue the hunt were rejoining - 
at times under armed guard - their bands as the great herds of buffalo dwin- 
dled to near extinction. Although there were obvious adjustments to be made 
by both settled Indians and returning nomads, Indian Commissioner Edgar 
Dewdney's tone was optimistic: 

The eastern section of Treaty 4, under [Indian Agent] Coi. Macdonald, has made 
peat strides during the past season, although the new arrivals from the south some- 
what demoralized them for a time. The Crooked Lakes Reserve, upon which 
"O'Soup," "Little Child," "Mosquito" and "Kah-kee-wis-ta-how" are settled, has raised 
very fine crops of wheat, barley, lndian corn and vegetables. Most of the Indians have 
abandoned their blankets, and many earn money working along the line of railway, 
which parses close to the reserve. A few more cattle and implements given these 
Indians will, our Agent thinks, render them self-sustaining.'" 

Indian Agent Alan McDonald commented that Muscowpetung possessed "one 
of the best reserves in the Treaty for agricultural purposes, but I regret to say 
there is but a limited supply of ~ o o d . " 3 ~  

Three years later, in 1886, McDonald trnmpeted the progress made by the 
bands in his Crooked Lake Agency: 

Taking our crops of wheat and potatoes a5 a whole, and comparing them with the 
settlers, the lndians on these reserves have not much reason to complain. . . . 

The lndians have worked most creditably this spring: the ploughmg, seeding and 
fencing being equal to that of the settler, and it is my opinion the lndian fairly realizes 
the advantage gained by work.'R 

The following year, McDonald commented on the prodigious quantities of 
hay that the reserves were capable of producing: 

35 Detds O[ this policy were fully canvassed in ~ h c  Commission's repon on the treat land entitlement i n q u w  for 
Ihe Lucky Man Band: see ICC, Repon on Lucky Man Band Tmatj landEnliNemmt hguiry (Ottawa, Febmw 
1997) ~, . , 

36 6. Dewhey, Indian Carnmjssioner. to Superintendent General of lndian airs, October 2. 1883, Canada. 
Department of Indian &n. Annual Reporf, 1883, (ICC Documenm, p, 47).  

37 k McDonald, lndian Agent, Croaked lahe Agenq, to Superintendent General of Indian Affairs, July 6. 1883. 



After sufficient hay was secured for wintering the stock, several Indians put up a 
quantity for sale. "Yellow CdP and his party [from Sakimay] sold sufficient to pay for 
two mowing machines and horse rakes, and to purchase tea and other necessaries for 
the winter. The total amount realized from the sale of hay was $476. S i - f o u r  tons 
were sold to the Commissioner of the Noah-West Mounted Police, and shipped to 
Regina via Canada Pacific Wway.39 

The critical importance of precipitation and moisture to farming efforts in 
the valley was evident in McDonald's report in 1888. He also remarked on 
the already declining trapping industry: 

[Tlhis is the first season, since the Indians came on these reserves, that prospects 
look so bright, and I am glad to say that several Indians, who have kept aloof from 
farming, have now commenced, with the hope of having wet seasons and good 
crops for the next five years. . . . 

Owing to the decrease of fur-bearing animals over the district in which these Indi- 
ans trap, the catch last winter was much smaller than formerly. On careful enquiv I 
think there could not have been more than $1,100 realized from furs, and about 
$150 from fish, the latter being mostly consumed by themselves. Very little was sold.'0 

To this report, Dewdney added: 

They [the Sakimay Band] put up in last season 350 tons of hay, which will be suffi- 
cient to feed their canle, of which animals they own 55, and individual members 
possess 50, and will leave a surplus of 75 tons for sale." 

By 1889 it was recognized that lands in the vicinity of Round and Crooked 
Lakes were subject to periodic droughts, and steps were already being taken 
to counteract the effects of these dry years: 

This has been the driest year since 1874, and iudging from the crops raised by one of 
the Indians on Reserve No. 73 (Coweses) I am coddent if the above system [of 
summer fallowing1 is carried out an average return will be forthcoming in our dlyest 
Isicl seasons. The crops up to the middle ofJune looked most promising, but the hot 
winds of the 28th June checked the growth, and had we not had rain in the beginning 
of July the crop with the exception of Gaddie's would have been a total luss. . . . 

19 h McDonald, Indian Agmt, Crooked Me ngenn: to Superintendent General of tudian ABain, September 13. 
1887. Canada, Department of Indian Ah'airs, Annul  Report, IM7. (ICC Dacumens, p. 85). 

40 k McUonaid, Indian Agent, Cmoked 1.rke Agency, to Superintmdcnt General of lndian ABairs, September t i ,  
1887, Canada, Depamnent of lndian f l a ig in ,  AnnualReparl, 1887, (ICC Docuntents, p. 83). Emphasis added. 

41 E. Dewdnq, Superintendent General of hdian AEaln, to Sir Frederick A&ur Stanley, Governor General, Janu- 
aIy 1, 1889, Canada, Depamenr of Indian Afiain, Annual Repon, 1888, (ICC  document^, p. l o l l .  



The Indians having secured a large quantity of hay for the wintering of their stock, 
the cattle turned out in the spring in excellent condition." 

McDonald's subsequent report showed that his guarded optimism in 1889 
had been dashed by Further hot, dry weather: 

The crops of last year were a failure. At one time they looked promising, but the 
continuous dry weather checked their growth. 

The hay crop also suffered. It was with great difficulty the Indians on Cowesess' 
Reserve, number 73, and Sakimay's Reserve, number 74, secured suFficient hay for 
wintering their stock. Without mowing machines it would have been impossible for 
them to cut what they required, as hvo or three acres in some c a e s  had to be gone 
over before a ton was procured. The Indians on the other two reselves, viz.: 
Ochapowace, number 71, and Kah-ke-wis-!a-haw, number 72, were more fortunate; 
for, in addition to that which they required for their cattle, about thirty tons were put 
up for sale. . . . 

She-Sheep's party on reserve number 74, secured a large quantity of hay, with 
which they were able to winter fUfty-one htdd of stock for settlers adjacent to their 
reserve, realiljng therefrom, $250.'' 

In succeeding years, McDonald and his successors a Indian agent com- 
mented frequently on the successes achieved by the Bands of the Crooked 
Lake Agency in producing hay, cattle, grain, and root crops. Digging senega 
root became an important and relatively lucrative alternative source of 
income for these Bands.44 The reserves also contained supplies of dv wood 
that could he sold as firewood. Fishing in Crooked and Round Lakes consist- 
ently supplemented the diet of Band members, hut little or no excess was 
caught for sale. McDonald reported again in 1892 and 1893 on the "steadily 
decreasing" catch of furs, "owing partly to fin-bearing animals being scarcer, 
and the fact of the best hunters being now the best farmers who have to stay 
at home on their farms";" by 1895 "[t] he catch of furs is so small now as to 
be of no account in finance."46 

t i  h. McDonald, lndian Agent, Crooked Lake ,Agency to Superintendent General of Indian Allairs. September LO. 
1889, Canatla, Deparment of Indian Allairs, Annual Report, 1889, (ICC Documents, p. I O j ) .  

i 3  1. McDonald, Indian Agent, Crooked Lake Asency, to Superintendent General of Indian &in. September I S ,  
1890, Canada, Depament of Indian .&%is, AnnudReport, 1890, (ICC Documents. p. 115). 

44 A. McDonald, lndian Agent, Crooked Lake Agency la Superintendent General "I Indian &rs. July 31, 1895. 
Canada, Depament of Indian Aifais. AnndReport, 1893, (ICC DocumenE, p. 160). 

45 A. McDonald, Indian Agent, Croaked lake Agency, to Superintendent Generdi of lndian Affain, July 30. 189.  
Canada, Deplnmenl of lndian AfM~lain, AnnwlReporl. 1892, (ICC Documenb, p. 150). 

46 A. McDonald, lndian Agent. Crooked Lake Agency, to Superintendent General of Indian Juiy 20. 1895, 
Canada, Depanment of Indian adgin, Annrd Report, 189W5. (ICC Documents, p. 197). 
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The most important variable in the economic life of the Bands was the 
weather. The early 1890s in particular were marked by mixed success, with 
some years providing encouraging results and others ending with crop fail- 
ures and damage from heat and drought, notwithstanding improvements in 
the Bands' farming practices. In 1891, McDonald reported: 

The last year's crop was the best we have had since these Indians commenced 
farming. . . . 

The hay crop was much better than last year, but owuig to unfavourable weather 
there waq not much made for sale?' 

In 1892, he commented: 

I am glad to say the crops, taken as a whole, for the last year were very favourable, 
and for quantity were greatly in excess of all former years, but the prices realized by 
the Indians for their wheat ruled rather lower. . . . 

The hay crop was a favourable one, the lndians stacking nine hundred and seventy 
tons, of which they sold ninety tons, the balance being used to feed their stock. . . . 

The crops are looking well, but are short in the straw, owing to the long continued 
dry weather and kdck of rain in June, hut just at the last of the month a good supply 
came, and although 1 do not anticipate an extraordinary crop, I certainly expect an 
average one, as the good effect of the deferred rain, when it erne,  was apparent at 
onceqR 

The 1893 report stated: 

The crops raised by my Indians last year were rather less in quantity than wa? the 
case the previous year, which was due to the season and not to inferior farming, as I 
am pleased to report that a steady advance is observable in the methods adopted in 
agricnlturzl operations on nearly all the Indian farms. . . . 

The hay crop was an average one, the Indians stacking nine hundred and eighty- 
eight tons, which was about the usual quantity they were accustomed to put up, and 
which of late years has been sufficient to cany their stock well through the winter and 
give them some hay to sell in the spring.'V 

The dry 1894 season proved to be particularly discouraging: 

17 a. McDonald, lndian Agenl. Crooked Me &encv, to Superinlenden1 General uf Indian Affaia. riuuymst 12. 1891. 

~ ~ ~, ~ ~ , - ,  ,..~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ . ,  r, ~ .. ., . ..,. 
19 A. ~c&naid ,  Indian A@, Crooked'Ge Apenq, to Superintenden1 General ol lndian ABain, July 31, IR93, 

Canada, D e p m e n l  of lndian Affairs. Annual Reporl, 1893, (ICC Documen&, pp. 158 and 161). 
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Seeding this spring commenced about the usual time ,and the early promise of a good 
crop was assuring, but the great scarciiy of rain later on makes it look as if the 
coming harvest was to be the lightest yield my Indians have ever known, which is very 
discouraging as they not only worked well, but were amenable to the practical advice 
given them as to sum~er-fallowing, etc., and put in their seed on land which for the 
most part could not have been much better prepared. . . . 

The farmers sowed nineteen acres of oats for the use of their horses, the yield 
from which will be very poor owing to the excessive drought. 

The hay crop, owing to the dry season, will be light, although enough wiU be 
secured for winter provision.5" 

Although 1895 promised favourable returns, McDonald continued his 
lament on the poor 1894 season: 

As prognosticated in my last report, the crop harvested during the current year has 
proved very light. . . . 

This was entirely due to the extraordinarily dry season, which was the dryest [sic] 
I have seen in this country for the past twenty years. . . . 

The comparative failure is owing to the dry season. . . . 
There is a greater acreage under crop than last year by 22% acres, and the crop 

has been properly put in on land better prepared thm in any previous year, and with 
the present favourable weather a remarlably good return may be expected this com- 
ing harvest.. . . 

The hay crop, owing to drought, was a poor one, although sufficient was obtained 
to winter all the stock comfortably. . . . 

One weU was dug during the winter on Kahkewistahaw's Reserve, No. 72, owing to 
a supply running short that had never failed before. . . . 

The hay harvest promises to be excellent this summer, and the crop abundant." 

In subsequent years, the reporting requirements for the Indian agents 
changed and, in terms of the Bands' economic development, focused more 
on reserve resources and Band occupations than on weather conditions and 
production levels. Even so, Indian Agent J.P. Wright commented in 1898: 

L regret to report that owing to the extreme dry season we have had this year so far, 
and to the severe and frequent frosb, our crops are about a total failure.. . . 

50 A. McDonald, lndian Agent, Cmoked Lake Agency, to Superintendent General of Indm &%its, July 20, 1894. 
Canada, Depdment of Indian ,Maim, A n n d  Report, 1893194, (ICC Documents, p. 174) 

51 A. McDonald, Indian Agent, Cmoked lake Agency, to Superintendent General of lndian A&E, July LO, 1895, 
Canada. D e p m e n t  of Indian main, d n n d  Report. 1894/95, (ICC Documents, pp. 191-94 and 196). 



This has been an exceptionally unfortunate year for farming operations in this 
district, and most discouraging to the Indians, the whole of their hard work being 
destroyed.'" 

In summary, these later reports demonstrated the reliance of the Crooked 
Lake Agency Bands on sales of hay, firewood, and senega root, together with 
mixed farming and, using the Bands' own hay supplies, raising stock. Fishing 
provided an important supplementary food supply for the Ochapowace and 
Sakimay Bands, and to a lesser extent for Cowessess, but did not constitute a 
significant source of income. 

The Western Bands 
The Muscowpetung Agency, which served the four western Qu'AppeUe Valley 
Bands, opened under the stewardship of Indian Agent J.B. Lash on July 1, 
1885, after the North-West Rebellion. The hay grounds in the agency already 
formed a significant component of the Bands' economies: 

The hay grounds on Piapot's and Muscowpetung's Reselves have been turned to good 
account, and the result of last year's work h a  encouraged the Indians and in a 
substantial manner proved to them the benefit of assisting themselves. Two hundred 
tons of hay were sold and delivered in Regina to the North-West Mounted Police ,and 
others." 

The problems posed by the weather were no less daunting for the western 
Bands than for those to the east. Lash commented in 1886 on the impact of 
drought conditions the preceding year and his attempts to encourage the 
Indians to diversify their operations: 

The result of last year's experience in tqing to farm successfully in the valley in this 
agency thoroughly convinced me that a change was necessq, as the changes in the 
temperature had more effect on the crops in the low land. However, to convince the 
Indians was not so easy, as to come on the bench necessitated breaking and fencing 
new land. The Indians were notiEed in good time that seed grain would only be 
issued for farming on the bench land, and I am pleased to repolt that the result has 
been satisfactory, as our crop on the whole promises a fair return. The root crops last 
year on Piapot's and Muscowpetung's Reselves were very light, owing to the summer 

52 J.P. Wrighl. lndian igent, Croaked lake igmcy, lo Superintendent General of lndian hffnn, i\ugusl 25, 1898. 
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drought; on Pasquah's Reserve there was a fair yield, and on the Sioux [Standing 
Buffalo! Reserve a very good crop. 

The ground was so hard and dry that very little fall ploughing could be done. 
Fully 200 tons of hay were sold and delivered off the reserves. This industly 

encourages the indians, as also the freighting from the railway of contract supplies, 
the result of which can been seen in useful articles, clothing and supplies purchased 
with the proceeds.1' 

In both 1887 and 1888, Lash remarked on the scarcity of game in the 
western reserves, which limited the food supply from that source. This scar- 
city was offset to some degree by good fishing in Pasqua Lake and the suc- 
cesses the Bands were able to achieve in digging seoega root and raising 
cattle.'5 The 1888 crop season also proved productive, but dry conditions 
prevailed the following year: 

The bountiful harvest of last season and the proceeds from the sale of hay, wood, 
freighting and general work placed the Indkts  in this agency in a very independent 
position and reduced the demands on the Department for food supplies to a large 
extent. . . . 

The acreage under grain this spring was increased f@ per cent. over last yed~, 
and the prospects were most e n c o u w n g  up to the early part of June, but the contin- 
uous drought from that date injured the crop and our returns this season will be 
comparatively small.'6 

Although it appeared that 1889 would have been a productive year for hay, 
fire swept the Muscowpetung and Pasqua reserves in early October and 572 
tons of hay were lost." 

In 1890, Lash noted the favourable farming conditions and returns to the 
Bands: 

14 1.8. Lash, Indian kcnt, Muscowpemn~ Axenq, lo Superintendent General of Indian Maim. September 7. 1887, 
Canada, Depamiit of Indian i[aairs:~nnud ~ e p o i t ,  1887, (ICC Documents, p. 81). 

5 5  J.B. k h ,  Indian Agent, Muscowperung Agency, to Superintendent General of Indian &rs, September 7, 1887, 
Canada. Deoartment of Indim &rs.AnnuolRemrt. 1887. (ICC Documents. n. 811: I.B. lash. lndian Agent " ~ ~ ~ .  
Murcowpr~ng yenq, to ~u~erintendent lienerd of indian &in. ~cptember'i. 1888,'~anada.'O&&ment of 
lndian A5bm, A n n u l  Report, 1888, (ICC Documents, pp. 94-95); 1.8. Lash, lndian Agent, Muscowpetung 
Agency, to Superintendent General of lndian Main. August 27, 1889, Canada, Ueparmenl of Indian AEairs. 
A n n u l  Report. 1889. (ICC Documents. p. 103). 

56 J.B. Lash, Indian Agent, Muscawperung Agency, to Superintendent General of lndian .Hairs, August 27, 1889, 
Canada, Depament of lndian Afain, Annual Remrt, 1889, (ICC Documents, pp. 103-04). 

57 J.B. Lash, lndian $em, Muscowpemng Agency, to Superintendent General of lndian Again, September I ,  18W. 
Canada, Depmment of lndian Mars, Annuol Report, 1890, (ICC Documents, p. 113). 



I N D I A N  C L A I M S  C O M M ~ S S I O N  P R O C E E D I N G S  

The stock is in fine condition, and the increase most encouraging. 
The crops this season are turning out splendidly, and the Indians are contented 

and happy with the prospect of enjoying the fruit of their labour.'6 

As their operations flourished, the Bands became increasingly self-reliant, as 
Lash remarked in 1891: 

The Indians of thh agency ate steadily advancing in civili~ation ;~nd  becoming more 
independent every ye;lr, thereby reducing the assistance required from the Depart- 
ment. The returns from the harvest were very good, and some Indians are still using 
their own flour. 

Pasquah's Band were almost entirely self-supporting from October to April. During 
the winter they were kept busy selling firewood at Fon Qu'AppeUe. Muscowpetung's 
and Piapot's Bands also supported themselves for several months, but they have not 
had the advantage of the sale of wood during the winter on account of the distance 
from their reserves to the towns. 

During the year we sold and delivered at Regina and other points five hundred 
tons of hay.5" 

The 1891 season yielded the best results Lash had seen during his tenure 
ai Indian Agent, but his comments regarding 1892 were more subdued: 

The past year (18911 has been the most prosperous since the agency was opened and 
the Indians have practically suppolted themselves for the past eight months. The 
crops were excellent, so that in addition to supplying their own flour until the next 
harvest, they had a surplus of wheat for sale; this with oats, hay and wood sold fur- 
nished them cash sufficient to make a very comfortable living.. . . 

The Indians are becoming more independent and so long as they can find sale for 
their hay and wood, are quite willing to support themselves. . . . 

The stock herd has prospered, and in the coming year we will supply all the beef 
required within the agency, and work cattle to Indians commencing farming on their 
own account. . . . 

There has been an increase in the acreage, this year, under crop of iwo hundred 
acres. I regret to state the grain at Piapot's has been considerably damaged by a 
severe hail-stom. The crops on the other reserves are short in the straw, but other- 
wise looking fairly weU.60 
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In 1893, drought conditions damaged crops in the Muscowpetung Agency 
but, by virtue of hay and wood production, which Lash referred to as "our 
great industries,'' the Indians continued to progress towards econotnic self- 
sufficiency: 

Regina takes the bulk of the hay, and Fon Qu'AppeUe and the adioining settlement the 
wood, in both cases the demand is not large enough, and when our contracts are 
Ned,  a few loads glut the market." 

Lash also noted that "[tlhe number of individual Indians that go out working 
off the reserve is in~reasing."~~ 

The following year, Lash wrote that "sales of hay and wood have 
increased, and during the time the Indians are engaged in this work they are 
entirely self-~upporting."~~ Despite the demonstration during the 1894 season 
that Indian farming remained vulnerable to the weather ,and global events, 
the Bands were still able to rely on hay and wood production to sustain a 
relative degree of independence: 

The past year has been the most w n g  our Indians have experienced since settling on 
the reselves; the general depression the world over and total failure of all crops in 
this district through continued drought and excessive heat, cutting off all returns from 
farming operations, left the Indians entirely dependent on other sources to pass over 
the crisis. The hay and wood industries were utilized to the utmost, and the assistance 
we required from the department was very little." 

Senega root formed a lucrative alternative source of income for the western 
Bands, but Lash grew concerned about the effects its harvesting was having 
on more conventional farming operations: 

The Indians derived a large amount of money this summer from gathering seneca 
root; but, as this work takes them off the reserves for weeks at a time, and keeps up 
the old habit of roaming over the prairies, I am of the opinion the benefit is counter- 
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acted by their absence from the reserves, ,and consequently there is not the attention 
given to gardens, root crops and ploughing which should be given at that time.0' 

Still, Lash considered that the seeding in the spring of 1895 had been well 
done "and the prospect of a bountiful harvest is most excellent."" 

With the change in agency reporting requirements in the mid-1890s, Lash 
and his successors as lndian agent focused their attention on reserve 
resources and Band occupations. Muscowpetung's reserve featured good 
farm land, valuable hay meadows, and supplies of firewood, although by 
1899 Indian Agent John Mitchell reported that "[tlhere is now very little 
timber worthy of the name left on the reserve, and in a few years the fuel 
problem will have to be faced."67 In fact, Mitchell was forced to make an 
example of one settler caught trespassing to steal firewood from the reserves 
because, "as wood grows scarcer and more valuable, there is a tendency to 
do more stealing."" The listed occupations of Band members were selling 
hay and wood, farming, raising stock, working off the reserve, freighting, 
tanning, hauling hay and managing cattle for the agency farm, gathering sen- 
ega root, trading, and hunting and fishing. 

The main resources on the Pasqua reserve were firewood and fish, with 
the ravines leading into the valley reputed to contain large quantities of wood. 
The reserve also included farm land and hay meadows, although the hay 
supply was "nothing like the quantity cut on the two first mentioned reserves 
[Piapot and Mus~owpetung]."~Y Still, there was sufficient hay to supply the 
Band's own stock, as long as the herd was maintained at a smaller size. The 
major Band vocations were mixed farming and selling firewood, supple- 
mented by employment off the reserve, freighting, tanning, hunting and fish- 
ing, and gathering senega root and berries. Lash noted in 1897 that the Band 
built a "very good dam" of its own on the "brush l a n d  to secure a supply of 
water, and that "[tlhis was found very useful last season, as water in the 
neighbourhood was scar~e." '~ 
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The Standing Buffalo reserve, proportionally smaller to begin with, fea- 
tured little hay, nor was there a good supply in the vicinity. Moreover, Mitch- 
ell noted that "it is doubtful whether cultivated grasses can be grown success- 
fully in the light soil," making it difficult to raise To feed their herd, 
Band members obtained permits to cut hay on government lands.72 William 
Graham, the Inspector of Indian Agencies, later commented that "[tlhe soil 
is very light and unless there is a wet season grain-growing is not a suc- 
c e ~ s . " ~ ~  To make their living, the members of this Band worked extensively 
off the reserve, where they were highly regarded and much in demand. They 
also raised grain and root crops, hunted and fished, and sold firewood, 
although in later years their wood supply diminished and they were required 
to obtain their own supply from outside sources. 

THE NORTH-WEST IRRIGATION ACT AND 
EARLY WATER DEVELOPMENTS 

By 1894, the federal government had come to view the drought conditions 
and scarcity of water in the North-West Territories as an obstacle to develop- 
ment and settlement, and it began taking steps to deal with the problem. One 
Legislative initiative was the implementation of the Nortb-West Imgation 
Act,74 which vested in the Crown the property in, and the rights to use water 
in, the North-West Territories. The statute further provided that no future 
grant of land by the Crown was to vest in the grantee "any exclusive or other 
property or interest in or any exclusive right or privilege with respect to any 
lake, river, stream or other body of water, or in or with respect to the water 
contained or flowing therein, or the land forming the bed or shore thereof." 
Similarly, no riparian owner or other person acquired the right to divert 
water permanently, or use it exclusively, by duration of use or otherwise, 
except in accordance with the provisions of the Act, unless that right had 
already been acquired by some pre-existing agreement or undertaking. The 
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key provision of the Act for the purposes of the present inquiry was section 7, 
which stated: 

7. Any person who holds wdter rights of a class similar to those which may be 
acquired under this Act, or who, with or without authority, has constructed or is 
operating works for the utilization of water, shall obtain a license or authorization 
under this Act within twelve months from the date of the passing of this ,Act. 

2. If such license or authorization is obtained within the time limited, the exercise 
of such rights may thereafter be continued, and such works may be carried on under 
the provisions of this Act, otherwise such rights or works, and all the interest of 
such person therein, shall without any demand or proceeding be absolutely for- 
feited to Her MqesQ and may be disposed of or dealt with us the Gournor in 
Council sees Jt.;i 

Section 8 stipulated that any water vested in the Crown could be acquired 
for domestic, irrigation, or other purposes on application in accordance with 
the Act. Applications were given priority, first, on the basis of use (with 
domestic uses given highest priority; irrigation, next; and "other purposes," 
lowest priority) and, second, on the basis of the date of the application being 
made. 

Early efforts at water management were numerous but "haphazard: 

Although the Dominion Government did not establish a systematic plan for water con- 
trol in this early period, local efforts to moderate seasonal changes were made under 
the Northusest Irrigation Act. These projects, however, were administered and over- 
seen by succeeding government agencies; between 1877 and 1892 by the Dominion 
Government through the Lieut[enantl-Governor of the NWT, as an agent for the 
Department of the Interior, then by the Legislative Assembly of the Territorial Govem- 
ment of the NWT until 1897, then by the Federal Public Works Department until 1931, 
when water, as a natural resource, was transferred to the provinces under the Natrr- 
r d  Resources Transfer Agreement. Some 196 individual o r  group projects such as 
wells, dams, and dugouts as well as spill off and drainage ditches had been con- 
structed by the time the Department of Public Works recorded the number of water- 
works in the Qu'AppeUe Valley in 1898. The exception to this pattern of haphazard 
development was the original Craven Dam built in 1906 by the Federal Government. 
The dam was for irrigation purposes and tlooded an extensive area upstream from the 
dam between Craven and Lumsden, including the Val[elpon Flats.'" 
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the Olsl subsection of section 7 oi the 1894 stahlte was later mended to require the aequisilion of a licence 
before July 1, 1898: see North-Wed lmgalion Act, IsYB, 61 Vict., c. 35, s. 7; Irrigation Act, W'C 1906, c. 61, 
s. 9; and Irrigation A d ,  RSC 1927, c. 104, a. 9. 
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Another report described early water development efforts in these terms: 

The early water control projects were not designed for flood control. More ohen 
than not they were constructed during periods of drought by individuals whose main 
concern was the containment of surface runoff for domestic use during the critically 
dry months. In such cases, the flow of water downstream was completely cunailed 
until the small reservoirs were filled. This, of course, sewed to accentuate the mois- 
ture problem for those living downstream of the dam. 

At the other extreme, during periods of excessive rainfall the areas upstream of the 
dams would experience sustained high water levels while the lower reaches would 
suffer from uncontrolled overflow and occasional washouts causing flash flooding, 
erosion and sedimentation.:' 

The first project recorded by the Indian Affairs Branch as having the 
potential to affect Indian lands was a dam that Alphonse Besson proposed in 
1891 to erect downstream of Round Lake so he could operate a grist mill. 
When Indian Agent McDonald met with Besson to review the proposal, he 
concluded that it would flood 40 acres of land on the Ochapowace reserve; 
in McDonald's opinion, however, Band members had never made use of this 
land and were unlikely to do so. 

The proposal was submitted to the Deputy Superintendent General of 
Indian Affairs with a request for instructions as to "whether the Department 
will allow the Indians to be asked to give their consent to the erection of a 
dam, which will affect their Reserve to the extent e~timated."'~ The Indian 
Commissioner replied that, "in a matter of such importance the opinion of an 
engineer as to the land that would be affected by the erection of the dam is 
absolutely necessary to determine the extent of damage that would be done to 
the Ochapowace Reserve No. 71, and the consequent compensation which 
should be required before such dam is allowed to be con~tructed."~~ Sur- 
veyor John Nelson, instructed to assess the dam, likened it to a large beaver 
dam, and believed that raising the water level would benefit the "scrubby 

77 I16782 Canada Ltd., "Qu'Appelle Vdlil" indan Developnlent ,4uthority Land Claim,.. Apnl 14, 1986, p 15 (ICC 
Phibit 9. 

78 A.E. p or get, Assistant Commissioner of Indian Main, to Deputy Superinlenden1 General of Indian m n ,  Augusl 
8. 1891. National Archius of Canada (NA). RG 10. vol. 6613. fle 6108-4 (ICC Documents. o. 1251. 

., . . ,.~- -..,, 
counsel for the QVIDA I'mt Nations in 'his ;&ten sub$sioi a t p  18 suggest that the Indian Commissioner 
stated that "the eonsent of Ochapowace wfi akolutely necessary! We redd rhe paasage as saylng that "the 
upiluon oi an engineer was absolutely necessary; and it was on the basis 01 this instruction that surveyor John 
C. Nelson anended [he rile to provide his evpen opinion on the effects of the proposed project. 



river bottoms which may be flooded." He viewed the proposed grist mill as 
"a boon to the Indians in this part of the Reserve as they will have a mill at 
their door." He concluded that the Indians should not be entitled to any 
compen~ation.~~ However, Hayter Reed, the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 
later reported that, although the Ochapowace Band had been prepared to 
consent to the flooding, the dam had in any event washed out and Besson 
had left the country.81 
Six years later, in 1897, the impact of the North-West Imgation Act 

became apparent. In response to a succession of dry years, two unauthorized 
dams had been constructed by the Department of Marine and Fisheries in the 
Qu'Appelle River at Fort Qu'Appelle and Katepwe because water levels had 
diminished to such an extent that the water had become "stagnant and offen- 
sive." The dams had the desired beneficial effects for residents of the valley 
as well as for fish stocks, but they also flooded reserve lands belonging to the 
Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands. On receiving instructions to assess the 
damage caused by the dams, surveyor A.W. Ponton reported that the flooded 
lands were marshes that had become dry during the prolonged drought. Still, 
he suggested that steps might he t k e n  to regulate the water levels, and 
thereby protect the reserve lands from flooding, without causing damage to 
other lands. He also noted that, if Indian Affairs chose to object to the flood- 
ing, it could make a formal complaint. Such an objection might lead to an 
order for the removal of the unauthorized structures pending compliance 
with the North-West Imgation 

A complaint was duly filed by Indian Agent Lash and forwarded by Indian 
Commissioner A.E. Forget to J.S. Dennis, Acting Chief Inspector of Surveys 
and Irrigation in the federal Department of Public Works, on April 30, 1897, 
with a request for an order that the illegal dams be rem0ved.~3 Dennis trav- 
elled to the Qu'Appelle Valley from Calgary in August of that year to find that 
the dam at Katepwe had washed out with the spring runoff, resulting in low 
water levels and exposed banks above the dam site. He recommended that 
the dam be rebuilt, although he suggested that it be redesigned to permit 
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greater control of water levels.84 He disclaimed Public Works' responsibility 
for the project, asserting instead that "representations regarding its construc- 
tion should be sent to the Deputy Minister of Dept. of Marine and Fisheries, 
Ot ta~a ."~ '  

Although Dennis indicated that he also intended to inspect the dam at Fort 
Qu'Appelle, there is no evidence that he did so. The issue became academic, 
however, in light of complaints received from the Reverend J. Huggonard, 
principal of the Indian Industrial School at Qu'Appelle, concerning the 
unsanitary and offensive-smelling plant and animal remains left uncovered by 
the receding waters above the Katepwe Huggonard noted the impact of 
the large number of water control structures in the Qu'Appelle Valley: 

Compared with the large area draining into the Qu'AppeUe Valley and the quantity of 
water it used to receive 10 or 20 years ago from the numerous creeks, very little now 
tlows in, on account of the numerous dams on all the creeks and ravines, some of 
which are very deep and bank-back the water for miles, this is not including the large 
dams at Regina and Moose Jaw. 

Previous to the creation of these dams on tributaries in the Qu'AppeUe, the lakes 
and rivers used to rise from two to four or five feet every season, no such rise has 
taken place since 1894 and last year our lake did not rise two inches above low water 
level of the previous year and then went down EuUy ten feet, leaving over one hundred 
feet of decaying vegetable and animal maner exposed in the bay in front of the 

In the months that followed there were discussions among ofEicials of 
Indian Affairs, the Department of Public Work, the Department of Marine 
and Fisheries, and the territorial government about which department should 
undertake the work and whether an interim structure should be erected. 
Public Works assigned an engineer to report on the matter and, by July 1898, 
it had been decided that reconstruction of a "substantial structure" should 
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This document is difficult to read, and it is not clear whether Huggonard stated thst the water had not risen 
since 1884 or 1894. 
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commence soon.88 It is interesting to note that, at this time, settlers in the 
valley below the dam were opposed to its being rebuilt "on the ground that it 
would take too long to fill the lakes, thereby preventing the water from run- 
ning in the river and over-flowing their hay meadows which would be detri- 
mental to their hay cr0ps."~9 

The record in this inquiry is strewn with evidence of other proposed 
projects which had the potential to affect reserve lands. In 1914, members of 
the Pasqua Band asked for financial support to assist them in erecting two 
dams so they would not have to haul water to their farm lands above the 
valley.w Authorization was granted, with the costs to be charged to the Band's 
interest account?l but no further evidence is available about the project. 
Later, in 1921, the Fort Qu'Appelle Board of Trade petitioned the federal 
government for a dam to raise the water level in the river near Fort 
Qu'Appelle to make it more suitable for motorboating. Indian Commissioner 
W.M. Graham raised the concern that building a dam would probably cover 
the hay meadows of the western Qu'AppeUe Valley  band^,"^ but the matter 
was ultimately referred to the Department of Public Works, since the river at 
that t i e  was considered to be navigable,"~ contrary to later evidence in this 
inquiry." There is also no further evidence regarding this proposal. 

88 JS. Demis, Depuy Commissioner, Department of Pllblic Works, to Secretaly, Depmmet of lndian Hairs. July 
14, I898 (ICC Documents, p. 260). In a letter dated August 30, 1898, Illdian Commissioner A.E. Forga 
reported that. with grading done by members oi the Pasqua reserve, "Pal larger dam is under construction and 
when Bnished will he of pear  benefit to the RwN~": A.E. Forget, Indian Commissioner, to S e r r w .  Depan~ 
meat of lndian Hain, August 30, 1898, UA, RG 10. vol. 10514, file 675i8-4-3-79 (ICC Documenls, p. 268A). It 
is uot clear whether these commenb relate to reconsVllction of the dam at lOtepwe or improvillg the one 
upstream at Fofl Qu'Appelle, but the latter seems more likely if, a reportd. the iiam affected the P q u a  
reseme. 

89 Kw. J. Hugonard, hincipd, lndian Industrial Fchool, Qu'Ap elle, to Dcpuv Minister, Department of Mdrinc 
and Fisheries, Jzauaq 20, 1898, VA, RG 10. wi. 7548, file 9114-1, part I (ICC Documena, p. 242.4). 

0% K. Vichal. lndian Agent, Qu'Appelle Agency. to J.D. McLean, Secretaly, Depunmeot of Indian ,Ahin. July 8. 
1914. NA, RG 10. vol. 7584. file 6114.1, Pan I (ICC Docaments, p. 331). 

91 1.u. Mdean, Secretaq, Department of lndian .Hairs, to K. Aichol, lndian Agent. Qu'Appellc .Agency July 14. 
1914, VA, RG 10, ual. 7584, fie 6114-1, pan I (ICC Documents, p. 332). 

'92 W M. Graham, lndian Commissioner, to Secretary, Department oi lndian mdi8 March 4. 1921, NA, RG 10, vol. 
7584, file 6114-1, pan I (ICC Dacumenls, p. 3'33). 

93 E.F. Drake, D~reclor, Reclamation Sewice, Depament of the Interior. lo Secmaly. Depamcnt oi Indian 
Affain. April 26, 1921, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, Me 6114~1. pan 1 (1CC Documen&, p. 339). 

94 On January 16, 1976. aher investigating tilde to the bed of the Qtt'AppeUc River passing through the M u s ~  
cowpetung reserve. G.A. Poupore advised AH. Markuson: 
kcording to the hUnistry ot Transport the waters at the above n e  are na considered nntgable within the 
meaning of the Navigable Waren Pmtection Act. The Marine Aids Division informed that the uses of the 
river passing through R e s e w  80 and 808 would be the watering of livestocks lsiclaod provide also for 
the spawning pound for the fishing game. 
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In 1922, the problem was again too much water, and requests were made 
to raise the level of the Craven Dam, upstream from the Piapot reserve, to 
contain the waters inundating the hay lands. Public Works noted that the 
existing dam, built in 1905, was in poor condition and lealung badly, so that 
steps to correct it would likely be expensive and perhaps a waste of time, 
since it might well wash away in any event. In the course of its response, 
Public Works also illustrated how containment of the Qu'Appelle River might 
operate as a double-edged sword: 

Up to recently the people who are now asking that the dam he raised complained that 
this very dam was holding back too much water and that their hay lands along the 
Qu'AppeUe River as weU as the cattle suffered owing to low or shortage of water. Il 
this dam were raised 1,300 acres of expropriated land belonging to the Department 
of Public Works would be more or less permanently Booded. And undoubtedly 
another hay acreage would require to be expropriated between the lake and the Cra- 
ven dam, in addition to flooding the Lumsden Valley on the Qu'AppeUe River. 

It seems to me that during low water years those people below the dam would like 
to see the dam removed completely and during the high water years they would like 
to see it raised to suit their purpose, without any consideration being given to other 
properties above the dam. . . . 

The Craven Dam should be partly rebuilt and provisions made so that the elevation 
of the water could be controUed.95 

In 1924 a proposal surfaced that would have resulted in the construction of 
ditches to enable flood waters to drain from the hay flats as r eq~ i red?~  
Although surveyor H.W. Fairchiid was dispatched to take levels and determine 

See G.A. Poupore, Director, Lands and Membenhip, Depament of Lndian and Northern Hairs, lo A.H. 
Markuson, Rcglonal Supenisor of Lands, Sskatehewan Region. Depanment of lndian and Northern AEain, 
lanuan. 16. 1976. DlAND file 67518-4. vol. 3 (ICC Documenis. D. 1001) A venr lalcr. Markuson passed tlus 
~nlorm~tion on to A.J. Gross, with ihefollowing additional comments: 

On reviewing the inlerprelatlons of navigable waters, we note that interpretations of hk llonour Judge 
Wiffield in 1914 indicating tiven may be navigable houah not such as will bear boats or b u m  for the 
accommodation of traveUe&. U they &e ruffici&t for theiranspartation of propem, e.R., far float in^ 10x5 

the bed 01 a "an-tidal navigable river is be in the tipatian'owner (in this insmance since the 
band oms the land an both s ide  of the river, his would apply). 

See A.H. Markuson, Regional Supemor of kinds, Saskatchewan Region, D e p m e n t  01 lndian and Northern 
AEairs. la A.1. Cross. Acting hssisranl Redonal Direclor. Economic Devrloomenl. Saskatchmn Refion. DeDan 
men1 of 1n&an and ~ar thern  Affairs, ~Guary 31, 1977. DlkVD file E43i0-06566 (ICC ~ocume&, p. 1066). 

95 Depanment of Pubhe Works. Disttict Engineer's Office, "Fxcerpu from District Engineer's ReparI," September 
29, 1922, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 61141, part I (ICC Documents, pp. 349-50). 

96 W.M. Graham. lndian Commissioner. to Seerelaw. Deoament of lndian AEain. lulv 25. 1924. NA. RG LO. vol. 
6615. Me 71 i4~2  (ICC Documenu, pp. 357-58j.' 

' 
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the feasibility of the ditches?' there is no evidence of what became of this 
project. 

In summary, it appears that, to the end of the 1920s, there were major 
tloods in 1852, 1904, and 1916, with "high water" or "moderate flooding" 
also recorded in 1858, 1882, 1892, 1902, 1917, 1922, 1923, 1925, and 
1927.98 There were no large floods for the 20-year period between 1882 and 
1902,s" as the reports of the Indian agents at that time attest. However, in 
addition to the many seasons of drought described by the agents during that 
period, there were more dry years in 1910, 1914, 1917, 1918, and 1919.LU0 

CREATION OF THE PRAIRIE FARM 
REHABILITATION ADMINISTRATION 

In a few short years, the excessive water that plagued farmers in the 1920s 
became the fond hope of the "Dirty Thirties" as, in a complete reversal of the 
weather cycle, the parched prairies endured year after year of relentless 
drought. Indian Commissioner William Graham pleaded with Indian Affairs 
Secretary A.F. MacKenzie to request the Department of Public Works to open 
the dan~ at Craven for a few days, since "[tlhe river on the East side of the 
dam has nearly dried up and if something is not done there will be a 
shortage of water for cattle this winter."1DL MacKenzie complied, but his 
counterpart in Public Works, K. Desjardins, replied with the following report 
from the District Engineer: 

[Tlhe stoplogs in the dam have been removed since early in the sprins. On the 20th 
instant the elevation of water above h e  dam was practically two feet below the bottom 

Y7 A.F. MacKende, Acting \ssistant Deputy and Secrclaly, Depament oi indian &in, la H.W. FJirchild, Sepam- 
ber 2 ,  1924, NA, RC LO, val 6615, file 7114-2 (ICC Docummts, p. 360). 

us Department of hgnculmre, ?nine Farm Rehabiliratian Administfion. "Hydrology Report 121: floods and 
Flooding Problems in the Qe'AppeUe Valley: May 1958, p. I i  (ICC Whit  15); Depanment of Agriculture. 
Pdne Farm Rehabili1'aIion Admjnistration, "Hydrology Repon #24: Drought and Flood in the Qu'Appelle 
Watershed (Summaly Report): May 1958, pp. 22-23 and 47 (ICC Fxhibit 15); Saskatchewan Water Rmurces 
Commission, investigation and Planing Branch, Economies Division, "Qu'AppeUe Rood Study, ppendu C: 1 
Historical Review of Rooding in the Qu'Appelle River Basin 1852-1971: hpril 1972, p. 104 (ICC Exhibit 23). It 
shuuid be noted that evidence of "high water" and "Bood years prior to 1904 is largely anecdold since 
record. WCE Zppdrenlly no1 kept beiore that the.  

9P Drpament of .Agriculture, Prairie Farm Rehabilitation ~ldmidstrdtion, "Hydrology Repan $21: Hoods and 
Flooding Problems in the Qo'Appelie Vdley; May 1958, p. I I  (LCC Exhibit 15). 

100 Department oi Agriculture, "Pnine Pam, Rehabilitation Act: What II Means to the Pmirie Pcadnces," Octobcr 
1961, p. 4 (ICC Whit 17). 

101 W.M. Gnham, lndian Commissioner, to A.F. MacKenlie, Secremq D e p m e n t  of Indian Main, September 5. 
1930, NA, RG 10, vnl. 7584. fiie 6114~1. pan I (ICC Documenis, p. 365). 
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of the sluice-ways, or four feet below the top of the dam, so that it will be impossible 
to let any water down the Qu'AppeUe river through the dam."'" 

The crisis had only begun. The Prairie provinces had assumed responsibil- 
ity for natural resources under the terms of the Natural Resources Transfer 
Agreements of 1930, but the magnitude of the problems caused by drought 
and the "severely deflated market prices" associated with the worldwide eco- 
nomic depression soon overwhelmed them.'O"he gravity of the situation was 
captured in the following excerpt from an article by E.S. Archibald: 

During its period of development, prairie agriculture has suffered many set-backs, but 
none so severe as that which accompanied the eight-vear period of drought between 
1929 and 1938. Throughout that period, repeatedcrop faiiures arising from unprece- 
dented conditions of drought and soil drifting hwe been experienced over an exten- 
sive area covering south-western Manitoba, southern Saskatchewan and south-eastern 
Alberta. The area affected coincided almost exacdy with Pdiser's "arid triangle'" 
and contains over one-half of the f m s  in the Prairie Provinces. Furthermore, this 
drought period occurred simultaneously with the worldwide economic depression 
which started in 1929. The combined effect of drought and depression was devastat- 
ing. Within the territoly most severely affected, the farm income from wheat, the prin- 
cipal crop, declined by an average of seventy per cent during the years 1930 to 1937 
inclusive. In 1937, the worst year of drought, the average yield of wheat in Saskatche- 
wan was only 2.6 bushels per acre as compared with a long time average of 15 
bushels. 

I114 Archibids article also discusses !he early histori of the am, induding !he "Pdiser Viangle": 

During the years 1857 la 1860, Captain John Yalliser explored the te r r i ro~  beween Lake Superior and the 
Rocky Mountains in the intercsu olthe British Government, with a view lo determining the possibilities far 
q"ltura1 sertlwnmnt. Pdiser came to the conclusion that h e  south~central porkan of this temtoq wa 
un6t for agnculmre bv reason of arid dimate and infertile sod. This " a r i d  area. covainc rauehiv 100.000 
square d e s ,  connil~tes the famous "Palliser trio~ple". . . . The same ovi~on'was ex&ssd in 1~5'9 bv 
13nla\.,r 11 \ I lna us, r \ p l i r v l  pan . , I  lwc .unr i r t ~  fur ilr .;.,~tmmch1 .,I cuv4.L Tl,r\r ~ y t n . t ) . ~ *  
* e r r  i l . ~ . t J  I w r . ~  "41 !he ~ut!huon ulJ  , I I , ~ ~ L L ~ # I  .r (IJLW >..y,wc n rh~. .  l ,ulr.x war ih ln .  lh.  
i rl*>pc.ti i<,r 14nc IILPA WUICIIICIII n rhc, <o,~lh.rn pdm I I ,llr I'r,>nc Yn?.nzvr  1 J  n ,. 4,prJr >en 
,,. ".,, I , , , y. . &, 

h211s 1 s . n  ..llcr IIO\LC\IT I i o l~ ,n  q ~ ~ r r  ..punl~,~~; IP~III\~ ,.I I!.L I ' l l l~,~r I C U ~ ~ ?  s..) III~.II. h. 
or ~ 1 c - w  I \ l~:,.~.u h VJIU>L [I, . I ,,flntvr. n ~'n.~. i  J! mr (:,nai,ut 1'1c.fi~ KuItv:~ ! I A C ~ L I ~  r f , i t , ~ ~ ~  
P.d.hcr 5 .nJ .%rr> l I n..llc !t .IIUII .A ~ I . I . ~  I I . I  J. .I ri)t<l lnr ,LIIIIIII..CI. I I!! l n i l l d ~  I. \t~.rlnl.. 
L r  t ~ r f % t . l t ~ r r  

111, *.lnlt*ll~l uuc rg1.I I ,iru\ ~ q l r t  r d  I,, I'd1 11111 11111 I I.,. I I  c L t~mtt. I IJ m \!>.c uo mv 
t a r  !xu\ hr c \ y l ~ ~ \ \ - , l  .,o !he b.. i \.IN \~n.al.n, i~ runi.lll lo, i b r ~ n ~ l ~ c ~ ~ t ,  . I IL. ..CT . A " !  i l ln I 

kt,:.: .clidc .!unng dn .\;lc I tcln i l u  ihc re I \Ircrlln J ~ n l g  . at!  r..le 

.Fee E.S. Archihdd, "Prsjrir Farm Rehabliutian," in Canadian Geographicd/oumal, October 1940, p. 159 
(KC Exhibit 7). 
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As a result of the foregoing conditions a very large number of farmers in the 
dfected area suffered heavy losses and experienced hardship and even destitution. 
Many people abandoned their holdings to seek new homes in more favoured sections, 
the resulting internal migration assuming considerable magnitude. Much of the aban- 
doned land, unprotected by crop or grass growth, became subject to soil drifting to 
the detriment of n e i g h b o u ~ g  occupied land. Shrinkage of income rendered many 
farmers incapable of dealing with the soil drifting menace, or even of continuing 
normal taming operations. In whole municipalities the capital value of the commu- 
nity farm enterprise declined to less than its mortgaged indebtedness, Large govem- 
mental expenditures for relief, and to enable fanners to continue operations, became 
necessaq. Under such circumstances the economic structure of the region was sub- 
jected to severe strain, and social s e ~ c e s  were threatened with disruption. 

The nation-wide repercussion of the drought crisis led the Dominion Government 
to introduce various measures for the alleviation of distress and the reorganization of 
agricultural economy, in the dected region.lni 

One such measure was the passage of the Prairie Fann Rehabilitation 
Acttffi and the establishment of the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration 
(PFRA) under the federal Minister of Agriculture in 1935. The Act was very 
short, its primaq operative section providing for the creation of an advisoty 
committee "to consider and advise the Minister as to the best methods to be 
adopted to secure the rehabilitation of the drought and soil drifting areas of 
the Provinces of Manitoba, Saskatchewan and Alberta and to develop and 
promote within those areas systems of farm practice, tree culture and water 
supply that will afford greater economic sec~rity."~~' The Act further provided 
for the appointment of "such temporary technical, professional and other 
officers and employees" iu the Minister might require to carry out the objec- 
tives of the Act, and established a budget of $750,000 for the first year of the 
PFRA's operation and $1 million for each subsequent year of its initial five- 
year mandate.lM 

In 1937, the PFR4's jurisdiction was extended to include the development 
of systems of land use and land settlement in addition to the original tenns of 
reference comprising farm practice, tree cultute, and water supply. In addi- 
tion, the $1 million ceiling on expenditures in the last three fiscal years of the 
PFRA's mandate was eliminated, with the amount for ezch year to be set in 
Parliament's annual appropriations.lOY 

10s BS. Archibald, "hnine Pam Uehabilitauon," in Cmadiun Ceographicd/oumal, October 1940. pp. 160-61 
(KC Exhibit 7) .  

106 PIairie F a n  Kebabililation Act, S(: 1935, c. 23. 
107 Plaid6 Farm Relmbilikzlion A d  SC 1935, c. 23, s. 4. 
la8 Bai"e F m  Rehabilikzlion Act, SC 1935, c. 23, sr. 6 and 8 
la .4n Act to ammd the m i n e  Farm Rebabilimh'on Act, SC 1937. c. 14, ss. 2 and 4 .  



Two years later, the five-year limit on the PFRA's mandate was also elimi- 
nated. The Minister of Agriculture was further authorized to enter into agree- 
ments with any provincial or municipal government in the three Prairie prov- 
inces, or with "any person, firm, or corporation, with respect to the 
development, promotion, construction, operation and maintenance of any 
project or scheme undertaken ... or which may be deemed necessary or 
desirable for the conservation of water." In conjunction with this power, the 
amending legislation permitted the Minister to "purchase, lease or otherwise 
acquire ... any lands or premises" required or to "purchase or rent whatever 
machinery or equipment may be required" for any project or scheme.110 

The Act was amended again in 1941. However, whereas previous amend- 
ments had extended and broadened the PFRA's mandate, the new provision 
narrowed its jurisdiction by requiring the Governor in Council to approve any 
project or scheme that would cost in excess of $5000.1L1 

As PFRA District Engineer L.D. McMillan wrote in 1941: 

The object of the Act is to remedy the severe effects of drought and soil drifting in the 
drought area of Western Canada. Under the terms of the Act, measures are provided 
to assist farmers in the affected areas to reduce the effect of drought and soil drifting. 
This included assistance in the consemtion of surface water supplies for household 
use, stockwatering and irrigation, re-grassing, tree planting and reclamation of lands 
damaged by soil drifting. Assistance was also provided under the Act to the U~versi- 
ties of the western provinces in continuing and extending soil sulveys and for an 
economic sulvey of the province. 

ln 1937 the Act was extended by amendment to provide for the establishment of 
community pastures in certain areas where the soil and climate have been found to be 
unsuited for grain gr~wing."~ 

The PFRA supported small, community, and large water development 
projects. For small projects, it provided financial and engineering assistance 
to individual farmers to construct dugouts and small dams to conserve sur- 
face runoff for stockwatering and domestic use, and to develop small irriga- 
tion projects for the production of forage crops. In the first five years of the 
program, the PFRA received 31,089 applications for assistance on small-scale 

I lo An Act to omend lbe PIairie Firm Kehabilikrtion Act, SC 1939, c. 7, ss I and 2. 
I l l  An Act to m d  fbe fiaine Fam Rebobilifation Ad, ST 1941, c. 25, s. I .  
1 I L  L.D. McMdIan, Disma Engineer, PFRA, "Qu'Appelle River Dcvelopment," February 24, 1941. PFRA file 

92WQ2, vol. 2 (ICC Uucummb, p. 4411. 



projects, of which it approved 19,897 and completed 14,222: 9945 dugouts, 
3447 stockwatering dams, and 830 irrigation projects.lt) 

Community projects were usually built to develop secondary tributaries to 
serve the needs of the inhabitants of a particular area. They often involved the 
restoration and improvement of natural water bodies that tended to dry up 
during droughts, either by installing control works on them or by diverting 
drainage into them. Such projects were usually implemented through cooper- 
ative arrangements among the PFRA, the provincial government, and the local 
community, with the community or the local agricultural district generally 
responsible for operating the projects after their c~ns t ruc t ion .~~~ 

Large water development projects consisted of "all those projects which 
have been fully constructed and paid for from the P.F.R.A. vote [such as] 
large stockwatering dams, irrigation and water supply projects." By March 
31,  1940, 63 of these projects had been completed or were under develop- 
ment, "representing a total water storage capacity of more than 300,000 acre 
feet, and the development of new irrigation facilities serving over 100,000 
acres of irrigable land."115 

WATER DEVELOPMENT BY THE PFRA IN THE QU'APPELLE VALLEY 

Requests for the construction of dams and other structures in the Qu'Appelle 
Valley to alleviate the drought conditions came quickly after the establishment 
of the PFRA. On February 8, 1935, Regina lawyer George S. Kennedy, acting 
on behalf of Leslie H. Hoskins of Craven and 25 other farmers in the valley, 
forwarded the following petition to Member of Parliament F.W. Turnbull for 
personal delivery to Hugh A. Stewart, the Minister of Public Works: 

We, the undersigned, farmers residing along the Qu'Appelle River Valley in the prov- 
ince of Saskatchewan, HEREBY HUMBLY PETITION the Government of Canada to con- 
struct a number of dams on the Qu'Appelle River for the purpose of flooding the hay 
land in the spring. 

For some five years these lands which formerly produced good crops of hay have 
been completely dried out and the famiers along this area have been dependent on 
the Government for fodder to see them through. 

WE, therefore, RESPECTFULLY REQUEST that the Govern[mentlconst~ct a num- 
her of such dams for the purpose aforesaid, and we individually undertake to release 

- - -  

113 Department of A?,riculture, "Repon on Acuvitie under the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Act for the Fiscal Year 
~ ~ 

ending March 3i, 1940,'' PFRi Annual Reports, 1939140 (ICC Dacuments, pp. 418 and 422). 
114 Department n i  Agricuhum, "Prairie Resources and PFRA; I969 (ICC Exhibit 19, pp. 42-44). 
115 Department of Agncullure, "Report on Activities under ihe Prairie Farm Rehabfitation Act for the Rscal Year 

ending March 31. 1940; PFRA, Annual Rcpum, 1939140 (ICC Dacurnenls, p. 423). 



the Government from any claims for damages occasioned by the flooding of our lands 
as a result of the said dams. 

AND we hereby agree that in the event of the construction of the said dams we 
individually agree each for himself that we will assume full responsibility for any hay 
which we may have in the Valley on March 1st in each year, either in stacks or 
otherwise and hereby waive any claim to damages occasioned by the said dams and 
flooding of our said lands as a result thereot"6 

Turnbull delivered the petition to Stewart with his own entreaty: 

These farmers who live along the valley are to some extent in the cattle business and 
to some extent produce hay for market. If the waters could be controlled it would 
help them very considerably."' 

Noting that a statement had recently been made in the House of Commons by 
Minister of Agriculture Robert Weir about the creation of the PFRA and the 
development of works in drought areas, Stewart advised Kennedy that he was 
referring the petition to Weir.IlR 

The Qu'Appelle Valley was just one possible area for large water develop- 
ment projects and, across the Prairie provinces, investigations began to 
assess the viability of many potential sites for the erection of water control 
structures. Comprehensive field investigations, including topographical 
surveys ;md soil investigations, were required, as well as tests to determine 
the foundations needed for the structures that would have to be built.I19 

In 1937, drought conditions reached their peak but, to the dismay of 
farmers along the Qu'Appelle, the preliminary investigations in their valley 
were not promising for water development: 

Reports received indicate that the most serious drought ever experienced in the area 
now prevails over a greater part of the open plains area in Saskatchewan and the east 
half of southern Alberta. By the end of May crops south of the Canadian PaciGc main 
line in Saskatchewan and most of east-cenual Alberta were dried out beyond recovery 
and with only light scattered showers along with high prevailing temperatures 
throughout the month of June, crops generally are a total failure. It is expected many 

116 George S .  Kennedy. Secord & Kennedy, Barnsten & Solicitors, lo MiNsteter of Public Works, Februaq 8, 1935, 
enclosing Petition from "Leslie H. Hoskins, SE 24-20-21 W Znd, Craven, and approximately 25 other h e r s "  
lo Minister of Public W o k ,  undated, NA, RG 17, vol. 3281. Me 559-13 (ICC Documents, pp. 371-72). 

117 F W. TumbuU, MP, to Hugh A. Stovul, Miluster of Public Works, Febmq 11, 1935. XA, RG 17, vol. 3281. file 
559-13 (ICC Documents. p. 373). 

118 Hugh A. Stewart, Miluster of Public Works, to F.W. TumbuU, MP, February 14, 1935, Nh RG 17, vol. 3281, file 
559-13 (ICC Documents, p. 374). 

n 9  Department of Agriculture, "Repon on AoMtic5 under he Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Act far Ule Fiscal Year 
enhng March 31. 1940; PFRA, .Annual Repam, 11)39/40 (ICC Documents, p. 423). 



districts wiU not ship even one car load of wheat, while the feed situation and water 
supply has become exceedingly desperate. 

This calamity alter several years of a most serious drought condition in the area 
has greatly intensfied the needs and demands for prairie farm rehabilitation work 
including water development in particular. . . . 

. . . Generally spekng ,  development in the Qu'Appelle Valley is not too promising. 
In the first place, there is lack of unanimity among the individuals who would be 
affected and topographical conditions would make it vely expensive if not impossible 
to irrigate by means of gravity from ditches. Pumping is probably the only means by 
which any amount of this land could he irrigated other than by naturally flooding 
large acreages periodically, but pumping is likely to prove expensive since the lift in 
projects so far inspected is from 25' to 35'. The intention, therefore, is not to con- 
tinue with any more reconnaissance sulvey in the Qu'AppeUe Valley this year particu- 
larly since drought conditions in other parts of the province are much more 
serious.1Ja 

Nevertheless, the PFRA continued its investigations, and by 1940 a major 
water development project encompassing the four Fishing Lakes as well as 
Crooked and Round Lakes was under active consideration. According to L.D. 
McMihn, the first priority was to restore the four Fishing Lakes (also known 
as the Qu'Appelle Lakes) to their normal levels: 

It has been pointed out by residenu of the valley in the vicinity of the Qu3:\ppeUe 
Lakes that due to the heavy decline in Lake levels in recent years, the fishing industry 
has been seriously affected, the summer camping grounds made less attractive, and 
the valuable hay lands at the west end of Qu'AppeUe [Pasqual lake, which in former 
years was [sic] quite productive, has [sic] become entirely nnn-productive due to the 
decline in lake levels in this area. Furthermore, at the west end of Qu'Appelle Lake 
there existed a natural breeding ground for ducks when the lake levels were normal 
and that to restore this area to its former useful purpose the Qu'Appelle Lake should 
be raised four feet. Also as the levels of lakes referred to above become lowered the 
water becomes stagnant. 

A point which I believe is worth consideration in the study of lake levels in the 
Qu'Appelle Valley is that there are literally thousands of springs along the valley bed, 
especially between Katepwe Lake and Crooked Lake, that in normal years when the 
lake levels were high, ran freely but as the lake levels recede a corresponding drop is 
noticed in spring flow. It is believed therefore that by increasing the volume of water 
in the Qu'AppeUe Lakes that [sic] an additional underground pressure will be created 
,md a better flow from springs obtained. 

120 Prairie Farm Rehabilitation AdmiNstration, "Pragrffs Repoll for Month ending June 301h, 1937, including 
Water Development and Farm Sumey,"June 10, 1937, NA, RG I:, vol. 3284, file 559-(3-40) (ICC Omurnens, 
pp 188 and 400), 



Q L I ' A P P E L L E  V ~ L L E Y  INDlhN D E V E L O P M E N T  AUTHORITY I N Q U I R Y  

In order to improve the adverse conditions caused by low water levels in the 
lakes, and to store water for irrigation purposes lower down the valley, it would be 
necessaly to build control structures at the outlet of each lake.'2' 

Although detailed survey work had not yet been completed around Crooked 
Lake and Round Lake, it was believed that erecting control structures at the 
outlet of each lake would also bring water levels there back to "normal," for 
the benefit of hunting, and boating, and for irrigating downstream lands. The 
sir control structures, plus a seventh on Buffalo Pound Lake, would create 
105,150 acre feet of additional water storage capaci!y.lz" 

Residents of the Qu'Appelle Valley continued to press for dams to he built. 
On June 1, 1940, H.M. Salter, Secretary of the Qu'AppeUe Valley Associated 
Boards of Trade, advised PFRA Director George Spence that the following 
motion had been adopted by the Boards' executive: 

2 .  That a Damn [sic] be built at the East End of Round Lake raising the water level 
in the lake 2% feet. 

The purpose of this being to provide water storage so that it could be released in 
the fall to provide water to the farmers below the lake for stock purp0ses.'~3 

A delegation met with Spence in the early summer of that year, and Spence 
agreed to have the land along the shores and to the east of Round Lake 
surveyed. When no immediate report was forthcoming, P.W. Tinline, Secre- 
tary of the Whitewood Board of Trade, followed up with Spence in October to 
determine whether the survey had been completed, "as we feel that this is 
one project that is very necessaty for this end of the Qu'Appelle Valley."lL4 
The PFRA had not been idle, however: 

During the last two or three seasons survey parties have been at work in the 
Qu'AppeUe Valley making a defailed sulvey of all the valley lands from the western 
end near the town of Eyebrow on down through Lumsden, Ft. Qu'AppeUe and to the 
Crooked Lake area. Up to the present time a detailed survey of all the valley lands has 
been completed from Eyebrow to Crooked Lake, a distance of approximately I50 

1 2 1  L.D. McMillan. District Eneineer. PFRA. to 11. Mutchler. Senior Sulvw Endfleer. PFRA. lanuam 25. 1940. PFRA 

, r c  ~ - -  ~~, 
123 HM: ~alte;, Secretary; ~ u ' ~ p p e ~ e ~ % e ~  Associated Bodrds of Trade, lo Gmrge Spcnce, Director of Rehabilila- 

lion, Depamnent d AgriculTure, June 1, 1940, PFRA file 92RnR1, vol. I (ICC Documents, p. 433). 
124 P.W. TmUne, Secretary, \Yhitrwood Roard ofTnde,  to George Spence, Director of Rehabilimiun, Depanment of 

~\griculrure. October 31, 1940, PFRA 6le 928nR1, uoi. I (ICC DocumenB, p. 438). 
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miles, and since the valley is from a mile to a mile and a half wide our surveys have 
covered an area of over 140,000 acres of land. . . . 

In studying the infomation gained as a result of our field work to date there are 
three important questions which arise: 

I .  The drainage area and the average annual runoff of water in the Qu'AppeIle 
River. 

2. The location of possible reservoir sites where water might he stored for irri- 
gation or other purposes and their capacities. 

3. The location and acreage of lands that may be irrigated 

With regard to construction work completed so far we have the Buffalo Pound 
lake dam recently completed at a cost of approximately $70,000.00; a control dam 
between Craven and Long Lake was also completed last season. At the present time 
there are also a large number of small irrigation schemes in operation along the 
valley between Buffalo Pound Lake and Ft. Qu'Appelle. 

In regard to future developments it is expected that the next construction work 
undertaken will be in the vicinity of the Fishing Lakes. Plans and estimates have 
already been prepared for the proposed dams at Sioux bridge [located between Pas- 
qua and Echo Lakes] and Fort Qu'AppeUe. It might be mentioned here that it would 
not be too much to expect that at some future date water may be brought from the 
Saskatchewan River into the Qu'AppeUe Valley to supplement present valley 
supplie~. '~j 

Additional work was required in the area of Crooked and Round Lakes, but 
the PFRA was ready to proceed farther west at the Fishing Lakes. 

THE ECHO LAKE DAM 

As already noted, the PFRA originally intended to build dams on each of the 
four Fishing Lakes, and it was foreseen that the dam on Pasqua Lake would 
tlood portions of the Pasqua and Muscowpetung reserves. Spence wrote to 
the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs to inform him of the likely dam- 
age and to seek approval of the project: 

[I]t is proposed to construct a dam in the vicinity of Sioux Bridge, which is located 
between Qu'AppeUe and Echo Lakes, for the purpose of raising the water level in 
Qu'Appelle Lake to Elevation 1574.0, which is 5.8 feet above the elevation of this lake 
in August of 1939. This wiU extend the lake westward approximately 6% miles beyond 
its present western boundaty and wiU tlood approximately 201 acres in the Pasqua 

I25 L.D. McMiUan, Distcict Engineer. PFRA, "Qu';lppeUe River Developmen[: Februaiy 24, 1941, PFRA file 
92WQ2, val. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 442-43). 



Indan Reserve, No. 79, and approximately 1103 acres in the Muscowpetung Reserve, 
No. 80. 

The purpose of raising this lake is to provide storage water for irrigation purposes 
and when the complete project has been developed the lake wdl be drawn down 
below f.s.1. [full supply level] from 2 to 3 feet during June and July, which will 
remove water from approximately 500 acres of land in the Muscowpetung Reserve 
and make this land available for the cutting of hay. The other 600 acres in this 
Reserve and the 200 acres in Pasqua Reserve will, however, be almost continuously 
under water except in years of extremely low flow when it will be necessary to lower 
the M e  down to its present level. The fact, however, that water will be standing on 
this land more or less continuously will probably mean that Marsh Grass will substi- 
tute itself for the existing grasses. Marsh Grass is not of any particular value for hay. 

In consideration of the fact that this land is being unfavourably effected [sicl, I 
believe we would be prepared to construct diversion works in the Qu'AppeUe River 
bed in the western portion of Muscowpetung Reserve for the purpose of giving the hay 
flats in this area an annual flooding even in years of low flow in place of the intermit- 
tent flooding which they now get and which occurs only in years of high tlow. This 
would have the effect of increasing the gross hay production on the Reserve consider- 
ably above its present level. 

I would also ask you to note that it will be necessary to construct a small dyke, 
approximately 6 feet high, on the north side of the present Sioux Bridge to a point 
near the N.E. comer of Section 20, Township 21, Range 14, West of the 2nd Merid- 
ian, which will be located on Standing Buffalo Reserve, No. 78. The land on which 
this dyke will be constructed is of no particular value and is not used at the present 
time for any purpose. 

I may say that we have had an opportuniw of discussing these proposals with your 
Mr. Christianson, who is of the opinion that our proposals wiU be of benefit to the 
Indian Reselves affected. 

We should like vety much to obtain the Flooding Kights on these land[s], if possi- 
ble, in return for our undertaking to construct works in the western portion of Mus- 
cowpetung Reserve for the purpose of flood irrigating hay lands in this area as men- 
tioned above, if this can be arranged. 

As we propose to commence the construction of this project as soon as possible it 
would be appreciated if you would give this maner your earliest consideration in 
order that any necessary negotiations may be completed with as little delay as 
possible.'26 

Interestingly, although a dam was being considered at the outlet of Echo 
Lake, it does not appear that this project was raised with Indian Affairs, nor 
does it appear that any potential damage to the Standing Buffalo reserve was 
foreseen. 

126 George Spence, Director of RehabilitaGon, Department of r\griculture, to Superintendent General ot indiul 
Abism, Depanment of Mines and Resources, May 16, 1941, DlAND 81e 67514-4, vol, L (ICC Dacumenls, pp. 
462-63). 



Harold McQU, Director of the Indian Affairs Branch (which was then 
within the federal Department of Mines and Resources), acknowledged to 
Spence that the Muscowpetung and Pasqua reserves would be "very consider- 
ably affected" by the dam at Pasqua Lake and noted that it would be neces- 
sary for Indian Affairs to give the proposed development careful consider;l- 
tion."' McGiU's letter was followed by a letter from Charles CamseU, Deputy 
Minister of Mines and Resources, to G.S.H. Barton, his counterpart in the 
Department of Agriculture: 

It is ohvious from 'an exanlin.dtion of the key plan which accompanied Mr. Spence's 
report, that substantial, if not quite serious, damage will be done to both of the 
Reselves ,and in the inleresls of these Indians this Department wiU, of course, expect 
payment of satisfactory compensation. Those portions of these hvo Reserves which it 
is now proposed to flood are the sources of substantial revenues to both of these 
Bands, and it is our view that the local situation should first be carefully examined for 
the purpose of ascertaining definitely the extent of the damage to which both will be 
subjected."" 

Barton replied that, wlule Spence had been prepared to construct diversion 
works to ensure annual flooding in Muscowpetung's hay flats that would off- 
set "any loss occasioned by the proposal to raise Pasqua Lake, he was pre- 
pared to abide by the course of action suggested by Camsell and to provide 
the full cooperation of Spence and his staff.l" He instructed Spence that no 
further action could be taken "until the Department of Mines and Resources 
has been advised by one of its own officers that the proposed works are 
actually in the best interests of the Indian bands con~erned."~3~ 

In the meantime, McCill recognized that Indian AEEairs did not have the 
technical expertise to assess the project, and on June 10, 1941, he solicited 
help from J.M. Wardle, Director of the Surveys and Engineering Branch of the 
Depaament of Mines and Resources, to consider the following questions: - 

1. Possible loss of revenue from rentals, etc. 

I27 Harold W. McCili, Director, Indian asirs Branch. Depament of Mines and Resources, to George S p c e ,  
Director 01 Rel~abiliwtion. Depdment of .Agriculture, May 23, 1941, DWND file 67518.4, vol. 2 (ICC Docu~ 
men&. n. 4641, 

128 Charles'Camseli. Deputy Minister. Depamlent of Mines and Resources, to C.S.H. Banon, Deputy Minister, 
Depaiiment 01 A~ricuiture, Mav 29, 1941, DMND file 675/8-4, voi. 2 (ICC Documens, p. 466). 



2 ,  Loss of revenue from flooding of marsh lands, with particular reference to Antipa 
Point and Leader's Point. 
3. Estimated loss of revenue to Indians through employment as guides, etc., and from 
other incidental seasonal occupations. 

v 
I .  Estimate of damage to hay lands (600 acres reported producing 1,000 tons 
annually) [ . I  
2.  Estimate of damage to marsh lands or shooting grounds and incidental employ- 
ment of Indians, if any. 

Grneral 
It is our understanding that these flooding operations will affect quite a number of 

buildings on one or both of these reserves, such buildings being now located close to 
the existing shore of Qu'AppeUe Lake, and that considerable damage will also be done 
to lands presently occupied by members of these Bands, either for agriculture or 
other purposes. 

It has been reported that the raising of the level of Qu'AppeUe Lake in the manner 
indicated will result in certain compensating benefits to the lndians of these reserves 
and the Director of Rehabilitation [Spence] has stated that he was prepared to con- 
struct diversion works which would ensure annual flooding of hay Uats in the western 
portion of the Muscowpetung Reselve in order to offset any loss occasioned by the 
raising of the lake level. This phase of the situation should be very carefully examined 
in advance. . . .'j' 

Just four days later, on June 14, 1941, having heard that the project might 
not proceed, McGill wrote to Wardle to withdraw until further notice his 
request for engineering assi~tance.l3~ That same day, he also asked Spence 
for further information, adding that he did not want to incur the expense of 
sending an engineer to the Qu'AppeUe Valley "until your plans are further 
advanced."133 Word of the delay was received with disappointment by R.M. 
Pugh of the Fort Qu'Appelle Board of Trade,I3* to whom Spence wrote: 

131 Harold W. McBU. Director, Indian &Taka Branch, Depamenr of Mines and Resource, to J M  Wardle. Diree- 
tor, Surveys and Enfjneering Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, June 10, 1941, NA, RG LO, vol. 
6514, Me lhW 15-1-159 (ICC Document$, pp. 471-72). 

132 llarold W. McGill. Director, Indian Bain Branch. Department of Mines and Resources, to J.M. Wardie, Direc~ 
tor, Surveys and Enwnerring Branch, Department of Mines and Resource, June 14. 1941. NA, RC LO, vol 
75@, file 6114-1, pan I (ICC Docummb, pp. 474). 

133 Harold W. McGU, Director. Indian &in Branch, DeparUnent of Mines and Resources, to George Spence. 
Dircctor of Rehab~mtion. Department of Agriculture, June 14, 1941. D M  file 675/8~4. uol. 2 (ICC Docu- 
menu, p. 475). 

134 R.M. Pugh, Secrew. Fon Qu'AppeUe Board of Trade, to George Spence, Director of Rehahilitation, Department 
of Agriculture, July 7, 1941, PFRA file 9ZWQ1, vol. I (ICC Documen&, p. 479) 
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After surveys had been completed it was found that some valuable farm property 
would be flooded. It was also found that large tracts of land in the Muscowpetting 
lndian Reserve and the Pasqua Indian Reselve would also be flooded. The Depar- 
ment of lndian Affais at Onawa has raised certain objections to the proposed devel- 
opment and wish to make a further investigation on their own behalf, and what the 
outcome will be we are unable to say.'" 

Within two weeks of McCiU's letter of June 14, 1941, however, Spence had 
met with Minister of Agriculture James G. Gardiner, who advised that Indian 
Affairs should instruct its engineer to proceed to the Qu'Appelle Valley. Nev- 
ertheless, Spence assured McGill that "[nlothing will be done in the way of 
letting contracts until we get the matter satisfactorily settled between your 
department and our own."136 McGiU immediately reissued his request to War- 
dle to have an engineer meet with Spence and other PFRA staff to review the 
plans and location of the proposed project.137 

When McCill had not replied by July 15, 1941,  Spence wrote again, indi- 
cating that the PFRA had allotted a certain amount of money for work in the 
Qu'Appelle Valley and, pending the outcome of discussions between the two 
departments, was anxious to make a decision.l" R e  next day, Controller V. 
Meek of the Department of Mines and Resources informed O.H. Hoover, the 
Department's Acting District Chief Engineer in the Dominion Water and 
Power Bureau in Calgary, that the engineering assistance requested by McGiU 
had been authoriaed."9 On July 18, 1941,  Hoover advised Spence that Assis- 
tant Hydraulic Engineer P.A. Fetterly would visit Regina the following week to 
meet with representatives of the PFRA and to inspect the reserves to be 
flooded. MU 

135 George Spence, Director of Rehrhditation, Department of Agriculture, to R.M. hgh. Secretary Pon Qu'ppelle 
Board ol Trade. July 9, 1941. PFR4 file 92WQ2, vol. 2 (ICC Ducumm!s, p. 481). 

136 Gwrge Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Department of Ag"culRlre, to Harold W. McGiU. Dirrctar, Indian 
Abin Branch. Department of Mines and Resources, lune 27. 1941. NA. RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1. pan I 
(ICC Documens. p. 478). 

137 Harold W. McGiU. Director, lndian & I n  Branch, D e p m n m t  of Mines and R e s o u ~ e s ,  to J.M. Wardle, Direc- 
tor, Surveys and Engineering Branch, Depament of Mines and Resources, June 14, 1941, NA, RG 10, vol. 
7584, Ole 6114.1, pan  1 (ICC Documents, p. 480). 

138 Gwrge Spence, Direclor of Rehabilitation, Department of AgriculBre, lo Harold W. McGiU. Director, Indian 
aain Branch, Department of Mines and Resaurees, July 15. 1941, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, pan 1 
(ICC Documens, p. 482). 

139 V. Meek, ColmUer, Depament  of Mioes and Resources, to O.H. Hoover, Acting District Chiei Engineer, 
Dominion W a r  and Power Bureau, Department of Mines and Resources, July 16. 1941, NA, RC LO, uol. 6514. 
file IND 15-1-159 (ICC Documenfs, p. 481). 

140 O.H. Hoover, Acting Disvlet Chid En@e'nrer, Dominion Water and Power Bureau, Depanment of Mints md  
Resources, to Gwrge Spence, Director oi Rehahilintion, Depament of Agficuhure, July 18, 1941, PFRA file 
92W7Q1, vol. 1 (ICC Documens, p. 485). 



Within a week, Fetterly had completed his inspection and issued his 
report. As this report is of considerable importance in the present inquiry, its 
terms are set forth at some length: 

ID. Findings 

(1) PaFnlleReselvr 
The first proposed d;un is at the lower end of Qu'AppeUe [Pasqua] Lake, at Sioux 

Crossing, 6 miles west of Fort Qu'AppeUe. The sectional maps indicate that the normal 
level of the Lake prior to 1923 was 1572.0 feet. It is 1569.0 at present. The proposal 
is to raise it to 1574.0 in the spring and lower it to 1572 in the summer. It wiU never 
go below 1572.0. 

The Pasqua Reserve, which lies south of the lake only, includes most of the open 
water of the lake together with a few hundred yards of its transition area from open 
water through rushes, etc., to potentially flooded bottom lands. 

The possible detrimentally affected areas in this Reserve are three in number. 
Three capes or points, shooting rights. 
Marginal road along the bottom of the steep hill, and about one foot above the 

present level of the lake, flooded. 
Fodder along the south side, inundated. . . . 

(c) Fodder 
Marsh grass extends immediately north of the beforementioned road for about two 

miles to a width of two hundred feet or so. This area is, of course at about present 
water level (1569). Some of it is now being cut and it will all be cut in time. The 
white people on the north side are cutting and stacking marsh hay. It is understood 
that this marsh grass, if cut at the right time and before frost, and properly cured, 
makes good fodder. It apparently yields from % to a ton, or even more, per acre. 
Even two feet wiU probably permanently cover it and it is to be remembered that the 
permanent low elevation will be 1572. 

. . .This flooding will be permanent. 
Incidentally, the Pasqua Indians are said to be resentful of the fact that they were 

not consulted by P.F.R.A. before sulveys started, and are sure to vote against any 
change. 

(2) 
Conditions on this ReSelve are somewhat different from those on Pasqua Reserve. 

The marsh grass just enters Muscowpetung and gradually merges within a thousand 
feet into hay Uats, which are subject to flooding as they are only a few inches above 
water level. . . . The area affected consists of 1103.5 acres. This includes all the area 
under 1574 contour. . . . 

The P.F.R.A, propose to carry out any diversion works necessaq, either for irriga- 
tion purposes or for drainage of pools. However, their apparent intention is to hold 
the water at [I5174 until summer and then lower it to [15172. This means that all 
land under the 1572 contour will be permanently Uooded. Thus approximately 500 
acres will be available for cutting of hay later in the summer (above [I5172 contour) 
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while 600 acres will be, to all intents and purposes, permanently flooded. The accom- 
panying topographical map indicates the levels of the different areas and a study of 
this data would indicate that it is difficult to understand how the 500 acres can be 
reclaimed even at 1572 level, unless dyked. This area is said to produce over 1% tons 
per acre. Even at a too per acre it would produce 500 tons. 

No huildings are affected on either Reserve. 

N. Conclusions 
First it will be necessaly to secure the promise of the P.F.R.A. to construct 'my 

diversion works necessary on the Muscowpetung Reserve to reclaim lands annually 
flooded so they will produce the usual crop of hay. This refers to the area flooded in 
the spring only. . . . 

(a) Pasqua Reserve 
Benefits - No benefits noticeable. 
Damages - Shooting rights, say 20%, or $50 capitalized, or $1,250. 
Marginal roads, say $400 
Fodder, 200 acres at $8, or $1600. 
This totals $3,250 damages. 

(b) Muscowpetung Reserve 
Benefits - Possible beneficial flooding of 500 acres of land, although 

it is difficult to understand that the benefits will be very luge, since the soil is 
moist already and the crops appear to be about as healthy as can be, under pre- 
sent conditions. 

Damages - Removal entirely of 600 acres of presently good grass-producing 
land from the side of production to at least partial uselessness. 

600 acres at $8 per acre damage, or $4,800. 
In the opinion of the writer the flooding of these Ian& for two or three months 

every year will gradually decrease the quality and quantity of grasses until because of 
lack of air for such long periods they will degenerate into mere rushes etc; and 
eventually &sappear. 

It may be repeated that all the above remarks are the opinions of the writer, only, 
particularly the price per acre ($8) set as the value of the inundated lands. Obviously 
no inspecting engineer can do more than state his own views.li' 

The total compensation payable to the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands, in 
Fetterly's opinion, was $8050. 

On receipt of this report, the Acting Director of Indian Affairs expressed 
his appreciation to Wardle for Fetterly's services: "The work appears to have 
been done with painstaking care and the report will be of value to us in 
arriving at a settlement with the P.F.R.A. people should they decide to pro- 

141 P A .  Pelteriy, Assislant Hydraulic Engineer, " R e p o n  on Indian Re%rves in Qu'AppeUe Ydey," July L5. 1941, NA, 
RG LO. vol. 6514. He IYD 15-1-159 (ICC Documenlr. pp. 487-91) 
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ceed with the work."l4 The Acting Director then forwarded the report to 
Spence with the following comments: 

Mr. Fetterly's method of arriving at the figures would appear to be fair and reasona- 
ble, and it is suggested that they form a satisfactory foundation of negotiation toward 
settlement should it be your intention to proceed. We should be glad to have a state- 
ment as to whether or not you intend to proceed with the works, and in case you do 
we would like to have any observations you care to make on the question of compen- 
sation to the bands affected. 

This Branch is assuming that you have all necessa~y powers of expropriation of 
privately owned lands in which case it would not appear to us that the consent of the 
Indian bands concerned would be necessaq Should you wish to proceed al l  arrange- 
ments in connection with damages or compensation to the Indians might be made 
through this office acting on their behalf."' 

The PFRA's Senior Consulting Engineer, B. Russell, concurred that Fenerly's 
estimates appeared "suitable as a basis for settlement in the case of Indian 
lands," but he noted that rights-of-way were still to be negotiated on private 
lands. He added: 

The Acting Director of Indian Affairs appears to assume that because we kdve the 
necessary powers of expropriation of privately owned lands, we do not require the 
consent of the Indian Bands. IE this is the case, we are in a position to proceed at any 
time using Mr. Fenerlv's estimates as a basis for negotiations.'" 

Spence, too, was surprised by the free rein that the Acting Director's letter 
appeared to convey to the PFRA: 

It was my understanding that the consent of the Indian Bands was necessary before 
any works could be proceeded with which would affect the lake levels. If, however, as 
stated in the above letter, Indian lands can be expropriated in a similar manner to 
private lands, there would seem to be nothing to prevent us proceeding with the 
work. so far as Indian lands are ~oncerned. '~ '  

I 4 1  Acting Director, Indian Attain Branch. Department of Mines md Resources, to J.M. Wade, Dimctor. Survey 
and Engioeering Branch, Department of Mines and Resources. August 12,  1941, NA. RG 10. uol. 6514, file IND 
15-ib159 (ICC Documents, p. 499). 

t i 3  Acting Director, lodian Branch. Depanmenl of Mines and Resources, to George Spence. Director of 
Rehabilitation, DepaRment ot Agriculture, August 12. 1941 (ICC Documenrr, pp. 500-01). 

I44 B. Russell. Senior Consulting Enuneer, Department of Agnculare, to George Spence, Dimtor of Rehabilitation, 
Department of Agriculture, undated, PFRA Ble YZ8nQ1, vol. t (ICC Documents p. 502). 

145 George Spenec. Director of Rehabi l i~on,  DepmTent of AgicliculNre, to Hamld W. McCiU, Director, Indian 
fin Branch, Department of Mines and Resource, August 18, 1941. DlAND 6le 67518-4, vol. [illegible] (ICC 
Documenm, p. 503). 
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After this exchange of correspondence, the Pasqua Lake project was tem- 
porarily deferred because of budget limitations and shortages of labour and 
building materials during the Second World War.16 In the meantime, the 
PFRA turned its attention to planning the dams on Crooked Lake and Round 
Lake, as will he discussed below. 

When the PFRA returned its focus to the western part of the valley a year 
later, its engineers proposed, for cost-cuning purposes, to eliminate the dam 
on Pasqua Lake for the time being and to erect only the dam on Echo Lake, 
to maintain the water level on both lakes at the same elevation.'*' On June 3, 
1942, Spence sought Deputy Minister Barton's authorization to proceed, 
adding: 

It should be noted that construction of the dam need not necessarily he delayed until 
all negotiations for flooded area has [sic] been completed, as if it should become 
necessiuy the dam can be constructed and stoplogs left out of same till negotiations 
covering flooded area have been ~ompleted.'~" 

Barton requested additional information about the scaled-down project,''' 
and, in response, Spence wrote: 

Compensation for Indian lands amounting to $8,050 relates to the earlier proposal 
for hvo dams. However, the new proposal for a single dam wiU not appreciably affect 
flooded area on the Pasqua Indian Reserve and while it will reduce the area of 
flooded lands at full supply level on the Muscowpetung Reserve from 1100 acres to 
728 acres it was our opinion that in order to h.dve any damages paid to the Depart- 
ment of lndian Affairs it would be necessary to have an additional report made to 
them and this would probably delay the project beyond this year's construction 
seaon. 

The greatest reduction which could be anticipated in this connection would be a 
50% reduction in the a r s  removed Com good grass production land which would 
result in a temporaly saving of $2,400.00. As the dam at the east end of Qu'Appelle 
Lake will probably be constructed eventually, it would seem advisable to compensate 
the Department of Indian Mairs once and for all rather than make ;I partial settle- 
ment on the basis of a single dam at Echo Lake at the present time and later a further 
settlement when the second dam is constructed. 

146 116782 Canada Lld., "Qu'r\ppeUe Valley Indian Development Authority ILillld CliUm;'April 14, 1986, p. 16 (ICC 
Exhibit 5). 

14: J.I. Mutchler. Senior Survey Enaneer. PPHA, to George Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, Department of 48% 
culture, June 3,  1942, PFRA 61e 928/7E4. uol. I (ICC Documents, p 571). 

I48 George Spence, D i r ~ t o r  of Rehabdimtion, Department 01 Agriculture, to G.S.H. Barton. Deputy Minister, 
Depament oi Agriculture, June 3 ,  1942, PFRA Me 928/7E4, "01. 1 (ICC Documenls, p. 573). 

149 G S  H. Banon. Deoutv Minister. D e ~ m c n t  ot Aericulture. to Ceoree Soence. Director of Rehabilimtion. 
Depameclt of Agicuhure, J u l ~  16,'1942, PFRA fik 92WE4, vol. I (ICC bocumenrs, p. 5761 



If you consider it advisable, however, we can arrange to have a re-inspection made 
of the lndian lands and a re-evaluation of these lands in the new proposal can be 
made. 15" 

Spence also commented on the utility of the project and the benefits that it 
was likely to bestow on the affected Bands: 

The usefulness of a project pending formation of an irrigation district consists of 
maintaining sufficient water in storage from flood years to permit a continuous flow 
being kept up in the Qu'Appelle River during the summer and fall months when this 
river ordinarily becomes stagnant and this will considerably improve its value for 
stockwatering purposes. . . . 

It is our opinion that lndians depend to some degree for their livelihood on fish 
obtained from these kdkes and the increased water levels will, of course, improve 
conditions for the propagation of fish. It should he noted that under conditions of 
extremely low water which have been prevalent during last years a large number of 
the fish cont;iined in these lakes have died and, while this is not a primaly reason for 
the construction of a dam by this Department, the fact is that the construction of a 
dam will incidentally remedy this condition and I believe this fact should be given 
some ~onsideration.'~' 

Eventually, the bid of contractor Mamczasz & Rokack of Prince Albert for 
the construction of the Echo Lake dam was approved by Order in Council 
dated September 3, 1942,152 and in short order the dam was built. Fetterly's 
estimate of $8050 to compensate the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands for 
damage to their reserve lands was never paid, notwithstanding the apparent 
concurrence of the PFRA and Indian Affairs that the amount was reasonable. 
There is no evidence that the Bands authorized the project or were even 
consulted regarding it, nor is there evidence that the diversion works pro- 
posed by Spence and viewed by Fetterly as "necessary. . . to reclaim lands 
annually flooded so they d produce the usual crop of hay" were ever built. 
Moreover, the potential effects of the Echo Lake dam on Standing Buffalo's 
reserve do not appear to have troubled the collective consciousuess of either 
the Department of Agriculture or the Department of Mines and Resources. 

l iu George Spence. Director of Rehabilitation, Depmment of i\griculture, lo  G.S.H. @anon, Deputy Mlniaer. 
Departnlent of Agriculture, June 29. 1942, PFRA file 9281784, vui I (ICC Uacumenls, p. 577). 

151 George Spence. Director of Rehabilitation, Depanment of Agriculture, to G.S.H. Banon, Deputy Minister. 
Deoartment of Apnculture. rune 29. 1942. PFRA Me 92817E4, vol. I (ICC Documenls. on. 577-78). 

152 orber is C a u n c i ~ ~ C  7900, Gptemher 3 ,  1942, NA, KG 17, "01. 994, file jj9~13~7'1 (~~dbocurnenls ,  p. 601). 



THE DAMS AT CROOKED LAKE AND ROUND LAKE 

While Fetterly was in Regina in July 1941, Spence made use of the opportu- 
nity to have him inspect the proposed sites of the dams to he erected at 
Crooked Lake and Round Lake. After receiving Fetterly's initial report dealing 
with the dam at Pasqua Lake, Spence suggested to McGiU that Fetterly pre- 
pare a second report providing his estimate of the damage that would result 
from the dams in the lower Qu'Appelle VaUey.LSQpence provided maps out- 
Lining the areas to he affected, and on September 8, 1941, Fetterly was 
instructed to prepare an addendum to his earlier work. 

Three days later, the report was completed: 

LL Crookrd, 
This lake lies in the bonom of Qu'AppeUe Valley and immedkdtely adjacent to 

Sakimay, Cowessess and Shesheep Reserves in Townships 18 and 19, Ranges 5 and 6, 
west of 2nd mer[idianl. A dam is proposed to be built on the eastern end. The 
normal water level up to 1923 seems to have been, according to the sectional maps, 
1484. It is assumed that this is according to the same datum as that of P.F.R.A. 

The proposed land flooding wiU be on the Shesheep Reserve on the west end of 
the lake, while the dam will be on the Cowessess Reserve on the eastern end. 

(a) E l m h L m a  
The flooded area is on the western end, north of the river, and consequently on 

Shesheep Reserve. At present (summer of 1941) it is quite dry although the marginal 
lands are covered with rushes. The transition area is much less than in Qu'Appelle 
Lake, being only a few hundred feet in length. The whole area is only a foot or two 
above the present level of the lake. . . . 

The level of the lake in September 1939 was 1478.2. In July 1941 it had risen to 
1480. The dam will raise it to 1482. At the time of inspection the potentidy flooded 
area was roughly estimated at about 300 acres. The accompanying map shows 360 
acres. An estunate of the area covered by rushes, between the open water and dry 
land, would be, say, 80 acres. The remainder, 280 acres, is on dry land which will be 
Uooded to the 1482 contour as indicated on the map. 

Obviously no benefits are caused by the dam. The damages to Shesheep Reserve 
are as follows:. 
80 acres of rushes area at $3 per acre $ 240 
280 acres of dq land at $8 per acre Lz!i!l 

Total damages $2,480 
The area covered by rushes is included because under oatural conditions the 

water might recede to such an extent as to render it arable to some extent. 

153 Cmrge Spence, Director of Rehabilitation, DeparUnent of AgriculNre, to Harold W. Mctiill, Director, Indian 
&rr Branch, Depamenl of Mines and Resourem, August 18, 1941, DlAND Me 67518-4. vol. [illegible1 (ICC 
Docurnenu, p, 503). 
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(b) QatD 
The dam will be located on the Cowessess Reserve and, together with the borrow 

pit will occupy 3 acres. Damages would be 3 acres at $10 per acre, or $30.. . . 

UL Rollon. 
This lake lies to the north of Ochapowace Reserve, in township 18, ranges 3 and 

4, west of 2nd mer[idian]. 
According to the sectional maps the normal elevation of the lake up to 1923 was 

1454 feet above sea level. The present W. L. [water level] is 1448.4. A dam now exists 
at the lower or eastern end of the lake which raises the water one foot. Evidently, this 
dam is a private local enterprise. Last year the elevation was probably 1447.4. This 
lake can be raised by P.F.R.A. dam to 1451. The land affected, which lies between the 
river (which flows to the north-east at this point) and the open water of the lake is 
principally covered with rushes and consists of about 40 acres. An arbitraq value of 
$120 might be placed on this area. The area contiguous to the dam affected consists 
of one acre. This is higher than the flats and might be valued at $10, or a total of 
$1 50 damages.'s4 

Fetterly's estimated damages totalled $2640, although he was uncertain about 
the damages tkdt might be caused to summer resort buildings in the vicinity 
of Grenfel Beach that were situated just above the lake's proposed fuU supply 
level. Wardle forwarded the completed addendum to McGiU on September 
18, 1941.15i 

In the meantime, apparently buoyed by the advice of the Acting Director of 
Indian Afbdirs that, assuming the PFRA had powers of expropriation, the con- 
sent of affected Bands would not he required, the PFRA obtained bids for 
construction of the dams at Crooked and Round Lakes. On October 8, 1941, 
Phil South of Regina was awarded the contract by Order in Council PC 
7764.156 Construction commenced that fall, to the consternation of M. Chris- 
tianson, the General Superintendent of Indian Agencies: 

I wish to bring to your attention that during my recent visit to the Crooked lake 
Agency I was informed that the P.F.R.A. were building two dams, one near the Round 
Lake Indian Residential School and the other near the Crooked Lake Indian Residen- 
tial School. I asked Mr. Kerley [the Indian agent] if they had permission from our 

t i 4  P I .  Fenerly, Assisml Hydraulic Engineer. "Addendum to Repun on Indian Reselves in Qu'AppeUe Valley. 
Crooked Lakc and Round (ah; September 11, 1941. NA, RG 10, val. 6514, file WU 15-1-151 (ICC Docu- 
menu, pp. 512-15). 

I55 J.M. Wardle, Direaor, Sumcys and En@neeting Brmch. Uepanment 01 Mines and Resources, to Harold W. 
McGill, Director, Indian ,A&ai&un Branch, Depamnent oiMines and Resources, September 18, 1941, NA. RG 10, 
vol. 7584, file 6114-1, pan I (ICC Uocumenu. p. 519) 

156 Order m Counul PC 7764, October 8, 1941, NA, RG 2, Seties 1 (ICC Documents, p. 522). 
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Department to build these dams and he informed me that as far as he h e w  they did 
not have any authority. 

Consequently 1 went over to the headquarters of the P.F.R.A. here in Regina and 
the following is the information obtained from there. One site, I think, covers only 
about one acre of Indian Reserve and the other 2 acres. Very little land will be 
flooded at Round Lake but considerable acreage will be flooded on the Shesheep 
Reserve and at Sakimay. The P.F.R.A. know, of course, that they should have had 
permission from our Department before building the dams and they are now writing. 
I presume you will receive a letter from them in the course of the next few days."' 

As Christianson had predicted, Spence wrote to McCiU within a week: 

I am enclosing herewith for your information prints of pkans showing proposed 
development work to be carried out by this Department in connection with increasing 
the storage capacity of Crooked and Round Lakes in the Qu'AppeUe River Valley. 

You will note from the plan showing the development of Crooked Lake that an 
area of approximately three acres will be required for dam site and borrow pits on 
the Cowessess Reserve, No. 73, and I wish to advise you that construction work on 
this project is at present under way. As soon as required legal survey has been com- 
pleted we shall be in a position to file plan in the Land Titles Office and make an offer 
for this area through your Department 

In the meantime you will note that when the lake is raised to its new full supply 
level, which may not occur for two or three years, that an area of approximately 360 
acres will be flooded on Shesheep Reselve No. 7 4 ,  and an area of approximately 70 
acres will be flooded on Sakimay Reserve, No. 74. 

Mr. P.A. Fetterley [sic] inspected these areas on his visit to the Qu'AppeUe Valley 
in July of this year and will no doubt be in a position to place a valuation on these 
lands. If you consider it advisable for us to institute expropriation proceedings on the 
strength of Mr. Fetterley's [sic] valuation, we shall be glad to have this done. 

With regard to Round Lake development, you will h o w  that there is an area 
required for the dam site on the Ochapowace Resetve, No. 71, amounting to one acre 
and that approximately 39% acres on this same reserve will be flooded when the lake 
is raised to its new fall supply level. Mr. Fetterley [sic] also inspected this area and 
will no doubt be in a position to place a valuation on these lands also. 

I wish to advise you that while the dams themselves will be completed and ready 
for operation before next spring that we do not intend to raise the water levels to 
flood out the Indian lands until satisfactory negotiations have been completed to com- 
pensate them for any damages which may be incurred."" 

157 M. Christianson, General Superintendent of Indian Agencies, to Secretaq, 1 n d h  AEain Branch, Department of 
M i n s  and Resources, November 28, 1941, Y.4, RG 10, val. 7584, Me 6114-1. put I (ICC Documents, p. 523). 

I58 George Spene,  Dimtar of Rehabditation, Depmenl  of .Qriclrlfure, lo Harold W. McWII, Direefor, Indian 
AEaln Branch, Depanment of Mines and Resources, December 4, 1941, XA, RG LO, vol. 6514, file IN0 15.1- 
I59 (ICC Documen$, pp. 524-25). 
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On receiving this letter, McCiU considered that it raised concerns about 
flooding of the Ochapowace and Sakimay reserves that were not addressed in 
Fetterly's addendum report. He therefore asked Wardle to have Fetterly pre- 
pare a supplementary report,lr%d advised Spence accordingly.lbO 

In Fetterly's defence, his immediate superior, Acting District Chief Engi- 
neer Hoover, noted on January 24, 1942, that Fetterly's inspection in July 
1941 had been performed without the benefit of topographical maps, which 
had not yet been prepared, malung it impossible for him to assess potential 
damages. He also suggested that Fetterly's area of 80 acres to be flooded on 
the Shesbeep reserve corresponded with the 70-acre area mentioned in 
Spence's letter, although he was unsure because all the maps had been for- 
warded to Ottawa. In conclusion, Hoover recommended to Controller Meek 
that, if an immediate report on damages was necessary, Fetterly should 
promptly make a further visit to the Qu'Appelle Valley.16' 

Meek had the maps and he could see that the 70- and 80-acre areas were 
in fact in two discrete locations, but he concurred that Fetterly should return 
to make a further inspection.162 The following day, Fetterly commenced a 
four-day tour with PFRA engineers, which concluded on January 30, 1942, 
and four days later he issued his second addendum report: 

IIL Crooked kdke. 
(a) . . . .  
As wiU be noted by a study of the accompanying maps the area to be flooded at 

F.S.L. [full supply level] reaches contour 1482 at the north western end of the lake. 
The potential and actual hay land at the extreme west end covers an area of 290 acres 
(the original visual estimate of 280 acres was too small by 10 acres). In addition an 
area of 110 acres of rushes and much less valuable land lies behveen this 290 acres 
and the actual water. It is not likely that rushes will form on the new shore. 

On what might be called the north side of the Qu'AppeUe River channel is a fur- 
ther area of potentially flooded land containing 70 acres. This area is considered to 
be of better potential value than the "rushes" area but less than the hay land. 

159 Harold W. McCOl, Director, Indian Main Branch, D e p m e n t  of Mines and Resources, to J.M. Wardie, Direc- 
tor, Suweys and Engneering Branch, D e p m e n t  of Mines and Resource, December 12, 1941, NA, RC 10, vol 
6514, Ole MD 15-1-159 (ICC Documents, p. 5'28). 

Iho Harold W. McCiU, Director, Indian A5airs Branch. Department 01 Mines and Resources, to George Spence, 
Director of Rehabibtition. D e g m e n l  of AMculture. December 12. 1941. PFRA file 92WR1, vol. I (ICC 
Documents, p. 529). 

161 OH. Hoover, ~Actin~. Districl Chief Enaneer, Dominion Water and Power Bureau, D e p m e n t  of Mines and 
Resources, to V. ~ ; e k  ControUer. Ddminian Water and Power Bureau, Department of Mines and Resources, 
January 24, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 6514, file 1ND 15-1-159 (ICC Doeumenrs, p. 532). 

162 V. Meek, Controller. Dominion Water and Power Burrau, Depmment of Mines and Resaurces. to O.H. Hoover, 
Actine Disvlct Chief Encheer. Dominion Water and Power Bureau. Deoarrnlent ol Mimes and Resources. lanu- 
q 2, 1942, NA. RG in ,  vai. 6514, file IND 15-1-159 (ICC Documtnts, p. 533) .  



It is considered that the p0tenti.d damages would be as follows:- 
290 acres at $8.00 per acre 2320 
110 acres at 3.00 per acre 330 
70 acres at 5.00 per acre 350 
3 acres Borrow Pit at $10 2 

3030.. . . 
(dl P. . . 

The Indians have been travelling between Sakimay and Shesheep Reserves for 
many years using fords at Mlious points on the river immediately west of the lake and 
in the potentially flooded area. The level of the bonom oE the river is about 1476 and 
the former summer water level in the river was about 1478 or thereabouts. The new 
F.S.L. will mean that at flood time an added four feet or thereabouts will exist at the 
fords. The nearest bridge, a steel one, on the east, lies at the "Mission" one half mile 
from the lake. The nearest bridge on the west is about 8 or 9 miles away. Either 
bridge means an added 20 mile drive for the Indians on their trips between the 
Reserves e.g. for fodder harvesting, when the lake is at F.S.L. which will designedly be 
existant only during the early pwt of the season. 

It is therefore recommended that an inexpensive bridge be c~ns t ru~ted  with a 
floor above F.S.L. at some convenient point a short distance west of the flood line. 
This would be for the use of the Indians only and for vehicular traffic only. 

AS far as the latter item is concerned there exists an element of doubt in the mind 
of the writer as to the advisability of demanding a bridge. The evidence and obvious 
facts are ,dl set forth in (d) but the distance across from bank to bank is upward of 
100 [?I feet and even an inexpensive bridge could be constructed only at considera- 
ble cost. It would have to be at least seven feet high. However this matter can be 
settled by negotiation or consultation between the P.F.R.A. and Indian Affairs. 

It is to be remembered, however, that the possible cost is the only question that 
causes the above mentioned doubt. The necessity seems to be apparent. 

The Indians stated that they wished to have the flood water off their hay lands by 
July 15 but they must remember that the full compensation has been awarded and any 
hay they cut is added profit, as compensation is computed as if there were to be no 
further returns from hay-cutting. Ordinarily speaking, they probably will still be able 
to cut most or d of the hay by hay-cutting time as the water should all be removed 
much prior to that time. 

ERo,lndl.akr 

The remarks found in "111 Round Lake" of the Addendum Report of September 11, 
1941 are applimble in this report except for the acreage. This has now been definitely 
found to be slightly different from the approximate area Gven in the former report, 
owing to the exact sumey made s i ~ ~ c e  that time. The area affected consists of 27 acres 
and should be worth a total of $160 or about $6 per acre, average value. The area of 
one acre at the dam is valued at $10.00. 



27 acres hay land and rushes 
1 acre at dam (Barrow pit) 

Total. 

Fetterly concluded that the total compensation should be $3,300 plus the 
construction of the inexpensive bridge to replace the natural fords that, 
before the flooding, permitted members of the Sakimay Band to access their 
lands on both sides of the river. He also reconsidered potential damages at 
the Grenfel Beach resort area, but found that, with the possible exception of 
one building that was still located above the full supply line, no buildings 
would have to be moved, and thus no damages were payable. His report was 
forwarded by Wardle to McGill on F e b r u q  1 4 ,  1 9 4 2 . i 6 *  

In reporting to Deputy Minister Camsell regarding Fetterly's investigations, 
McGiU expressed concern about whether Indian Affairs could justlfy request- 
ing the bridge at Sakimay. He recommended suggesting that Spence give 
"sympathetic consideration to the very great inconvenience which will, no 
doubt, be caused the Indians of the Salumay and Shesheep Reserves by the 
raising of the waters at points where they have for many years been accus- 
tomed to crossing the river." McGill also proposed that "when payment of 
this compensation is made consent will be given to the proposed 
devel~pment ."~~~ 

Before authorizing McCill to negotiate with Spence, Camsell's Chief Execu- 
tive Assistant suggested that the local Indian agent be consulted to determine 
whether he considered Fetterly's estimate of damages to he fair and reasona- 
ble.'" McGill put the question to both Christianson, the General Superinten- 
dent of Indian Agencies, and Agent W.J.D. Kerley, with the latter's attention 
directed in particular to the travel between the Sakimay and Shesheep 

163 P A .  Feoerly, hsislmt Hydraulic En@neer, "Addendum No. 2 lo Report on Indian Resenes i s  Qu'AppeUe Val- 
ley,'' February 3, 1942, NA, RC 10, vnl. 6514, file IND 15-1-159 (ICC Documenls, pp. 534-39). 

164 J.M. Wardle, Director. Sump and Engineering Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, to Harold W. 
McGd, Director, Indian AXairs Branch, Depament of Mines and Resources. December 12. 1941, Dlkom file 
675184, "01. 2 (ICC Documents, p. 543). 

165 Harold W. McGiU, Dircelor. Indian Main Branch. Deparunent of Mines and Resources, to Charles Camsell, 
Deputy Minister, Depanment of Mines and Resources, February 27. 194'2. NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, Ole 61 14-1, 
pan I (ICC Documents. p. 545). 

166 Chief Executive Assistant, Deparunent of M i n e  and Resources, lo Harold W. McCiU. Director, Indian Hairs 
Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, March 3. 1942, NA, KC LO. voi. 7584, file 61 14-1, part 1 (ICC 
Documents. p. 547). 
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reserves and the nature of the demand that should be put to the PFRA.I6' 

Christianson and Kerley expressed their satisfaction with Fetterly's valuation, 
and Kerley continued: 

1 also concur in that portion of his report referring to the bridge between Saldmay 
and Shesheep Reserves. 1 consider this is an absolute necessity, as even in d ~ y  years 
there would be at least four months of the year when the lndians would be unable lo 
ford the river, and a longer period in wet years. 

I feel certain that the Indians would be well satisfied with the proposed compensa- 
tion, but I feel equally certain that the Indians of Sakimay and Shesheep Reserves 
would raise a vigorous protest if the proposed bridge were not built and they were 
forced to travel hvenry extra mile5 when they wished to cross.'" 

The Indians of Crooked Lake were not impressed with the project. They 
registered their complaints with Member of Parliament E.E. Perley, who in 
turn conveyed them to McGiU: 

Their first complaint was that a dam was constructed last fall at the mouth of 
Crooked Lakes and raised the water three feet at the present time and is flooding their 
hay lands and it is doubtful if they wiU be able to cut any hav there this fall. They 
stated they had been offered a lump sum as compensation, but what they really want 
,and think is their rights [sic] is, that they should receive an .mual sum for damages 
which would be an amount sufficient to purchase hay for their cattle. They stated in 
their statement made to me that there was about three hundred and sixiy acres of 
their hay land flooded on which they had been cutting ,annually from two hundred lo 
three hundred tons. They also stated they have in the neighbourhood of three hun- 
dred head of cattle and a g r a t  many horses and any hay they put up over and above 
what they required for their own stock, had been sold off the Reserve and resulted in 
some little revenue. They also state they have to move their stock down in the valley 
on the flats in the winter time in order to have the water supply for their stock, as well 
as being near the hay."Y 

Notwithstanding these objections, McGill wrote to Spence, setting out the 
compensation estimated in Fetterly's second addendum report as well as the 

167 Hamld W. McGfl, Director, lndian M ~ n  Branch, Deparunenl of Mines and Resources, lo W.J.D. Keriey, lndian 
Agent, Croaked Lake Agency, lndian AEdn Branch, Depment  of Mines m d  Resources, March 12, 1942, NA, 
RG 10, vol. 7584, 6le 6114-1, part I (LCC Documents, p. 549A); Harold W. McGill, Director, Indian Atbin 
Branch, Depment  of Kna and Resources, to M. Christianson. General Superintendent of lndian Agencies, 
Indian A5airs Blanch, Depament of Mines and Resources, March 14, 1942, NA, KG 10, vol. 7584, Ue 6114-1, 
pan 1 (ICC Documents p. 550). 

16n W J D  Kecley, lndian Agent, Crooked Lake Agcocy, Indian h8ain Branch, Depanment of Mines and Resources. 
lo Serrclq,  Ilodian h8hn Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, Apd 4. 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584. 
file 6114-1, part I (ICC Documents, p. 559). 

169 E.E. Perley, MP, lo Harold W McWI, Dimlor, lndian Main Branch, Depanment of Mines and Resources. May 
11, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, 61e 6114-1, pan I (ICC Documenu. pp. 562~63). 
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comments of both Fetterly and Kerley about the importance of the bridge at 
Sakimay. He then concluded: 

The position of this Department with reference to your construction prognm 
already completed in the Qu'AppeUe Valley is, therefore, that subject to the condition 
that your organization construct a bridge above F.S.L. at a convenient point a short 
distance west of the flood line so as to provide and maintain road communication 
between the Sakmay and Shesheep Indian Reselves we ;Ire prepared to accept the 
sum of $3,300.00 in satisfdction of the claim of the various bands of Indians for flood 
damage.':" 

In a separate letter to Perley to address the concerns of the Indians at 
Crooked Lake, McGill stated that "this Department could not in t b e j r s t  
instance prevent the construction of this dam, but we were definitely inter- 
ested in obtaining reasonable and satisfactory compensation for our Indians 
for any flooding damage which might result." He noted that Fetterly had 
undertaken thorough investigations of the damages that would be caused by 
the dams at Crooked and Round Lakes, and that his opinions, supported by 
Christianson and Kerley, had formed the basis of the compensation 
demanded from the Department of Agri~ulture.'~~ 

On June 6, 1942, PFRA District Engineer H.G. Riesen met with the Rever- 
end V. de Varennes, the principal of the Cowessess Indian Residential School, 
about damages caused to school lands by the construction of the Crooked 
Lake dam. Following the meeting, Riesen informed Senior Survey Engineer 
Mutchler that the lands did not form part of the Cowessess reserve, and that 
the damages totalled $75, including $30 for damage to three acres of alfalfa 
caused by the development of a borrow pit, a further $30 for flooding three 
acres of hay land, and $15 for 60 pounds of alfalfa seed. De Varennes indi- 
cated that he would be satisfied with payment of $75, if the PFRA would also 
level the edges of the borrow pit developed in the school's alfalfa field.172 

In a memorandum dated July 2, 1942, to Spence, Mutchler suggested that 
the school's claim should be reduced to $60 because the PFRA could obtain 
replacement seed, presumably at no charge, from the Experimental Farms 
Branch of the Department of Agriculture. He also noted that de Varennes and 

170 Harold W. McGU, Director, Indian flairs Branch, Department of Mins  and Resources, lo George Spmce, 
Director oi Rehabfiration, D r p m e n l  of Agnculmre, May 14, 1942, KA, RG LO, vol. 7584, file 6114-1, pan I 
(ICC Documents, p. 565). 

171 Hamld W. M G I .  Director, Indian A62irs Branch. Depamfmenl ul Mines md Resourn, to BE. Perley, MP, May 
20, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, hle 6114~1, pm I (ICC Documen&, p. 569). Emphasis added. 

172 H.G. R~PSM, District Engmer, PFRA, 10 1.1. Mukhler, Senior S u n q  Fn'nplneer, PFRA, June 16, 1942, YFRA 6 le  
92817CI9, vol. I (ICC Documents, p. 575). 
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Kerley had acknowledged that the three acres of school land claimed to he 
flooded were the same three acres referred to in Fetterly's report as lands 
flooded on the Cowessess re~erve."~ In a second memorandum of the same 
date to Spence, Mutchler suggested that the $3300 compensation proposed 
for the Cowessess, Sakimay, and Ochapowace Bands be reduced by $30 to 
reflect the claim for school lands. He further observed that Riesen and Kedey 
had agreed that the construction of a ford for approximately $750 would 
meet the requirements of Indian Main to provide a crossing to serve the 
Sakimay Band.174 

Spence in turn wrote to McGiU asking for withdrawal of the $30 claim for 
flooding of lands on the Cowessess reserve.17i However, the Acting Director 
of the Indian Affairs Branch replied that the claim of the Cowessess Indian 
Residential School was unrelated to the damages estimated by Fet ter l~ . '~~ In 
the face of competing claims, the PFRA was faced with the dilemma of identi- 
fylng the owner of the land on which the Crooked Lake dam and borrow pit 
were situated, and John Valance, Superintendent of Water Development, 
appealed to de Varennes for evidence of title.177 

In the meantime, Perley wrote again to McGiU, seeking payment of the 
compensation due to the Indians of Crooked Lake. Although the PFRA's 
Riesen had earlier proposed to lower the water level on Crooked Lake "to 
enable the Indians to cut some hay at the west end of the lake, which land is 
now flooded,"178 Perley noted that 

they have not received any compensation and.  . . they have not been able to cut any 
hay sufficient to feed their three hundred head of cattle and around one hundred and 
fifty horses and will be in desperate circumstances this winter. They say that the Gov- 
ernment has encouraged the raising of cattle and that this question should have your 
immediate attention. They complain that the agent doesn't seem to be anxious or to 
have proper interest in their &airs and that the problems set out above are not dealt 

173 1.1. Mutchler, Senior Survey Engineer, PFRA, lo George Spcnee, Director of Rehabilitation, DepaNnnll of A@ 
culture, July 2 ,  1942, PFRA 61e 92WCl9, vol. 1 ( K C  Documents, p. 579) 

1 4  1.1. Mutchlec Senior Survev Ensinecr. PFRA. lo Georee Soence. Director of Rehabilitation. Deoament of hen- . . 
iulture, July'2, 1542; P F R ~  $928"~19. 'vol l ( 1 k  h ~ c u ~ e n b l p :  5R0).~ 

175 George Spence, Direclor oi Rehabilitation, Depament of Agriculture, lo Harold W. McCill. Director, Indian 
a i r s  Branch, D e p m e n t  uf Mines and Resources, July 29, 1942, NA, RG LO, vol. 7584, Ble 6114~1, part I 
ilCC  document^. on. 937-881 . ~~~ ~ ~,.r .~ ~. 

I76 ,Acting Director, Indian AEirs Branch, Department of Mines and Resources, to George Spence, Direclor of 
Kehabiliwtion, Depament of Agriculture, August Z j ,  1942, PFRA file 92817C19, vol. I (ICC Dncumentc, p. 
<a,) 

002-03) 
I18 H.C. Riesen, DisQicl Engineer, PFRA, to 1.1. Mutchler, Senior SunQ Engineer. PPRA. Aupust 5, 1942, PFRA iile 

928nCI9 ,  uol. 1 (ICC Documenls, p. 589). 
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with in proper time. They think that the dam should be lowered to permit the drain- 
ing of the hay and their culting hay thereon."Y 

D.J. AUan, the Superintendent of Reserves and Trusts, replied to Perley on 
October 3, 1942, by reiterating the steps taken by Indian Affairs to quantdy 
and secure compensation on behalf of the Bands. He added that "[w]e have 
taken advantage of the opportunitj afforded by the receipt of your letter to 
again press Mr. Spence strongly for an immediate settlement of both the 
damage claim and their claim for the erection of the bridge above referred 
to."180 McGill followed up the same day with a strongly worded letter to 
Spence, referencing Perley's letter ,and asking for the matter to be brought to 
an immediate conclusion.181 On October 21, 1942, Spence referred the mat- 
ter to his Deputy Minister, recommending that Barton proceed to deal with 
the damage and bridge claims and that he "consider that Rev. de Varennes is 
to make his claim to the Department of Indian Affairs and not this 
Department."1x2 

By October 27, 1942, Deputy Minister Camsell of the Department of Mines 
and Resources was warning Barton that "a good deal of uneasiness and 
impatience is being exhibited by the bands concerned."is) At the same time, 
de Varennes, noting that the PFRA had levelled the borrow pit and promised 
to supply seed, pleaded with McGill to agree that $60 in compensation 
should be payable to the Cowessess Indian Residential School "because we 
are the losers in this &air."i84 

Pressed for a decision, Barton asked Spence fur further information and 
his recommendation. Spence replied: 

With reference to your memorandum of October 28th regarding the above I wish 
to advise you that the claim of the Cowessess Indian School for the flooding of 4 acres 

179 E.E. Perley, MP, to H.drold W. McCiU, Director, Indian AUairs Branch, Depamlenl of htines and Resources. 
September 23, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 6114~1, pa I (ICC Documenrs, p. 606) 

1x0 D.J. Alan, Superintendent, Reselves and Tam, lndian AEdm Branch, Deparvneni of Mines and Resources. 
October 3,  1942. NA, RG 10. rol. 7584, file 6114-1, pan I (ICC Documents, p. 609). 

181 Harold W. McGdl, Director, In&m .&in Brmch, Department of Mines and Resources, to George Spence, 
Direclor of Rehabfiblion, DepaRment of Ag"eulrure, October 3. 1942. PFRA file 92WC19, vol. I (ICC Docu- 
men&, p 610). 

1x1 George Spence, Director of Rehabilihlion. Depamenr of Agriculture, to G.S.H. Barton, Deputy Minister, 
Department of ~\griculturc. October 21, 1942, NA, RG LO, vol. 7584, He 6114~1, pan I (ICC Documenis, p. 
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183 Charles Cumell. Depuy Minister, Department of Mines and Resources, lo  G.S.H. Barfon, Depuly Minister, 
Deparunent of @culture, October 27, 194'2. NA. RG 10, vol. 7584. file 6114-1, pan I (ICC Docummrs, p. 
621). 

I84 Kev. V. de Varennes. Principal, Cawesess Indian Residentid School, to Harold W. McGill. Director, lndian 
ABzihain Branch. Deparunent of Mines and Resources, November 2, 1942, NA, RG 10, vol. 7584, file 611CI, parl 
1 (ICC Docamenrs, p. 623.4). 
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of hay land has been reduced to 3 acres and is the 3 acres referred to in Mr. Fet- 
terley's [sic] report to the Department of Indian Affairs and the Director of Indian 
flairs' letter to us of May lath, 1942, and referred to as Cowessess Indian Resetve, 
No. 73, 3 acms at $10.00, etc. 

This land will be permanently flooded at f.s.1. of Crooked lake. There is a part of 
the Indian School's claim which is not included in Mr. Fetterley's [sic] report or Dr. 
McGill's letter of May 18th and that is the loss of 5 tons of alfalfa hay on 3 acres of 
borrow pit immediately below the Crooked Lake Dam amounting to $30.00 in addi- 
tion to 60 ibs. of alfalfa seed. I wish to advise you that the 60 lbs. of alfalfa seed has 
not yet been turned over to the School by the Experimental Farms Branch as this has 
been held pending final settlement of the claim. As the situation now stands therefore, 
$30.00 for payment for 3 acres of flooded land should be paid to the Department of 
Indian Mairs and by them to the Cowessess Indian School and is included in the total 
of $3,300.00 clain~ed. The loss of 5 tons of alfalfa, amounting to $30.00, had not 
occurred when Mr. Fetterley [sic] visited Crooked Lake and, therefore, could not be 
included in his report. This $30.00 should be added to the previous claim, making a 
total of $3,330.00 and be passed on by the Department of lndian Affairs to the Cowes- 
sess lndian School. This wiU make a total of $60.00 payable by the Department of 
lndian Mairs to the Cowessess Indian School and as soon as your approval has been 
received arrangements wiU be made for the delivery of 60 lbs. of alfalfa seed to this 
school. 

I should also like at this time to call your attention to the fact that it will be 
necessary to construct a bridge over the Qu'AppeUe River between Sakimay and 
Shesheep Reserves before this claim wdl be entirely settled. An effort was made by us 
to substitute a ford for a bridge and while this was agreeable to officials of the lndian 
Depattment the Indians themselves were not agreeable to this substitution. Conse- 
quently, it will be necessary for us to construct a timber bridge over the river as part 
of next year's operations. We are not in a position to submit a definite estimate of cost 
of this bridge at the present time but as soon as plans of same have been prepared 
and approved by the Department of Highways cost estimate wiU be furnished to you 
for authorization. If it is necessary for you to have an estimate of the cost of the 
bridge at the present time 1 would recommend that an outside figure of $2,000.00 be 
used for this purpose. This is considerably in excess of the cost of the ford but as the 
Indians will not accept the ford there does not appear to be much which could be 
done except build the bridge.lU5 

Spence's recommendation received approval by Order in Council on 
November 19, 1942, although the instrument itself makes no reference to the 

I85 George Speoce, Director of Rehabiliiation, Department of AgriculNre, to C.S.H. Banon, Ueputy Minister. 
Departlnent of Agriculture. November 3, 1942. PFRA 61e 92W7Cll. vol. I (ICC Documen=, p. 624).  
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Sakimay bridge.'" Nine days later, F.M. Schrader of Deputy Minister Barton's 
office forwarded a copy of the Order in Council to Spence with a request for 
a cheque requisition so that payment could be made.18' When payment had 
still not been forthcoming by April 26, 1943, the Acting Deputy Minister of 
Mines and Resources wrote to his counterpart in Agriculture to inquire.'@ By 
May 14, 1943, $3330 had been paid to Indian Affairs to the credit of the 
Cowessess, Sakimay, and Ochapowace Bands and the Cowessess Indian Resi- 
dential Sch0o1.l~~ 

In Febmaq 1944, when the school had not yet received its share of the 
proceeds, Christianson implored the Department on the school's behalf to 
requisition a cheque for $60.Iq0 Phiip Phelan, Chief of the Department's 
Training Division, replied that he did not see how Indian Affairs could justify 
paying the school more than $30.'9L After consulting with engineer Gordon 
McKenzie of the PFRA, Christianson explained how the Residential School was 
entitled to $30 for damage to its alfalfa crop and a further $30 for flooded 
hay land, and he noted that the PFRA's records showed both amounts as 
having been paid.Ig2 The question whether the tlooded hay lands belonged to 
the school or the Cowessess Band had now landed in the lap of Indian 
Affairs, and Indian Agent Kerley was asked to resolve the He con- 



firmed that the Residential School was entitled to $6O,lV4 and a cheque in that 
amount was fomarded to the principal on March 27, I944.lgi 

At that point, the only remaining issue was title to the dam site for the 
Round Lake dam. R.F.B. Donald on behalf of the PFRA's Land Ownership 
Investigator wrote to D.J. Man, the Superintendent of Reserves and Trusts: 

You will remember that we paid $3,300.00 in connection with the Indian lands which 
were affected by the construction of this dam and included in that was a small dam 
site. We would like to get title to the dam site in order to be in the position to register 
easements from other owners at the west end of the lake and it is necessary to have 
this in order that these easements may be registered directly against the other owners' 
lands as selvient tenements."% 

Spence prepared a briefing note for A.L. Stevenson in the office of the Deputy 
Minister of Agriculture, but Stevenson responded that he did not recall any 
correspondence in which Indian Affairs "promised to transfer land to us for 
dam site purposes."'Y7 In reply, Spence explained: 

Replying to your memorandum of June 7th, I have looked up Mr. Mutchler's letters to 
Dr. McGill and to Dr. Barton at the time a settlement was made for damage claims to 
the Indians for $3300.00 and while the dam site appears to have been obscured at 
the time the summit was made, it nevertheless was our intention to obtain title to the 
one acre required and on which the dam was constructed. 

I am attaching hereto copies of several letters dealing with the matter and I would 
refer you particularly to the second paragraph on the second page of our lener to Dr. 
McGiU dated December 4th, 1941 wherein we stated that there is an area required for 
the dam site on the Ochapowace Reserve No. 71 amounting to one acre and that 
approximately 39l/2 acres on the same reserve would be flooded. According to our 
interpretation of the matter we expected the flooding rights to be paid for in the 
matter of damages but we expected also that the dam site on Round Lake would be 
transferred to us as is usual, and also the dam site on Crooked Lake belonging to the 
reservation would be transferred to us. The reason the matter is being brought up 
now is due to the fact that we need to own a piece of land so that we can tie in 

194 W.J.D. Kerlq. Indian Agent. Crooked Lake Agenq, Indian Hairs Branch, Department of Mines and Resuurcer. 
ta Indian Hairs Branch, Department of Mine and Resources. Much 18, 1944. NA, RG 10. vol. 7584, file 
6114-1. oan I (FC n n n ~ m ~ n a  n 6FFI ~~~ ~ , . . - - . . -. . . . . . . . . , , . 
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196 R.F.B. Donala lo; Land Ownenhip Lnvestigator, PFRA. Department of Agdcuihlre, to D.J. AUan, Superintendent. 

Reselves and Tmsts, Indian &%in Branch, D e p a m e l  of Mimes and Resources. May 27, 1944, PFRA Me 
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197 A . 1  Slwenson. Deputy Minister's Office, Department of Agriculture, to George Spenee, Director of Rehabiliw- 
tian, Depdrlmenl of Agricultore, June 7 ,  1944, PFRA Me 92WR1, vol. 4 (ICC Documents, p. 6 4 ) .  
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easements that are necessary to be taken from farmers or cattlemen at the west end of 
these lakes. . . . 

There is no doubt that the acre which we required in order to build the dam has 
been fully paid for at the rate of $10.00 per acre as shown in the breakdown of the 
$3300.00. The land was simply rough, scrubby shd3 at the end of the lake. 

If yon could therefore take this maner up with the Indian Department and obtain 
the necessary Deed for the one acre and at the same time, the three acres at Crooked 
Lake, same would be appre~iated.'9~ 

In due course, Depuv Minister Barton requested that Deputy Minister Cam- 
sell of Mines and Resources "take the necessary steps to have title to the two 
small areas in question transferred to this Depa~tment."~9' Camsell replied 
that, from the plans on hand in his Department, the area to he conveyed 
could not he properly described, and he asked that the engineers in the 
Department of Agriculture furnish sketches or  certified legal descriptions of 
the property required for each dam site.LW 

Spence proposed that one way around the problem might he to register 
caveats rather than the easements themselves against farmers' titles, using the 
Crown's titles to the lands on which the dams stood as the dominant tene- 
m e n t ~ . ~ ~ '  However, since the dams were situated on reserve lands, Saskatche- 
wan's Land Titles Office was unable to provide a legal description for the 
dominant tenement.202 This prompted Donald to comment: 

We have considered Dr. Barton's lener again and we are advising Ottawa that as we 
have had some difficulty in connection with easements and alleged damage claims for 
further compensation owing to Uood conditions, that [sic] the method we will follow 
from now on is one of taking title to lands &cred by water. This, I think, will let us 
out of a lot of grief?03 

148 George Spence, Director of Rehahilitation, Depanmenl of Agriculture, lo A.L. Stevenson, Dcpuly Minister's 
Oftice, Depadment of Agriculture, July 7, 1944, PFRA Me 92WR1, vd. L (ICC Documents, pp. 665-66). 

199 G.S.H. Banon, Deputy Minister, Department of Agriculture, lo Charles Camsell, Deputy Minister, Depanment of 
Mines and Resources, July 17. 1944. PFRA file 92WR1, w l  4 (ICC Documents, p. 668). 

200 Charles C m e i l ,  Depuq Minisler, Depament of Mines and Resources, lo G.S.H. Banon, Deputy Minister. 
Department of Agriculmre. August 12, 1%4. NA, RG 10. vol. 7584. file 6114-1, pan I (ICC Documents, p. 
1.7n, 

203 R;F.B. Donald hr Land Ownenhlp lnvfftigafor, PFM, ~epanment ol ~ ~ n l u l l u r i ,  to AJ. Ueece, Agricultural 
.Assistant, PFRA, Depamenl of Aqiculture, August 17, 1944, PFRA file 92W7U1, voi. 2 (ICC DocumenU, p. 
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Spence made the same recommendation to Barton.204 
Eventually, Stevenson met with lawyers in the Department of Justice to 

discuss Spence's proposal to protect easements using caveats: 

This morning 1 discussed the proposal contained in your memorandum with Mr. Olm- 
sted and Mr. Driedger of the Department of Justice. They assure me that as far as 
registering the easement is concerned, it does not maner whether the land on which 
the dam has been constructed ;md which is to serve as the "dominant tenement" is 
under the control of the Department of Mines and Resources, as at present, or the 
Department of Agriculture. It still remains land which is the property of His Majesty 
the King in the right of Canada, and that is all that is necessary. Any transfer which 
may be effected from one Department to the other would be for administrative pur- 
poses only and would not affect the title. We will be d a d  to pursue this matter further 
if you think there is any additional information which you would like to have concem- 
ing it. 

As to the transfer of the lands in question from the Department of Mines and 
Resources to this D e p m e n t ,  we are enclosing, for your information, a copy of an 
exchange of letters between Dr. Barton and the Deputy Minister of Mines and 
Resources. Perhaps you wiU not wish to proceed any further, in view of the opinion of 
the officers of the Department of Justice referred to above.'05 

In view of this memorandum and the opinion of the Department of Justice, 
title to the dam sites on Crooked and Round Lakes was not pursued further 
by the PFRA. 

WATER CONTROL OPERATIONS TO 1970 

After the construction of the dams in the Qu'Appelle Valley, they were used 
and operated for their intended purpose, which was primarily to store water 
for irrigation purposes. From time to time, when periodic flooding inundated 
farm lands in the valley, the PFRA received complaints and requests for com- 
pensation from farmers and Indians alike, but the responses typically attrib- 
uted much of the blame to natural conditions. For example, on May 31, 
1943, the PFRA's Superintendent of Water Development, John Valiance, pro- 
vided the following answer to farmer Charles J. Kalio of Tantallon, 
Saskatchewan: 

204 George Spence, Diretor of Rehabilildtion, Depmmenl of Ag"cullure, lo G . S . H .  Ranan, Depuly Minislrr, 
Depamenl of Agriculture, August 17, 1944, PFRA 6le 92W7R1, vol. L (ICC Documem, p. 675). 

2u5 A.L. Swenson, Oepuy hfinister's Office, Depamenl of Agnculare, lo George Spence, Director of Reh~biiila- 
lion. Depanment of hgriculrure, October 18, 1944, PPRA 6le 928nR1, sol. 4 (ICC Documents. 11. 692). 
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I have for acknowledgment your letter of May 26th in which you state your dissatisfac- 
tion with the wav this Department has handled the control of water at Round and 
Crooked Lakes. 

It is a little difficult for us to see how the flooding in the Qu'AppeUe Valley this 
year was entirely due to any negligence of ours. These records would show that the 
flow of water in the Qu'Appeue Valley during the spring of 1943 was one of the 
highest on record and I am sure that if you have lived in this valley for any length of 
time you will recall floods which have occurred there in previous years before any 
dams or control works had been constructed at any point in the valley. 

There is no doubt that if it were possible to leave the lakes empty in the fall a 
cewain amount of water from the spring runoff could he stored in them in the spring. 
Unfortunately, no one can anticipate in the fall the amount of water which will flow 
down the Qu'Appefle Valley the following spring and as the purpose of these storage 
works is to store water from years of high runoff for use in years when there is very 
little flow in the Qu'AppeUe River, the draining out of these lakes at any time before 
we were asured of an adequate supply of water in the spring would defeat this 
purpose. 

It might be possible for us to let water out of these lakes early in the spring before 
the spring floods commenced, when we were sure that there would be suf6cient water 
to refill them, but this is the only improvement that we believe could be made in the 
operation of these projects. 

For your information I have to advise you that both Round and Crooked Lakes, as 
we1 as other lakes in the Qu'AppeUe Valley, were filled far above their normal full 
supply level this spring and more flood water was placed in temporary stolage in 
these lakes than could ever have been done without our structures, even though these 
lakes were supposedly full last fall. Round Lake was filled with an additional three feet 
of water over its level last fall and Crooked Lake had over four and one-half feet 
placed in it during the peak of spring mno& If this had not been done floods in the 
lower portion of the river would have been even greater than they were. While it is 
possible that if Round and Crooked Lakes had been entirely empty some slight allend- 
tion of flood conditions in the Qu'Appefle River below these lakes might have 
occurred, I should like to point out that flood control in the Qu'AppeUe River is the 
secondary purpose of these resemoin, their primary purpose being the storage of 
water for drought years. Consequently, as previously mentioned, it is not possible for 
us to empty these lakes until we can be sure h t  they will be filled again. 

In view of the fact that we can prove to the satisfaction of any disinterested body 
that the operation of the control structures at Round ,and Crooked Lakes did nothing 
to cause additional flooding of lands above that which would have occurred normally 
under this spring's flood conditions, we do not believe that it would be possible to 
consider the purchase of low lying lands in the Qu'AppeUe Valley which have 
undoubtedly been flooded in previous years of high runoff. 

For your information we are fully aware of conditions as they were throughout the 
entire length of the Qu'AppeUe Valley this spring as we were able to have this area 
photographed by the Royal Canadian Air Force at the peak of the flood flow. We 
cannot agree that the flood conditions occurring in the Qu'AppeUe Valley this year 
were brought about by the "negligence, carelessness and misjudgment of those in 
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charge of P.F.R.A. projects", as if necessary we can prove that any actions of officials 
of this Department eased the flood conditions in the Qu'AppeUe Valley rather than 
making them w o r ~ e . ' ~  

Similar complaints were made in subsequent years, although in some 
years the objection was that, rather than causing flooding, the dams were 
preuenting lands from receiving sufficient supplies of water. In some cases, 
individuals actually took matters in their own hands rather than simply regis- 
tering complaints. In early 1947, for example, when a fish lock on the Round 
Lake dam had frozen in place, a farmer by the name of John Soloshy 
chopped open the lock to release water and permit hi to water his stock.2u7 
Similarly, in 1968, a member of the Piapot Band constructed a small earth- 
G11 dam across the river to gain access to the Band's land on the other side 
and to prevent the flooding of Band hay land^.^^^ 

In the mid-1950s, the Qu'Appelle Valley experienced a high precipitation 
cycle that led to several years of flooding, culminating in the massive inunda- 
tion of 1955 and lesser, but stfl serious, flooding in 1954, 1956, and other 
years. Property damage was extensive, but the PFRA continued to deny its 
own responsibility: 

Flooding of the fiat land in the Qu'AppeUe Valley would have occurred in 1955 
whether there were control structures in the valley or not, the Prairie Farm Rehabili- 
tation ,4dministration said in a report released for publication Saturday[, January 7, 
19561 

The report was prepared by D.W. Kirk of the P.F.R.A. staff a ~ ~ d  summarized the 
history of water control in the valley and particularly during the 1955 flood year. 

There have been some criticisms from those with propeny in the valley of the 
manner in which the excess water was handled. 

"It can be stated that the P.F.R.A. structures on Echo, Crooked and Round lakes 
had no effect on the damage which the floods caused this year," the report said. 
Reclaixuion of some of the areas may take several years. 

According to the statement, the flood climzued a nine-year period beginning in 
1946 during which there was above normal precipitation. Water levels throughout t l~e  
drainage basin had gradually risen until in the f.dU of 1954 the land could no longer 
absorb further moisture and all the sloughs, pot-holes, and marshy areas were filled 
to over-flowing. 

206 John Vdlance, Supennlendent of Water Development, PFRA. Deparknent of Agriculture, to Charles J .  W o ,  May 
31, 1943, PFRA Me 928J7R1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents. pp. 639-40). 
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Depment  ol Indian Abin and Nanhem Development. September 18, 1969, DlAND file 67518-4, vol. I (ICC 
Documents, p. 758) 
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The lake levels in the Qu'AppeUe valley also rose steadily until by 1954 they kdd 
reached the highest recordled] level since 1881. 

"Recognizing the imminent tlood danger, P.F.R.A. undertook to drain the 
Qu'AppeUe lakes as much as possible during the winter 1954-55 so that in the event 
of a heavy runoff in the spring of 1955 storage would be available in the lakes to 
assimilate some of the excess tlood waters which nught be expected," the repoa said. 
. . . 

"But the draining process was slowed down and limited by the capacity of the 
natural dninage channel which was a flat grade and torturous meander~."~~9 

In the late 1950s, the flooding conditions spurred the Muscowpetung and 
Piapot Bands to pass Band Council Resolutions authorizing PFRA personnel 
to enter the reserves to study channelization and other means of expediting 
river flows. Enhy was for survey purposes only and the PFRA was specifically 
precluded from works such as dredging or earth removal unless the Bands 
had been consulted, had been shown exactly what was required, and had 
given their consent.210 

In 1960, the Piapot Band registered a complaint that "P.F.R.A. have 
flooded farm lands and hay lands without ever obtaining permission to do 
so," and asked to "he compensated or  keep the water out off [sic] our 
Reserve."21L It was the first of several such complaints by the Band. In an 
internal memorandum, M.G. Jutras, Superintendent of the File Hills- 
Qu'Appefle Indian Agency, acknowledged that channel clearing and irrigation 
work in the Lumsden Xed upstream from the Piapot reserve "contributes to 
flooding hut I doubt that it is the cause as I understand that these conditions 
existed prior to the P.F.R.A. Jutras maintained that the channeliza- 
tion work should have continued through the Piapot, Muscowpetung, and 
Pasqua reserves, hut it is not entirely clear from the evidence before the 
Commission in the present inquiry whether the benefits of channelization 
would have outweighed its alleged drawbacks, such as increased erosion and 
sedimentation. 

any "P.P.H.A. Denies Onus for Flood Damage," Regina kader-Post, Juuaty 7, 1956. PFRA file 92W7Q2, rol. 3 (ICC 
Documents, p. 715). 

I t 0  N.J. McLmd, Superintendent, File Hills-Qu'AppeUe lndian Agenq, lndian Hain B ~ u c h .  Department ol Citizen- 
ship and fmmigfation, lo E.S. Jones, He@onal Supervisor of lndian Agencies, Indian i\tfairs Branch, D e p m e n l  
of Citizenship and Immigration, July 12. 1956. DlAliD file 675130-1, vol. I (ICC Documents, 1,. 720). 

211 Piapal Band, Petition to Indian Athim Branch, Department of Citizenship and Immigration, August 14, 1960. 
DhUD file 67518-4, "01. 1 (ICC DacunlenLi, p. 732). 

212 M.G. Jutras. Superintendent, Flle Hills-Qu'AppeUe lodian Agency, lndian Mairs Branch, Depmmrnt of Citicen~ 
ship and lmmigfation. to Chief, Reserves and Trusts, lndian &in B m c h ,  Depanment of Citizenship and 
Immigration, Nowmber 7, 1960, DlAND file 67518-4, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 738-39). 



In 1967, more flooding occurred and further complaints arose regarding 
the Echo Lake dam. H.A. Matthews, who replaced Jutras as Superintendent of 
the Fie Ws-Qn'AppeUe Indian Agency, noted that the dam had been erected 
in response to drought conditions in the 1930s. He continued: 

Because of the drop in the lake level [in the 1930~1, it was possible to harvest hay 
and pasture cattle on land which was normally covered with water. The P.F.R.A. con- 
ducted a survey and determined that the mean level of Echo and Pasqua lakes was 
1,571.5 feet above sea level. In 1942 a damn [sic] was constructed near Fort 
Qu'AppeUe which has resulted in the lakes being maintained at this level. 

As a result of the lake being returned to its original level, some land, approxi- 
mately 160 acres on the Pasqua Reserve which had been used for cutting hay and 
pasturing cattle, was covered with water. According to the P.F.R.A. engineers, the lake 
has been maintained at the level it w a  in the years prior to the drought period and at 
the level it was when the resems were established. 

Flooding also occurs on the Muscowpetung and Piapot Reserves where water over- 
flows the shallow river banks during the spring runoff and is trapped on the hay 
lands. P.F.R.A. officials have made an evhaustive study of this problem and have 
drawn up a comprehensive plan of dikes and channel improvements which is at pre- 
sent being studied by the Saskatchewan Provincial G0vemment.~'1 

By the late 1960s, the Province of Saskatchewan had begun to assume 
more responsibility for operating the control structures on the Qu'AppeUe 
River. Although the earlier practice of lowering water levels in the fall to 
permit the Indians to "efficiently harvest their hay" had already been discon- 
tinued by the PFRA,Z1' steps were taken to warn bands of anticipated tlooding 
so they could remove machinery, grain, livestock, baled hay, and other prop- 
erty that might be damaged by high waters.215 

In December 1969, J.J. LeVert, Indian Affairs' Regional Director for Sas- 
katchewan, proposed the creation of a committee to "review ways and means 

213 H.A. Matthms, Superintendent, File Htills-Qu'Appelle Agency, Indian Malt3 Branch, Deparlment of Cilizenship 
and Immigration, to H.T. Vergeoe, H a d ,  Land Survep and Titles Section, Indian M a i n  B m e h ,  Depmmenl of 
Citizenship and Immiption,  July 27, 1967 (ICC Documents, p. 746). 

214 R.B. Godwin, Chief, Hydmlogy Divirron, PFM, Department 01 Regional Economic Expansion, to G.T. Fonyth. 
Pian~IIg and lnvestigatbns Engineer, PFRL D e p m e n t  of Regional Economic Expansion, i \pd  30, 1975, PFRA 
file 9281784, vol. 5 (ICC Documem, p. 972). 

215 See, for example. S.R. Blackwell, Assistant Director, Investigation and Planning Branch, Saskathman Waler 
Resources Commission, to Resource Development Division, Indian A&in Branch, D e p m l e n t  of Indian ,@airs 
and Northern Development, September 25, 1968, DlAND file 67518-4, vol. I (ICC Documents. p. 750); N.J. 
Bawering, Acting Superintendent of Economic Development, Touchwood Fde Hills Qu'Appelle Disricl, Depm- 
ment of Indian and Nanhern Development, to Chief Rose Desjarlais. Piapot Band, Sepwmber 27, 1971, 
DWW file 675/8-4, val. 2 (KC Documents, p. 817); N.J. Bowaing, Junior Development Officer, Touchwood 
File Hills Qu'Appelle Disuict, Department of Indian and Northern M a i n ,  to Stanley Pasqua, Chiet Pasqua Band. 
Pavick Fourhorns, Chief, Piapot Band, David Benoe, Chid  Muscowpetung Band, and Alex Bulfalo, Chief, 
Standing BuMo BBan, A p d  4, 1974, DMND file 27518-4, vol. 3 (ICC Documents, p 033A). 
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of alleviating the [flooding] problem [on the Qu'Appde River] as much as 
possible." LeVert suggested that the committee should include a member of 
the Piapot Band, the Superintendent of the File Hills-Qu'Appelle Indian 
Agency, the Department's Regional Senior Resource Development Officer, the 
Saskatchewan Water Resources Commission's Chief Engineer, and the PFRA's 
Regional Engineer.LJ6 Several meetings of this Flood Control Committee were 
in fact held, and at one such meeting Piapot Chief Rose Desjarlais raised the 
question of compensating bands for flooding. Federal and provincial commit- 
tee members expressed no knowledge of compensation programs, but 
undertook to explore the possibility within their respective  government^.^'^ 
Assistant Deputy Minister J.B. Bergevin eventually responded that periodic 
flooding in the Qu'AppeUe Valley was a problem of long standing, attributable 
primarily to natural causes, and that "no compensation has been paid to any 
land holder in the Valley because of flooding." He added that Saskatchewan's 
Department of Agriculture was undertaking steps to devise a system of water 
control measures to alleviate the conditions that had caused losses suffered 
in the past by the valley's inhabitants.218 

Meanwhile, as the process of transferring control of Qu'AppeUe River 
operations from the federal government to the province continued, the ques- 
tion of title to the dam sites at Crooked and Round Lakes - and how title 
could be conveyed - resurfaced. C.J. Peterson, Head of Indian Affairs' Land 
Section, reported with regard to the Round Lake Dam: 

[Ilt appears the Department of Indian Affairs was compensated for the Indian lands 
afEected. However, the administration and control of this land was not transferred to 
PFRA and it might be desirable to request it.2'9 

However, in a note to file, the PFRA's Assistant Regional Engineer, J.G.S. 
McMorine, commented that transferring title from Indian Affairs might be 
premature: 

218 ~ ~ Y ~ e r g w i n ,  Assismanl Deputy Minister (Indim and Eskimo AfaIn). Depamnent of Indian Aftvn and Nonhern 
Development. to Chief Rase Desjulais, Piapot indim Bmd, Augosl 19, 1970, DVWD file 67518-4, "01. 2 (1% 
Documena, p. 815). 

219 CJ. Petersari, Head, Land Section, PFRA. D e p m e n t  of Regional Economic Expansion, lo J.G.S. McMonne, 
Asism1 Regional En@=, PFRA, Depanmenl of Regional Economic Fxpmion, May 15. 1970, PFM file 
928nRl. vol. 4 (ICC Documents, p. 772). 
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Since I believe it is intended that ownership and control of all the Qu'AppeUe Valley 
dams will be relinquished to the Saskatchewan Water Resources Commission in the 
fairly near future, it would seem pointless for P.F.R.A. finally (after 28 years) to 
arrange for the title to this land to be put in the name of this Department. 

It would seem reasonable that title should be obtained by the new owner at the 
time the transfer of the properiy is made. . . . 

(Since the Indian Mairs Branch has got along O.K. with the situation for 28 years, 
they shouldn't mind waiting another year or two.)"" 

Chief Engineer J.G. Watson conveyed this position to Indian Affairs on June 8, 
1970."' 

EFFECTS OF THE QU'APPELLE RIVER DAMS 

Before continuing with the chronology leading up to the 1977 settlements 
between the PFRA and the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo 
Bands, we will briefly document part of the impact of the dams at Echo, 
Crooked, and Round Lakes as described by members of the Bands and some 
of the experts who were retained to study the impact of those control 
structures. 

In his oral submissions, counsel for the First Nations referred to the fol- 
lowing excerpt from the testimony of Alex Wolfe of the Sakimay First Nation 
about conditions prior to the erection of the dams: 

And the people throughout this reseme here, and across the lake, they made their 
living by hauling wood, selling hay, and at this time of the year, selling the different 
kinds of berries that we find here, like the Saskatoons, the choke-cherries, the cran- 
berries, and this sort of thing. The people here at that time did not receive cash for 
what they produced, it was in trade, like eggs, butter, cream, potatoes, maybe a quar- 
ter for the old man so he could buy tobacco, and that was the same there as it is -- as 
it was here. That's how our old people made a living in those years.2L2 

Similarly, in a statutory declaration, George Ponicappo of Sakimay stated: 

Before the dams were built people mdde hay in the valley. Trees grew right up to the 
river. The people used to make pickets from the trees along the valley. They then 

220 Hole la file, J.G.S. McMonne, Assisla111 Reuonal Eneoeer, PFW, Depamenr of Kegional Economic Expansion, 
May 25. 1970, PFRA file 92W7R1, vol. 4 (ICC Documents, p. 7%). 

221 1.6. Wamn. Chief Engineer, Western Region. Department ol Regional Economic Expansion, lo C.A. Attihire, 
Acline District Suoervisor. Yorkion District. Deoartment of Indian M d r s  and Nonhern Develooment, lune 8. 

zzz ICC Transcript, September 18. 1996, pp. 55-56 (Alex wbife) 
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could sell these pickets to make a living. We used to be able to hunt rabbits and Bsh. 
We used to trap muskrats. There were maple trees in the valley. People used to make 
maple syrup. There used to be a camping place where the bridge used to be?2j 

David Obey of the Pasqua First Nation observed: 

And along the valley, all the people, there was quite a few of the band members used 
to live along the valley, right from one end to the other, from the west to the east. and 
there was a lot of livestock at the time, as far as I could remember. There was a lot of 
cattle and horses here. It seemed like everybody on the reserve owned these animals, 
not just one person. They shared quite a bit with the things that they were doing. If 
there was any hard times they made deals on their own with the people from across 
the lakes. It wasn't only wood or anything like that, it was everything, it's too numer- 
ous for me to mention, but I could just mention a few things, Like there's wood, 
there's pickets, and there's hay, sometimes they'd trade for grain. Like it's just more 
or less of a s u ~ v a l  deal they were going through.2z4 

When asked whether people lived in the valley only at certain times of the 
year, he answered: 

They lived there year round. Most of them lived there year round. The ones that were 
farming had to come up top of the hius. See there was, like there w;ls maybe just 
temporary buildings set up for themselves. Just like more or less of a shelter, just to 
survive, for the spring, right through the summer. But all the people lived along the 
valleys there because it was a better place for them. There was not only the trees and 
the grass, what I'm talking about, there was a lot of environment in there that the 
people used along that valley. See there was a lot of herbs in those days that they 
picked off the earth in order for the people to be healthy."l' 

Lawrence Stevenson of Pasqua stated: 

Now why I say this, or the way I express it is this, that in the winter months most of 
our Native people lived in the valley for water, for fish, for all kinds of ways to make 
their living. Now the hay meadows that we had in both this reserve and the Mus~ 
cowpetung, there was quite an agreement with them, that they went on share basis 
either through work o r  through compensation of monies.'2b 

113 Stahitor) Declaraan of (;eorge Ponicappo of S&imdy Indim Resew No. 74. April 10. 1997, p. 1 iICC Enhibil 
<<I)  ",..,. 

224 ICC Transcript, Ortubpr 1, 1996, p. 18 (David Obey). 
225 K C  Tmscnpt, October 2, 1996, pp. 24-25 (David Obey). 
226 ICC Transctipl, October 2, 1996, p. 71 (lawrenee Stwenson) 
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Earl Cappo of the Muscowpetung First Nation offered the following 
remarks regarding the impact of the Echo Lake dam on water quality and 
haying: 

But I went to school for seven years and I come out, and everything was so different, 
lots of water, no hay, no trees, nothing. Then I quit school when I was li-and-a-half- 
year old, didn't go back to Lebret. And there I noticed all these things gelling dry and 
no hay, nothing. So then I noticed that dam coming through there, I was wondering 
what is going on, there's no natural flow of water there, they were building a dam 
across there, cutting off .dU the comers and pulling them straight through, and 1 don't 
know what is going on. And I asked my dad, I said, "What's going on dad? Well, he 
said, "They're making a swimming pool for you boys to swim in," he says. Because 
we used to be in the river, and that water w a y  clean and we were able to swim in 
there and do everything. In them days the river was nice and clear, but today it's .dl - 
I don't know what's in there, muck, I guess. So I remember we used to sell hay, even 
haul i t  into Regina with the horses, sell hay for exhibition and everytlung, our grocer- 
ies. AU of a sudden that went, nothing, no sales, nothing. So we really did live off the 
land on the reserve and e v e d i n g  was preny good in them &ys. Now today every- 
thing is all dried out. We used to cut pickets along the river, evefing, really. But 
now there's nothing at all there, can't do nothing with the water. So I don't really 
know. I miss those days though, it was nice?" 

In short, the economies of the Qu'Appelle Valley First Nations before 1940 
featured considerable reliance on activities and resources in the valley bot- 
tom, including native hay, timber, beaver, muskrat, deer, berries, maple 
sugar, and important cultural and medicinal herbs and vegetation such as 
sweetgrass and senega root. The water in the river system itself was also 
fundamental to the Bands' existence, not only for domestic purposes but also 
for fishing, stockwatering, and the natural irrigation it provided by means of 
seasonal flooding of low-lying lands. Lower water levels also permitted Band 
members to cross the river to access hay and other resources on both sides. 
Hay and water were particularly important to those individuals who raised 
cattle on the reserves, but several of the reserves "developed a strong attach- 
ment to economic, social and cultural activities based on the river habitat."z" 
The valley provided more than mere economic sustenance: it represented a 
way of Me. 

The testimony of the elders speaks eloquently to the consequences of 
flooding and other factors on this way of life. Marie Kaye of the Sakimay First 

22: ICC Transcript, October 3, 1996, pp. 42-43 (Earl Cappo). 
228 James C. MacPherson Cansulmls Ltd., "The Qu'AppeUe Subsidw Agreemen? Bands' Perspectives," Much 

19134, p. 4-34 (ICC Pihibit 4). 



Nation described the importance of the Qo'Appeue Valley to her as a child 
and the changes brought about by the flooding: 

There came a time when I remember my grandmother, we went to the river with my 
grandfather, and they wanted to catch fish. My grandmother, we brought these fish 
back, she cleaned them and she cut them in strips and she dried them. These fish 
went in a bag and they got hung out in the shed. The berries along the river were 
choke-cherries, Saskatoons, high-bush cranberries, and there was a little red berry 
that grew on grey trees, those were called buffalo berries, and there was black cur- 
rants and there was gooseberries, also there were hazelnuts. These are things that we 
gathered along the river, not to mention the maple sugar trees which my gm~dmother 
and grandfather hauled sap from. They made maple sugar and they made maple 
syrup. AU of these things are gone. Alier the flood water killed, drowned, you name it, 
whatever they gave the fancy name what happened to these trees. It hit us hard 
because out of our food, what we'd stored for the winter, a lot of the berries and the 
rest of the stuff were gone, we had to then travel to the top of the hill to go and pick 
these bemes, which my grandmother always said didn't taste as good as the ones by 
the river.'" 

Henry Delorme spoke of the loss to the Cowessess First Nation, of which 
he is a member: 

Land is sacred to us Indian people. We get our medicine, maple syrup. Trapping was 
a way of life dl along the rivers. The dam flooding caused the trees and plants to die, 
and the wild life to deteriorate. Under the treaty we received gathering places, which 
meant fishing lakes, haying, et cetera. . . . Land was flooded while I was in residential 
school. The whole land in the valley was a big lake. This was because of the dam on 
the east end of Round Lake. Similarly, the dam on the east of Crooked Lake caused 
flooding on Sakimay and Shesheep. I used to go there with my grandmother and visit 
our relations who were camped along the lake and river fishing and trapping. We had 
to move to higher ground due to rise of the water."O 

Raymond Acoose of Sakimay testified: 

First of all, I guess before the dam was built our people used to cross the river, the 
west end of the lake. At that time the water was, say, two to four feet deep because 
you were able to cross that river with the wagons and team. And our people used to 
make hay down there. They made tons of hay. . . . [Olur people used to live in that 
area. George Ponicapo's [sic] grandfather lived in that area year round. He had built 
a house there, I suppose maybe George told you some of his stoly about his grandfa- 

229 ICC Transcript, September 18, 1996, p. 66 (Mane byeye). 
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her .  He had like cattle, he pastured them just across the river there, and our people 
used to live off that land down there. They sold hay, they sold pickets, and our old 
people even then used to have their ceremonies down there, like spiritual gatherings 
at times, you know. There was a lot of things that happened dter the floods. After that 
dam was built there was less communicating with our own people across that river. 
We didn't get to see one another as often as we did before. Also, that some of the 
animals that they used to trap down there had disappeared. Like mink, beaver and 
muskrats, and also that some of the trees down there that what was there was 
drowned out. Some of the people from the south side used to come on the north side 
to chop wood, pickets. After the floods they couldn't do that, and some of our elders 
whenever they wanted to visit our people on the south side here, you know, it was just 
a short distance from them to cross the river, and they were on the south side, but 
after that they could no longer do that because they had to go quite a few miles 
around."' 

Pasqua's Raymond Gordon commented on how flooding had forced peo- 
ple to leave the valley: 

I can't remember a way back in the '20s and the teens, but I can remember back in 
the '30s when thdt land was used. There wasn't hardly anybody living up here on this 
reservation [on the bench], everybody was found living in the valley. And a lot of 
these people here know that. The people lived in the valley because they fished down 
there and like Stanley was talking about, they fished, the fish was good; today you 
can't eat that fish. And in the hills there was rabbits there was deers. They made a 
good living down in that place. And I believe Lawrence Stevenson can verify that, there 
was nobody living, hardly anybody, up here, they were all in the valley. 

And since they flooded that land and since they did this, you don't see anybody 
down there now because you can't eat that fish. The ducks or whatever, the natural 
habitat, you don't find it around there any more."' 

Susan Yuzicappi of Standing Buffalo described the loss of haylands and 
trap lines: 

The only thing I remember is like camping at this marsh across Muskowpetung 
[siclland [likely IR 8081. But at that time nobody ever told me that it belonged to 
Muskowpetung [sic] or if it was Standing Buffalo. Nobody said anything, we just went 
and cut hay from 1935 to '39 we cut hay there. But we didn't go back after the 
flooding and all that, you know. But I know there was a lot of trapping lilies on the 
valley before that, before the floods, because I know my h u s h d  used to come down 
and trap muskrats and that, like. But after the flood there was nothing. Mostly just 
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snakes, you walk by the river there, and the lake and that, there was lots of snakes 
after the fl~oding."~ 

Finally, George Ponicappo recounted the impact of the changes in the val- 
ley to his people: 

The tlooding hurt all of the Sakimay Band. Our lands in the valley were flooded. The 
people used to have camps all over the valley in the summer. Today you cannot camp 
there. You cannot go there in a car in summer. There used to be a lot of ducks in the 
valley. The area that we used to hunt ducks is now flooded. The flooding affected the 
ability of the people on the reserve to make a living. The tlooding hurt the fanning, 
hunting and trapping. It destroyed cabins along the lake shore. The maple trees died 
and the maple syrup industry m destroyed. We had sweet grass and berries in the 
valley, today all that is gone. 1 went to the valley and I could not find one stick of 
sweet grass. The berries and the black currants are all gone. People used to sell 
them. We used roots to make medicine. Now the roots are all under water. . . . 

The flooding damaged the trees. The trees that are left are all dry and dead. In 
summer it is not green Like it used to be. 

The valley was a gathering place. It was important to the social life on the reserve. 
People would gather together in the valley. The old people would sit and teU stories. 
They would pass on the stories. The old people would visit. There were camps where 
people would help each other make hay for the winter. People used to work together. 
There was a lot of cooperation. We would have celebrations in the valley. I remember 
that as a kid we had lots of fun along the river. We used to have races. There used to 
be sweats along the river. Now you cannot go to the area that these activities [took] 
place because it is flooded. 

The water itself is not as good as it used to be. We used to be able to drink the 
water. We used to swim in the water. Now you cannot drink the water. You cannot 
even swim in it because of the pollution. We used to be able to ice fish. Now we 
cannot fish. You used to be able to see the bottom. Not 

These comments by Band members are echoed in the studies undertaken 
by experts retained on behalf of the First Nations to study the damages 
caused by the PFRA dams in the Qu'Appelle Valley. Unfortunately, most of this 
evidence is some 15 years old because, for financial and other reasons, the 
flooding claim of the QVIDA First Nations has languished since the mid- 
1980s. However, certain aspects of these opinions appear to remain valid in 
light of current circumstances, and counsel for Canada did not challenge 
them. 

233 ICC Transctipt, Apnl 4, 1997, pp. 16-17 (Susu Yuzicappi). 
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D. Cameron and J.W. Hamm assessed the degree of soil degradation 
caused by the flooding, which they measured using soil saliniq as the 
indicator: 

The degree of soil degradation due to flooding is directly related to the total salt 
content of the soil. In other words, we have used salinity as our indicator or "yard- 
stick" to measure soil degradation due to flooding. The extent of soil degradation due 
to flooding is correlated with the extent, frequency, and duration of flooding. Over a 
period of time, land use tends to be a direct indicator of flooding characteristics. . . . 
Soil salinity tends to be most severe in the flood-prone lands. . . . 

According to our measured areas [for the four western Indian reserves in the 
Qu'AppeUe Valley] there are a total of 847 acres (11% of the valley land area [of 
7,765 acres]) that are permanently flooded due to raised lake levels. There are 
another 788 acres (10%) that are semi-permanently flooded and basically unusuable 
[sic] for agricultural production. Approximately 2,686 acres (34%) of the valley land 
is moderately to severely degraded due to frequent flooding. This land is generally 
used for pasture and havland, although some of it appears to be abandoned because . . - . . 
of the high salinity. . . . 

Approximately 293 acres (4%) of land that was flooded by the 1969 floods did not 
appear to have any evidence of degradation. In years of higher flood waters, this 
estimate would increase. A laree oortion (40%) of the land did not amear to be 
flooded and would generally not de affected by infrequent, short duration flooding. 
. . . 

The total valley land area occupied by the [four eastern] Reserves amounted to 
6,506 acres of which 578 acres (9%) were class8ed as either permanently or semi- 
permanently flooded. According to our "yardstick of soil degradation (which is the 
salinity index) there were only 451 acres (7%) of severely degraded soils which 
occur in Sakimay and Shesheep. Approximately, 1,560 acres of flooded land (24%) 
were moderately degraded while 911 acres (14%) were flooded, but showed local 
evidence of salinity degradation. A total of 3,006 acres (46%) were not flooded 
according to the 1969 flood lines. 

The western and eastern Reserves show some distinct differences in terms of flood 
degradation with the western Reserves showing more intense and more acres of 
degraded land. In the western Reselves 21% of the land base has been lost due to 
permanent or semi-permanent flooding while only 9% has been permanently lost in 
the eastern Reserves. Similarly, 24% of the land base was severely degraded in the 
western Reserves while only 7% was severely degraded in the eastern Reserves. It was 
estimated that 24% of the land base in the eastern Reserves was moderately degraded 
while 10% was moderately degraded in the western Reserves. In the Western Reserves 
about 45% of the land area did not appear to be affected by floods, while in the 
eastern Reserves about 60% of the land area was generally not affected by floods.i35 

235  D. Camemn, Normac Consultants. md J.W. Hamm, darWall Consultanls. "A Study on the Degree of Sail Degra~ 
&tion Due to Flooding in the Eight (8) Indian Reselvatians in the Qu'AppeUe Valley." November 1981, pp. 7 3 ~  
77 (I= Exhibit 3, tab 5 )  
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In summav, Cameron and Hamm viewed the affected areas of the valley as 
being more than just those permanently or semi-permanently flooded. How- 
ever, it is important to recognize that factors other than the three dams at 
issue in these proceedmgs must also have been at work to cause these 
effects, as is apparent from the statistical data relating to salinity on the 
Piapot reserve. The evidence before this Commission is that flooding on the 
Piapot reserve, while perhaps due to other dams and conveyancing works 
along the Qu'AppeUe River, cannot be caused by any of the dams on Echo, 
Crooked, or Round Lakes, since the full supply levels of these structures are 
at elevations below the lowest river banks on the Piapot reserve. 

David R. M. Hatch was commissioned by QWA to study the impact on 
flora and fauna in the Qu'AppeUe Valley caused by flooding on the reserves 
resulting from the construction of dams in the river. He reported that, before 
the dams were built, "virtually all of the land adjacent to the Qu'AppeUe River 
in the valley was fringed by trees and shrubs." After an examination of these 
sites, he found that these areas had trees in the 1940s "but no longer do." 
He added: 

These trees had been able to withstand periodic flooding over countless decades of 
years [sic] prior to the construction of the dams, however once the dams were con- 
structed floods became much more frequent and some more prolonged. This meant 
that the trees stood in water for long periods of time and consequently suffocated due 
to lack of sufficient oxygen reaching their roots. Some denuded tree trunks still stand, 
however the vast majority of these have been washed away by repeated tlo~ding.')~ 

In Hatch's opinion, no species of trees or plants had been eradicated due to 
flooding, but some species - notably Manitoba maple, American elm, and 
ash trees, and Saskatoon berry, chokecherry, and pincherry shrubs - had 
been dramatically reduced in number and largely replaced by grasses. He 
also found that nutrient-rich grasses "have been replaced by saline plants 
which are of minimal value as a food for cattle,'' resulting in a reduction of 
cattle production as a source of income.z37 The loss of trees as shelter and 
berries as food resulted in the decline of the white-taded deer and coyotes, 
both sources of food supply for the Bands. Muskrat and beaver left owing to 

236 David R.M. Havh, David R.M. Hach & hsaciates, "A SNdy un the Impact to the Flora and Fauna of the 
Flw$np m the Eight (8) Indian Resemtions in the Qu'AppeUe Valley," March 1982, pp. 1.2 (LCC Exhibit 3. 
tab O). 

217 David R.M. Hatch, David R.M. Hatch & hsacim,  "A Srudy on he lmpaa to the Flora and Fauna of the 
kloodin in the Eight (8) Indian Resedons in the Qu'.4ppeUe Vall~).,' March 1982, pp. 2 and 6 (ICC Exhibit 
3,  tab $1. 
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the decline in small shrubs and the unstable river bank, which made it diffi- 
cult to maintain dens. The dams have also widened and deepened the river, 
leading to prolonged flooding and the inability of the Indians to ford the river 
as they had previously done.238 Hatch concluded that returning the floor of 
the Qu'Appelle Valley to its formerly productive state "would require a great 
... expenditure of money and a tremendous length of time," although he 
doubted whether it could be economically justified.ZJy 

At least one consultant retained by QVIDA recognized that factors beyond 
the dams at Echo, Crooked, and Round Lakes contributed to the problems 
currently faced by the First Nations, although it must be emphasized that the 
foregoing effects of the dams on the reserves were not ignored or down- 
played. James C. MacPherson commented that declines in the agricultural 
economies were compounded by successive wet seasons in the 1960s and 
1970s, and by increased flows in the Qu'AppeUe River resulting from 
upstream water management and higher volumes of water.la He added that 
the trend away from a "smaller, more labour intensive pattern of farming" 
common on the reserves, and towards an "increasingly mechanized, larger 
capital intensive farm unit," further reinforced the "shift from a viable transi- 
tional economy in the valley to a very marginal economic base on the bench 
above the valley.z41 It seems self-evident to the Commission that, with devel- 
opments in technology that have effectively put an end to large-scale use of 
horse-drawn wagons for transport and wood as a heating fuel, the primary 
urban markets for the reserve economies in the first half of this century have 
largely disappeared. Clayton Cyr of the Pasqua First Nation appeared to rec- 
ognize a certain inevitability in this trend: 

You know, like even this afternoon, I've been sitting here listening to losing a way of 
life, We would have lost that through time anyway, you know. . . . 1 know I raised 
cattle and horses and the amount of land that we lost down there, I'd be hard pressed 
to put up enough hay to feed them for the winter, because I need 250 round bales, 
1,500-pound round bales to put my animals through the winter. You know, when you 
live in a realistic world you have to look at these things. But you also have to look at 

238 David R.M. Ilatch, David K.M. Hatch & ksocintes. "A Study an the Impact to the Flora and Fauna of the 
Flooding in the Eight (8) lndian Reservations in the Qu'AppeUe Vdlry." March 1082, pp. 3-4 (ICC Exhibit 3, 
lab (1). 
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what you lost over time, you know, Like we did not, we did not lose a way of life, like 
i said, we would have lost it anyway,242 

Hand in hand with these developments was the "dissatisfaction with Reserve 
conditions, particularly housing and lack of employment," expressed by 
members of the QVIDA First Nations. Some migrated away from the reserves, 
while others increasingly came to depend on social assistance commencing 
in the 1950s.243 

THE BAND COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS OF 1977 

Discovery of the Failure t o  Compensate Muscowpetung and Pasqua 
In the early 1970s, claims activity by Indian bands increased as developments 
in technology and changes in government policy simplified the process of 
developing claims. The Commission has already commented on this phenom- 
enon in its report on with the treaty land entitlement claim of the Kawa- 
catoose First Nation: 

[Blefore records were readily available on microfilm and computers in the 1970s, it 
was difficult for a band to research a treaty land entitlement case. hlost of the records 
were available only in Ottawa, and, with funding difficult to obtain, the expense of 
research made the cost of developing a claim prohibitive. 

These barriers to claim development stmed to come down in the early 1970s, 
particularly following Canada's confirnation in the 1973 Stnte~nent on Claims of 
Indian and Inuit People that it "recognized two broad classes of native claims 
-'comprehensiw claims': those claims which are baed  on the notion of aboriginal 
title; and 'specific claims': those claims which are based on lawful obligations." The 
commitment of funds by government and, in some cases, by non-government organi- 
zations and band councils further enhanced claim activity.'* 

It was perhaps inevitable in this climate of increased awareness and fund- 
ing tl~at an inquiry would eventually be made into the failure to compensate 
the Muscowpetnng and Pasqna Bands for those portions of their reserve 
lands flooded by the Echo Lake dam. In fact, lndian Affairs already had some 
inkling of the problem. In 1968, in response to a request from Surveyor 
General R. Thistlethwaite of the federal Department of Energy, Mines and 

242 ICC Transcript, October 2 ,  1996, pp. 119-20 (Clayton Cp). 
243 James C. MacPherjon ConsulLvlD Ltd., "The Qu'AppeUe Subsidiary Agreement: Bands Perspectives," March 
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Resources for information about flooding on the Muscowpetung reserve, H.T. 
Vergette, Head of Indian Affairs' Land Surveys and Titles Section, had replied: 

In 1941 the Federal Department of Agriculture proposed the establishment of a sys- 
tem of irrigation and storage reservoirs in the Qu'AppeUe River valley which would 
have resulted in the flooding of some land on the Muscowpetung and Pa5qwd 
Reserves. However, we have found nothing in our records to indicate that any reserve 
land was taken for this purpose or of any compensation having been paid to the Band 
in this conne~t ion.~~ '  

It appears that nothmg fnrther came of this inquiry. 
Four years later, however, Lumsden MLA Gary Lane was approached by 

Muscowpetung Chief Dave Benjoe to inquire into a number of issues on the 
Band's behalf, including the question of whether the Band and the 
neighbouring Pasqua Band had ever been paid for the flooding rights 
obtained by the federal government in the early 1940s. Lane's inquiq on 
September 6 ,  1972,L46 to Jean Chr6tien, the Minister of Indian Affairs and 
Northern Development, prompted a fruitless investigation by J.G. Watson, 
who by then had been made Director of the PFRA: 

The file indicates that the matter was discussed with the Director of Indian Affairs, 
Department of Mines and Resources, and at that time that Department estimated the 
value of the damages to be $4,800 on the Muscowpetung Reserve and $3,250 on the 
Paqua Reserve. Our files however do not show that compensation was ever made 
[sic] and we do not appear to have title to or an easement over this property. How- 
ever with the considerably better hydrologic information now available to us we 
believe that the effect of the construction of this dam on the water levels and flooding 
would be considerably less than was estimated at the time of the const~ction.~'  

On receipt of this information, Vergette advised the Indian Affairs Departmen- 
tal Secretariat that, since areas of the Muscowpetung reserve had been 
tlooded by the Echo Lake dam, "this Department wdl be approaching PFRA 

245 I1.T Vergetre. Head, h d  Surveys and Tides Section. Department of Indim Badrs and Northern Development, 
a R. Thistiethw~te. Surveyor General, lrgal Su~veys and Aeronautical C h m  DDMon, Department of Energy, 
Wries m d  Resources, August 21, 1968, DL4ND file 675130~1~80,  vol. I (ICC Documentc, p. 747). 
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with a view to obtaining compensation for the Muscowpetung Band.""4 Lane 
was similarly inf0nned.~~9 

On February 23, 1973, P.B. Lesaux, Director of the Indian-Eskimo Eco- 
nomic Development Branch of Indian Affairs, finally brought the matter up 
with Watson: 

In 1943 P.F.R.A. completed construction of the Echo Lake water storage dam, the 
contract for the construction being authorized by P.C. 7900 dated September 3, 1942. 
The dam dfected the water level of the lake bordering Muscowpetung lndian Reserve 
No. 80 and the Pasqua Indian Reserve No. 79. The Muscowpetung Band has recently 
made inquiries as to the amount of compensation paid by P.F.R.A. for the loss of 
lndian reserve lands; however, a review of our records has indicated no authority 
ur agreemntfor suchflwding by PPRA., nor is there any evidence that compen- 
sation was paid to this Department for the benefit of the Indian Bands concerned. 

In a letter dated November 1, 1972 (your Me reference 928/7E4) Mr. R.A. Letilley, 
Western Region, DREE, indicated that the Department of Regional Economic Expan- 
sion, as weU, had not been able to locate any record of such an agreement being 
made or compensation paid. Accordingly, it appears that the Band has a legitimate 
claim for monetary compensation, or for lands in exchange for those that were 
tlooded. 

In view of the above I would appreciate your arranging for officers of your depart- 
ment to meet with representatives of the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands to reach a 
mutual settlement of this ~l.dim.~'" 

On March 1, 1973, incoming PFRA Director W.B. Thomson responded 
that, since it was 30 years since the Echo Lake dam had been built, it would 
take the PFRA some time to search its files and assess the effect of the works. 
In particular, he noted that, because the Pasqua Lake project on which Fet- 
terly based his estimate of damages had been abandoned in favour of the 
dam on Echo Lake with its lower full supply level, "the tlooded acres referred 
to [in Fetterly's report] . . . must be considerably greater than what has actu- 
ally occurred." Thomson nevertheless committed the PFRA to undertake 

248 H.T. Vergene, Chiet, Lands Didsian, D e p m e n t  of lndian and Nonhern AtTain, to Depanmentd Secretarial, 
Depanment ~. of Indian and Nanhern AtTsirs, November 14. 1972. DLhh'D Ole 67518-4, vol. 17.1 (ICC Documens. 
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studies to determine the effect of the structure on Indian lands and to contact 
Indian Affairs with the results.251 

Within the month, R.B. Godwin, Chief of the PFRA's Hydrology Division, 
reported three findings to Planning and Investigations Engineer W.M. Berry: 

1. The average level of Pasqua Lake is from 1 to 1.5 feet higher than it was prior to 
construction of the Echo Lake control structure. 

2. The new control structure has almost no effect on flood flows in high-flow years. 

3. The greatest difference in lake levels occur in the fall of each year [i.e., haying 
time] when the new Echo Lake control structure is closed to control the levels of 
both Echo and Paqua lake.L52 

Berry relayed this information to Thomson, adding that the structure had 
been operated to maintain a water level of 1571.5, or six inches higher than 
originally planned. He l o  noted that the structure increased the duration of 
flooding at lower wdter level~.~~"n a separate memorandum, Regional En@- 
neer G.T. Forsyth estimated "a vertical range of 2.2 feet within which haying 
has been adversely affected by the erection of the dam, which translated into 
Rooded a m  of 60 acres on the Pasqua reserve and 560 acres on the Mus- 
cowpetung reserve. However, he added: 

The effects of the operation of the Echo Lake Structure on these Reserves cannot have 
been entirely harmhl. Certain beneficial effects must have been experienced 
including: 

a) Increased productivity from lands subject to some limited flooding, which, without 
the structure, would have received none. 

b) Increased fish production as a result of greatly improved spawning conditions 
associated with sustained higher lake levels. . . . 

C) Improved nesting conditions for and productivity of water fowl, also related to 
more stable water levels. 

251 W.B. Thomson, Director, PFRA, Depanment of Regional Economic Expansion, to P.B. Lesaux. Director. lndian~ 
Eskimo Economic Develnomml Bmch.  Deoament of Indian and Nullhem AEain. March 1. 1973. DKND Elc ~ . . ~ ~ ~ ~  .... ~. 
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d) Enhancement of the value of Indian lands adjacent to the lake-shore due to rela- 
tively more constant water levels."" 

With this data in hand, the PFRA was ready to commence negotiations. In 
asking Berry on April 10, 1973, to calculate a confidential settlement figure 
for bargaining purposes, Thomson suggested a cash settlement "representing 
the present value of future and past annual losses to the Bands," using the 
discounted value of native hay as the basis for evaluating "the net annual 
income lost per year."z55 

Before these calculations were prepared. Thomson held a prelnninary 
meeting the same day with F. Clark, Indian Affairs' Regional Director for 
Saskatchewan, to outline the basis for negotiations. In a note to file following 
the meeting, he commented: 

As a first step in settling this claim, it was agreed that PFRA would determine the 
area of land detrimentally atfected by the operation of the structure. This wol~ld 
involve the determination of the ,mount of land that has been removed from hay 
production or grazing on the two reserves as a result of the opention of the Echo 
Lake structure. The Indian Gain people feel that the Indians would want to confirm 
these figures, possibly through the services of an outside consultant; consequently our 
calculations will have to be clearly prepared and illustrated. 

It was stressed that the Indians would in all probability not wish to give up title to 
the land, and that settlement should be for flooding rights or flood easements. The 
amount of the settlement would have to be retroactive to the time rhe stmcture was 
builtfib 

The following day, Berry provided Thomson with preliminaq calculations 
based on Fetterly's original estimated damages of $8050, reduced by $2400 
to $5650 to reflect the lowering of the full supply level by three feet when the 
proposed Pasqua Lake dam was replaced by the structure on Echo Lake. 
Berry then applied interest at various rates over the 30-year intend since the 
dam's construction, arriving at compensation ranging from $13,712 at 3 per 

254 6.T. Fonyth, Ke@onal Engineer, PFRA, Depament of Regional Economic Expansion, to W.B Thomson. Dirff- 
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cent to $24,419 at 5 per Thomson forwarded these figures to Acting 
Assistant Deputy Minister M.J. Fitzgerald, commenting: 

It is very doubtful if the Indians at the present time would settle for anything near this 
figure. It is quite probable they would demand a figure several times this a1nount.'5~ 

A week later Thomson had another reason to doubt that the Indians would 
be prepared to accept Berry's preliminaay Egures. On April 19, 1973, Berry 
reported again, this time employing the parameters set forth in Thomson's 
memorandum of April 10, 1971: 

The method of evaluation sums the past and future losses of hay production to the 
bands. Our study has assumed: 

Period of past losses 1943-1972 (years) 
Elw. range of new flooding 1570.0-1572.0 (g~de t ic )  
Acreage lost within flooding range: 

- in Muscowpetung Reselve 500 acres 
- in Pasqua Reserve 50 acres 

Value of m e  hay from Annual Reports 
of Sask Dept. Of Agriculture 

Value of native hay is 60% of m e .  
Costs of production from DBS statistics 
Future net retum/acre/year $3.50 
Av. interest rate applicable to 

compounding past losses to present .i & 5% 
Interest rate applicable to discounting 

future losses to present 6 & 8% 

Based on the foregoing assumptions, the following results were obtained."g 

25l W.M. Beny, Planning and Investigations Engineer, PFRA, Depment  01 Rqional Economic Expansion, la W.R. 
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Present value of past produc. 
tion [per acre] 

Estimated value of 1973 
production [per acrel 

Present value of future 
production 

- at 6% discount rate 
- at 8% discount r a e  

Total of losses 
- at 6% discount rate 
- af 8% diseount rats 

Present value of past 
production 

Value of 1973 production 
Present value of future 

U)SS PER ACRB 

Interest on past losses 

4% 5% 

production 
- at 6% discount rate 
- at 8% discount mte 

Clearly, based on these calculations, Thomson could see that damage calcula- 
tions for the Pasqua and Muscowpetung Bands alone might reach close to 
$130,000. 

$141.55 

$3.50 

$58.33 

$43.75 

$203.38 
$188.80 

TOTAL MSSBS 

--- 
Total of Losses 
- at 6% bent rate 

- at 8% dixmnt mte 

$169.65 

$3.50 

$58.33 

$43.75 

$231.48 
$216.90 

$29,165 
$21,875 

500 acres on 
Muscowpetung Reselve 

Interest on past lossses 

$101,690 
$ %,h 

4% 

$70,775 

$1,750 

50 acres on 
Pasqua Resrne 

Interest on pas1 losses - 

$29,165 
$21,875 

5% 

$84,825 

$1,750 

4% 

$7,078 

$175 

$115,740 
$108,450 

5% 

$8,483 

$175 

$Z,8 16 
$2,187 

$2,916 
$2,187 

$10,169 
$9,440 

$11,574 
$10,845 
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Fitzgerald reported the matter to the Deputy Attorney General to obtain 
approval to negotiate a settlement with the Bands.z6u Authority to proceed was 
given on July 11, 1973:~~ and, on August 31, 1973, Thomson wrote to Indian 
Affairs' Acting Regional Director for Saskatchewan, W.D.G. McCaw, to request 
that he arrange a meeting to discuss the claim?6i 

Two weeks later, on September 13, 1973, Thomson met with representa- 
tives of lndian Affairs, the Piapot and Muscowpetung Bands, and the Province 
of %askatchewan, hut the discussions quickly reached an impasse: 

The Chief of the Muscowpetung Reselve quoted $10,000 per year For 24 years (since 
1959) or $240,000 as settlement for damages caused by the Echo Lake structure. Mr. 
Thompson [sic] then stated PFRA were prepared to settle for $20-25,000 based on 
the amount ($5,600) which should have been paid to the Band in 1941-42 with 
compounded interest to date. Because of the wide variation of the hvo amounts very 
little discussion followed. 

Before departing, Mr. Thomson told me he had asked the Chief of the Mus- 
cowpetung Reserve to submit a written claim substantiating the amount acceptable to 
h",,Z63 

Muscowpetung Chief Benjoe also noted that no water control works had ever 
been built on the reserve as complete or partial consideration for the tlood- 
ing damages, and that the dam had not benefited the Band, "either from the 
point of view of water level stability or improved fish and waterfowl habitat? 
Muscowpetung Councillor WiUiam Pratt asked whether the lakes could he 
lowered to their original levels, hut S.R. Blackwell of Saskatchewan's Depart- 
ment of the Environment responded that it would not he feasible. The Band 

2611 W.B. Thomson. Director. PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, to F.A. Clark, Re#oaal Director, 
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ton per acre, worth $20 per ton (or $lO,WO per year) far 24 years: "lhnnation for File: J. Stoyko. Regional 
Agriculture Specialist, Saskatchewan Region, Department of hdi;u~ and Northern Attain, October 16, 1973, 
DUYD file F4320-9, vol 1 (ICC Documen&. p. 908). 
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representatives also raised the need for a bridge across the river to permit 
haying operations on IR 80B.264 

The PFRA Investigates the Damages 
In the wake of this meeting, Thomson instructed his staff to investigate five 
aspects of the Indians' claims: 

I .  Reassess the "top elevation" adtected by flooding. 
2. Reaqsess the "bottom elevation" to be used in defining the tlood zone. 
3. Review old Liles to determine the basis of settlement used for deeded land in 1942, 

and perhaps use the sanle for Indian lands. 
4. Review Mr. Bery's cdculation of net return foregone, using figures of 4% and 8% 

for past interest and future discount. 
5 .  Evaluate the severance factor.'b' 

McMorine, now a Special Projects Engineer, visited the Muscowpetung 
reserve with Dr Jan Looman of the the federal Department of ,4griculture 
Research Station to "assess the type, yield, and probable value of native hay 
growing in the area immediately adjacent to the present water edge" to deter- 
mine whether flooded hay lands had been replaced by new hay lands at a 
higher elevation. Looman found that the average annual yield from the hay 
lands would have been two tons per acre.2u McMorine reported finding 
" 'slough hay' occurring just above the margin of the present lake, and pre- 
sumably of that which would have been growing in the elevation zone 1570- 
1572 if the Echo Lake Dam had not been 

Later, McMorine also reviewed historical water level figures "to determine 
the years in which it would have been impossible to harvest hay in the flats at 
the west end of Pasqua (Qu'AppeUe) Lake during the period 1943-1972, iJ 
the Echo Lake Dam had not been built." Assuming August 1 of each season 
"as the date later than which flooding of hay land could not be tolerated and 
still allow a harvest," McMorine found that in 15 of the 30 years from 1943 
to 1972, hay would not have been harvested owing to wet conditions. The 

264 G.T. Fonyih. Regional Engineer. PFRA. Depanment of Regional Economic Expansion, "Notes of Meeting at Fon 
Qu'AppeUe Offices of Canada DIAND," September 15, 1973, PFRA file 928nE4, vol. 4 (ICC Documen&. p. 891). 

265 Memomdum to me, J.G.S. McMaiinr, Special Pmjecls Engineer, PFRA, Depanment of Regianal Economic 
Dipansian. October 11, 1973, PFRA file 928nE4, voL 5 (ICC Documents, pp. 903-04). 

266 J.C.S. McModne. Special PmjecU Engineer, P F W  Depanment of Regional Economic Expansion, to W.M. Berry, 
Planning and Investigations Engineer, PFRA. Depmment of Regional Economic Expansion. October 9, 1973, 
PFRA iile 928nE4, vol. 5 (KC Documents, p. 899). 

267 Memorandum to file, J.G.S. MeMorine. Special PmjecU En 'neer, PFRA, Departmen1 of Regional Economic 
Expansion, September 27, 1973, PFRA file 92817E4, vol 14y(lGC Doeumenls. p. 895). 



number rose to 18 years with no harvest if June 1 was substituted as the 
critical cut-off date, resulting in a reduction of Looman's "effective" annual 
yield from two tons to roughly one ton per acre.16n 

In a comprehensive report dated October 11, 1973, McMorine ver&ed the 
existence of a ford across the Qu'AppeUe River that had likely been used to 
access Muscowpetung's hay flats north of the river before 1943: 

The existence of this old ford . . . should have considerable bearing on the obligation 
to construct, or the desirability of constructing, a bridge to provide access to hay flats 
north of the river, which are presently severed by the river from the main pact of the 
Reserve.2* 

Although McMorine suggested checking with residents of the reserve to 
determine whether the ford had been used to access the northern hay flats 
and whether this use had been ended by construction of the dam, he believed 
that construction of a bridge might assist in reaching a settlement of the 
flooding issue in any e~ent.~7O 

McMorine found further evidence to suggest that, first, the elevation of 
Echo Lahe in years of "ordmary or average runof?' before 1942 was the 
reservoir's authorized full supply level of 1571; second, the fuU supply level 
was quietly raised to 1571.5 in 1948 (being "a more desireable [sic] level 
from the point of view of the general publi~");"~ and, third, to permit haying 
operations at the west end of Pasqua take, it had been necessary to drop the 
level to 1570.8. He recommended that settlement be made up to elevation 
1574 since settlements with private land owners had been made on that 
basis, and since a higher figure than 1572 should be used "in view of capil- 

168 J.G.S.  McMorinr, Special Pmjects Engineer, PFRA, Depanmrnt of Regional Economic Expansion, to W.M. Rew, 
Planning and lavesti@ions Engineer, PEW, Depment  of RWanal Econamlc Fxpansion, October 9. 1975. 

. ~, ,~~ ~~ ~~ ~ ~~ ~~ ~~~~ ~~ " ~~ , ~~ 

could not be tolemledj there would be 19 out of 30 yran with no hay harvested, as opposed lo  18 yean u 
elevation 1570.5. The fieurrs dropped la 18 of 30 years if either Iulv 1 or August I was used as the ctitical date 
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269 ~emorandum lo Gle, J.C.S. McMorine, Special Projecm Engineer, YFRA, Depanment of Regional Economic 
Dipansion, October 11, 1973, PFRA me 92W7F.4, vol, 5 (IU: Documents, p. 900) 

270 Memorandum lo Gle, J.G.S. McMonne, Special Proiects Engineer, PF& Depment  of Regional Economic 
Fqansian, Oclober 11, 1973, PFRA Gle 92WE4. vol. 5 (ICC Documents, pp. 906.07). 

171 J.G.S.  McMorine, Special Projects Engineer, PFRA, Depamnent of Regional Economic Expansion, lo G.T. For- 
@, Regional Engineer, PFllA. Deparvned of Regional Economic Expansion, October 30, 1973, PFRA Gle 
92817F.4, "01. 5 (1C.C Documents, p. 923).  
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lary action and freeboard," which appeared to cause increased salinity and to 
adversely affect vegetation even above the full supply level. He also recom- 
mended tkat the affected areas be surveyed, rather than relying on old small- 
scale mapping, since he anticipated that the Bands would retain independent 
consultants to verify the PFRA's 

In the course of his investigations, McMorine reviewed the land acquisi- 
tions relating to the dams at Round and Crooked Lakes. He discovered that 
one private owner, G.R. Walberg, had been paid $2500 for a flooding ease- 
ment, hut other owners had provided flood agreements at no cost to the 
PFRA. With regard to calculating the area of affected reserve lands, he found: 

Acreage involved was taken from topographic plans made by PFRA in 1942 (not from 
Legal surveys) ilnd covered land up to FSL [full supply level] only (1451.0), in con- 
trast to the situation in regard to landowners adjacent to the Echo Lake Reservoir, 
where easements were obtained and paid for to an elevation 3 feet above FSL.':' 

Thomson toured the Muscowpetung and Pasqua reserves on October 12, 
1973, and advised Band representatives that the PFRA would survey that fall 
to quantdj~ the land flooded. J. Stoyko, Indian Affairs' Regional Agricultural 
Specidst, recommended that his Department refrain from becoming "too 
involved at that time since "[tlhere are a number of ways of determining 
compensation for flood damage to lands over a period of years and PFRA, I 
am confident, are competent to prepare initial proposal for presentation to 
the Bands involved."274 

The Negotiations Resume 
On October 31, 1973, Thomson forwarded a revised offer to Indian Affairs. 
Whereas the PFRA's initial offer had discounted Fetterly's estimated damages 
of $8,050 to reflect lower levels of flooding caused by the Echo Lake dam, 
the new offer eliminated this discount on the basis that the PFRA had agreed 
in 1941 to Fetterly's approach: 

272 Memorandum to file, J.G.S. McMorine, Specla1 Projects Enmeet. PFRA, Depamenl  of R%onal konornic 
Expansion, October 11, 1973, PFM He 92817E4, vol. 5 (ICC Documents, pp. 900-07). 

273 Memorandum to 6lc, J.G.S. McMonne, $nial Projecls Engineer, PFRA, D c p m e n t  of Regional Economic 
Expanean, October 29, 1973, PFU file 928nE4, vol. 5 (ICC Dommens, pp. 916.17). This ditierence of lhme 
fee! is hkely attriburable to the decision in 1942 to build only the Echo Lake dam md to forgo the s t r u m r e  at 
Pasqua lake. 

274 ''Information for File," J. Stoyko, Regi~nal AgiculNrr Spdalisl, Saskafchewm Region, D e p m e n !  of Indian 
and Norlhern Atfairs, October 16, 1973, DlAND file F4320-9, voi. I (ICC Documem, p. 908). 
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The point I wish to make is that in 1941 agreement was reached between our 
Departments in regard to the procedures to be followed and the amount of the senle- 
ment to the affected Indian Bands. On this basis, PFRAcommenced construction in 
1942 and completed the structure in 1943. The only omission appears to be the 
transfer of funds from our Department to the lndian Affairs Branch, although records 
do indicate that settlements were made at the same time for flooding easements on 
privately owned lands. 

We consider this maner can now best be resolved by our DepaNnent requisition- 
ing a cheque which would include allowance for interest, compounded since 1943, 
using a rate of 4%% which is somewhat above the average which prevailed through- 
out the period. The amount of the payment would be $17,978 for the Muscowpetung 
Band and $12,172 for the Pasqua Band [for a tot.4 of $30,150.001. 1 am prepared to 
recommend to officials of our De~artment that this payment now be processed as full 
and final settlen~ent of this maner. 

While it is appreciated that it is possible that this payment will not fully satisfy the 
lndian Bands today, we neveriheless consider it represents a fair settlement based on 
the conditions at the time the structure was built and, furthermore, it is based on the 
amount agreed upon in 1941 behveen our Departments. It is most unlikely that we 
would have proceeded with the construction of the Echo Lake structure had the settle- 
ment been substantially ditrerent or had officials of your Department not agreed to its 
construction. It should also be understood that the structure has been operated to 
stabilize the levels of Pasqua and Echo Lakes since the time of its construction at 
levels corresponding to the natural level in years of average runoff (prior to 1942). It 
is hard to accept that this regulation has not been very beneficial in itself to the Indian 
 band^.^:' 

Stoyko anticipated that the "PFRh will undoubtedly be asking us [Indian 
Affairs] to attend any meetings they arrange as they are anxious to find a way 
of inducing the Indians to lower their claim substat~tially."~~" 

The PFRA's proposal was fonvarded to Chiefs David Benjoe and Stanley 
Pasqua of the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands on December 17, 1973, with 
a request that Band Council Resolutions be prepared either accepting or 
rejecting the offer.277 Three months later, Senior Development Officer N.J. 
Bowering of Indian Mairs replied to headquarters on behalf of the Bands: 

- - 

l75 W.B. Thornon. Director, PFM, Depanmenl of Regional Economic Expansion, to J.W. Evans, Acdllg Director, 
1ndian~Eskimo Economic Development Branch, Department of lndan and Northern Mairs, November 5. 1973. 
DkVD fie 67518~4, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 925-26). 

276 J.  Stoyko. .4gncultural Spwdist, D e p m e n t  of Indian and Nonhern Maim to W.D.G. McCaw, Regional Super- 
intendent of Economic Development, Saskatchewan Region, Depanment of Indian and Nonhern Hairs,  Norem- 
ber 27, 1973. DMND 6le F4320-9. vol. t (ICC Documeots. p. 929). 

277 N.J. Bawenng, Senior Dwelopment Officer, Touchwood Rle Hills Qu'Appelle Disttict, Dep.arunent of Indian and 
Nonhern Affairs, lo Chief David Beniae, Museowpetung Band, and Chief Stanley Pasqua, Pasqua Band. Decem~ 
her 17, 1973, DlAND file F4320-9, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 931) 
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letters were sent to the respective Chiefs on December 17, 1973 and copies were 
sent to Mr. Stoyko at Regional office. Today the Council of Muscowpetung met here (I 
should say the Chief and 2 Councillors) and they approached me regarding the noted 
subject. It appears that the Council will not accept the $17,978.00 as final settlement 
and we, no doubt, will receive a Band Council Resolution to this effect soon, 1 hope. It 
was necessaty to have the B.C.R. agreed to and signed by Councillors who were 
absent today, therefore the Resolution will be forthcoming. Those present would 
accept the $17,978.00 as "initial" settlement only. 

We have not had any response to our same letter sent to Pasqua Band and we can 
expect the same decision from them as was made by Mu~cowpetung.~'" 

When no further response had been received from either Band by July 12, 
1974, Bowering sought instructions as to whether he should pursue the mat- 
ter or wait for the Bands to act. He added that "[tlhe heavy flooding this past 
spring bas not improved feelings whatsoever and the high water is expected 
to remain all summer."279 H.R. Phillips, Indian Affairs' Acting Chief of Land 
Administration, replied: 

[lit is regrettable that the nvo Bdnd Councils still appear reluctant to make a decision 
on this maner. 

As you will appreciate, however, it is in the interest of the Bands to reach a settle- 
ment with P.F.R.A. and 1 therefore suggest that you contact the Band Councils again in 
this regdrd.'" 

Although an approach was made, it did not result in a response,lm but the 
Muscowpetung Band Council soon expressed concern about "the flooding of 
Hay Grounds and the loss of hay for the farmers who depend on the valley 
floor for feed." The Council asked Bowering to determine what Band mem- 
bers might "expect by way of compensation or funds with which to purchase 

278 V.J. Rawcting, Seitor Development Officer. Touchwood File WUs Qu'AppeUe District, Department of hldian and 
Nonhern AMn, to H.T. Vergrtte, Chiei, rands D~%sion, Wparhnent of lntlian and Nonhern htfajrs. March 27. 
1974. DWD file 67518.4, vol. liUe$blel (ICC Documents, p. 932). 

279 N.I. Bowcdng, Senior Development Officer. Touchwood File Hills Qu'AppeUe District. Department of Indian and 
northern &n, to Actirlg Wef, h d  Administruion, Department of lndian and Nonhern ABJlrs, July 11, 
1974, DU?D file 61518.1, vol. 2 (Icc Documents, p. 941). 

3R0 H.R. Phillips. Acting Chief, h d  Administration, Department of Indian and Nonhern ABairs. to N j .  Bowering. 
Senior Develoymenl Oficer, Touchwaod File Ilills Oa'A~eeUe District. Deoament of lndian and Northern 
mrs. J U I ~  23, 1974, DLWD file 67518-4, "01. 2 (LC? ddcumene, p, 942j. 

281 W.A.S. Barnes, Disttict SupeMsor, Touchwood File Hills Qu'AppeUe District. Depatvnent of lndian and North- 
em Main, to H.R. PhdJips, Acting Chief, 1 . 4  Adminisvlihon, Depanment of lndian and Nonhern hRdlrs. 
Augun 1. 1974, DL4ND Me 67518.4, vol. lilleglblel (ICC Documents. p. 945). 
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feed for their livestock," assuming a loss of 70,000 bales at $1.00 per 50- 
pound bale."z 

When Bowering put the question to M.A. Imine, lndian Affairs' Regional 
Agrologist and Land Use Specialist, Saskatchewan Region, lrvine answered: 

It is difficult to deal with Eve or six fanners or even one reserve as an isolated 
case, for all individuals and all reserves are entitled to the same equitable trcdtment. 

Indian fanners throughout the Province suffer annual losses for a variety of rea- 
sons, unformnately available funds are insufacient to cope with subsequent requests. 

The question of compensation for flooded hay meadows along the Qu'Appelle 
Basin, as a special case, is presently under study; hopefully a satisfactory solution is 
forth~oming.~R' 

Irvine had considerable sympathy for the plight of the Muscowpetung and 
Pasqua Bands, however, and in a paper entitled "A Viewpoint on the 
Qu'AppeUe Valley Indian Band Damage Claims" he noted that Standing Buf- 
falo also desewed consideration: 

Prior to the construction of PFRA dams along the Qu'AppeUe River there were 
suggestions of acquiring the consent of aftected Bands or expropriating Indian lands. 
A search of the records has failed to divulge that either course of action was taken. 
Indian Bands suffering damage from high floodwaters are requesting compensation 
and it appears &cult to dispute the legitimacy of their claims. 

One body of opinion suggests that had a final senlement been reached at that time 
present negotiations would not have been required. This is not necessarily true. The 
Bands were advised prior to construction of the dam that Uood damage would be 
minimal and suggestions were made that much of the flooding would benefit affected 
hayhds. The extensive flooding presently encountered was not foreseen at that 
time.. . . 

In light of subsequent events and circumstances these Bands feel the original esti- 
mate [by Fetterlyl, as well as the interest rate used [by the PFRA in its offer], is 
unrealistically low. In addition, Piapot and Standing Buffalo lndian Bands are involved 
in the dispute. . . . 

The question of determining accumulative damages involves annual estimates of 
hay crops, varying prices and other factors. A h a l  settlement for past damages is 
desirable. It is extremely douhdul that a total final settlement can be negotiated due to 

, ~~, 
283 MA. Lmne, Regional Agrolo~ist and Land Use Specialist, Department of l n b  and Nonhern &n, la N.J. 

Bowenng, S e ~ o r  Dwelapment Oficer, Tauchwwd File Hills Qu'AppeUe District, DepaRment of lndian and 
Yonhem Main, September 11. 1974, DlAND He 675/84, vol. 3 (ICC Documents, p. 947). 



the uncertainties involved in predicting future damages. Land exch;mge appears be 
the only lasting solution. This would require the full concurrence of the Bands 
involved and the acquisition of suitable land for exchange. 

The possibility of exchanging land depends on: 

1. The quantity, quality and location of land offered in exchange. 
2. The nature and extent of recoverable damage losses. 
3. Whether or not the Bands would exchange land under any circumstances. 

The possibility of land exchange should be discussed, however, most Bands are 
not likely to settle for any reasonable exchange, leaving annual damage negotiations 
as the only obvious alternative. 

PFRA argue that most Reserve flood damage is from natural causes and suggest 
Piapot hay meadows have not been damaged as a result of the Fort Qu'AppeUe dam. If 
these arguments are valid, they should be accotnpmied by an engineer's report which 
fully and adequately describes the situ;uion for the beneGt of the Indian Bands.Ib4 

On November 29, 1974, W.A.S. Barnes, Indian Affairs' District Supemisor 
for the Touchwood File Hills Qu'Appeue District, reported that no further 
progress had been made with regard to compensation for flooding damages 
to the Muscowpetung and Pasqua reserves. He had been advised, however, 
that the Bands' claims would be handled by the Federation of Saskatchewan 
Indians (FSI) .285 In light of h s  information, G.A. Poupore, Manager of Indian 
Lands, drew the matter to the attention of the Indian Affairs' Office of Claims 
Negotiation in January 1975.2n6 

Gav Lane, the Saskatchewan MLA who had originally inquired about the 
failure to compensate the Muscowpetung and Pasqua Bands and had made 
several foUow-up inquiries, continued to intervene on the Bands' behaK He 
contacted Saskatchewan's Minister of Co-operation and Co-operative Devel- 
opment, Don Cody, to ask why lndian farmers had not been permitted to 
benefit from provincial flood compensation programs in the same manner as 
private farmers. Cody responded: 

When the Rood assistance program was being established last spring, we worked 
in conjunction with Federal officials to ensure that the policies were not inconsistent 

284 MA. IMne, "A ViVwpmnt on the Qu'AypeUe v&q Indian Band Dvnage Clbms: September 12, 1974. DlAND 
Me F4320-9, vol. I (ICC Documents, pp. 949.52). 

285 WAS. Bamer, District Supmsar, Touchwoad File Ws Qu'Appelle District, D e p m e o t  of lndian and Nonh- 
em &rs, lo IIR. Phillips, Acting Chref, (and Administration, Depmenl  of lndim and Nonhem mr*, 
November 29, 1974, DlAND me 67518-4, val. IiUe@hlel (ICC Documents, p. 956). 

286 Gk Paupore. Manager, lndian lands, Depanment of lndian and Nonhem Affairs, to Director, Office of Claims 
Hegotiadon. Janualy 9, 1975, PFRA Be 92W7E4, vol. 5 (ICC Dacumena, p. 9581. 



with federal guidelines and that there would not be duplication of assistance 
programs. 

Because the Indian Reserve lands are administered by the Federal Government, we 
were advised that the cost of flood assistance on these lands would be borne directly 
by the Federal Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development. 

It appears therefore that any future correspondence relating to possible claims for 
flood damage on Indian lands should be directed to the appropndte federal 
auth~rities.~~' 

Lane made similar inquiries of Indian Affairs, and Saskatchewan Regional 
Director O.N. Zakreski replied that, although the Department did not pay 
compensation for flood damage to hay lands or other property on lndian 
reserves, it did pay for "emergency measures such as sandbagging, move- 
ment of stored grain, testing and treatment of water, sanitation, disinfecting, 
etc., as well as any emergency dyking or evacuation." However, Zakreski 
disputed Cody's claim that the province of Saskatchewan was not responsible 
for compensating Indian bands: 

II1t is our contention that as citizens of the Province of Saskatchewan India1 people 
are entitled to the benefit of Provincial programs, whether or not they rcside on 
Indian reserves. Flood assistance as a result of damage done by dams, construction or  
other interference caused by other Departments or Agencies, should not be consid- 
ered the responsibility of our Departnient.LY8 

On a trip to Saskatchewan on February 28, 1975, the Minister of Indian 
Affairs undertook to look into the issue.2" 

The Bands Retain Counsel 
Although Indian Affairs had been advised that further negotiations on behalf 
of the western Qu'AppeUe Valley Bands would be conducted by the Federa- 
tion of Saskatchewan Indians, lawyer Roy W'ehan of Regina informed PFRA 
Director Thomson on July 28, 1975, that he had been retained by the Piapot, 
Pasqua, Muscowpetung, and Standing Buffalo Bands with regard to the dam- 
ages caused by the Echo Lake dam. Wellman noted that the Bands had not 

287 Don Cody, Mmister, DepPNnent of Co~opemion and Co-openbe Drrelopment, Government of S ~ k a t c h e w . .  
lo C a y  Lane, U, Government of Saskatchewan, January 15. 1975. D!AND He 67518-4, vnl. 3 (ICC Doeu~ 
mrntr " OCO, . . .... -, , , > , . 

288 O.N. Zaheski, Regional Director. Saskatchewan, Departmenlot lndian and Northern &%iff, to Gary h e ,  MIA, 
Government ol Saskatchewan. January 28, 1975, DlAND 61e 675R-4, vol. 5 (ICC Documents, p. 9606. 
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consented to the project, flooding had been more extensive than foreseen at 
the time of construction, and damages were not minimal as initially sug- 
gested. On behalf of the Bands, he submitted the following claim: 

(1) The representatives would like their hay lands to be put back in the same state as 
they were prior to construction of PFRA dams; 

(2) The reserves to be compensated for evely year since construction of the dams; 
(3) Marshes drained and seeded to grass; 
(4) Reserves to be fully compensated until such time as hay could be cut; 
( 5 )  The water to be channeled so as to by-pass marshes and diking.Iw 

WeUman proposed that a meeting he convened to determine whether any 
common ground existed to form the basis for discussions. 

In reply, Thomson noted that the Echo Lake structure and its effect on the 
reserve lands of the Pasqua and Muscowpetung Bands had been under 
review by the PFRA and Indian Affairs for approximately two years, and that 
he was awaiting "advice" from Indian Affairs. In the meantime, he forwarded 
Wellman's Letter to the PFRA's la~yers.~9l 

Wellman, however, demanded a meeting for preliminary discussions not 
later than September 30, 1975, failing which he was instructed to examine 
other legal options open to the B a n d ~ . ~ I ~  Thomson responded with a request 
for information: 

We have had representation from the Indians with respect to the Echo Lake con- 
trol structure and its effect on the Pasqua and Muscowpetung Reserves. We are not, 
however, familiar with claims on the Piapot or Standing Buffalo Reserves. We would 
have to have some form of statement of claim or background information relating to 
these two Reserves before a meaningful meeting can be held. 

ff this can be supplied to us, I am sure we could m g e  for a meeting during the 
month of October at your convenience."Y] 

Thomson's letter was met with silence. However, on March 24. 1976, Well- 
man and the Chiefs and other members of the Muscowpetung and Pasqua 
Bands assembled in the lawyer's office to discuss the claim. WeUman advised 

290 W Roy Wellmm, W e h m  & Maclsaae, Barristers & Solicitors, to W.B. Thomson, Director, PFIU, Depanment 
of Reaonal Economic Fxpmsion. July 28, 1975, PFRA 6le 92WE4, vol. 5 (ICC Documen&, pp. 97R-79). 

291 WE. Thomson. Director, PFIU, Department of Regional Economic Fxpansion, to W. Roy Weurnan, W e h a n  & 
Maclsaac, Wlmsten & Soliciton, August 1. 1975, PFRA Gle YZW7E4, vol, 5 (ICC Documenh, p. 980). 
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his clients that the PFRA had acknowledged that the two reserves had sus- 
tained marsh damage from the erection of the Echo Lake dam, and Indian 
Affairs had encouraged the Bands to submit damage claims. However, the 
preparation of a claim had been hampered by the lack of survey evidence to 
quantify the area flooded. 

The discussion then turned to the damages sustained by the Bands, includ- 
ing loss of marshlands, a reduction in game and waterfowl, the need to 
reduce cattle herds, and increased reliance on welfare as increasing numbers 
of Band members were forced to subsist on fewer resources. Moreover, the 
Bands claimed that they had never benefited from the irrigation opportunities 
for which the dam had been constructed in the first place. However, Band 
members indicated that they would be prepared to accept replacement lands 
in exchange for those flooded. Finally, the minutes of the meeting indicate 
that, when asked by a member of the Muscowpetung Band whether flooded 
areas would be sold or leased, Wellman stated that "[ilt was just a damage 
claim. . . not giving it up, it would stiU belong to Mus~owpetung."~9~ 

Finally, Wehan initiated contact again with Thomson on April 20, 1976, 
when he wrote to ask for information about the number of cattle and the 
number of welface recipients on the Piapot, Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and 
Standing Buffalo reserves in 1943 and 1975.295 No further claims or demands 
were made by Wellman at that time. However, the interests of the Bands were 
being pursued on another front by R. Van Slyck, Indian Affairs' District 
Superintendent of Economic Development for the xed: 

[Philip Desjarlais of the Piapot Bandl mentioned the monies that the Federal and 
Provincial governments intend to spend in the Qu'Appeile, and felt some of this 
should be perhaps used to recover losses due to flooding. Since his visit here, 1 have 
found that those dollars were intended for the future development and improvement 
of the valley, as opposed to payment of losses due to flooding. 

As I see it at present, flood conditions will continue, and we perhaps should be 
thanldul for water but at the same time can there not be somehing arranged, whereby 
other lands could be made available for hay, etc., (2,400 acres - Piapot) to replace 
those lands which has [sic] been lost to flooding.'" 

294 Minutes of meeting. "Damages Marshland Setdement." Mareh 24,  1976, PFRA file 9LWE't-2, uoi. I (ICC Docu- 
menu, pp. 100(~-07). 

295 W. Ray Wellman, Wellman 8 Maclsaac, Banisters 8 SoUcitor;. to W.B. Thomson, l)irector, PPa4, Depa'tmenl 
of Reglord Economic Fxpanslon, Apd 20. 1976, D W D  61r 67518-4, vol. 1, (ICC Doeumenls, p. 1011). 
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Van Slyck also suggested that the creation of a holding reservoir or  lake on 
the Piapot or Muscowpetung reserves for recreational purposes might create 
considerable employment opportunities. A.J. Gross, Acting Assistant Regional 
Director of Economic Development, Saskatchewan Region, replied that 
Indian Affairs was prepared to entertain a proposal from the Bands, although 
he understood they had retained counsel and were preparing a submission to 
the PFRA.2y7 

On July 14, 1976, representatives of Indian Affairs and the PFRA met in 
Regina to discuss the status of the claim: 

This situation so far as P.F.R.A. is concerned has not changed since their offer of 
settlement which was made some four years ago, to which they have received no 
response from the Bands. The Band Councils, by the way, who were involved were in 
fact invited to reply one way or the other, which they never did. It was assumed from 
this meeting, and agreed, that the next move would have to be by those persons 
involved namely, Pasqua and Muscowpetung Councils. 

Our feeling was unanimous in that we had to clear up one point, were the Bands 
waiting for us, or for the P.F.R.A., or were they employing the services of a legal firm. 
Mr. Markuson [Indian Affairs' Regional Supervisor of Lands, Saskatchewan Region] 
made ;m appointment with Mr. R. Wellman, who appeared to represent the hvo Bands 
in their effort to obtain a large claim as compensation for flood damages caused by 
the aforementioned structure. 

In discussion with Mr. Wellman, we were advised that he was in fact acting for the 
hvo Bands in respect to the one claim, that claim which resulted from the damage 
:311s~d 11). [he E C ~ I J  lake o,nlrol slnictlirc l i t .  1, I IOI icllnp fur ibew B.url.; un ;III\ 
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aforementioned claims either, but they are, as you know, involved with "Land Claims" 
a7 we know them. 

Mr. Wellman will be providing his first " d d '  of his submission by July 23, this 
wiU not be as good a draH as he would like, but will get something started. He also 
assured us that there would be no further activities [for example, channelization\ 
consented to upstream from Fort Qu'AppeUe, until this one issue is ~ettled.~Y~ 

Whle anticipating receipt of the Bands' claim, Indian Affairs also felt pres- 
sure to secure a quick resolution of the matter. Other projects in the 

197 h.J Gross, r\fling Assistant Regional Diredor, Economic Development, Sdikatdewm Regon. D e p m e n l  of 
Indian and Nonhern .&IS, to N. Roweting, Diatnct bmds and Resources Officer, Touchwood File Hills 
Qu'AppeUe Disttict, Department of Indian and honhern Affairs, June 18. 1976, DL4VD file 675/8-4, voi. 3 (ICC 
Documen&, p. 1019). 
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Qu'Appelle Valley were being hampered as the Indians became increasingly 
unwilling to participate or cooperate while the flooding claims remained out- 
standing. As J.D. Leask, the Acting Director General for the Saskatchewan 
Region, commented: 

[Tlhe Bands Sected have engaged legal council lsicl who will be presenting a claim 
shortly. We understand it will be for a large sum and based on social and economic 
deprivation that resulted from the loss of land flooded. . . . 

While no comments were made, it may be anticipated that our trust responsibility 
in not settling this matter or ever discussing it with the Bands (we see no evidence 
that it ever was discussed although obviously they were aware at the time), will be 
raised. We also anticipate that the interests already expressed by both Members of 
Parliament and the Saskatchewan Legislative Assembly will be utilized to support an 
early settlement especially in view of the need to control the floodwaters of the 
basinLW 

As promised, Wellman delivered the claim on July 23, 1976. The Bands' 
demands were virtually identical to those set forth in Wellman's letter of July 
28, 1975, but the claim for compensation had been quantified: 

In determining the appropriate principle or formula on which damages could be 
assessed it was the consensus of the Band Councils that they would accept the sum of 
$100.00 per acre for each acre that was actually flooded as a result of the erection of 
the dams. 

It would appear that by virtue of the records on file it is possible to determine with 
a fair degree of accuracy the exact acreage that were [sic] flooded. The information 
lhat I have, (this would be subject to confirmation by your Depanment), is that some 
600 acres were flooded on the Muscowpetung Reserve and some 406 acres were 
flooded on the Pasqua Reserve and a lesser acreage on the Standing Buffalo Reserve 
and Piapot Reserve, particulars of which we do not have at this time. 

Accordingly, I have been authorized to advise your Department that my clients will 
accept settle~nent on the basis they will receive $100.00 an acre per acre flooded as a 
result of the erection of the dams. This amount would include the damages suffered 
by the Reserves insofar as reduction of the respective herds, resulting in radical 
changes in life style on the Reserves. Consequently, it meant that there was less food 
available, resulting in more people becoming welfare recipients th.an otherwise might 
have. Therefore, our position is that this will be inclusive compensation for any and 
all damages suffered for [sic] the Reserves with respect to this matter."'" 

2% J D. Leask, Acling Director General, Sashtchovan Region, Depanment of Indian Mhrs and Nonhrm Develop- 
ment. 10 J.W. Riahie, AcUng Head. Lands Advisory Services, Department of Indian Hairs and Nonhern Develop- 
ment, July 16, 1976. DLAND file F4320-9, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, pp. 10'26-27). 
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At $100 per acre, this proposal would have provided compensation some- 
what in excess of $100,000. In a follow-up letter, WeUman added that the 
Bands' claim was supported by the Treaty Rights and Research Section of the 
Federation of Saskatchewan Indian~.3~' 

With this proposal in hand, the PFRA took further steps to quantify the 
claim. Planning Engineer E. Caligiuri calculated the acreages detrimentally 
affected by the construction of the Echo Lake dam, based on the following 
parameters: 

Elevdtion 1570 is the bottom elevation below which, under normd conditions without 
the structure, lands could not suppon production of hay or grazing. Elevation 1574 is 
the top elevation above which the structure has no detrimental effect on lands under 
production. This elevation includes an allowance of 1.6 feet for any capillary action 
which might oc~ur. '"~ 

He concluded that the affected areas on the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and 
Standing Buffalo reserves were 670 acres, 45 acres, and 50 acres, respec- 
tively. However, he found that the Piapot reserve was unaffected by the struc- 
ture because the lowest elevation of the river banks on that reserve was six 
feet above elevation 1574.30" 

Wellman, Thomson, Peter Dubois of the Muscowpetung Band, and L.G. 
Ganne of the Department of Justice met in Regina on August 17, 1976. WeU- 
man confirmed that his clients included Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Stand- 
ing Buffalo, but that Piapot had elected to proceed independently. Duhois 
agreed that Wellman was authorized to represent all three Bands, and 
affirmed that the negotiations could result in a final settlement. On the sub- 
stantive issues, the parties appeared to agree that the Bands had never con- 
sented to the construction of the dam, hut they differed on whether Indian 
Affairs had granted permission to proceed. Thomson noted that Indian Affairs 
had been hUy informed of the project, and had negotiated and agreed on a 
damage settlement on behalf of the Bands. 

With regard to quantlEylng the claim, Wellman confirmed that $100 per 
acre flooded constituted "an all-inclusive settlement for past and future dam- 

301 W. Roy Wellman, Wellman & MacisaaF, Barristers & Solicitors. to W.B. Thomson, Director, PFRA, Depamenl  
oi Regional Economic Expansion, July 28. 1976, PFRA Ne 9ZW7E4. voi. 5 (ICC Documene. p. 1031). 
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ages." According to the minutes of the meeting, Thomson may have suggested 
that this figure was "an acceptable sum for settlement." However, the parties 
were unable to agree on the acreages of the areas flooded. Thomson referred 
to Cahgiuri's figures of 670 acres and 45 acres for the Muscowpetung and 
Pasqua reserves, but indicated that he bad no acreage for the Standmg Buf- 
falo reserve. Dubois countered that the dected area on the Pasqua reserve 
was more like 400 acres, and he suggested 40 to 50 acres for Standing 
Buffalo. To resolve this issue, the parties agreed to a joint engineering deter- 
mination of the areas affected.304 

After this meeting, the three Bands passed Band Council Resolutions 
requesting Indian Affairs "to have a survey done soon, to indicate what areas 
were in fact flooded as a result of the instalation [sic] and operation of the 
control structure at the lower end of Echo Lake in 1941 or 1942."3°5 In 
forwarding the survey request to Regional Surveyor S.J. Zeldenrust, Markuson 
noted that the acreages had been estimated in an eatlia engineering study, 
but "the bands are concerned that more acreage was flooded than originally 
anticipated."3" Zeldenrust prepared a sketch showing the extetit and acreage 
of lands flooded in the Muscowpetung reserve, but he commented that "it is 
difficult to determine the extent of the flooding as it fluctuates from year to 
year and one does not how, which year would be acceptable to both par- 
ties." He added that he would have similar plans prepared for the other two 
reserves if the one prepared for Muscowpetung was ac~eptable.3~~ 

Before the survey work could be completed, however, Wellman wrote to 
Ganne on November 19, 1976: 

304 L.G. Ganne, Legal Advisor, Depanment ofJustice, "Summaty of Discussion Had at Meeting Held in the O$ce of 
W.K. Thomson, Direnor, PFRA, at 2:00 p.m., Tuesday, August 17, 1976." August 18, 1976, PFR4 file 9280E4, 
""1 7 (lrr nnnrman,. nn ,"10.l,, - \."" u"-"..." ..-, rp .">, ..,. 
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This is to further advise that the Chiefs in Council of the respective Reserves have 
indicated that they would be prepared to accept a lump sum settlement of 
$265,000.00 on the condition of course, that the appropriate releases would be 
signed with respect to past damages, present datnages and anticipated future &amages 
with respect to the structure. 

The reason why the Resemes have reached this decision was the fact that the 
general feeling is that the other alternatives will be one that will mean there will be 
considerable lapse of time before a senlement can be reached and also, there will be 
considerable expense. 

We would accordingly request that you review this matter with your appropriate 
superiors and in due course indicate to us whether or not a settlement can be pro- 
ceeded with on that basis.jW 

Ganne quickly replied that the PFRA was not opposed to the idea of a lump- 
sum settlement, but it could not consider the figure proposed by Wellman 
without "substantiation and detailed information as to the basis on which this 
figure was arrived at." After outlining the process that had been agreed upon 
during the meeting of August 17, 1976 - $100 per acre as an all-inclusive 
settlement for past, present, and future damages, subject to a joint engineer- 
ing determination of the number of acres atrected - Ganne stated that Thom- 
son was "wondering what happened to the furthering of this proposal which, 
it was felt by all concerned, would be the most effective method of bringing 
about an early settlement of this outstanding pr~blem."~w 

In the first of two subsequent letters, Wellman simply advised Ganne that 
the Bands had held a further meeting during which they had agreed to accept 
a settlement on the basis set forth in his letter of November 19, 1976.31° 
However, on December 8, 1976, he clarified the Bands' position: 

The respective Reserves have a felt position that has developed over the yeas as to 
the c a n t  of the lands that were flooded. The positions have evolved by vime of the 
information that has been given to them by the elders of the respective tribes and the 
information we have is that Muscowpetung had an acreage flood of about 1,500 
acres, Pasqua 1.000 acres and Standing Buffalo from 50 to 100 acres. 

In discussing this matter with the representatives they have indicated to me that 
former Chief John Gambler of Muscowpetung is prepared to take an &davit to this 
effect and one of the elder Peigans could take the &davit with respect to Pasqua. 

Sin W. Roy Weban,  w e b a n  & Maclsaac, Banisters & Solicitors, to L.G. Came, Legal Advisor, Department of 
lustice, November 19, 1976, PFRA f ie  928nE4. vol. 5 (ICC Documents, pp. 1053-54). 
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Therefore, the position which we are putting to you is the position which the 
Reselves have a reasonable belief to be a correct one and this is corroborated by 
virtue of the tact that the lump sum settlement would he divided in accordance with 
the traditional position of the Reserves."' 

Wellman stressed the importance of acting quickly: 

Accordingly, if the D e p m e n t  is prepared to act on the basis of the &davits, we 
will arrange to get these &davits to you a quickly as we can and once again we 
would like to reiterate that in the event the matter is not settled prior to February, 
there will be new Chiek and Cauusellors [sic! and I cannot assure you as to whether 
or not they will support our present po~ition."~ 

After discussing the matter with Thomson, Ganne replied that the Bands' 
position was "totally unacceptable to the PFRA," particularly "the suggestion 
that consideration be given to affidavit evidence based on memory and rea- 
sonably [sic] belief designed to establish flooded acreage." Thomson was 
prepared to proceed only on the basis of the joint engineering arrangement 
previously agreed to by the parties."' 

With his February deadline fast approaching, Wellman wrote directly to 
Berry, by then the Acting Director of the PFRA, to reiterate the Bands' wding- 
ness to settle for a lump sum of $265,000, subject to appropriate releases of 
past, present, and anticipated future damages.'l' The government relented, 
and steps to implement the settlement commenced. 

Terms of the Settlement 
The terms of the settlement appeared relatively straightfonvard. Of the pro- 
ceeds of $265,000, Muscowpetung was to receive $150,000, Pasqua 
$100,000, and Standing Buffalo $15,000. The Bands were to provide the 
PFRA with appropriate releases and would authorize permits to allow future 
flooding. 

Berry provided a memorandum to his superiors in the Department of 
Regional Economic Expansion so they could alert the Treasury Board of the 

311 W. Ray Wellman, Wellman & Maclsaac, Barristers & Solicilors, to L.C. Ganne, legal Advisor, Deprnlnent af 
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PFRA's upcoming submission with regard to the settlement. After laying out 
the background to the claim and the proposed terms of settlement, Berry 
stated: 

Sumeys completed by PPIU have shown that a total of 1,540 acres of reserve lands 
has been adversely affected by the Echo lake control structure. Of this area, 935 
acres are considered to have been productive hay lands before the lakes were raised. 
Based on studies of past damages (i.e. loss of production, access and developmental 
opportunities, shooting rights and shoreline erosion) ;md on the present market value 
of this land PFRA has concluded that the lump sum settlement of $265,000 can be 
justified."' 

In advising Treasury Board of the proposed settlement, Assistant Depuq Min- 
ister J.D. Collinson suggested that "the most appropriate way of proceeding is 
by way of an ex gratia payment, since the settlement of the matter can be 
considered to fall in the category of moral ~bligat ion."~ '~ 

On March 4, 1977, Wellman provided Berry with Band Council Resolu- 
tions from each of the three Bands "in trust and on the understanding that in 
due course the sum of $265,000.00 will be deposited in trust and to the 
credit of the respective Reserves to be divided in the proportion mutually 
agreed upon by the Re~elves.""~ The terms of the Pasqua and Standing Buf- 
falo resolutions were virtually identical: 

WHEREAS PFRA constructed a control structure on the Qu'AppeUe River down- 
stream of the outlet of Echo Lake in 1942; and 

WHEREAS the control structure raised the level of water in Echo Lake and in 
Pasqud Lake and as a consequence caused flooding of hay lands located within the 
boundaries of the Muscowpetung, Standing Buffalo and Pasqua Indian Reserves: and 

WHEREAS such Uooding has resulted in a loss of hay production, a reduction of 
reserve lands previously available for hay production, a reduction of the number of 
cattle which the Bands were able to raise, and a consequential reduction of economic 
groMh and 

WHEREAS the Bands have never been paid compensation with respect to such 
losses; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that 
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for and in consideration of the payment of $100,000 [$15,0001 to the credit of 
the Pasqua [Standing Buffalo1 Band, the Band does hereby release PFRA from all 
past, present and future claims in respect to erection of the said control structure and 
consequential Booding, and further agrees to authorize the issuance of a permit to 
PFRA in respect of the continued operation of the said control s t ~ c t u r e . " ~  

The Muscowpetung Band Council Resolution contained one significant Mer -  
ence. Rather than releasing the PFRA from all claims "in respect to erection 
of the said control structure and consequential flooding," the Muscowpetung 
resolution released all claims "in respect to lands now flooded by the said 
control structure."3i9 

That same day, Berry forwarded the Band Council Resolutions and the 
formal Treasury Board submission to Collinson to commence the approval 
p roce~s .3~~  The submission defended the settlement in these terms: 

11 mutually acceptable lump sum of exactly $265,000 as full compensation for past 
and future damages has been negotiated between PFRA and the Indian Bands. Studies 
by PFRA have concluded that this sum is reasonable and justibable on the following 
basis: 

Bffectehacea - 1540 acres, consisting of 935 acres of hay lands and 605 acres of 
lower, marginal lands, on the three Reserves, within the vertical interval between 
the pre-dam long-term lake level and the elevation to which easements were pur- 
chased from non-Indian landowners. 

I '  

-St returns to the land between 
1943 and the present. 

- $125 per acre, representing the present value of future damages and being 
the current market value of this class of land. 

llnir value nf c p  
- $40 per acre in consideration of damages to hunting and fishing capabilities, 

interference with access and loss of development opportunities along shore- 
lines and on the Reserves generally. 
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Haylands - 935 acs. @ $25Wac = $241,230 
Marginal lands - 605 acs. @ $'tolacre = 24.m 

Total &&&pz~ 

After a minor procedural error was caught in the initial formal submis- 
 ion:^^ the PFRA resubmitted the documents to Treasury Board and, by 
Order in Council PC 1977-10/1949 dated July 7, 1977, the settlement 
received Cabinet approval.323 On July 19, 1977, a copy of the Order in Coun- 
cil was forwarded to Berry,jz4 and two days later Ganne provided a copy to 
J.D. Leask, by that date Indian Affairs' Director General for the Saskatchewan 
Region. Leask, who had previously concurred that the settlement was "fair 
and just,""? also acknowledged receipt of an ~nterdepartmental Settlement 
Advice in the amount of $265,000 payable to Indian Affairs.326 

Berry himself notified Wellman of completion of the settlement: 

This is to advise you that we delivered today to theDepartment of indan Affairs 
and Northern Development a check for $265,000 in settlement of the land claims on 
Pasqua Lake. A draft copy of the receipt of this cheque from that Department is 
attached hereto. This concludes our commitments on this matter.?" 

This was not the end of the matter, however 

Aftermath of the Settlement 
By the autumn of 1977, Harq M. Hi had been appointed as the new Direc- 
tor of the PFRA and Berry had resumed his position has Chief Engineer. On 
October 21, 1977, Berry and Ganne met with new Muscowpetung Chief Ron 
Rosebluff, who had been in the position just ten days and who had questions 
regarding the settlement. In particular, Chief Rosebluff was concerned that 

321 Department of Regional Economic Expansion, Submission to Treasu~y board, March 23, 1977, PFRA 6lc 
928nE4. "01. 5 (ICC Documents, p. 1092). 

122 W.M. Bern, Acting Director, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, to W. Roy WeUman, Wellman 
& Maclsaac, Barnsten & Soiicitan, May 5, 1977, PFRA file 92WE4-2, vol. 1 (ICC Documents, p. 1103). 

323 Order in Councll PC 1977-10/1949, July 7, 1977, PFRA Be 928nE4-2, vol. I (ICC Documents, p. 1104). 
324 R.C. Lagimodiere, Prognm Co~ordindtar. Western Region, Department of Regional Economic Fxpansion, to 

W.M. Bev, Acting Director, PFRA, Depanmenl 01 Regional Economic Expansion, July 19, 1977, PFRA 6le 
928nE4-2, "01. I (ICC Documents, g. 1108). 

325 J.D. Leask, Direelor General, Saskatchewan Region, D e p m e n t  of Indian and Nonhem Affsin, to J.W. Ritchie, 
Head, Lands Advisoly Smicer,  Depdnment of Indian and Nonhem Affairs, March 8, 1977, DIAND Be 675/8-4. 
vol. 3 (ICC Documents, p. 1078). 

326 L.G. Ganne, Legal Advisor, Department ofJustice, to J.D. Leask, Director Generai. Saskalchwan Region. Depm- 
men1 oi lndwn and Northern Affairs, July 21, 1977, PFRA file 92WE4-2, vol. I (ICC Documen$, p. 1109). 

327 W.M. B e q  Actlng Director, PFRA, Depament of Regional Economic Expansion, to W. Roy Wellman, Wellman 
& Maclsaae, Barnnen & Soliciton, July 22, 1977, PFRA file 92W7E4-2. "01. I (ICC Documents, p. 1110). 
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"the $150,000 settlement allowed the flooding of their hay lands for ever and 
ever." After the history of the negotiations and the basis for the settlement 
had been explained to him, Chief Rosebluff expressed his intention to discuss 
the settlement with members of his Band to consider whether the Band 
should challenge the vahdity of the authorizing Band Council Resolution.*2x 

In January 1978, Rosebluff advised Indian Affairs that the Muscowpetung 
Band did not intend to use or accept the $150,000 deposited in its revenue 
account. The Band disagreed with the vording since it released future claims 
and "gives P.F.R.A. any authority needed to raise or lower lake levels at their 
discretion." Rosebluff also indicated that the Band was prepared to go to 
court over the question of whether the resolution was null and void.32v It 
should be noted, however, that, notwithstanding the suggestion that the Mus- 
cowpetung Band would not use or accept its share of the settlement pro- 
ceeds, it is common ground between the parties to this inquiry that, by the 
date of these proceedings, all three Bands had in fact spent all or virtually all 
of the funds allocated to them.'jO 

In a memorandum to his District Manager, Bowering, by this time the 
District Lands Administration Officer for the Touchwood File HiUs Qu'AppeUe 
District, suggested that carefully defining the area of the permit might satisfy 
the Band: 

Some assurance should be set forth to convince them that the established 
acres . . . would not be exceeded should the area again become flooded in the future 
and if the area was exceeded, then another claim for damages may result. 

Lt was my understanding that before any monies were paid out, that [sic] a permit 
arrangement w a ~  to be entered into covering the period upon which P.F.R.A. had 
flooding rights. I haven't seen this permit nor has anyone mentioned it again. 

While Mr. Len Ganne, legal advisor, worked, I assume, in close hamony with the 
Bands legal adviser, Wellman and McIssac [sicl, it does not appear that the Mus- 
cowpetung Council is at all happy with the result. 'There may also be a conflict 
between this council and the council responsible for the settlement.)" 

328 W.M Berw, Chief Enaneer, PPRA, Deplrtment of Reaonai Economic Expansion, to Ham. M. Hill, Director, 
PFRA. Department of Regtonal Economic Fxpansion. Octaber 21, 1977. PFRA 6 le  928,784~2, vol. 1 (IcC Docu~ "..".. " ',,*\ r. ... ", 

329 N.J. Rowcrlng, Distticr Lands A&nilustradon Officer, Touchwood File Hills Qu'Appelle District, DepdlVnent of 
lndian and Northern .@airs, to J.D. Drummond, Disttict Manager, Touchwood File Hills Qu'Appeile Dismct, 
Departmenr of lndian and Northern Affairs. DlAND Ble 67518-4. vol. 4 (ICC Documents. pp. 1118-19). 

330 ICC Transcript, June 26, 1997, pp. 205~06 (Bruce Becker and David Knoll). 
131 N.J. Bowering, Disttict Lands Adminis1r;Uion Officer, Touchwood File Hills Qu'Appelle Disvict, D e p m e n t  of 
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E. Korcbinski, Director of Operations for the Sakatchewan Region, recom- 
mended that the permit be drafted and forwarded to the Band for its 
review.fi2 On February 24, 1978, Lands Branch Director G.A. Poupore pro- 
vided a draft permit to Korcbinski for this purpose.jj3 

At the time the settlement had been concluded in March 1977, M.R. St. 
Pierre, District Superintendent of Economic Development, had indicated that 
the "procedure is to arrange for a permit to be dated retroactive to 1942 to 
run continuous [sic] or as long as is required to control the levels of the 
Pasqua and Echo Lakes."'3%owever, the initial draft permit provided for a 
commencement date of January 1, 1972, among the following terms: 

This letter shaU be your authority, pursuant to the Indian Act to use and occupy 
for flooding purposes those parcels of land in Muscowpetung Indian Reserve No. 80, 
tlay Grounds Indian Reserve No. SOB, Paqua 1ndi.m Keserve No. 79 and Standing 
Buffalo lndian Reserve No. 78 shown on the sketches attached hereto. 

This permit is granted subject to the following terms and conditions: 

1. That this permission or permit shall be valid for an indeterminate period com- 
mencing from January 1, 1972 and for as long as the land is required for flooding 
purposes. 

I .  That the Department of Regional Economic Expansion shall pay, on execution 
hereof, the sum of $265,000 a full and final payment for the use of the said land 
(or the duration of this permit. 

3. Tnat the land shall be used only for the purpose of flooding occasioned by the 
construction and operation of the Echo Lake Dam. 

4. That the Department of Regional Economic Exp.dnsion shall be solely liable for any 
actions, demands, damages or claims arising from, under or in respect of its use 
of the aforesaid land."! 

- 

i s 2  E. Korchinski, Director of Operations. Saskatchewan Rc#on, D e p m e n t  oi Indian and Nonhern Affain, to G.A. 
Poupore, Director, Lands Branch, Depmme~lt  oI Indian and R~r thern  ,ALTairs, DlAND file 67518-4, vol. 3 (ICC 
Documents. p. 1123). 
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In providing the draft permit to Korchinski, Poupore noted that "[tlhe 
sketches mentioned in the permit are those prepared by the Regional Sur- 
veyor's office, signed, dated October 1976, Apnl 1977 andJanuary 1978 and 
are not atta~hed."j '~ 

It is important to emphasize that this draft permit was never signed, but it 
still included two key facets that have become pivotal to the issues in this 
inquiry: 

In clauses 1 and 3, it provided for an "indeterminate" term "for as long as 
the land is required for flooding purposes," with the land to he used "only 
for the purpose of flooding occasioned by the construction and operation 
of the Echo Lake Dam." 

It referred to attached sketches that specified the land to be subject to the 
permit, but the sketches were not attached. 

On February 13, 1978, the Muscowpetung Band Council passed a resolution 
purporting to rescind the 1977 resolution by which the previous Band Coun- 
cil had accepted the settlement. The rescinding resolution stated: 

1. That the Muscowpetung Band Council deems the land flood situation to be a mat- 
ter requiring a conditional surrender persuant to Sec. 37 and Sec. 38 of the Indian 
Act. 

2. That the Band Council views the settlement non-constitutional on the basis that it is 
non-advisable and not proper to enter into an agreement of perpetuity. 
In the Alternative: 

3. That such a settlement, if not subject to Sec. 37 and Sec 38; that it should and 
could only be approved by the electors of the Muscowpetung Band or at least by a 
majority of a Band Council in a properly constituted meeting. 

It is with the above points in mind that we rescind the previous B.C.R. file #225 
and are therefore seeking further  negotiation^.^^^ 

On receiving this Band Council Resolution, Korchinski forwarded it to Pou- 
pore, asking whether the authorizing Order in Couucil had been passed and 
what Indian Affairs' position would be. Although his Minister, J. Hugh Faulk- 

536 Gh. Poupore. Director, Lands Branch, D e p m e n t  of Indian and Nanhern AEain, to E. Korchinslj, Uirrctor 01 
Operations, Saskatchewan Region, DepaRment of Indian and Nonhem n8ain. February 24. 1978. DlANU file 
675Pd-4, vol. 3 (ICC DaeumenU, p. 1124) Emphasis added. 

337 MuscowpcNng Band, Band Council Resolution, February 13. 1978, DMND 6le 67518.4, vol. 4 (ICC Docurnen&, 
p. 112'2). 
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ner, had initially expressed sympathy for the Band's stance that the settlement 
amounted to an illegal surrender,3" Poupore in his response to Korchinski 
on March 29, 1978, did not: 

The Muscowpetung Band Council has evidently misinterpreted the provision of the 
Indian Act. In this case a surrender of land is not appropriate as the Department 
would be unable to lease to the Department of Regional Economic Expansion. In view 
of this, a permit is the appropriate vehicle and a draft permit was forwarded to you on 
Febmaq 20, 1978. The Muscowpetung Band Council is in e m r  in stating that the 
settlement proposed is not constitutional. The settlement was sanctioned by the Band 
Council of the ddy and was negotiated between the Band's solicitors, Mr. R. Wellman 
and Mr. L.G. Ganne, of the Department of Justice. The proposed permit is not in 
perpetuity as the Band Council states, but will permit the land to be used by D.R.E.E. 
for flooding purposes as required. The proposal was negotiated with the approval of 
the Band Council of the day and there was no requirement for the Council to put it 
before the Band members. 

It is noted that the Band has received $150,000.00, the monies agreed in the 
negotiations with D.R.E.E. It is considered therefore that as the agreement was prop- 
erly negotiated with D.R.E.E. and that the monies agreed to have been paid to Mus- 
cowpetung Band funds we cannot agree with the proposal put forward by the new 
Band Council in their B.C.R. dated Febmay 13, 1978."'q 

At this point, a letter from Marcel Lessard, the Minister of Regional Eco- 
nomic Expansion, had been drafted to convey the same sentiments to the 
Band. However, with a view to heading off the problem, Markuson instructed 
Touchwood File H i s  Qu'AppeUe District Manager J.D. Drummond to meet 
with the Band to explain the draft permit: 

When reviewing the draft permit with the Band Council you should be prepared to 
clarify why a surrender was not necessary. That the proposed senlement was 
approved by the Band Council. That the Band. had received the monies and all that 
remained was to provide a letter permit outlining the right to use and occupy the 
lands flooded by the erection of the Echo Lake Dam built in 1952. 

This does not grant any flooding beyond that dected by the level of the dam.'M 

338 J .R .  Lane, D i r ~ t o r  General, Saskatchewan, DepaRnlent oi Regiorul Econon&c E\pansion, to Llarry Hill, U'irec- 
tar, P F U ,  Depanment of Regional Economic Expaion,  March 22.  1978. DlAND Gle 67518.4, rol. 4 (ICC 
Documents, p. l l j . 2 ) .  
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Drummond's efforts obviously did not have the desired effect, as Lessard's 
letter went out on May 2, 1978: 

You indicated your concern that surrender of Indian lands could be interpreted as 
being part of the agreement. Our legal advisor states this interpretation cannot be 
substantiated. 

It was never contemplated by the st& of my Depatment that surrender of lands 
would be  pa^? of the agreement, and, with the supponing opinion of our l e d  advisor, 
let me assure you that such an interpretation cannot legitimately be made. Insofar as 
land use is concerned, the agreement only makes provision for an appropriate permit 
to be granted pursuant to Section 28, Subsection (2) of the Indian Act. 

With regard to your concern over waiving of future claims, the agreement pre- 
cludes claims against the Crown, or any future owner of the water control structure, 
resulting from the continued existence ;md operation of the structure in its present 
form, but does not preclude future claims arising from other activities that might 
adversely d e c t  your Reserve lands."' 

lndian Affairs Minister Faulkner sent a similar letter to Chief Rosebluff on July 
11, 1978.142 

Both letters prompted immediate and vigorous replies from the Band's 
newly retained solicitor, William J. Pipow. To Lessard, Pitlipow wrote: 

[Wle cannot agree with you or with the opinion of your legal advisor with respect to 
interpretation that must be placed as to how a settlement of this qpe can be effectively 
@reed h by a Band. Section 28, subsection 2 of the Indian Act referred to a permit 
being issued by the Minister for a one year period only. As a result that Section cannot 
granl the rights to the Minister which you assert. We wish to bring to your attention 
Section 37 of the Indian Act, which says that Indian land cannot be dealt with as set 
out therein except as provided under Sections 37, 38 & 39. 

Furthermore, we cannot agree at all that a Band can forever waive its rights to 
flooding of their lands without eliminating [sic] the right of the land to future genera- 
tions. It is our opinion that The Band can settle a claim for damages which occurred 
in the past but certainly cannot bind their future generations without complying with 
Sections 37, 38 & 39 of the Indian Act.ii" 

341 Mmel  Lessad, Minister, Department of Repianal Economic Expansion. to Ron Rosehluf Chiet Muscoupetung 
Rand, May 2,  1978, PFRA 6le 928nF.4-2, vol. I (ICC Documen=, p. 1145). 

342 1. Hugh Fauiher, Minister, Depanment of lndian and Northern AB*n, to Ron Rosebluff, Chiel, Museowperung 
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In his letter to Faulkner, Pillipow added that "the agreement which was 
entered into with DREE and PFRA could be held to be null and void based on 
alienation."J44 

Lessard's reply reiterated his earlier comments that it had not been 
intended by the settlement to dispose of an interest in land such that the 
surrender provisions of section 37 of the Indian Act would be triggered: 

It was our intention simply to acquire the right to maintain the existing control struc- 
ture, built by PFRA in 1942, at its present location, and further, to compensate the 
Band for the past, present and future consequences of ;my Donding that might result 
from the continuing existence of this structure. 

'This is certainly not an alienation of these lands so far as the Band is concerned, 
inasmuch as tlooding may or may not occur from year to year. The extent of flooding 
in any year will be determined primarily by natural causes, and flooding of the low- 
lying land concerned could occur whether or not the PFRA control StNCture existed. 

Section 28(2) authorizes the Minister of Indian Affairs and Northern Development 
to grant by pennit, for any period longer than one gear, with the consent of the Band 
Council, the right to occupy or use a reserve. This is the right that we were seeking 
with respect to the control structure. The permit was intended to be limited in its 
application to this structure and was not intended to provide any rights in relation to 
reserve land adjoining the structure. 

The February 15, 1977 Band Council Resolution, which the Band adopted, 
achowledged that the payment to be made to the credit of the Band was for past, 
present and future claims in respect of tlooding, with no suggestion that the acquisi- 
tion of any interest in lard was acquired thereby. It further expressed agreement on 
behalf of the Band to consent, in effect, to the Minister's granting a pemit to PFRA for 
access on the Reserve to maintain its structure, which kdd been located there since 
1942. 

As indicated above, one of the purposes of the Band Council Resolution was to 
convey the consent of the Council to the Minister authorizing him to grant a permit to 
cover the existence of the control structure for a period in excess of the one year to 
which he is Limited without the benefit of Council consent. This is a situation f,alhg 
completely within the puniew and intent of Section 28(2) and clearly does not con- 
template a disposition of reserve land within the meaning of Section 37, which neces- 
sitates a surrender. 

Furthermore, in our opinion, the Band has not waived its right to the flooding of 
their land. The Band has agreed to a negotiated amount as settlement for the effects of 
flooding in the past, present and future, which they, at the time of negotiated settle- 
ment, adopted by a Pmd Council Resolution. 

This is an agreement that has been EuUy performed by the payment of the agreed 
amount of consideration and which is not capable of being disturbed simply by a 

144 William J. Pihpow, PiUipow, Kolyk & Owen, Bartisten & Soliciton, to J. Hugh Faulher, Minister. Depmnrn t  
of Indian and Northern Aflain, July 26, 1978, DUND file 67518-4, vnl. 3 (ICC Documents, p, 1157). 



subsequent Council deciding to rescind the previous Band Council Resolution, which 
expressed the consent of the Band to the agree1nent.3~5 

Assistant Deputy Minister R.D. Brown of Indian Affairs followed with a similar 
letter to Pillip~w.~*~ However, notwithstanding the official position taken by 
Canada in the correspondence with the Band's solicitors, Indian Affairs was 
uncertain about its ability to issue a permit under subsection 28(2), and 
Korchinski stated that "it is on this basis the permit has not been issued.""' 

The matter appears to have languished for a year until Chief Rosebluff 
brought it up again during a meeting with Owen A. Anderson, the Saskatche- 
wan Region Director General, on June 20, 1979, following an unusually high 
spring mnoff. In a follow-up letter dated July 9, 1979, Anderson assured 
Chief Rosebluff that the 1977 Band Council Resolution did not deal with dam- 
ages that might be caused by additional dams, and he provided the Chief with 
topographic surveys prepared by the Regional Surveyor to define the area 
and the acreage flooded. He asked Chief Rosebluff to review the draft permit 
"and advise if you see anything that does not conform to the structure nor the 
compensation that your Band's previous council negotiated." He concluded 
by noting that Indian Affairs believed that the Department of Regional Eco- 
nomic Expansion had "acted in good faith in securing the Treasury Board 
approve [sic] the compensation that had been negotiated by your solicitor, 
Mr. WeU1nan."3~~ 

Despite Anderson's cajoling, he had to report to Leask that "Chief R. 
Rosebluff is not very happy with Headquarters [sic] response and is insisting 
that the Department should explore all possible means to get the Band out of 
this commitment." Anderson asked Leask to reconsider the Department's 
opinion of March 29, 1978, in which Poupore had supported the PFRA's 
position.s49 In a separate memorandum, to satisfy an undertaking given by the 
Minister to Chief Rosebluff, Assistant Deputy Minister Brown also asked Leask 

).ti Marcel Lessard, Knister, D c p m e n t  of Regional Economic Expanslo", to WlUiam J. Fibpow. PiUipow. Kolyk & 
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to look into the legality of the February 15, 1977, Band Council Resolution in 
terms of "concluding the arrangement with PFRA."35U 

Leask responded by asking Anderson for additional information: 

To support the Band in this problem, we require, as soon as possible, the follow- 
ing information:. 

I. Were individual Band members consulted or made aware of the proposal and 
B.C.R. 225 prior to it passing? Was the B.C.R signed by a quorum of this Band at a 
regular meeting? 

2. Did the Band have Departmental assistance in its negotiations with D.R.E.E.? It is 
noted that a Mr. Wellmm was appointed by the Bands. 

3, It is noted that B.C.R. 225 is identical to B.C.R.'s prepared by the Pasqua m d  
Standing Buffalo Bands for a similar purpose. Were these R.C.R.'s dnfted by the 
Rands, D.R.E.E. or this Department? 

4. When were the monies paid by D.R.E.E. to the Rand? 

In addition it is requested that you meet with D.R.E.E. at an early date and ascer- 
tain their views on re-negotiating the agreement reached behveen D.R.E.E. and the 
Band."' 

Markuson drafted the response for Anderson: 

1. Doubtful if Council consulted band members. Signed by quorum. Not likely at 
band meeting but at laver ' s  oflice. 

2. No, we were not involved. Attended a meeting with Wellman, and we were advised 
to smy out of the process as he could provide better emotional objectives. 

3. District or Region did not d& the BCR. Expect Wellman did. 
4. Funds were paid to Revenue Trust Fund.'iZ 

i5O R.D. B~OWII, .bsiSmt DepuN Minister - Programs, Depanmenr of lndian rnd Nonhenl Htirs. lo J.D. t a s k ,  
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It should be noted that Markuson's view that Wellman had prepared the Band 
Council Resolution contradicted an earlier statement by Chief Rosebluff that 
Ganne was the draft~man.'5~ 

Indian Affairs continued to deal with the Muscowpetung Band to t v  to 
make the settlement work. On September 14, 1979, the Band issued a new 
Band Council Resolution that, in consideration for the $150,000 payment 
already received, purported to release the PFRA from only past and present 
claims - the previous reference to future claims was conspicuously absent - 
and to pennit the PFRA to continue to flood an area of 671.1 acres.3i4 In 
conjunction with this resolution, Assistant Deputy Minister Brown forwarded 
a second draft permit to his counterpart, J.D. Collinson, in the Department of 
Regional Economic Expansion. This permit was identical to the earlier draft, 
except that it applied only to the Muscowpetung Band and purported to grant 
permission to flood the same 671.1 acres referred to in the Band's new Band 
Council Resolution.3ji 

This limitation on the flooded areas was unacceptable to Collinson: 

Your letter refers to certain parcels of Land to which the permit applies, ,and in 
supporting Band Council Resolution No. 295, these parcels are particularly identified 
and total 671.1 acres. 

A Muscowpetung Band Council Resolution (copy attached for your information) 
dated February 15, 1977, which resulted from our negotiations with the Indian Band, 
identifies the area involved as ". . . bands now flooded by the said control struc- 
Nre . . . ." On this basis, Treasury Board authority for the $150,000 settlement was 
granted, and the subsequent Order in Council, P.C. 1977-1011949, authorized com- 
pensation tor ". . . lands bordering Pasqua and Echo Lakes required as a result of the 
construction in 1942-43 of a dam at the outlet of Echo lake on the Qu'Appelle 
River. . . ." 

At the time of negotiations with the Band, an engineering review indicated that 
under certain circumstances approximately 1,190 acres (lands below elevation 1,574 
feet) could be affected by flooding from the existing control structure. Our negotia- 
tions with the Band and our request for Treasury Board and Order in Council author- 
ity were based on this premise. With this as background, you will see that the limita- 

, . .u,.  
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tions imposed by your letter and by Band Council Resolution No. 295 on land that 
could be affected by the Echo Lake Dam are at variance with our negotiated position. 

In summary, the Band Resolution of 15th February, 1977 . . . is the true and legiti- 
mate basis for the payment of the $150,000 to the credit of the Muscowpetung Band. 
The permit must be granted on the same basis.4'6 

To this, Brown replid 

The purpose of our October 12 letter was to implement the agreement reached 
between your officers and the Muscowpetung Band to .allow PFRA to use lands 
flooded in 1977 as a result of the construction of a dam .at the outlet of Echo Lake on 
the Qu'AppeUe River. The Chief of the Band bas been concerned that a general permit 
for flooding would grant PFRA unrestricted right to flood reserve lands without the 
Band having any recourse for future damages arising from these actions. Accordingly, 
it was agreed that the permit should cover those areas flooded in 1977 and covered 
by the February 15, 1977 Band Council Resolution which states: . . . . claims in 
respect to lands now flooded by the said control structure . . . . 

The acreages and plans were drawn up by the Regional Land Surveyor for the 
Department of Energy, Mines and Resources. 

Since the 1977 flooding arrangement appears to have been negotiated directly 
between your oficers and the Band, we are not priw to the full extent of the points 
agreed upon. However, we would be reluctant to change the description of the lands 
covered by the permit area without the concurrence of the Muscowpetung Band. If 
you are not satisfied with the area described in the October 12 permit, I suggest you 
arrange a meeting with the Band Council and our Regional officers to discuss the 
matter."' 

Cobson then took the matter up with J.D. Nicholson, the Indian Affairs' 
Assistant Deputy Minister for Indian and Inuit Affairs: 

It would appear that while your Department may be under some pressure from a 
new Chief to change the settlement terms, there is little or no choice but to accept the 
settlement entered i11to and as authorized by Order in Council P.C. 1977-10/1949, 
dated July 7, 1977. This Order in Council relates to [Treasury Board] Minute 749611, 
which confirmed the settlement agreed upon, established a total number of acres on 
three Resewations considered affected by the PFRA Echo Lake Dam, and set the com- 
pensation to be paid per acre on such affected areas. The agreement with the Mus- 
cowpetung Band, and two other Bands which were also involved in the negotiations, 

- 

156 J.D. CoUinson, hssistant DepuIy Minister, Western Re$on, Depmmcnt of Replond Economic hpansion, to R.D. 
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did not provide a breakdown of the exact acreage on each Reserve affected by the 
tlooding. The Bands agreed among themselves as to allocation of monies, and the 
allocation was also con6rmed and authorized by the Treasury Board Minute. 

Because of the difBculties or near impossibility of precisely establishing the num- 
ber of acres that could be flooded or otherwise affected on each Reserve by the PFRA 
control structure, and to bring finality to a long-standing claim, the Bands, through 
their lawyer, and the Crown, each agreed on a straight lump-sum payment which the 
Bands would allocate among themselves. This agreement was reflected in the Band 
Council Resolutions passed by each of the three Bands subsequent to agreement on 
the settlement proposals. The Crown by Order in Council confirmed the 
settlement. . . . 

It is evident from engineering computations of the area dfected by the Echo Lake 
Dam that the acreage calculated to be affected by the structure on the Muscowpetung 
Reserve is substantially larger than the acreage set out in B.C.R. 295, dated September 
14, 1979, on which Mr. Brown relies. In my letter of October 24, 1979, 1 have 
already indicated that this acreage is at variance with our negotiated position and that 
it was not intended that the settlement be made on a precise acreage basis. 

The following points seem pertinent to this situation: 
- Both DIAND and DREE-PFRA are branches of the government for purposes of 

administration. The settlement was made between the Crown on the one part and 
the three Bands on the other. Both Depactments are bound by the settlement on 
the side of the Crown. The Bands represented throughout by the lawyer of their 
choice are also bound by the settlement, having accepted and received full payment 
of the settlement monies. 

- The Deputy Attorney General is solely (through his agents) authorized and entitled 
to effect senlement and compromises of claims for and against the Crown. The 
present case, being a claim by the Bands against the Crown for flooding damages, 
was senled by agreement between the Crown as represented by the Deputy Attorney 
GeneraJ ;md by the Bands represented by their lawyer. In settling the Bands' 
claims, the Deputy Anorney General was 3cting for both DIAM) and DREE. 

- An Order in Council, being the act of the Executive, has authorized the settlement 
on behalf of the Crown and has provided for the monies in payment of the senle- 
ment agreement. This Order in Council sets out a total acreage which is the acre- 
age agreed upon as being affected, and sets forth the price to be paid per affected 
acre. Needless to say, the words "now tlooded contained in B.C.R. dated February 
12, 1977, refer to the flooding caused by the control structure at any time and do 
not mean tlooding as it existed on February 12, 1977. 

- Mr. Brown's suggestion that PFRA originate another meeting to renegotiate with 
one of the three Bands a settlement already agreed upon by the Deputy Attorney 
General on behalf of the Crown and authorized by the Executive is not practical, 
and in fact would not be acceptable. 
With the above as background, it would seem desirable to review the permit which 

was incorporated in Mr. Brown's lener of October 12, with particular attention to 



removing acreage limitations related to consequential tlooding by the PFM 
s t m ~ t u r e . ) ~ ~  

When after several inquiries the PFRA had not yet received its pennit by 
August 2 0 ,  1981, Hill asked Murray R. Skelton, the Manager of Land Admin- 
istration, to follow up.3S9 Skelton did so by providing for Hill's review a draft 
memorandum to Deputy Minister Robert C. Montreuil to propose that he 
write directly to Paul Tellier, Indian Affairs Deputy Minister, to request the 
permit. The memorandum stated in part: 

To date a reply lo Mr. Collison's Lener [dated March 28, 19801 has not been 
received. 

It is now essential to acquire a permit to flood, which is consistent with the negoti- 
ated terms of the 1977 settlement. Failure to obtain same and as soon as possible is 
leaving PFRA vulnerable to such diverse and contemplated claims as economic and 
environmental damages, adverse social and cultural effects and rehabilitative costs, 
etc.3w 

Eventually, a letter requesting a permit went out over Montreuil's signature to 
Tellier on January 4, 1 9 8 2 . s 6 L  

Assistant Deputy Minister Donald K. Goodwin finally replied on Tellier's 
behalf in a letter dated May 7, 1 9 8 2 ,  to CoUinson. Goodwin attributed the 
delay in responding to the time spent by Indian Affairs to examine the situa- 
tion, but even after this close scrutiny Goodwin's response was not what the 
Department of Regional Economic Expansion had been hoping to hear: 

As your Department is aware, the three new Chiefs and Councils of the Bands 
involved in the issue have expressed their dissatisfaction to DlAND that the cash settle- 
ment of 1978, consented to by the previous Chiefs and Band Councils, was unjust. In 
view of this allegation, I believe it will be advisable to seriously consider a renegoti- 
ation of certain points in your agreement with the Bands prior to the issuance of any 

SSR I D .  Cohnson, ~hsistant Deputy Miniskr. Westem Region, Depanment of Resional Ecarlomic Expansion, to J.D. 
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pennils to your Department. To issue these permits against the expressed wishes of 
the current Band Councils may lead to serious repercuss i~ns .~~~ 

On this note, correspondence between the two Departments on the subject 
ceased. 

CREATION OF QU'APPELLE VALLEY 
INDIAN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

While the Departments haggled over the ternls of the permits, the Indian 
Bands of the Qu'Appelle Valley had been taking steps to better present their 
claims with a unified voice. On June 20, 1979, the Chiefs of the eight Bands 
passed a unanimous resolution to form QVIDA, with Chief Roland Crowe of 
the Piapot Band as the organization's first President. The primary concerns 
that QVLDA's members sought to address were: 

perceived violations of their rights, including unfulfilled treaty land entitle- 
ments, reduced treaty and riparian water rights, deterioration of the visual 
environment and water quality, loss of sources of livelihood, displacement 
of Band members to urban centres, inadequate resources to protect rights 
and develop reserve economies, and, of particular interest in this inquiry, 
damages to land and improvements caused by water level control deci- 
sions; and 

the future role of Qu'Appelle Valley Bands in maintaining, shaping, and 
directing the local economy, land use, Indian culture and history, and the 
water regime. 

In particular, the organization intended to work towards more effective flood 
control and improved water quality in the Qu'AppeUe Valley. It also pledged 
to document, verify, and assess historical flooding damages to reserve lands, 
and to seek retroactive compensation for those da1nages.'~3 

To this end, on October 9, 1980, Chief Crowe advised Rabi Alam, Indian 
Affairs' Director of Regional Planning, that the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and 

362 Donald K. Gwdwin. Assislant Deputy Minister, lndian and Inuit Affairs, Depanment of Indian and Nonhern 
AHairs, to I D .  Callinson, Assistant Deputy Mister, Western Re@", Department of Regional Economic Expan- 
sion, May 7 ,  1982, PFR4 file 92WE4-2, vol. 2 (ICC Dorumentr, 1,. 1244). 

563 Qu'AppeUe Valley Indian Development Aulhorlry. "Directional Plan 1979-1983." October 1979. pp, 5-6 and 9 
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Standing Buffalo Bands intended to rescind their 1977 Band Council Resolu- 
tions. He continued: 

In view of the above, there is no way the P.F.R.A. can continue to flood Indian 
lands within the Qu'hppelle until this matter is settled. The P.F.R.A. permit would be 
useless in this regard. The Qu'AppeUe Valley Indian Development Authority is the 
negotiating mechanism for these L k a n d ~ . ~ ~ ~  

At a subsequent meeting between QVIDA representatives and Indian Affairs' 
regional mdnagement team, Chief Crowe made a further statement: 

Chief Crowe advised that before any Indian lands are surrendered a band referen- 
dum is required. This was never done in the case of three Qu'Appelle Rands allowing 
P.F.R.A. to flood their lands. As a result these three bands are now rescinding their 
Band Council Resolutions. Regardless of a hand referendum heing held one does not 
have the right to surrender land for more than one year.'6' 

Chief Crowe later quantitied the damage claim as a lump sum of $10.5 mil- 
lion, coupled with annual "flooding lease" payments of $500,000 to be 
adjusted for inflatio11.3~~ 

On being advised by Chief Crowe of the three Bands' intent to rescind their 
1977 Band Council Resolutions, hlm requested background information. 
Markuson replied: 

I would like to point out that the three bands involved engaged their own lawyer, R. 
Wellman, who did the negotiations with DREE. When we attended the meeting with 
Mr Wellman nfe were informed that the Department should stay out of the nego- 
tintions as he couldplead better using the tangible and intangible losses where 
we would be more inclined to nse land ualne o n b  Therefore the Department did 
not get involved. Wellman acquired the R.C.R.'s and agreement, Justice reviewed the 
proposal and Treasuq Board approved the expenditure of $265,000. 

No permit is required under Section '28 as it only requires a letter of agreement 
between the two M i ~ s t e r s . ~ ~ '  

164 Chief Roland Crowe, President. Qu'AppeUe Ydcy  Indiall Development Aodiority, to Rahl Alan, Director, Plan- 
ning and Renew, Saskatchewan Region, Depdrtment of Indian and Vanhem ,flairs. October 9, 1980, DCWD 
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On November 10, 1980, the Standing Buffalo Band issued its rescinding Band 
Council R e ~ o l u t i o n . ~ ~ ~  

Four months later, the QVIDA Chiefs met with Leask to address their griev- 
ances with regard to valley flooding and to implore Indian Affairs not to issue 
permits to the PFRA. Leask noted: 

They were anxious that no permits be issued to DREE in respect to the develop- 
ments in the valley until further discussion had taken place and 1 advised them that I 
was not aware of any intention on our part to issue permits immediately and that we 
would want to support the Band in discussions which they had if they were successful 
in re-opening them.'m 

However, it is apparent that a new permit had already been sent to the 
Department of Regional Economic Expansion, although it is not clear 
whether it was the permit of October 12, 1979, that sparked the exchange 
between Assistant Deputy Ministers Brown and Collinson or yet another draft 
permit. Markuson commented to h: 

I was not aware that a new permit had been sent to DREE. I believe that they have 
firm grounds for including future flooding as that was the whole intent of the strnc- 
ture to hold and release flood waters. 

If the entire valley problem is looked at, the Bands of the valley may well have a 
case against the Federal Government for allowing development to take place that has 
led to the accessive [sic] flooding of the reserve lands. Other control structures are 
involved. I doubt if the matter will be settled any other way. 

You are in receipt of my letter of February 8th, 1982 that outlined the situation as 
I believe it developed. I believe that the various sutveys conducted by Q.V.I.D.A. shows 
[sic] that most of the flooding was due to high run offs and newly formed channels 
unrelated to PFRA structures. The other factor, 1 think, that has been well docu- 
mented by the Qu'AppeUe Valley Authority is the land clearing upstream that results in 
quicker runoff at certain times. 

While it is fine to criticize what was done in the past I am as concerned that the 
bands are not looking to the future on how best they can co-ordinate their interest 
with others for future protection of these lands. I agree the proposals by the 
Qu'Appelle Authority was [sic] not to the bands interests, from my unprofessional 

368 Standing BuMo faloand, Band Council Resolutiun, Xouember LO, 1980. DIAYD 6le E4310-06566 (ICC Dam 
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view of planning, but unless they come f o m d  with alternatives I believe nothing will 
happen unless serious flooding occurs."" 

By February 10, 1982, the Pasqua Band, too, had issued a rescindmg 
Band Council R e s o l u t i ~ n , ~ ~ ~  but W.F. Bernhardt, Bead of Land Transactions 
for the Saskatchewan Region, advised the District Ofice that there was no 
action that could be taken in relation to the resolution at that ti~ne.~~"n 
March 30, 1982, however, Markuson finally replied to Pasqua Chief Lindsay 
Cvr: 

You know [sic] doubt are aware that the Department and Treasury Board approved 
the compensdtion as a result of your Band's [sic] B.C.R.'s of 1977 as negotiated on 
your behalf by your solicitor R. Wellman with P.F.R.A. 

It was not necessary to hold a surrender to alienate the land. When an Act of 
Parliament of Canada is empowered to take or use lands or any interest therein with- 
out the consent of the owner, the power may, with the concent [sic] of the Governor 
in Council and subject to any terms that may be prescribed by the Governor in Coun- 
cil, be exercised in relationship to lands in a reseme or any interest therein (Section 
35 of the Indian Act). Section 9 of the Prairie Land [sic] Rehabilitation Act grants 
them the right and to compensate Order in Councils [sic] were obrained achieving 
the construction of the works. As a result your Band Funds were credited with the 
moneys your Band Council of the time had negotiated. 

We are obliged to believe that, your Band Council of the time was speaking for the 
people and they had agreed to the settlement negotiated on the terms. Therefore it 
does not appear to be a subject that can be renegotiated as it is concluded.~'~ 

At about that time, Indian Consultant Enterprises released a report entitled 
"Past Damages Compensation Study," which had been commissioned by 
QVIDA. The report included a historical overview of Indian occupancy of the 
Qu'Appelle Valley; transcribed interviews with valley residents; the studies of 

~. . , . ~ 
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the Qu'AppeUe River system and control structures, soil degradation in the 
valley caused by flooding, and the impact of flooding on flora and fauna; and 
a recommended approach to claiming compensation for these damage~.j'~ 
Over the next several months, Indian Affairs and Saskatchewan's Department 
of Intergovernmental Affairs reviewed the report and considered its implica- 
t ion~.~" Associate Deputy Minister Newton C. Steacy of the provincial depart- 
ment inquired whether the report was intended to be merely an information 
document to support a claim or the claim itself, noting that, if the latter, 
combining conveyance, compensation, and economic development issues in 
the report made it difficult to separate and deal effectively with the compen- 
sation issues. He recommended to QVIDA President Eugene Anaquod that the 
claim be submitted to the federal Department of Justice and the provincial 
Department of the Attorney General to determine whether it had any legal 
ba~is.3'~ 

Eventually, in early 1983, Chief Lindsay Cyr, Chairman of QVIDA's Techni- 
cal Sub-committee, invited PFRA Director General Hill to attend a meeting to 
discuss the report. HiU declined, concurring with Steacy's observations about 
the report. However, he also stated: 

Further, settlements have already been effected on outstanding claims arising from 
PFRXs activities in the Valley. In view of this, PPRA's attendance at meetings of this 
nature would setve no useful pu~~ose.'" 

On September 1, 1983, Planning and Review Director Alun forwarded the 
report to R.M. Connelly, Director of the Specific Claims Directorate, with a 
view to having QKDA's claims considered by the Office of Native Claims. On 
Connelly's behalf, Senior Claims Analyst Richard Berg advised Alam that 
QVIDA would first have to establish a valid claim within the context of the 
specific claims policy, meaning that the Department of Justice would have to 
conduct a FuU factual review and provide its opinion on whether the Bands 
were owed an outstanding lawful obligation. Berg thought it "highly unlikely, 
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however, that the government would agree to re-open negotiations in those 
cases where settlements have been reached and the provisions of the agree- 
ments fully re~pected."3~~ 

Notwithstanding Berg's pessimism, new QVIDA President Henry Delorme 
informed Connelly on October 21, 1983, that QVIDA intended to submit the 
"Past Damages Compensation Study" and a brief to update the Office of 
Native Claims about QVIDA's future plans.j7' However, Connelly advised Chief 
Delorme that the Office of Native Claims did not normally become involved in 
claims until the validity of a band's claim had been established, and he rec- 
ommended that QVIDA deal with Indian Affairs' regional representatives.jsO 

A year later, after reviewing the "Past Damages Compensation Study," Ian 
B. Cowie of Saskatchewan's Indian and Native Affairs Secretariat disclaimed 
provincial responsibility for flood damages on the reserves, advising Chief Cyr 
that "[t] he fact that the federal government has paid compensation to Indian 
Bands for flooding damages establishes a precedent which serves to indicate 
that any further compensation is a federal matter." However, Cowie suggested 
that the Bands work jointly with the provincial and federal governments 
towards economic development of the area and in implementing conveyanc- 
ing improvements in the Qu'AppeUe River valley.i81 

In October 1984, two of the Bands in the eastern Qu'Appelle Valley - 
Kahkewistahaw and Sakimay - issued Band Council Resolutions submitting 
specific claims for damage to and loss of reserve lands caused by the flond- 
ing associated with the dams at Round and Crooked Lakes.382 The following 
February, Anita Gordon of the Federation of Saskatchewan Indian Nations 
advised PFRA Director Hill that the Federation had been asked to assist all 
four eastern Bands. In connection with the Federation's review of the issue, 
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Gordon asked W "on what authority PFRA in 1941 constructed the Crooked 
Lake Dam and the Round Lake Dan1."~~3 

H i s  response was interesting, both for the bases on which it claimed that 
the PFRA had been authorized to construct the two dams and for those bases 
on which it did not rely. Hill pointed to the appropriations clause in Treaty 4 
as well as section 9 of the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Act as the PFRA's 
authority to build the dams, but he made no mention of any authorization 
being given by the Bands or by Indian Affairs under the Indian Act.Ss4 

In the autumn of 1985, as the PFRA considered repairs to the Crooked 
Lake dam, PFRA Project Engineer Donald Forsythe and Senior Land Repre- 
sentative Frank Luchinski met with representatives of the eastern Bands to 
discuss the project. When Forsythe stated that he did not have the authority to 
discuss all aspects of the dams, QVIDA President Lindsay Cyr invited Hill to a 
meeting to address certain concerns before the Bands would agree to permit 
the PFRA to "ren~vate."~" Once again, however, Hill refused to meet: 

It appears from your letter that the request for a meeting relates to concerns other 
than the specific matter of our request for permission to enter upon a particular 
reserve to conduct inspection surveys on an existing dam. In this connection, you will 
recall our letter to you of April 15, 1983, which clearly spelled out PFRA's position 
relative to the settlement of claims. In regard to the concerns referred to in your 
letter, may we suggest that a meeting with PFRA is not the proper forum to air and ta 
resolve such concerns. Because of the foregoing, PFRZ takes the position that it has 
no authority to enter into discussions or negotiations with your Association in matters 
that would properly form the subject matter of discussions with officials of the 
Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development. Accordingly, PFRA will not 
attend the meeting scheduled for September 18, 1985. 

PFRA, for purely technical and maintenance purposes, requires a right of entry 
upon the Cowessess Reserve to inspect the existing structure on Crooked Lake. We 
wish that Chief Delorme and his Council would supply PFRA with the required permit 
by way of Band Council Resolution for such purposes. My officials are prepared to 
meet with Chief Delonne and his Council, at their convenience, to outline our 
requirements and to negotiate compensation if required.'86 

383 Anita Gordon, Research Direeto~, Indian Rights and Treaties Research. Federation of Sarkatchewan Indian 
Nations, to H.M. W, Director General, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion. Februzq 20. 1985. 
PFRA file 928nRI- l l ,  vol. I (ICG Documents, p. 1283). 

384 H q  M. H a ,  Director General, PFRA, Department of Regional Economic Expansion, to Ai%Rlfa Gordon, Research 
Dimtor, Indian Rights and Treaties Research, Federation of Saskatchewan Indian Nations, Apnl23, 1985, PFRA 
file 928nRI-11. 701. I (ICC Documents, pp. 1292-93). 

185 Chief Lindsay Cyr, Pmident. QVIOA, to Hany M. W. Direcror General, PFRA, Department ol Reghnal Eca~ 
nomic Expansion, September 9, 1985, DWD file E4320-9, vol. E4 (ICC Documents, p. 1298). 

586 H a w  M. W, Direclor General, PFRA, Depmrnent of Regional Economic Expansion, to Chief hdsq Cyr. 
Pzsidenl, QVmA. September I t ,  1985. DlAND file E4320-9. vol. E4 (ICC Docurnenlr, pp. 1299-1300). 



Chief Cyr was disappointed with Hill's reply: 

In reviewing past recent history of lndian Band and P.F.R.A. meetings, your 
Department went to extra lengths to secure tlooding rights on Pasqua, Muscowpetung, 
and Piapot (sirca [sic] 1976). It is with regret that similar action cannot be carried 
through to negotiate and settle present important issues and concerns of the Ban&. 

In discussion with Chief Delorme, this action leaves the Bands little avenue except 
to follow through with the legal route. Eventually the issues wiU be resolved, however 
our attempts at establishing a working relationship towards resolution of our con- 
cerns wiU be delayed. 

One question here is: since you state that you "have no authority to enter in nego- 
tiations on discussions with Bands", how do you expect to gain legal permission to 
enter the Reserves without permission from the Bands? You are aware that two of 
your Dams are situated on Reserves ;md the process by which the Indian land access 
was achieved is under research at this time. The Bands will be developing a legal 
position with respect [to this] very soon. Their legal rights with respect to land and 
the process for gaining access to an[d] acquiring land under the lndian Act will have 
to be reviewed. 

Given the above facts you can understand QVIDA's interest in attempting to resolve 
this longstanding issue since 1940's, consequently QV'DA will continue overtures to 
the responsible Departments for discussions and ~ettlement.'~' 

In response to Chief Cyr's query about the way the PFRA expected to gain 
access without permission from the Bands, Hill stated on October 29, 1985: 

Our view on this wdtter is that settlements have been effected on all outstanding 
flood damage claims arising from PFRA's construction activities in the Qu'AppeUe 
Valley. As a result of your continued requests to negotiate other issues and concerns 
with PFRA, it appears that our respective positions on these matters will not be 
reconciled. 

In addition, may I advise that our Engineering Service, upon re-evaluating d avail- 
able technical data relating to the structure, have determined that the Crooked Lake 
Project need not be implemented at this time. Therefore, the request for right of entry 
dated July 10, 1985, and submitted to Chief Henry Delorme and the Cowessess Band 
Council is hereby withdrawn. However, since the structure itsefis not situated on 
Resewe land, any future rehabilitation thereof will be undertaken on Iand con- 
trolled by Canada (PFRA) .?" 

-~ 

187 Chief Lindsay Cyr, President, QVIDA, to Hvrj M. W, Direclor General. PFRA, Department of Agricullore, 
September 23. 1985. D m  Me 84320~9, vol. E4 (ICC Documents, pp. 1301-02). 

388 Haw M. W, Direclor General. PFKA, Department of Agriculture, lo Chief Lindsay QT, President, QVIDA, 
October 29, 1985, DlAND Me E4320-9, vol. 4 (ICC Documents, p. 1303). Emphasis added. 



This response stirred controversy within both QVIDA and Indian Affairs, 
each of which believed that at least the south end of the Crooked Lake dam 
sat on the Cowessess reserve.389 Chief Cyr's response was not long in coming: 

1. Our official position is that settlements have not been made with respect to any of 
the blood damage claims arising from P.F.R.A.'s construction activity in the 
Qu'AppeUe Valley. We are in fact in the process of submitting a claim to the 
"Office of Native Claims" on land damaged and alienated as a result of the said 
flooding. 
We do not want any further initiatives to be taken by your Department until this 
matter has been fuUy resolved. 

1. We also take issue with your statement that [the] Crooked Lake Structure is not 
situated on Reserve lands. Our position is that the structure is on the Cowessess 
Reserve and therefore cannot be modified without the consent of the Band 
Council.igo 

A.J. Gross, by this time Indian Affairs' Director of Reserves and Trusts for 
the Saskatchewan Region, also pressed Hill for clarifi~atinn.~~ 'Hill replied 
that those portions of the dam situated on the bed of the Qu'AppeUe River 
belonged to the Province of Saskatchewan as the owner of the bed. He also 
provided Gross with copies of the documentation illustrating that the PFRA 
had paid for the damsite areas on the Cowessess and Ochapowace reserves, 
but that, on advice from the Department of Justice, title had never been trans- 
ferred to the Minister of Agricul t~re .~~ 

At this point, QVlDA was advised by its solicitors that its claims were facing 
a statutory limitations problem and that steps had to be taken immediately to 
submit a claim to the federal government.i93 A historical and legal statement 
of the claim entitled "Qu'AppeUe Valley Indian Development Authority Land 

5R9 UoydJ. Spmier, Land Management Officer, Yorkon District, Department of indian and Nonhern ABai~f to A.J. 
Cross, Director. Reservs and Trusts, Saskatchnvan Begion. DqaRment of Indian and Nonhem Ahn, Novem- 
ber 16, 1985, DlAND He E4025-6-361 (ICC Documents, p. 1304). 

sw Chief Lindsay Cyr, President, QVlDA, to H a q  M. W, Director General, PFRA, Department of Agriculture, 
November 21, 1985, DlAND fie E4320-9, vol. E4 (ICC Documents, p. 1305). 

391 A,]. Gross, Direaor, Reserves and Trusts, Saskatchewan Region. Depmment of Indian and Nonhem AEairs, lo 
Hany M. Hill. Director General, PFR.4, DepaRment of Agriculture, November 21. 1985. DhVD file E4320-9, vol. 
E4 (ICC Documents, p. 1307). 

192 H q  M. W, Director General, PFRA, Department of Agiculture, lo A.J. Gross, Director. Reserves and Trusts, 
Saskatchewan Region, Department ollndian and Yonhern &N, December 18, 1985, DkVD He E4025-6-361 
(ICC Documents, pp. 1309-10). 

395 Chief Lindsay Cyr, Presideat, QVIDA, ~o David Crambie, Minister, Department of Indim and Northern Mairs, 
May 27, 1986, DlAND Me BW82606K8552-C1, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, p, 1324). 
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Claim" was prepared on QVIDA's behalf by 116782 Canada Ltd.3" At least 
seven of the Bands issued new Band Council Resolutions approving submis- 
sion of the "specfic claim for compensation arising from the illegal aliena- 
tion and flooding" of the re~erves.~9~ Perhaps the most critical fact at this 
time, however, was that QVIDA ran into financial diiculties and was forced 
to seek additional funding to press its ~laims.39~ Indian Affairs Minister 
McKnight advised Chief Cyr that, although QVIDA had received considerable 
direct funding in the past and might receive additional funding through 
Indian Affairs' regional o&ce pending acceptance of the claim for negotia- 
tion, it should seek other sources of funding, such as the Bands themselves 
or other agencies already receiving government funding.39' 

By October 1, 1986, QVIDA had supplied the historical documents snp- 
porting its claim to Indian Affairs, and Berg directed the preparation of a 
document summary prior to forwarding the claim to the Department of Jus- 
tice for legal re~iew.~Y" year later, the process of reviewing the claim was 
well under way, but the results were not favourable to the Bands. With regard 
to three western Bands that had participated in the 1977 settlement, Acting 
Senior Claims Analyst Barbara Wilgress noted with regard to the work done 
by the PFRA's Caligiuri: 

A. Mr. Caligiuri of PFRA outlined the following criteria used by PFRA in calculating in 
1977 compensation paid the 3 bands at that time: 

374 116782 Can&& Ld., "Qu'4ppellr Valley Indian Development Authority land Claim," Apdl 14, 1986 (LCC 
V~hihi t  F I  . . . , , , . . , . . , 

r Y L I I I I Q  11.1.1 I I ~ I ~ J  ,... UII..I I R C I U U L ~ ~  \I,\ I I I&) 111.!\11 i . t  l $ i l ,  .I ,  ,$,I t~ xltt. lm, I N ~ ~ ~ I L ~  11 111. 
t ] N ,  I l l  " N .  u . . i .  . I I I l l l \Yl  I I ! "  I .I II 
Illiamr olr .> 151~11 L h L r u l r d u u  BmJ. 1 1 ~  J I :  .~t.,.l Kc\ . luu<a \la! , I  1.fXo IlL\\iJ file $43: I ~1 o 
(ICC ~ocum;nts[p: 1'320); Cowessess nand, Band Council Resolution: May 1$86: DlAND Me E44j0-9: uol. 6 
(ICC Documentr, b. 132 1); Muscowpetung Ban& Band Cuund  Rrjolutiod. May 22; 1986. DlAND file ~4320-9 ,  
roi. 6 (ICC Documents, p. 1322); Piapot Band, Hand Council Resolution, May 27, 1986, DIAND file E4320-9, 
vol. 6 (ICC Documents, p. 1323); Sakimay Band, Band Council Resolution, June 12, 1986. DlAND fie E40'15-6~ 
364 IICC Documents. u. 1325). 

396 A .  Gloss, Director, RGserves and Trusts. Saskatchewan Reeon. Dep.artment of Indan and Northern Affain, to 

%6citor, to sill McKnight, Minister, Gpamnknt of lhdian and ~ord;;rn kin, July i l ,  1986; D m  hle 
DW826OflK8552-CI, vol. 2 IICC Documen&, p. 1326); Mlnutes of QvmA meeting, August 11, 1986. DlAND Me 
BW826ll/SK8552-CI, vol. 2 (ICC Documents, pp. 1327-29); Chief Lindsay Cyr, President, QVlDA, lo Rem West- 
land. Director, Specific Cl%ims Branch, Depament  of Indian and Nonhem mrs, January 18, 1988 (ICC 
Documents, pp. 1340-44) 

197 Bill McKRiqhl, Mi"ster. Deuamnent of Indian and Nonhern AUsirs, to Chief Lindsay Cw. PresidenL QWlh. 
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1. Revenues foregone (i.e, that could have pertained if the land had not been . 
tlooded); 

2. Revenues due "forever" (i.e, as if the land were leased "forwer") 
3. Delay in making payment 

8. He indicated that the land valuations in 1941 were done by a PFRA engineer, and 
the 8 value per acre of compensation paid by PFRA to non-Indians established by 
him. The engineer's valuation had been the basis, or first step, in the 1977 calcu- 
lation of what had to be paid to the Indians. It came to about $17,000. The three 
bawls had, therefom, received a monumentally generous amount in 
settlement."N 

Three weeks later, Wigress informed Chief Cyr that " [ t ]  he record of events 
respecting the compensations previously paid is such that Mr. Westland 
greatly doubts that the QVIDA claim is strong enough to merit a presentation 
to the Department of J ~ s t i c e . ' ' ~  

Finally, in November 1992, after three years of inactivity on the claim, 
Carol Cosco of Specific Claims West advised Chief Cyr that QVIDA's file was 
being closed, subject to being reopened when QVIDA was ready to resubmit 
its claim.mt There is no evidence of any further progress on the claim until 
QVlDA decided to commence the present inquiry before the Commission in 
September 1994.402 

We now turn to the legal issues arising in this inquiry by virtue of the 
foregoing historical background. 

- ,r Solr 1 8 ,  rilr Hulllra Ultgrcr\ \ t ~ ~ , > q  >LL!I.S~ I la~n,, u.tk!.~ b,.:unl \ q w . L . r .  h ( ~ ~ < < l l i  %latm, Hnnrh. l , ~ p ~ n  
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PART I11 

ISSUES 

The broad question before the Indian Claims Commission in this inquiry is 
whether the claims of the participating QVIDA First Nations disclose a breach 
of the Crown's "lawful obligations" to the First Nations under the Specific 
Claims Policy. In answering this question, the Commission must determine 
whether, based on the evidence and submissions, these claims were properly 
rejected by Canada. 

Canada and the participating QVIDA First Nations have agreed that, to 
assess the claims properly, the Commission must consider the following five 
issues: 

1 Could the Crown authorize the PFRA under section 34 of the Indian Act, 
1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes? If so, was 
the PFRA so authorized? If not, did Canada breach its fiduciary obligations 
to the QVIDA First Nations by failing to obtain proper authorization under 
the Act? 

2 If Canada could and did properly authorize the PFRA under section 34 of 
the Indian Act, 1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding pur- 
poses, did the Crown nevertheless have a fiduciary obligation to consult or 
otherwise consider the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations before 
proceeding? 

3 Did the terms of Treaty 4 preclude the Crown from relying on section 34 
of the Indian Act, 1927, or otherwise require the consent of the QVLDA 
First Nations to authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for 
flooding purposes? 

4 Did the Band Council Resolutions signed by the Pasqua, Standing Buffalo, 
and Muscowpetung First Nations in the 1970s effectively release the Crown 



and the PFRA from all past, present, and future claims for damage caused 
by the Echo Lake control structnre built in the 1940s? 

5 Did those QMDA First Nations with reselves adjacent to or on both sides 
of the Qu'AppeUe River and lakes have common law riparian water rights, 
including rights to the river beds? If so, did the Crown have an obligation 
to ensure that these water rights were protected under the Nortb-West 
Irrigation Act, 1894, and the Dominion PowerAct, and to act in the First 
Nations' best interests when those rights might be dected? Moreover, did 
the Crown act in the best interests of the QMDA First Nations when it 
authorized the PFRA to construct control structures that altered the First 
Nations' riparian interests and caused consequential losses? 

The Commission wiU now consider each of these issues in turn. 



QU'I\PPEI.LE V A L L E Y  I N D I A N  D E V E L O P M E N T  A U T H O R I T Y  I N Q U I R Y  

PART nJ 

ANALYSIS 

ISSUE 1 SECTION 34 OF THE INDIAN ACT, 1927 

Could the Crown authorize the PFRA under section 34 of the Indian Act, 
1927, to use and occupy reselve lands for flooding purposes? If so, was the 
PPRA so authorized? If not, did Canada breach its fiduciary obligations to the 
QVIDA First Nations by failing to obtain proper authorization under the Act? 

The fundamental premises of Ca~ada's position in relation to this issue are 
twofold: first, that under section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act, it was open to 
the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs or his delegate to authorize the 
PFRA to erect control structures on the Qu'AppeUe River and thereby flood 
Indian lands; and, second, that the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs 
or his delegate actually issued such authorization to the PFRA. QVIDA takes 
the opposite view on each issue. 

Before considering section 34, it is important to point out that, in 1941, 
alternative means by which Canada might have acquired fee simple or lesser 
interests in reserve lands for flooding purposes were provided by sections 48 
and 51 of the 1927 Indian Act. Section 48 comprised the expropriation pro- 
vision, stating: 

48. No portion of any reserve shall he taken h r  the purpose of any railway, ro.dd, 
public work, or work designed for any public utility without the consent of the 
Governor in Council, but any company or municipal or local authority having statu- 
tory power, either Dominion or provincial, for taking or using lands or any interest in 
lands without the consent of the owner m y ,  with the consent of the Governor i7~ 
Councilas aforesaid, and subject to the terms and conditions imposed by such con- 
sent. exercise such statutory power with respect to any reserve or portion of a 
re~erve.~~'i  

403 m d b  Act, RSC 1927, c. 98. s. 48. Emphais added 



The requirements for surrenders were set forth in section 51: 

51. Except as in this Part otherwise provided, no release or surrender of a reserve, 
or a portion of a reserve, held for the use of the Indians of any band, or of any 
individual Indian, shall be valid or binding, unless the release or surrender shall he 
assented to 6y a majority of the male meemhem of the band of tbej%ll age of 
twenty-one pars, at a meeting or council thereof summoned for that purpose, 
according to the mles of the hand, and held in the presence of the Superintendent 
General, or of any officer duly authorized to attend such council, by the Governor in 
Council or by the Superintendent General. 

2. No lndian shall be entitled to vote or be present at such council, unless he 
habitually resides on or near, and is interested in the reserve in question. 

3. The fact that such release or surrender has been assented to by the band at 
such council or meeting shall be certified on oath by the Superintendent General, or 
by the officer authorized by him to anend such council or meeting, and by some of 
the chiefs or principal men present thereat and entitled to vote, before any person 
having authority to take &davits and having jurisdiction within the place where the 
oath is ad~~unistered. 

4. When such assent has been so cenlfied, as aforesaid, s u b  release or surren- 
der shall be submitted to the Governor in Councilfor acceptance or ref~sa1.~'  

It will be seen from the highhghted portions of these sections that an 
expropriation requires the consent of the Governor in Council, and a surren- 
der requires the consents of both the Governor in Council and the band. 
Canada acknowledged at an early stage in the planning conferences preced- 
ing the inquiry that the facts in this case demonstrate that neither expropria- 
tion nor surrender took place with respect to any of the reserves in ques- 
tion."j It is therefore necessary for the Commission to consider whether 
section 34 formed a valid means by which the PFRA could be authorized to 
tlood Indian lands and, if so, whether authorization under section 34 was in 
fact given. 

Interpretation of Section 34 
Section 34 of the Indian Act, 1927, states: 

34. No person, or Indian other than an Indian of the band, shall without the 
authority ofthe Superintendent General, reside or hunt upon, occupy or use any 

104 Indian Act, KX 1927, c. 98, s. 51. Emphasis added. 
405 in&m Claims Commission, "Summary lndian Clams Commission I4thl Pianiung Conierence, Qu'AppeUe Vd- 

iw Indian Development Authorihi," April 3,  1996, p. 5. 
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land or marsh or reside upon or occupy any road, or allowance for road, mnning 
through any resetve or  belonging to or occupied by such band. 

2. All deeds, leases, contracts, agreements or instruments of whatsoever kind 
made, entered into, or consented to by any Indian, purporting to permit persons or 
Indians other than Indians of the band to reside or  hunt upon such resenie, or to 
occupy or use any portion thereof, shall be voidjffi 

In their submissions, the patties have addressed the following issues that 
arise out of their differing interpretations of section 34: 

Is the PFRA a "person" under section 34? 

Does section 34 permit the occupation or use of reserve lands for flooding 
purposes? 

In light of the Commission's findings in relation to the latter issue, we do not 
find it necessary to deal with the question of whether the PFRA is a "person" 
under section 34. 

As to whether section 34 permits the occupation or use of reserve lands 
for flooding purpc ses, this simple statement of the issue belies the complexity 
of its substance. The first question that the issue raises is whether section 34 
is intended to be apemitt ing or enablinff provision at all, or whether it is 
merely intended to prohibit trespass. Assuming that section 34 is an enabling 
provision, the second question is whether the occupation or use of reserve 
lands for flooding purposes represents a disposition of reserve lands that is 
beyond the ambit of section 34 in any event. 

Permission or Probibition 
The QVIDA First Nations submit that the fundamental purpose of section 34 
was to prohibit trespasses by non-members of a hand on Indian reserves 
belonging to that band. The means by which a non-member could avoid 
being in trespass whiie on a reserve was to be there under the authority of 
the Superintendent General, since section 34 contemplates that no person is 
to reside, hunt upon, occupy, or use reserve land "without the authority of 
the Superintendent General." However, since the section is framed in the 
negative, the positive right to be on the reserve, according to the First 
Nations, must he found in other sections of the Act. As counsel stated: 

<oh k d b n  Ad. RSC 1927, c. 98, s. 34. Emphasis added. 
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Section 34 pIvhihits a i respa ,  it doesn't pennit a trespass. ln order to avoid a 
trespass a person under the lndian Act, the 1927 lndian Act, had to obtain authority 
to be on a reserve, and that is pursuant to other provisions of the Indian Act. In 
other words, you don't look to section 34 for permission to trespass on the reserve, 
you look to other authorities under the Act which permitted them to be on the land. 

Section 34 provides that unless you have authority from the Superintendent Gen- 
eral no person other than an lndian or of a band can reside on the reserve or use 
and occupy the reserve. Persons receiving this type of authority from the Superinten- 
dent General would have to do it under other provisions of the Act, not under section 
34,""" 

Canada asserts that section 34 was an enabling provision that provided a 
separate source of authorization for non-members of a band to be on that 
band's resene. 

In the final analysis, however, we do not believe that it is necessary for the 
Commission to decide in the context of this inquiry whether section 34 com- 
prises an independent enabling provision. As will be seen, counsel for 
Canada argues that section 34 is the legislative forerunner of the present 
subsection 28(2) and should he interpreted consistently with the jurispru- 
dence that has considered the meaning and scope of the later provision. 
Without deciding the issue, we are prepared to assume for the moment that 
section 34, like subsection 28(2), is an enabling provision for the purpose of 
considering whether Canada properly authorized the PFRA to use and occupy 
reserve lands in the Qu'Appelle Valley for flooding purposes. 

Nature of the Disposition to the PFU4 
The QVLDA First Nations submit that, even if section 34 of the 1927 Indian 
Act conferred an independent basis for Canada to authorize encroachment 
on Indian reserves, Parliament did not intend to permit "permanent" flood- 
ing to be authorized under that provision: 

[r]t is sublnitted that the flooding of the reserve lands is not the type of occupation 
and use of reserve lands contemplated under section 34. The permanent flooding ,and 
alienation of reserve lands cannot be tdken in y'usdem generis with the particular 
words under section 34. The types of uses of land contemplated under section 34 
("reside or hunt upon", "occupy or use land or marsh or "roads"), are of a transi- 
toly or at least a non-permanent nature. In contrast, the Hooding of certain reserve 
lands appears to be permanent. The flooded reserves cannot be used by the First 
Nations. They have been as effectively removed from their reserve land hase as if they 

407 ICC Transcripl, June 16, 1997, p. 68 (Dwd Knoll). Emphasis added 
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had been alienated to a private third party through the surrender or expropriation 
provisions. Therefore, the claimants submit that section 34 does not contenlplate the 
permanent alienation of land and that if such permanent alienation were to be legally 
permitted it would have to be made in accordance with the surrender or expropri;l- 
tion provisions of the 1927 Act, not under section 34.'08 

For its part, Canada contended that the flooding of reserve lands in this case 
did not constitute a permanent alienation requiring an expropriation or sur- 
render. In taking this position, Canada relied on the reasons of the Supreme 
Court of Canada in Optcbesaht Indian Band v Cunada,lM a decision 
issued on May 22, 1997, shortly after the First Nations in the present case 
had submitted their written argument. 

In Opetchesabt, the Crown in 1959, with the consent of the Band Council, 
granted the British Columbia Hydro and Power Authority (Hydro) a right of 
way for an electric power transmission line across the Band's reserve to con- 
vey electricity to consumers off the reserve. The agreement provided for the 
right of way to comprise an area 150 feet wide over 7.87 acres of the reserve 
(approximately 2.5 per cent of the reserve land base) "for such a period of 
time as the said right of way is required for the purpose of' the transmission 
line. The total consideration paid to the Band was a single payment of $125 
per acre for the land included in the right of way. There was no evidence that 
the Band was paid less than fair market value. 

The right of way was granted by means of a permit issued under suhsec- 
tion 28(L) of the Indian Act, which states: 

28.(2) The Minister may by permit in writing authorize any person for a period not 
exceeding one year, or with the consent of the council of the band for any longer 
period, to occupy or use a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise rights on a 
reserve. 

The permit gave Hydro "the rights to construct, operate and maintain an 
electric power transmission line" and the exclusive right to occupy the por- 
tions of the surface of the reserve where poles were erected and that part of 
the air space where the wires were strung. The Band retained the right to use 
and occupy the balance of the right-of-way area, subject to specified restric- 
tions. It should he noted that the right of way was granted only after "pro- 
tracted" bargaining among Hydro, the Crown, and the Band, "with a variety 

iw Submission on Behalf of be QmDh First Nations, May 5 ,  1997. p. 46. 
419 Opetches&lndim h d a  Can& (t997), unreported. May 22.  1997 (SCC file No. 24161). 



of proposals from each side, including yearly rental payments for a term of 
20 years, free electricity for members of the Band, various offers on a per 
acre value, as well as expropriation under s. 35 of the Indian Act."+'o 

In the late 1980s, the Band chose to develop its reserve, with the pro- 
posed improvements to include a private road, a reservoir access road, and a 
drainage ditch located wihn Hydro's right of way. Hydro offered to consent 
to the construction, provided, among other things, that the Band would agree 
to take responsibility for any lost generation of power to third parties, submit 
to Hydro's safety and construction concerns, and not interfere with Hydro's 
use of the right of way.4" 

In 1992, the Band applied to the Supreme Court of British Columbia for a 
declaration that the permit was void and unenforceable, claiming that section 
28(2) did not authorize the grant of a right of way for electric power trans- 
mission lines over the reserve for an indeknite period of time. The relief 
sought also included an order for possession of the right of way lands and an 
award of damages for trespass. Lander J allowed the application, but the 
Court of Appeal set aside the judgment, concluding that subsection 28(2) 
allowed grants of interests for periods having no predetermined termination 
date. 

The Supreme Court of Canada dismissed the appeal, but split 7-2 on the 
question of whether the permit in that case was properly issued under sub- 
section 28(2). On behalf of the majority, Major J determined that there were 
three issues to be determined: 

First, it is necessary to identlfy the nature and scope of the rights granted by the 
permit; second, whether the termination of the permit is defined by the happening of 
a reasonably ascenainable event; and finally, whether the permit constitutes a "sale, 
alienation, lease, or other disposition" under s. 37 of the Indian Act rather than a 
grant of rights under s. 28(2).41" 

He then made the following findings: 

The permit comprised a statutory right of way or easement, and Hydro's 
rights in the land were not exclusive. As Major J noted: 
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The respondent Hydro can only use the land for the power transmission line and 
related maintenance purposes and the appellant Band retains the right to use the 
right-of-way. The Band's ability to use the land is restricted only in that they cannot 
erect buildings on it o r  interfere with the respondent Hydro's easement. Both Hydro 
and the &mri .sbdtz we of the right-of-w~y."~ 

The right of way was granted for an indeterminate period. Although it was 
unknown exactly when Hydro's rights would terminate, it was clear that the 
right of way would terminate when it was no longer required for a trans- 
mission line. That point in time would not be at the sole discretion of 
Hydro, but rather would be at that "justiciable" moment when the line bvas 
objectively no longer required."* 

The phra5e "any longer period in subsection ZX(2) can be mmeasured 
either by dates or events. Its end date "need not be defined in terms of a 
specific calendar date as long as it is ascertainable," in which case the 
grant will not be considered to be in perpetuity. Major J included this 
caution, however: 

There could be a grant where the terminable event is so remote and uncertain that 
the period is, in fact, perpetual. That would be a matter of fact in the particular 

As to whether a surrender under section 37 was the more appropriate 
means of disposing of the interest in land, Major J stated that "surrenders 
are required as a general mk not only when the Indian band is releasing 
all its interest in the reserve forever, but whenever any interest is given up 
for any duration of time."Y16 Section 37 states: 

37. Except where this Act otherwise provides, lands in a reserve shall not be sold, 
alienated, leased or otherwise disposed of until they have been surrendered to Her 
Majesty by the band for whose use and benetit in common the reserve was set 
awul."' 

However, Major J concluded that the voluntary disposition of an interest in 
Indian reserves is not Limited to surrender: 

413 Obelchesabl hdian &md u. Can& (1997). uoreponrd. May ZL, 1997 (SCC Gle no. 2416l), p. 10. Major J. 
~h~has i s  added. 

414 Opelchesahl Indian Rand 0. C a d  (IF)?l, unreponed. May 22, I997 (SCC Gle no. 241611, pp. 11-12, 
Major J. 

415 Opefcksabt Indian Rand 0. Con& (1997). unceponed. May 22. 1997 (SCC fiie no. L4161), p. 14, MajorJ. 
416 Opetck~ahllndhn Bandv &n& (19971, unrepaned, May 22, 1997 (SCC Gle no. 24161), p. 16, Millor J 

Emphasis added. 
117 fndisn Act, RX 1952, c. 149, s. 37. 
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Also apparent on the face of s. 37 from the qualification at the beginning of s. 37 is 
the legislative intention that it operate in conjunction with a n d  .mty'ect to other 
provisions of the Indian Act. There is in this qualification an express recognition that 
other provisions of the Indian Act also deal with sales, alienations, leases or other 
dispositions of lands in a reserve.. . . 

The practice of the Minister demonstrates that in his view, some sections of the 
lndian Act could be used interchangeably depending on the circumstances. The 
Agreed Statement of Facts dated May 16, l 9 % ,  illustrates that the practice which 
occurred in Canada after the 1956 amendments to the Indian Act was to grant power 
line rights of way across reserve lands both by way of surrender and conveyance (s. 
371, expropriation (s. 35) and by permit (s. 28(2)). . . . 

The question is whether the permit was properly granted under s. 28(2). Perhaps 
the easement in the pernlit could have been granted under s. 37, but that section 
must be read subject to other provisions in the Indian Act. Thepmper question is to 
decide the circumstances in tuhich s. 28(2) could not apply, the dejaultprovision 
being the general rule in s. 37 against alienation without a surrender. 

In my view, s. 28(2) cannot apply any time a portion of the lndian interest in any 
portion of reserve land is permanently disposed of . . . 

In the instant case, the respondent Hydro was accorded limited rights of occupa- 
tion and use for a n  indeterminate but determinable and ascertainable period of 
time. There was no permanent disposition of any lndian interest. Furthemtore, 
the Band and Hydro were obligated to share the rights of use and occiipation of 
the land, with the limited exceptions of the area of ground giving support to the poles 
and the air space occupied by the poles. Consequently, the surrender requirement of 
s. 37 does not apply to the present permit and more importantly, no rights exceeding 
those authorized by s. 28(2) were granted. The indeterminate easement granted on 
the face of this permit is a disposition of a limited interest in land that does not last 
forever. 

Surely it was intended that the band council could at least have the right to grant 
that type of easement. Surrender involves a serious abdication of the Indian interest in 
land and gives rise to both a broad discretion and an equdly onerous fiduciary obli- 
gation on the Crown to deal with the lndim lands thus surrendered. The case law 
establishes that in the case of an unconditional and absolute surrender the lndian 
interest in land actually disappears. . . .*'8 

Major J further considered whether the permit granted under section 
28(2) should be struck down on policy grounds: 

The remaining question is whether the grant of rights for an indeterminate period 
contlicts with the policy of prohibiting use of reserve land by third partjes absent 
approval of the Minister and the band. This leads to a consideration of the policy 

418 Opefcheraht lndfan Rand v. Cam& (lW7), unreposed. May 21, I997 (SCC Gle no. 24161), pp 17~20. 
Malor J.  Emphasis added. 



behind the rule of general inalienability. Both the common law and the lndian Act 
guard ,against the erosion of the native land base through conveyances by individual 
band members or by any group of members. Government approval, either by way of 
the Governor in Council (surrender) or that of the Minister, is required to guard 
against exploitation: Uuebeny Riuer lndian Band, supra, at p. 370,per McLachlin J. 

On the other hand, the lndian Act also seeks to allow bands a degree of autonomy 
in managing band resources for commercial advantage in the general interest of the 
h d .  Collective consent of the Indians, either in the form of a vote by the band 
membership (surrender) or by a resolution of the band council, is required to 
ensure that those atrected by the transfer assent to it. The extent to which individual 
band members partic@ate in the approval process depends on the fzrtent to 
which the proposed disposition affects indiuidual o r  communal interests. in the 
case of sales, dispositions and long-term leases or alienations permanently disposing 
of any Indian interest in reserve land, surrender is required, involving the vote of all 
members of the band. On the other hand in the case of rights of use, occupation or 
residence for a period of longer than one year, only band council approval is 
required. 

It is important that the band's interest be protected but on the other hand the 
autonomy of the band in decision making aMectlng its h d  and resources must be 
promoted and respected. These sometimes conbcting values were identified by 
Mckdchlin J. in Blueberg River lndian Band, supra, at p. 370: 

My view is that the lndia~z Act's provisions for surrender of band reserves strikes 
[sic] a halance between the nvo extremes of autonomy and protection. 

Gonthier J ,  at p. 358, speaking for the majority, accepted this principle: 

As McLachlin J. obsenres, the law tress aboriginal peoples as autonomous actors 
with respect to the acquisition and surrender of their lands, and for this reason, 
their decisions must be respected and honoured. 

With the twin policies of autonomy and protection in mind, s. 37 and s. 18(2) 
reflect that, depending on the nature of the rights granted, different levels of auton- 
omy and protectio~~ are accorded. Section 37 demonstrates a high degree of protec- 
tion, in that the approval of the Governor in Council and the vote of all of the mem- 
bers of the band are required. This indicates that s. 37 applies where significant 
rights, u.sua11p permanent an&or total rights in reserve lands are being trans- 
ferred. On the other hand, under s. 28(2), lesser dispositions are contemplated and 
tbe interest transferred must be temporary. It is evident from a review of this permit 
that it does not violate the balance between autonomy and protection struck by the 
Indian Act. This is not a case where surrender, with all of its administrative and legal 
impositions was required in terms of the overall policy of the Indian Act. . . . 

This appeal deals with the narrow issue of whether the perntit was an indetermi- 
nate or perpetual grant of rights in reserve land and whether the provisions of s. 
2 8 0 )  to grant indeterminate and limited rights violated the overall scheme of the 
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Indian Act. I have concluded that the grant of limited indeterminate rights in reserve 
land is permissible under s. 28(2) as a question of l a ~ . ~ ' 9  

In summary, Hydro's right to use the land was not exclusive, and the term 
of the permit was for a period that, rather than being permanent, was "inde- 
terminate but determinable and ascertainable." Moreover, Major J concluded 
that a suficient balance behveen autonomy and protection would be achieved 
in the circumstances of the Opetchesaht case by leaving the decision-making 
power in relation to the permit in the hands of the Band Council. Since no 
permanent disposition was being made and the rights granted were not 
entirely exclusive, subsection 28(2) could apply to grant the interest by 
means of a permit. This meant that, although it would have been possible to 
dispose of the interest by invoking the "default" surrender provisions of sec- 
tion 37, it was not necessary to do so. However, Major J acknowledged that, 
depending on the facts of a given case, a permit's terminating event could be 
so remote and unceaain that the period would, in fact, be perpetual. Signifi- 
cantly, he concluded that "s. 37 applies where significant rights, usually per- 
manent andlor total rights in reserve lands are being transferred." 

On behalf of the minority, McLachljn J agreed that the term of the permit 
in Opetchesaht was not "perpetual" in the sense of being "totally within 
Hydro's control" or "a span of time which we may predict with certainty wiU 
never end."420 However, she still viewed the term as sufficiently lengthy, and 
the alienated interest sufficiently important, that the surrender provisions 
should have been triggered: 

At the same time, however, it must be acknowledged that the easement has thepotm- 
tial to continue forever (or at least until the world ends and its continuance becomes 
academic). In terms relevant to the concerns of the Opetchesaht people, it shows 
evely promise of binding not only the current generation which never agreed to it, but 
many generations to come. The permit may without exaggeration be characterized as 
an alienation of reserve lands for an indefinite period, a period which has the poten- 
tial to extend to future generations of the Opetchesaht people for as far forward as we 
can see. Is this, we must ask, the type of disposition Parliament intended to allow 
under the summary procedures of s. 28(2) of the Indian Act upon agreement 
behveen the Minister and the current band council? Or is it the sort of alienation of 
interest in land which Parliament sought to safeguard by the surrender and transfer 
provisions of s. 37 of the Act? 

419 Obetchesahr Indian Rand v. Cunnda (1997). unre~o~ifd. M.av 22. 1997 (SCC file no. 24161), pp. 21-ZL, 
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The fact that the band can still use the land in many ways cannot be determindtive. 
The fact is, the band cannot use it in ways it deems important to the welfare of the 
current generation. It can~~ot  build houses on the land and it cannot put roads or a 
reservoir on the land, And the problem transcends the needs of this generation. 
Doubtless future generations of band members will have their own needs and their 
own proposals for the use of the land. If the respondents are right, the future genera- 
tions will be precluded from doing so by a decision made by a temporaw band 
council and a minister decades, not inconceivably centuries, bef~re."~' 

McLdchlin J considered the phrase "or any longer period" in subsection 
28(2) of the Indian Act to be ambiguous because it has no single plain 
meaning. Based on principles of construction of statutes relating to Indians 
as set forth in cases like Noweggijick v. The Queen422 and Mitchell v. Peguis 
Indian B~nd, '~) she reasoned that statutory provisions aimed at maintaining 
Indian rights should he broadly interpreted, whereas provisions aimed at lim- 
iting or abrogating such rights should be narrowly c o n s t ~ e d . ' ~ ~  Having 
regard for the balance to be sought in the Indian Act's surrender provisions 
between the two extremes of autonomy and protection, McLachlin J 
concluded: 

Section 28 was never intended to deal with major long-term alienations of Indian 
interests in their reserve lands. It was aimed rather at the short-term, non-exclusive 
occupant -- the itinerant worker, service provider or agricultural lessee. 'fie phrase 
"any longer period, consistent with this interpretation, is best understood as a period 
defined in relatively shon terms of months and years. This makes sense in textual 
terms as well. The phrase "any longer period relates to the earlier phrase "a period 
not exceeding one year". This suggests that what Parliament intended by "any longer 
period" was also a term capable of being expressed in finite calendar terms. 

The question arises: how long is the short or tempomy use contemplated by s. 
28(2)? For the purposes of this case, it is unnecessary to decide this issue; certainly 
an alienation which has the potential to go on as long as anyone can foresee falls 
outside the scope of s. 28(2). However, for purpases of guidance in other cases, I 
would suggest that commitments longer than the two-year mandate of band councils 
should not be transacted through s. 28(2). 

This interpretation is consistent with the policy of the Royal Pmchmation of 
1763, ,and the principle that the long-term alienation of interests in Indian lands may 
be effected only through surrender to the Crown and consent of the band member- 

r2l Opehhesrht Indim Band L! an& (1997), unreported, May 2'2, I997 iSCC Ble no. 241611, pp. 6-7, 
Mrlnrhl in  I , 
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ship as a whole. To accept the views of the respondents in this case is to accept that 
parties seeking to obtain long-term or indefinite interests in reselve lands short of 
outright ownership could use the s. 28 permit provisions to circumvent the surrender 
requirements of the Indian Act and proceed to dispose of long-term interests in land 
rvith only the consent of the band council. It would be to attribute to Parliament the 
intention to establish two alternative and inconsistent ways for alienation of majar 
interests in reserve lands -- one strictly limited and regulated under s. 37, the other 
requiring only the approval of the Minister and the band council Finally, it would 
attribute to Parliament the intenti011 to accord the entire band membership the right 
to decide on alienation under s. 37, while depriving the membership of that power for 
transfers that may represent equally serious alienations under s. 28(2), and this 
despite the fact that s. 37 establishes consent of the band members as a condition of 
alienation not only of outright transfers of land, hut of "leases" or other "disposi- 
tions". 1 cannot accept that these were Parliament's intentions."> 

From the interplay of the majority and minority decisions in Opetchesal~t 
- and particularly in light of Justice Major's comment that "s. 37 applies 
where significant rights, usually permanent andlor total rights in reserve 
lands are being transferred - the Commission discerns that the rights coo- 
veyed by a specific instrument or transaction must be measured with refer- 
ence to two sliding scales: one temporal, relating to the length of the term 
and the ascertainability of its termination, and the other substanNzle, relating 
to the content of the interest granted. 

k the ruling in Opetchesaht demonstrates, an interest in land or a right 
to use land can be granted under subsection 28(2) for a considerable period 
of time if the nature and extent of the interest is not substantial. This state- 
ment is, however, subject to the overriding qualification that the full procedu- 
ral protections of the Indian Act's surrender provisions will apply d the ter- 
minating event of the authorization given is so remote and uncertain that the 
period would, in fact, be perpetual. On the other hand, it can readily be seen 
that the surrender provisions of the Act might be called for where a substan- 
tial interest in land is conveyed, although for a very short period of time. For 
example, a lease purporting to give a tenant exclusive use of ari entire reserve 
for a period of one year or less, and requiring all resident members of the 
band to vacate the reserve during the term, might be considered sufficiently 
onerous that it should be put to a vote of all eligible band members and not 
just the Band Council. The clear cases would be short-term, minor interests 
in reserve lands, for which provisions like section 28 of the 1952 Indian Act 

425 Opetchesahr Indian Bandt,. Canada (IWi),  unreported. May 22, 1997 (SCC 6le no. 24161), pp. 15-17, 
McLacMin I. 
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(as amended in 1956) or section 34 of the 1927 statute (still assuming that it 
is similar in substance to section 28) would suffice, and long-term or perma- 
nent dispositions of significant interests, for which surrenders would have to 
be obtained. The more difficult cases are those like Opetchesaht and the 
present one, in which it becomes necessary to draw the lines to demarcate 
acceptable dispositions under sections 28 or 34 from those that are not 
acceptable. 

Where the majority and the minority in Opetchesal~t differed was in where 
to draw those lines. Major J characterized the interest in that case as a non- 
exclusive statutory easement within which "Hydro can only use the land for 
the power transmission line and related maintenance purposes" and "[tlhe 
Band's ability to use the land is restricted only in that they cannot erect 
buildings on it or interfere with the respondent Hydro's easement."426 Con- 
versely, McLachlin J focused not on the retained ability of the Band to use the 
right of way, but instead on the limits that the right of way placed on the 
Band's freedom to develop the land in a manner of its own choosing for the 
foreseeable future. Similarly, whereas Major J highlighted the "ascertainable" 
and "justiciable" termination of the right of way (when it would no longer be 
required for power transmission purposes) to show that the interest con- 
veyed was not permanent, McLachlin J emphasized that the term was tempo- 
rary only "in the sense of a span of time which we may predict with certainty 
will never end,"427 

The Commission has recently had the opportunity to carefully review the 
Opetchesaht case in our inquiry into the flooding claim of the Eel River Bar 
First Nation.4ZR In the Eel River case, the Town of Dalhousie built a dam in 
1963 on the Eel River reserve and flooded reserve lands without any specific 
authority to do so and without compensating the Band until 1970. At that 
time, following lengthy negotiations with the Band Council, an agreement was 
reached to transfer administration and control of reserve lands required for 
a headpond to the New Brnnswick Water Authority (NBWA) and to grant an 
easement to additional lands for a pumping station, pipeline right of way, and 
access road to maintain the Eel River water supply system. The Band received 
$15,000 ($130 per acre) for the required land, $25,000 for damages caused 
by the erection and operation of the dam and water supply system, and a 

U6 Opefchesabf IndianBonda Cnnada (19971, un~poned, May 22, 1997 (SCC Ble no. 24161), p. l o .  Maior J. 
$27 Opelchesahl Indian Band o Can& (1997), unreported, May 22,  1997 (SCC 6le no. 141611, p. 6, 

McLachlin J. 
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one-time payment of $9,591.12 plus annual payments from $10,000 to 
$27,375 for 20 years based on the quantity of water pumped from the sys- 
tem. In the Eel River Bar inquiry, the First Nation also asserted that vahd 
authority to use and occupy reserve lands could be accomplished only by 
means of a surrender, and not by using the Indian Act's expropriation and 
subsection 28(2) permit provisions. The Commission, however, concluded 
that the use and occupation of reserve land for the pipeline, access road, and 
pumping station were properly authorized by a permit granted under section 
28(2) for a right of way because the nature and extent of the interest granted 
was not substantial and the permit was for an ascertainable period. 

The Commission has had close regard for the following sidarities - and 
significant differences - between the facts in this inquiry and those in 
Opetchesaht and the Eel River Bar inquiry: 

In Opetchesaht, the Supreme Court of Canada considered a permit under 
subsection 28(2) of the 1952 Indian Act, whereas in this case we are 
asked to address the more nebulous rights conferred by section 34 of the 
I927 statute. Subsection 28(2) dealt with permits for periods of up to one 
year, "or any longer period;' while section 34 made reference to neither 
permits nor periods. Moreover, subsection 28(2) contemplates band 
council consent to the use or occupation of a reserve, whereas section 34 
requires the consent of neither a band nor a hand council. 

Opetchesaht dealt with a linear power line, and the Band retained the right 
to use the surface of the land, subject to being unable to interfere with or 
use the land in which Hydro's power poles were anchored or the airspace 
in which its transmission lines were strung. In this sense, the Supreme 
Court of Canada concluded that Hydro's use of the land was exclusive, but 
not substantial. Similarly, in the Eel River Bar inquiry, the Commission 
found that the NBWA's rights to the access road were not exclusive, and 
that the rights to use 2.43 acres of reserve land for the pumping station 
and pipeline right of way were not substantial even though they were essen- 
tially exclusive. Based on the limited evidence presented to the Commission 
in that inquiry, the facts did not disclose that the pumping station and 
pipeline right of way substantially interfered with the Eel River Bar First 
Nation's use of its reserve land. Conversely, the nature and extent of the 
interest granted in the present case was substantial because the QWA 
Bands relinquished a much larger area, although they retained the right to 
use the surface of those areas not subject to continuous flooding. In this 
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respect, although the Bands in all three cases were entirely precluded from 
using certain areas of their reserves, the pivotal Merence lies in the scale 
of the Bands' exclusion. 

In Opetchesuht and the Eel River Bar inquiry, the Band Councils were 
involved in the negotiations for the rights of way and consented to the 
grants. Conversely, the evidence indicates that the QVIDA Bands and their 
councils were not party to either the negotiations undertaken or the con- 
sent given to the PFRA in the 1940s to flood reserve lands. 

Major J concluded in Opetchesubt that the right of way interest acquired in 
that case was temporary even though the circumstances of its termination 
were unforeseen and speculative: 

The permit provides that the respondent Nydro is entitled to use the reserve lands in 
question for as long as it requires a transmission pole line to pass through the por- 
tion of the reserve over which it is currently constructed. If is not difficult to imagine 
a number of circumstances in which this requirement would expire. While all are 
speculative, there is the possibility that the generating station at Sproat Falls might be 
abandoned, that demogmphic changes in the area might affect the location, size and 
requirement of the transmission poles. More remote is the possibility of electricity 
being replaced by another energy source. It is obvious that technology has aEfected 
the way we live in ways that were earlier unimaginable. The example of the Canadian 
experience with the railways is apposite. Even 50 years ago, this country's railroads 
appeared to be a pemdnent fact of Canadia~ travel and tnnsponation. Today, we 
have seen many railway lines abandoned in favour of airlines and highways.'lY 

In the Eel River Bar inquity, the Commission concluded that the grant 
of the right of way to the NBWA was for an indeterminate but readily 
ascertainable period of time, and therefore we considered that case to 
fall squarely within the reasons of the Supreme Court of Canada in 
Opetchesaht. In the present case, it will be d&cult to forecast the ter- 
mination of use of reserve lands for the control structures on the 
Qu'AppeUe River as long as irrigation is required to make lands ser- 
viced by the dams arable. Moreover, the dams also serve as flood con- 
trol structures and regulate the water levels in the Qu'AppeUe Valley for 
the benefit of residential and recreational uses that have developed 
along the shorelines. The dams have thus hecome multi-use structures, 
and we have no hesitation in concluding that, although the initial pri- 



mary use of the dams - and perhaps the only recognized permissible 
use under the PFRA's governing legislation - was irrigation, it was 
clearly foreseen at the time of their construction that they would serve 
other needs. By way of contrast, we can see no alternative uses for the 
transmission lines in Opetchesabt other than as transmission lines. For 
this reason, although Major J was prepared to concede that the termi- 
nation of use of the transmission lines in that case was speculative and 
unforeseen, we find the termination of use of the control structures in 
th~s case to be even more speculative, remote, and unlikely, if such is 
possible. 

Canada takes the position that the general statements by Major J with 
regard to the interplay between the various provisions of the Indian Act illu- 
minate the applicability of section 34 to this case, since they demonstrate that 
the surrender provisions are not the only way to convey a relatively long- 
lasting right over reserve lands. The test set out by Major J, according to 
counsel, is "to decide the circumstances in which s. 28(2) [in this case, 
section 341 could not apply, the default provision being the general rule in s. 
37 [section 50 of the 1927 Indian Act] against alienation without a 
surrender."430 

Can section 34 apply in this case? We do not think so. In deciding this 
question, we believe it is necessary to look at the terms of the authorization 
granted to the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes. 
We agree with Canada's submission that, assuming section 34 and subsection, 
28(2) are parallel provisions, any authorization granted pursuant to section 
34 would have to be subject to at least the same limitations as a permit 
issued under subsection 28(2). That is, to the extent that the terminating 
event of the authorization is so remote and uncertain that the period would, 
in fact, be perpetual, the authorization would not be permitted under section 
34 and the surrender provisions would apply by way of default. Likewise, 
where the nature and extent of the interest granted is sufficiently substantial, 
section 34 cannot apply. 

By Canada's own admission, the authorization in this case, assuming that it 
was granted, was given implicitly rather than explicitly, and we cannot point 
to any specific period for which it was granted. Therefore, we can only con- 
clude that, assuming authorization was given, the term of that authorization, 

4311 Submission on Rehalf of the Government of Canada. June 6. 1 9 7 ,  p. 38. 
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by necessary implication, and having regard for the PFRA's mandate, must 
have been for such period as the dams would be required for irrigation 
purposes. If we look only to this use and not to other uses for the dams that 
have since arisen, we cannot conclude that the use in this case is any more 
permanent than the uses in Opetchesaht or the Eel River Bar inquiry. If we 
are permitted to consider flood control, as well as residential and recrea- 
tional purposes, we would then consider the use in this case to be more 
permanent. 

The more telling features of this case, however, are the exclusivity and 
extent of the PFRA's use of the continuously flooded areas. The transmission 
lines in Opetchesnhf were Linear but, in the view of the minority, they never- 
theless had a significant effect on the Band's ability to use the right of way 
and its remaining land. 

In the present case, by way of contrast, we are faced with large areas of 
land that, except in periods of extended drought, are more or less continn- 
ously flooded, and are thereby rendered completely useless to the QVIDA 
First Nations. The PFRA must be considered to have exclusive use of these 
areas. Other large areas are subject to flooding only at certain times of year, 
or are less frequently inundated. There is some evidence before the Commis- 
sion to suggest that some of these lands may actually benefit from being 
occasionally flooded, while other areas may be sufficiently saturated to be 
unfit for haying or other purposes. The exclusivity of the PFRA's use will 
depend on the capacity of these lands to be used for other purposes notwith- 
standing being under water from time to time. The point is that, unlike the 
Opetchesaht and Eel River cases, in this case there are large areas of land 
involved, and much of the land is completely unavailable to the First Nations 
all of the time. Moreover, in this case the flooded lands were of considera- 
ble economic, cultural, and social value to the Bands, as the evidence of the 
elders demonstrated. In our view, these are the features that distinguish the 
QVIDA First Nations from the Opetchesaht Band and the Eel River Bar First 
Nation, and that lead us to the conclusion that, in this case, section 34 was 
not an appropriate vehicle for authorizing the use and occupation of reserve 
lands for flooding purposes. 

Moreover, the fact that section 34 contemplates the consent of neither a 
band nor a band council justifies, in our view, a more restrictive interpreta- 
tion being placed on section 34 than on subsection 280). The fact that the 
Band Council consented to the disposition of the right of way in Opetchesaht 
played a significant role in shaping the decision of the majority in that case. 
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As the Supreme Court of Canada concluded in Blueberry River Indian Band 
v. Canada (Department of Indian Affairs and Northern De~elopment),~~~ 
the underlying scheme and purpose of the Indian A c t  is to maintain intact 
for bands of Indians the reserves set apart for them. Therefore, in cases 
involving surrenders, the consent of both the band and the Crown is 
required, for the following reasons set forth by McLachlin J: 

My view is thaf the lnrlinn Ad's provisions for surrender of band reserves strikes 
a balance between the hvo extremes of autonomy and protection. The band's consent 
was required to surrender I s  reserve. Without that consent the resewe could not be 
sold. But the Crown, through the Governor in Council, was also required to consent to 
the surrender. The purpose of the requirement of Crown consent was not to substitute 
the Crown's decision for that of the band, but to prevent exploitation. 

As Dickson J. characterized it in Guerin Iv The Queen4i21 Cat p. 383): 

The purpose of this surrender requirement is clearly to interpose the Crown 
between the Indians and prospective purchasers or lessees of their land, so as to 
prevent the Indians from being exploited. 

It follows that under the Indian Act, the Band had the right to decide whether to 
surrender the reserve, and ik  decision was to be respected. At the same time, if the 
Band's decision was foolish or improvident - a decision that constituted exploitation 
- the Crown could refuse to consent. In short, the Crown's obligation was limited to 
preventing exploitative bargains.'3J 

Gonthier wrote in similar terms: 

As McLachlin J. observes, the law treats aboriginal peoples as autonomous actors with 
respect to the acquisition and surrender of their lands, and for this reason, their 
decisions must be respected and honoured."' 

In Opetchesaht, Major J extended these principles to dispositions by way 
of permit under subsection 28(2): 

4 3 1  Bluebeny Rimr Indian Band and Doig River Indian Band u Canada (rWirzisIer of lndian Rffairrs and 
N o r t h  Development) et 01, 119881 1 CNLR 75, 14 bTR 161 (m); appeal and cross-appeal dismissed in 
. 4pwin  0. an&, I19931 3 FC 28, 100 DLR (4th) 504, 151 NR 241, 119931 2 CNLR 20 ( W j ;  appeal and 
cross-appeal dowed in Bluebary R i m  Indian &md v. Canada (Depa~tment of Indian A@irs andNorth- 
em Unrrlopmnt), 119961 2 GYLR 25, 130 DLR (4th) 193 (SCC). This case is subsequently referred to in the 
text ai this reporl as A$&. 

432 G w ' n  v The Queen, 119851 1 CNLR I20 (SCC). 
453 Bluebeny River lndian Band u. Canada (Departmmt of Indian Affairairs and Northern Developmmt), 

119951 4 SCR 344, 119%1 2 CNLR 25, 130 DLR (4th) 193 (SCCI at 170.71 (SCR). MckehJin J. 
134 B l u e h  River Indian Band u. Canada (Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Dmlopment), 

119951 4 SCR 344, 11%1 2 CN1.R 25, 130 DLR (4th) 193 (S(:C) at 358 ( X U ) ,  GonIher J. 
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This leads to a consideration of the policy behind the rule of general inalienability. 
Both the common law and the Indian Act guard against the erosion of the native land 
base through conveyances by individual band members or by any group of members. 
Government approval, either by way of the Governor in Council (surrender) or that of 
the Minister, is required to guard against exploitation. . . . 

On the other hand, the Indian Act also seeks to allow band. a degree of autonomy 
in managing hand resources for commercial advantage in the general interest of the 
band. Collective consent of the Indians, either in the form of a vote by the band 
membeship (surrender) or by a resolution of the band council, is required to 
ensure that those affected by the transfer assent to it. The extent to which individual 
band members participate in the approval process depends on the extent to which the 
proposed disposition affects individual or communal interests. In the case of sales, 
dispositions and long-term leases or alienations permanently disposing of any Indian 
interest in resem land, surrender is required, involving the vote of all members of 
the band.. On the other hand in the case of rights of use, occupation or residence for 
a period of longer than one year, only band council approval is required. 

It is important that the band's interest be protected but on the other hand the 
autonomy of the band in decision tmking afecting its land and resources must 
be pmmoted and respected..'" 

If the underlying purpose and scheme of the Indian Act is to guard 
against the erosion of the Indian land base, and if the autonomy of Indians 
with respect to the disposition of reserve lands is to he honoured and 
respected in the manner suggested in Apsassin and Opetchesaht, can section 
34(1) he used by the Crown unilaterally to grant an interest in land as intru- 
sive and long term as flooding without any autonomous Indian approval of 
such a grant by an Indian band or its members? We think not. Given the dual 
policies of autonomy and protection identified in Apsassin and Opetchesaht, 
we can only conclude that any rights that could have been authorized by the 
Superintendent General under section 34 must have been even more limited 
than the interests avdable for disposition under subsection 28(2). To repeat 
the words of Major J, "[tlhe extent to which individual band members par- 
ticipate in the approval process depends on the extent to which the proposed 
disposition affects individual or communal interests." It follows that, if 
neither band members nor band council participate in the approval process, 
the extent to which the proposed disposition can affect individual or commu- 
nal interests should he very limited indeed. To find otherwise would permit 
ready circumvention of the surrender and expropriation processes of the 

435 Opelcbemht In& Band 0. C a d  (L997), unreporied, May 12, 11997 (SCC 6le no. L4161), pp. 2 1 - 2 2  
Malor J.  Emphasis added. 
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Indian Act, and would seriously compromise the autonomy of a band in 
dealing with its reserve lands. 

That being said, we might be prepared to conclude that an authority or 
permit issued pursuant to section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act or subsection 
28(2) of later Acts would be snfFicient to authorize occasional and perhaps 
even beneficial flooding of those areas of the reserves that remain available to 
the First Nations for haying or other purposes. Such a conclusion would not 
solve Canada's problem in this case, since the large areas of land that are 
continnot& flooded - the areas that are obviously most critical to the 
ongoing operation of the structures - would still not fall within the scope of 
the subsection. However, it might reduce the quantum of compensation paya- 
ble if it can be demonstrated that certain lands have benefited, or at least not 
been adversely affected, and have thus remained available for productive use. 
As we have not been asked to comment on quantification issues in this 
inquiry, we will not comment further on this subject at this time. 

Actual Authorization 
In the written and oral submissions before the Commission, counsel for the 
parties addressed the issues of (a) whether the Deputy Minister of Mines and 
Resources, the Director of the Indian Affairs Branch, and the Acting Director 
of the Branch were appropriate statutory delegates of the Superintendent 
General of Indian AEEairs in relation to his power to authorize the use and 
occupation of reserve lands for flooding purposes; and (b) whether such 
authorization was actziully, if only impliedly, given to the PFRA by olie of 
those statutory delegates. However, having concluded that it was not open to 
Canada to rely on section 34 to authorize the use and occupation of reserve 
lands for flooding purposes, the Commission is not required to answer these 
questions. 

It should be noted that Canada, by its own admission, concedes that no 
authorization, express or implied, was ever given to flood land on the Stand- 
ing Buffalo reserve. The evidence clearly shows that no one contemplated 
that any portion of the Standing Buffalo reserve would be affected by the 
project. For this reason, we cannot conclude that Indian Affairs acquiesced in 
the use and occupation of these lands, and accordingly we Ond that, even if 
authority to encroach could have been granted under section 34, no such 
authority was given. In short, Canada trespassed on the flooded portions of 
the Standing Buffalo reserve from the early 1940s until at least 1977 - and 
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perhaps longer, depending on our analysis below in relation to the 1977 
Band Council Resolutions. 

With regard to the remaining five Bands that are party to this inquiry, 
while Indian Affairs may have authorized the PFRA to use and occupy reserve 
lands for flooding purposes - and we make no finding on this point - such 
authorization could not be vahdly given under section 34 of the 1927 Indian 
Act. The result is that, in addition to trespassing on Standing Buffalo's land by 
virtue of Canada's failure to authorize flooding on that reserve, the PFRA was 
likewise in trespass on the reserve lands of the Muscowpetung and Pasqua 
First Nations from the early 1940s to at least 1977, and remains in trespass 
to this day on the reserve lands of the Cowessess, Ochapowace, and Sakimay 
First Nations. We will address the question of Canada's continuing presence 
afrer 1977 on reserve lands of the three western First Nations later in this 
report. 

ISSUE 2 CANADA'S FIDUCIARY OBLIGATIONS 

If Canada could and did properly authorize the PFRA under section 34 of the 
lndian Act, 1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes, did 
the Crown nevertheless have a fiduciary obligation to consult or otherwise 
consider the best interests of the QVDA First Nations before proceeding? 

In framing their case relating to the alleged breaches by Canada of its fiduci- 
ary duties in relation to the disposition of the lands flooded by the Qu'AppeUe 
Valley dams, the QVIDA Fist Nations rely in large measure on the decisions 
of the Supreme Coua of Canada in Guerin u. The Queena6 and Apsasin, the 
findings of the Ontario Coua of Appeal in Chippewm of Kettle and Stony 
Point v. Canada,'"7 and the recent reports of this Commission regarding the 
surrender claims of the Kahkewistahaw and Moosomin First Nations.i3R They 
analogize Canada's duties arising on surrenders of reserve lands to the con- 
text of authorized use and occupancy under section 34 of the 1927 Indian 
Act. 

In its reports on the Kahkewistahaw and Moosomin inquiries, the Commis- 
sion analysed pre-surrender breaches of fiduciary obligations in three con- 
texts: where a band's understanding of the surrender is inadequate or the 

a36 Gwfln v. The he, I19851 1 mLR 120 (SCC). 



Crown's conduct has tainted the dealings in a manner that makes it unsafe to 
rely on the band's understanding and intention; where a band has ceded or 
abnegated its decision-malang power to or in favour of the Crown; and where 
a band's decision to surrender reserve land is foolish or improvident and 
thus exploitative. With regard to the first of these contexts, the QVIDA First 
Nations submit: 

The historical endence in the QVIDA Specific Claim clearly demonstrates that the 
Crown was in a conflict of interest by purporting to mpresent the best interests of the 
First Nations, on one hand, and by assisting PFRA in the construction of the diuns on 
the other hand. The claimants submit that the Crown has failed to establish that the 
authorization under section 34 was not intended to benefit any one other than PFR4 
and the Crown itself. The Department in fact has acknowledged that these dams would 
adversely affect the reserves which would suffer "substantial damage". Accordingly, 
Canada breached its fiduciary obligation by allowing PFRA to construct the dams 
which were clearly not in the best interests of the First Ndtion~."~ 

Under section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act, there could be no cession or 
abnegation of decision-making power by the QVIDA Bands because the 
Superintendent General was clothed with the power to authorize encroach- 
ments on reserve lands. Nevertheless, the First Nations argue that, having this 
discretion, the Superintendent General had a fiduciaq obligation to exercise 
it in their best interests: 

[Slection 34, at a minimum, imposes upon the Crown, particularly in a situation 
where it has total discretion to decide on how reserve lands should he "used or 
occupied, an obligation on its part to act in the First Nations' best interests, and . . . 
equity will hold a fiduciary to a "strict standard of conduct" and ensure that the 
power is exercised with "loyalty and care". The claimants submit that Canada has 
breached its fiduciaw duty by having failed to act in the First Nations' best interests by 
not only failing to have informed them of the dams' construction and its implications 
but also having proceeded with the section 34 authorization knowing full weU that the 
First Nations' best interests would be adversely affected.4a 

Finally, with regard to whether the authorizations granted to the PFRA in this 
case amounted to exploitation, the First Nations argue: 

a39 Submission on Behalf of the QVlDA Fint Nations, May 5, 1997, p. 51. 
440 Submission on Behalf of the QYlDA First Nations, May 5. 1997, PP. 50-51 



[Wlhere under the Act, the Bmd Im no control, as opposed to a "measure of con- 
trol" over the alienation of their interests in land, then if there is evidence of exploita- 
tion, the Act imposes a fiduciaty obligation on the Crown to prevent the alienation of 
their interests in the reserve. 

The claimants submit that the flooding of their lands resulted in the permanent 
disposition of those lands, as well as the destruction of the habitat upon which many 
of them relied upon [sic] for their livelihood, all without consultation with or 
approval by the First Nations. This constituted exploitation such that Canada breached 
its fiduciaty obligation by allowing PFRA to tlood these lands knowing that adverse 
consequences would result."" 

For its part, Canada submits that "there was no obligation to consider 
solely the interests of the First Nations affected in cases such as this, involving 
an expropriation or a non-consensual authority granted to use reserve lands 
for public purposes. . . [but rather] it is the function of the Crown to bal- 
ance the various interests at stake."N2 In drawing this conclusion, counsel for 
Canada relied on the decision of the Federal Court of Appeal in Kmger v. The 
Queen, in which Urie J adopted the following reasons of Mahoney J at trial: 

Parliament cannot have intended that the Governor in Council consider only the best 
interest of the Band concerned in deciding whether or not to consent to an expropria- 
tion of reserve lands. It is rarely in the best interest of an occupant to be dispossessed 
or of an owner to be deprived of his property against his wiU. Certainly, here, it was 
not in the best interest of the Band. 

The defendant's duty to the Band, as trustee, was by no means the only duty to be 
taken into account. Evidence is clear that those officials responsible for the adminis- 
tration of the Indian Act urged a lease while those responsible for the airport ulti- 
mately urged expropriation. The Governor in Council was entitled to decide on the 
latter. There w a  no breach in trust in doing so.PdJ 

Once it had been determined that the Qu'Appelle Valley dams would flood 
and cause damage to reserve lands, Canada acknowledges that it owed a 
fiduciary obligation to the First Nations affected to ensure that they were ade- 
quately compensated for any damages caused to them. The existence of a 
fiduciary obligation where there is an involuntary disposition of land finds 
support in the reasons of Heald J in Rmger: 

441 Submission on Behalf of !he QVIM Fin1 Nations, May 5. 1997, P. 52. 
441 Submissions on Behalf of the Government of Canada, June 6. 1997, p. 49. 
4.i.i XN~PI ~t T k  @em, 11985) 3 CNLR 15 a1 42 ( F a ) ,  Urie J. 



Accordingly, I think it clear that the Fiduciary obligation and duty being discussed in 
Guen'n would also apply to a case such as this as weU and that on the facts in this 
case, such a fiduciav obligation and dub was a continuing one - that is, it arose as a 
consequence of the proPo& to take 1nd;an lands and conhued throughout the nego- 
tiations leading to the expropriations and thereafter including the dealings between 
the Crown and the Indians with respect to the payment of the compensation to the 
Indians in respect of Parcels h and BjQ 

As to the content of the fiducia~y obligation, Canada relies on the highlighted 
portion of the following excerpt from the decision of Urie J in K q e r :  

When the Crmvn expropriated reserve lands, being Parcels 4 and B, there would 
appear to have been created the same kind of fiduciary obligation, vis-a-vis the In&- 
ans, as would have been created if their bands had been surrendered. Thepreci.se 
obligation in this case frim to ensure that the Indians werepmperly compensated 
for the loss of their lands as part of the obligation to deal with the landfor the 
benefit of the Indians, just as in the Guerin case, the obligation was to ensure that 
the terms of the lease were those agreed to by the Indians ,as part of the general 
obligation to them to ensure that the surrendered lands be dealt with for their use 
and benefit. How they ensured that lies within tile Crown's discretion as a fiduciary 
and so long as the discretion is exercised honestly, prudently and for the benefit of 
the Indians there can be no breach of duty."5 

Canada argues that it fulGUed its fiduciary obligation to the QVIDA First 
Nations by paying compensation to the eastern First Nations in 1943, and by 
agreeing with the western First Nations in 1977 to settle past, present, and 
future damages caused by the Echo Lake control structure. 

Although we have considered the parties' arguments, we believe that i t  is 
unnecessary to address this issue in the circumstances of the present inquiry. 
Had we found that Canada could and did properly authorize the PFRA under 
section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act to use and occupy reserve lands fur tlood- 
ing purposes, we would then need to determine whether, before proceeding, 
the Crown nevertheless had a fiduciaq obligation to consult or othenvise 
consider the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations. However, we have 
concluded that Canada should have proceeded by way of surrender or expro- 
priation rather than under section 34. Since it did not do so, Canada failed to 
comply with the Indian Act, and any authority granted would thus have been 
invalid. Accordingly, there is little to be gained by determining whether 

444 Kncper L,. The Queen, 119851 3 CNLR l j  at 61(FCA), Heald J 
4 5  Rmzer v. i% @el', I19851 3 CNLR 15  at 41 (FIX). Uric J. 
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Canada was also in breach of its fiduciary obligations. We therefore decline 
to do so. 

ISSUE 3 CANADA'S OBLIGATIONS UNDER TREATY 4 

Did the terms of Treaty 4 preclude the Crown from relying on section 34 of 
the Indian Act, 1927, or otherwise require the consent of the QVIDA First 
Nations to authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding 
purposes? 

The QVIDA First Nations argue that Treaty 4 provides an independent means 
for finding that, before Canada can sell, lease, or otherwise dispose of 
reserve lands, it must obtain the consent of the affected band. Specifically, the 
First Nations rely on the following treaty provision: 

And Her Majesty the Queen hereby agrees, through the said Commissionen, to assign 
reserves for said Indians, such reserves to be selected hy officers of Her Majesty's 
Government of the Dominion of Canada appointed for that purpose, after conference 
with each band of the Indians, and to be of sufficient area to allow one square mile 
for each family of five, or in that proportion for larger or smaller families; provided, 
however, that it be understood that, if at the time of the selection of any reserves, as 
aforesaid, there are any settlers within the bounds of the lands resenred for any band, 
Her Majesty retains the right to deal with such settlers as She shall deem just, so as 
not to diminish the extent of land dotted to the Indians; and provided, funher, that 
the aforesaid reserves of land, or any part thereof; or any interest or right 
therein, or appurtenant thereto, may be sou leased or otheru~ise disposed of by 
the said Government for the use and benejt of the said Indians, t~~ i th  the consent 
of the Indians entitled theretofirst had and obtained, but in no wise shall the said 
Indians, or any of them, be entitled to sell or otherwise alienate any of the lands 
allotted to them as  reserve^."^ 

According to the First Nations, this provision means that "[t] he federal gov- 
ernment assumes a fiduciary role in the context of its legal power to dispose 
of reserve lands, a power which can only be exercised with the consent of the 
First Nations and for their use and benefit.""' First Nations thus have the 
corresponding "right to be consulted by Canada before Canada makes any 
disposition of reserve lands; they have the right to grant or withhold their 
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consent to such a disposition; and they have the right to have the reserve land 
remain intact, in the absence of granting their consent to a disposition."448 

As to what would happen should Treaty 4 and the Indian Act differ in 
their requirements for dispositions of reserve lands, the First Nations submit 
that the important distinction is in the test employed to reconcile those 
differences: 

Prior to the passage of section 35 of the Constitution Act in 1982, the courts gener- 
ally considered that federal legislation was pamount  and could supersede the terms 
of the treaties with the First Nations. However, the extent to which the Indian Act 
would have prevailed over Treaty No. 4 depends upon the tests used: overlap, mcon- 
sisteucy or conflict. If the Indian Act prevailed wherever it overlapped with provisions 
of Treaty No. 4 then the Indian Act surrender provisions would effectively replace 
Treaty No. 4 obligations, which required consent to reserve dispositions. On the other 
hand, if a more restrictive test is adopted, then the Indian Act would have less 
[sicllimits on the rights and obligdtions under Tredty No. 4.*+" 

The First Nations then relied on the decision of Cory J in h'. v. Badge?'jO as 
authority for the proposition that a restrictive test should be employed, such 
that federal legislation should be held to prevail over a treaty right only in 
cases of direct conflict and not where there is mere inconsistency or overlap. 
Accordingly, the foregoing treaty rights should, in QVIDA's submission, 
remain intact, since the provisions of Treaty 4 "were not superseded by any 
legislation."45i 

Canada disagrees with the First Nations' analysis, contending that the terms 
of the Indian Act prevail to the extent that they are inconsistent with Treaty 4. 
However, Canada also approaches the issue from a different perspective, rely- 
ing on the following provision of Treaty 4: 

R is further agreed between Her Majesty and Her said Indian subjects that such sec- 
tions of the reserves above indicated as may at any time be required for public works 
or building of whatsoever nature may be appropriated for that purpose by Her Maj- 
esty's Government of the Dominion of Canada, due compensation being made to the 
Indians for the value of any improvements thereon, and an equivalent in land or 
money for the area of the reserve so appropriated.'i2 

448 Submissions on Behali of the QnDA First Nations. May 5. 1997. p. 56. 
449 Submissions an Behalf of the QYLDA First Nations, May 5. 1 8 7 ,  p. 56. 
450 R u Edger, I19961 4 WR 457. 
451 ICC Transcript, June 26, 1 9 7 ,  pp. 81-82 (David Knoll). 
452 Treaty No. 4 h e w  Her Majesly the Queen and the C m  and &ulleaux Tdbes of Indians at QuXppelle 

and Fort EUice (Otfawa: Queen's Printer and Controller of Staiionev, 1W6), p. 7 



In Canada's submission, the word "appropriated in this provision relates to 
both expropriations and "lesser" dispositions such as a permit under section 
28 of later versions of the Indian Act and presumably authority granted 
under section 34 of the 1927 statute. It can also apply to dispositions of the 
full fee simple interest or to lesser interests such as easements or rights of 
way. In short, this provision, according to Canada, allows it to rely on section 
34 to grant authority to use and occupy reserve lands without the consent of 
the band affected. As for the First Nations' interpretation of the treaty, Canada 
argued: 

It is also notable that such an interpretation would also mean that lesser, non- 
consensual (or at least not expressly consensual) interests, such as a permit granted 
by the Minister for less than one year under section 28(2), would also arguably 
constitute a violation of treaty. Indeed, even a pennit for more than one year issued 
with the consent of the Band Council could be attacked as not expressing the consent 
of the band (i.e. merely the consent of the band council). It is submitted that this is 
not a r e a s o ~ ~ b l e  interpretation of the treaty provision!" 

The First Nations respond that the appropriation provision of Treaty 4 is lim- 
ited to the expropriation context, and that Canada has already acknowledged 
that there was neither an expropriation nor a surrender in this case. 

For the same reasons that we gave in relation to QVIDA's claim regarding 
Canada's fiduciaq obligations, we believe that it is unnecessary to address 
this issue in the circumstances of the present inquiry. The nature and term of 
the disposition to the PFRA were such that Canada should have obtained the 
consents of the Bands and the Governor in Council under the surrender pro- 
visions of the Indian Act, or it should have at least obtained the consent of 
the Governor in Council to expropriate the required interest. Its failure to do 
so means that Canada failed to comply with the Indian Act and that any 
authority granted would thus have been invalid. As before, there is little to be 
gained by determining whether Canada was also in breach of its treaty obliga- 
tions. We again decline to do so. 

ISSUE 4 EFFECTS OF THE 1977 BAND COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS 

Did the Band Council Resolutions signed by the Pasqua, Standing Buffalo, 
and Muscowpetung First Nations in the 1970s effectively release the Crown 

413 Submiasions on Rehat of h e  Government of Canada, June 6, 1997, pp. 52-53 
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and the PFRA from all past, present, and future claims for damage caused by 
the Echo bake control structure built in the 1940s? 

It will be recalled that, in 1977, as a result of the discovery that Mns- 
cowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Bdalo  had never been compensated for 
the flooding of their reserve lands, these Bands entered into a settlement 
agreement with the PFRA. Under the terns of that agreement, evidenced by 
separate Band Council Resolutions executed by the respective Bands, the 
Bands were paid the sum of $265,000.00 and the PFRA was released, in 
relation to Pasqua and Standing Buffalo, "from all past, present and future 
claims in respect to erection of the said [Echo Lake] control structure and 
consequential flooding." For Muscowpetung, the release related to "lands 
now flooded by the said control structure." The three western Bands further 
agreed "to authorize the issuance of a permit to [the] PFRA in respect of the 
continued operation of the said control structure."454 Although the Bands 
received and spent most, if not all, of the settlement funds, no permit for the 
continued operation of the control structures and flooding of reserve lands 
was ever issued, owing to concerns raised by the Bands regarding the perpet- 
ual nature of the settlement and the area of land to be flooded. The Bands 
subsequently purported to rescind the Band Council Resolutions and any 
authority conveyed in them to flood reserve lands. 

These facts give rise to three key issues that the Commission must 
consider: 

Were the Band Conncil Resolutions invalid because they effected perma- 
nent dispositions of interests in reserves? 

Did the Band Council Kesolutions release Canada and the PFRA from 
liability? 

Could the Bands rescind the 1977 Band Council Resolutions? 

We will now consider each of these issues in turn. 

154 Band Council Resolution. Pasqua Rand, Pebruary 8. 11177, PFRA Ue 92WE4. vol. 5 (ICC Documents, p, 1069); 
Band Council Resolution. Standing BuUalo B:md. Februa~/ 8, 1977. PFRA file 928084, vol. 5 (ICC Document? 
p. 1070); Band Council Resolution. MusrrnTeNng Band, Pebruzq 15. 1917, PFRh flle 92W7E4, vol. 5 (ICC 
Documents, p. 1074). 
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Were the Band Council Resolutions Invalid? 

Permit us Expropriation or Surrender 
The Commission has already reviewed at length the recent decision of the 
Supreme Court of Canada in Opetchesaht in the context of our consideration 
of whether the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs could grant authority 
to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes under section 34 of 
the 1927 Indian Act. Even if it can he assumed that section 34 is similar in 
nature to suhsection 28(2) of the 1952 Indian Act, as mended, we con- 
cluded that, although the majority of the Court found that the disposition in 
Opetchesaht feu within the scope of suhsection 28(2), the present case is 
distinguishable on its facts because of the more substantial nature of the 
interest granted to the PFRA and the possibly more remote likelihood of its 
termination. 

That being the case, we must also conclude that it was not open to 
Canada, even with the consent of the respective Band Councils, to authorize 
the PFRA to occupy or use reserve land for floodmg purposes under subsec- 
tion 28(2) of the 1970 Indian Act in force at the time the settlements were 
reached. For ease of reference, we will restate suhsection 28(2): 

28.(2) The Minister may by permit in writing authorize any person for a period not 
exceeding one year, or with the consent of the council of the band for any longer 
period, to occupy or use a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise rights on a 
reserve?" 

In its written argument, Canada suggests that, by disposing of a mere right 
of way under suhsection 28(2) rather than allowing the PFRA to expropriate 
the full fee simple interest in the flooded lands, Indian Affairs was acting in 
an appropriate manner "to affect the Indians' interest as little as p~ssible.""~ 
In making this statement, Canada referred to the Commission's decision in its 
inquily into the railway right of way claim of the Sumas Band, in which the 
Commission held: 

Was there a breach of fiduciary duty in the failure to exercise this discretion to grant 
less than the full fee simple? The Crown had an obligation to consider the public 
interest in a railway, as well as the interests of the Sumas Band. An expropriation of 
land wiU not be in the best interests of a Band; therefore, a "best interests" standard 

,ij hdun Act, RSC 1970, c. 1.6, s. 28. 
456 Submisscod on Behalf of the Government at Canada, June 6, 1997, p. 52. 
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is not applicable. In our view, the obligation on the Crown in this context is to do as 
little injury as possible to the Indians' interests. The public interest could have been 
satisfied by a grant of a right of way as long as the land was needed by the railway. 
Any grant beyond that did not further the public purpose, and was nothing more than 
a gratuitous disposition of Indian lands in favor of the railway company. We thus find 
that, if the letiers patent were effective to transfer absolute title to W & E, the Crown 
failed in its fiduciary duty by granting the right-of-way land. without a railway-pur- 
poses limitation?" 

The Federal Court of Appeal recently reached a similar conclusion in 
Semiahmoo Indian Band v. Canada, in which Isaac CJ agreed with the 
Bnding of the Trial Judge that there had been a breach of Canada's fiduciary 
duty to the Band. Certain reserve lands had been surrendered by the Band in 
1951, although the evidence demonstrated that the Band would not have sur- 
rendered its land without the threat of expropriation. The lands were appar- 
ently required to expand Canada's customs facilities at the Douglas Border 
Crossing, but they remained unused after surrender and eventually became 
the subject of a consultant's study, commissioned at the request of the federal 
Department of Public Works, t~ develop portions of the land for commercial 
purposes. The record further showed that, over the years, the Band had 
made a number of requests to have the land returned to it when no apparent 
steps were being taken to use the land for public purposes; these requests 
had been refused on the basis that studies were underway to determine how 
to use the property, or that use of the land for expanding the customs facili- 
ties was imminent. No public use of the land had been made for some 40 
years when, following the Band's receipt of the consultant's report proposing 
that the land be used for a resort, the Band commenced the action for 
breach of fiduciary duty. On the question of Canada's fiduciary obligations to 
the Band in such circumstances, Isaac CJ stated: 

It is in the context of these findings that the Trial Judge defined the respondent's 
pre-surrender fiduciary duty, and then concluded that this duty was breached in the 
1951 surrender. The Trial Judge described the nature and scope of the respondent's 
duty as follows: 

When land is taken in this way and it is not known what, if any, use will be made 
of it, or whether the land is going to be used for government purposes, I think 
there is an obligation on the fiduciary to condition the talung by a reversionary 
provision, or ensure by some other mechanism that the least possible impairment 

457 ICC, Report on Inquip into , S u m  Rand hdian R e m  No, 6Roilway Right if Way Claim (Ottawa, F e b w  
ilq I995), (1996) 4 ICCP 3 at 40. 



of the plaintiffs' rights occurs. I am persuaded there was a breach of the fiduciary 
duty owed to the plaintiffs. 

Did the respondent breach its pre-surrender fiducialy duty? 
Having regard to the circumstances of this case, I am in respectful agreement with 

the Trial Judge's characterization of the respondent's pre-surrender fiduciary duty. I 
also agree with the Trial Judge's conclusion, based on the facts, that the respondent 
breached this duty when it consented to the 1951 surrender. In my view, the 1951 
surrender agreement, assessed in the context of the specific relationship between the 
parties, was an exploitative bargain. There was no attempt made in drafting its terms 
to minimize the impairment of the Band's rights, and therefore, the respondent 
should have exercised its discretion to withhold its consent to the surrender or to 
ensure that the surrender was qualified or conditi~nal.~'~ 

We agree that Canada should seek to minimize its impainnent of a band's 
rights with regard to its reserve lands. In this context, it may have been 
entirely appropriate for Canada to acquire an interest in the nature of a right 
of way or easement rather than the full fee simple in the lands continuously 
or occasionally flooded as a result of the control structures erected in the 
Qu'Appelle Valley. By obtaining this lesser interest, Canada allowed the 
QVIDA Bands to retain a reversionary interest in the land as well as the right 
to use those portions of the lands that may not be flooded from time to time. 

However, as we discussed previously in relation to section 34 of the 1927 
Indian Act, it is the interplay of the nature and duration of the interest 
being conveyed that determines whether the appropriate mechanism for dis- 
posing of the interest is expropriation or surrender, on the one hand, or a 
mere permit under subsection 28(2), on the other. Furthermore, Canada is 
not obliged to acquire the entire fee simple interest when it proceeds by way 
of expropriation or surrender; it can instead expropriate or obtain a surren- 
der of a lesser interest, such as a right of way or easement. However, if the 
interest being obtained, while less than the full fee simple, is still sufficiently 
important in nature and lengthy in duration, then even that lesser interest 
should be obtained by means other than subsection 28(2). In Opetcbesabt, 
Major J used the example of a mineral lease as one situation in which a 
lesser interest than the fee simple should be acquired using a surrender: 

In my view, s. 28(2) cannot apply any time a portion of the Indian interest in any 
portion of reserve land is permanently disposed of. For example, before permission to 
extract minerals in a reserve is granted by the Minister, surrender is required. I 

ijs ,Scv~iahrnoo indion Band a Conodo, 119971 FCJ No. 842 (unreponed, June 24. 19971. pas. 40~41 



would note that this would be true whether the right to exploit and extract minerals 
were granted forever or for limited duration under a lease. For example, the mineral 
rights could well be disposed of under a document entitled a "lease". One must 
always look to the true nature of the rights granted. Even if the right to extract were 
granted only temporarily under the lease, in fact such a grant would forever deprive 
the band of a resource which formed part of the reserve. Surrender of minerd rights 
has been required under successive Indian Acts before disposition thereof to third 
parties.'i9 

From this example, it can be seen that, although the duration of the mineral 
lease may be "ascertainable," the nature of the interest being disposed of is 
sufficiently "permanent" or important as to lie beyond the scope of subsec- 
tion 28(2). A surrender or expropriation is therefore required. 

In the result, we must reiterate our conclusion that, even with the consent 
of the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo Band Councils, Canada 
could not rely, on the facts of this case, on subsection 28(2) as the basis for 
authorizing the PFRA to occupy or use reserve lands for flooding purposes. 

Effects of Subsection 28(1) 
Even if the Commission is wrong in the foregoing conclusion regarding the 
meaning and scope of subsection 28(2), we would nevertheless conclude 
that the 1977 Band Council Resolutions were ineffective to grant such author- 
ity. This is because subsection 28(1) of the 1970 Indian Act provided: 

28.(1) Subject to subsection (2), a deed, lease, contract, instrument, document or 
agreement of my kind whether written or oral, by which a band or  a member of a 
band purpom to permit a person other than a member of that band to occupy or use 
a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise any rights on a reserve is void. 

The only permitted exceptions to subsection ( I )  exist under subsection (2), 
where an appropriate authorizing permit may be issued by the Minister for a 
use or occupation or other exercise of rights on a reserve for a period not 
exceeding one year, or by the Minister, with the consent of the band council, 
for any longer period. 

A plain reading of subsection 28(2) suggests that, to allow occupation or  
use of reserve lands for a period of longer than one year, band council 
consent must be obtained and the Minister must permit the occupation or 

459 Operchesaht I n d b  Rand 2: Canada (1997). unrcpaned, Mav 22. 1997 (SCC file no. 24160, pp. 19-20, 
Maiar J.  
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use in writing. Without satisfying both requirements, an agreement for use 
and occupation appears to be void. But does the case law interpreting section 
28(2) support this interpretation? 

The plulosophy underlying subsection 28(2) has a long history that pre- 
dates the subsection itself and finds its roots in the Royal Proclamation of 
1763. The jurisprudence supports the conclusion that a written permit from 
the Minister was a required element for an effective authorization to occupy 
or use reserve lands under subsection 28(2).46U 

The policy rationale behind the provision can be seen in the decision of 
the Exchequer Court of Canada in R. v. McMa~ter.~~~ In that case, a property 
known as Thompson's Island, which formed part of St Regis Indian Reserve, 
was leased in 1817 by the Chiefs of the occupying Band to David Thompson 
for a period of 99 years. The lease contained a renewal clause that would 
have permitted it to be extended to a full term of 999 years. In 1872, McMas- 
ter sought to acquire the lease from Thompson's successor, McDonald, and, 
concerned that the validity of title might be open to challenge, McMaster 
inquired if the Department of Indian Affairs would recognize the title to the 
lease if he could show that it had been properly assigned to him and if he 
would pay rental arrears that had been accumulating since 1862. After pro- 
tracted negotiations, the parties in 1882 agreed that the Department would 
recognize McMaster as assignee on payment of the past due rentals, but that 
he could not obtain a new title in his own name because the property, never 
having been surrendered by the Band to the Crown, could not be sold or 
leased. In 1883, McMaster paid the arrears, and the following year the 
Department of Justice provided its opinion that McMaster had sufficiently 
proven his title to be considered the holder of the lease originally granted to 
Thompson, and that his possessory title as against anyone but the Crown was 
admitted. 

In 1915, McMaster applied to the Department of Indian Affairs to renew 
the lease, as the first 99-year period was due to expire the following year. 
The Department replied that he had been given no assurance that the lease 
would be renewed, but only that his rights under the lease would be recog- 
nized as far as this could legally be done. Disclaiming liability for payment of 

i w  Yo cases have confirmed that a grant of reserve land under section 28 can be effective in the absence of such a 
permit, Athaugh in Port Franb ilopwhes v. Tk Queen, 119811 3 CNLR 86 d 95 (RTD), the Coun iaund 
that a surrender was lawful even though a lease was p n t e d  prior to f a m A  surrender. Approximately one year 
later thc Band made a l o r d  surrender oi  the land at issue, and an order in council was then passed approving 
the surrender and coniirming the lease. 

46t R. a ,IIcUmter, [I9261 E x .  CR 68. 
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the penalty provided in the original lease for non-renewal, the Department 
refused to issue a renewal, provided McMaster with notice to quit the prop- 
erty, and later commenced action against him. In the Exchequer Court, 
Maclean J stated: 

The proclamation of 1763, as has been held, has the force of a statute, and so far 
therein as the rights of the Indians are concerned, it has never been repealed. The 
proclamation enacted that no private person shall make any purchase from the Indi- 
ans of lands reserved to them, and that all purchases must be on behalf of the Crown, 
etc. Throughout the subsequent years all legislation in the form of Indian Acts contin- 
ued the letter and spirit of the proclamation in respect of the inalienability of Indian 
reserves by the Indians. As was said by Lord Watson in the St Cathen'ne Milling a n d  
Lumber Company case, since the date of the proclamation Indian &airs had been 
administered successively by the Crown, by the provincial governments, and since the 
passing of the British North America Act, 1867, by the Government of the Dominion. 
The policy of these administrations has been all along the same in this respect, that 
the lndian inhabitants have been precluded from entering into any transaction with a 
subject for the sale or transfer of their interest in the land, and have only been per- 
mitted to surrender their rights to the Crown by a formal contract duly ratfied in a 
meeting of their chiefs or head men convened for the purpose. Whilst there have been 
changes in the administrative authority, there has been no change since the year 1763 
in the character of the interest which its Indian inhabitants had in the lands surren- 
dered by the treaty, and as determined in the St. Catherine Milling a n d  Lumber 
Company case. There can be no doubt but that the property in question was pan of 
an Indian Reserve covered by the proclamation. For these reasons I am clearb of 
the opinion that the lease to Thompson in I817 was void, and that the Indians 
never had such an interest in the lands reserved for their occupancy, that they could 
alienate the same by lease or sale. The Crown could not itself lease, or ratlfy any 
lease, made by the Indians of such lands at any time since the proclamation, save 
upon a surrender of the same by the Indians to the Crown. If the lease was void 
anything that the Department of Indian Affairs or any other authorized body or person 
administering Indian affairs did, or could do in the way of adoption or ratification of 
the same, would be contraly to the enactment of the proclamation and of the subse- 
quent statutes relating to Indian affairs, and which in this respect were declmtoq of 
the provisions of the proclamation and not binding on the C~own."~ 

Very similar facts were considered by the Supreme Court of Canada in 
Easterbrook v. The King,'63 in which certain lands on Cornwall Island in the 
St Lawrence River were leased in 1821 by the British Indian Chiefs of St Regis 
to Solomon Y. Chesley. The document purported to lease the lands to Chesley 

u62 R u. M c w e r ,  119261 Fx. CR 64 at 72-73  Emphasis added 
463 Eastwbmk v. Tha King, 119311 SCR 210. 
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for 99 years, "and at the expiration thereof for another and further like 
period of 99 years and so on until the full end and term of 999 years shall be 
fully ended and completed." The Department of Indian Affairs remained una- 
ware of the lease until 1875, at which time, in response to an inquiry about 
the validity of the lease, Assistant Superintendent General Lawrence 
Vankoughnet confirmed that Chesley "has a right to sublet the land as he has 
been in the habit of doing for years." On the expiry of the initial 99-year 
period in 1920, however, the Department provided Chesley's successor with 
notice to quit, and refused to receive any further rent or to continue to rec- 
ognize the tenancy. Newcombe J of the Supreme Conrt of Canada concluded 
that Audette J of the Exchequer Court had properly refused to uphold 
the lease: 

The learned judge found no difficulty in disposing of the case, and I have no doubt 
that his conclusions must be maintained. By the formal judgment he declared that the 
lease of 10th March, 1821, was and is nuU and void a6 initio, and that the King was 
entitled to recover forthwith the possession of the lands described with their 
 appurtenance^.^' 

The McMaster and Easterbrook cases clearly demonstrate the longstand- 
ing general policy of inalienability without the consent or permission of the 
Crown in situations in which a leasehold interest has ostensibly been granted 
by a band. Although subsection 28(1) of the 1970 Indian Act was not yet in 
force, the Courts nevertheless found the purported dispositions to be void. 

By the time R. v. Deuered6i appeared on the docket of the Supreme 
Conrt of Canada, subsection 28(1) had been enacted. In Devereux, the Court 
considered whether a non-Indian, Devereux, had rights to reserve land pur- 
portedly devised to him in a will by Rachel Ann Davis, the widow of a mem- 
ber of the Six Nations Band. Devereux had assisted Davis in working her farm 
commencing in 1934, at which time the two had entered into a private leas- 
ing arrangement. The Court viewed this arrangement as void under subsec- 
tion 34(2) of the 1927 Indian Act, which was the legislative predecessor of 
subsection 28(1) of the 1952 statute. However, at the joint request of Davis 
and Devereux, the Crown had leased the property to Devereux for a period of 
10 years expiring November 30, 1960, and then granted two successive per- 
mits to Devereux under section 28(2) of the Indian Act (as amended in 

464 Eurferbmok u. T k  King, (19311 SCR 210 at 218. 
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1952) to use and occupy the lands for agricultural purposes. The second 
permit expired on November 30, 1962. In the meantime, Davis died and in 
her will purported to leave Devereux an ongoing right to possess and use the 
lands. 

Since Devereux was not entitled to reside on a reserve, the Crown sought 
to remove him under the trespass provisions of section 31, and to dispose of 
Davis's interest by tender to eligible residents. In the subsequent proceed- 
ings, Thurlow J of the Exchequer Court dismissed the Crown's claim on the 
separate ground that an action to remove a trespasser from a reserve under 
section 31 of the Act must be commenced on behalf of the party having the 
right to possess the lands. Having concluded that the right to possession was 
vested in Band members Hubert Clause or Arnold and Gladys Hill, Thurlow J 
concluded that the Crown was in error when it initiated proceedings claiming 
possession on behalf of the entire Band. 

However, the Supreme Court of Canada also held that Devereux had no 
right to possess or use the lands in question. Once the second permit 
expired, Devereux's interest in the land was governed by the provision in 
section 50 of the 1952 Indian Act that "[a] person who is not entitled to 
reside on a reserve does not by devise or descent acquire a right to posses- 
sion or occupation of land in that reserve." Judson J for the majority (Cart- 
wright J dissenting) held: 

The scheme of the Indian Act is to maintain intact for bands of Indians, reserves 
set apart for them regardless of the wishes of any individual Indian to alienate for his 
own benefit any portion of the reserve of which he may be a locatee. This is provided 
for by s. 28(1) of the Act. If s. 31 were restricted as to lands of which there is a 
locatee to actions brought at the instance of the locatee, agreements void under s. 
28(1) by a locatee with a non-Indian in the alienation of reserve land would be 
effective and the whole scheme of the Act would be frustrated. 

Reselve lands are set apart for and inalienable by the band and its members apart 
from express statutoly provisions even when allocated to individual Indians. By defini- 
tion (s. 2(1) (0)) "reserve" means 

a tract of land, the legal title to which is vested in Her Majesty, that has been set 
apart by Her Majesty for the use and benefit of a band. 

By s. 2(l)(a),  "band means a body of Indians 

(i) for whose use and benefit in common, lands, the legal title to wluch is vested 
in Her Majesty, have been set apart. . . 

By s. 18, reserves are to be held for the use and benefit of Indians. They are not 
subject to seizure under legal process (s. 29).  By s. 37, they cannot be sold, alien- 
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ated, leased or otherwise disposed of, except where the Act specially provides, until 
they have been surrendered to the Crown by the band for whose use and benefit in 
common the reserve was set apart. There is no right to possession and occupation 
acquired by devise or descent in a person who is not entitled to reside on the reserve 
(s. 50, subs. ( I ) ) .  

One of the exceptions is that the Minister may lease for the benefit of any Indian 
upon his application for that purpose, the land of which he is lawfully in possession 
without the land being surrendered (s. 58(3)). It was under this section that the 
Miluster had the power to make the ten-year lease to the defendant which expired on 
November 30, 1960. 

Under this Act there are only two ways in which this defendant could be lawfully in 
possession of this f m ,  either under a leaye made by the Minister for the benefit of 
any Indian under s. 58(3), or under a permit under s. 28(2). 

Evidence was given of attempted arrangements behveen the defendant and the pur- 
chaser and the assignee of the purchaser under s. 50(2) which would have enabled 
the defendant to remain in possession at a rental which would have made it possible 
for the purchaser to make his installment payments. The Crown took the position that 
these attempted arrangements were irrelevant, the Department not having consented 
to any further lease or permit. This objection was properly taken and the attempted 
arrangements do not assist in any way the defendant's claim to remain in 
pos~ession.'~' 

The importance of the Deverezw: decision is in its finding that Crown consent 
in the guise of a lease or permit is a necessary condition precedent to occu- 
pation or use of reserve land. 

M.D. Sloan Consultants Ltd v. Derrickson"' is a recent authority con- 
firming the necessity of a wrinen permit under section 28. In that case, the 
British Columbia Court of Appeal was asked to consider the effect of a pur- 
ported agreement between a Band member (a "locatee") and a third party to 
lease a marina on reserve lands. The Court, after reviewing Emterbrook and 
Devereux, confirmed that the only way a locatee could validly grant an inter- 
est in reserve land to a third party was either by way of a permit under 
subsection 28(2) or a lease under subsection 58(3). Goldie JA stated: 

To the extent that the plaintif's claims rest upon the validity of the lease arrange- 
ments of October 21, 1986, in respect to the use and occupation of the land portion 
of the Shelter Bay marina, they must fail. The policy behinds. 28(1) has been clearly 
stated by the Supreme Coun of Canada: see Emlerbrook u. The King, [I9311 1 DLR 

464 The Qmen u -, LI96jl SCR 567 at j72-73. 
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628, (19311 SCR 210, and The Queen v. Devem11~ (1965), 51 DLR (2d) 546, 
[I9651 SCR 567. 

In the Dewma case the defendant went into possession of a parcel of reserve 
land under an arrangement with a band member who was the locatee of the land. 
This arrangement was held to be void under s. 28(1) and afforded Devereux no right 
of possession and occupation after expiration of a lease from the Crown in his favor 
made under the provisions of s. 58(3). . . . 

But for s. 28(1) I would have concluded that the lease arrangement evidenced by 
the memorandum in writing dated October 21, 1986, supported Sloan's contention 
that it had a leasehold interest in the lands in question for a period of 10 years.4" 

In fact, the Court severed that portion of the agreement dealing with reserve 
lands and found the defendant Demckson in breach of the remainder of the 
agreement dealing with chattels and non-reserve lands. 

In neither Deuerem nor Dm'ckson did the Courts indicate that lack of 
band consent was the determinative factor. Subsection 28(1) voids any 
attempt by a band to agree unilaterally to a grant of reserve land unless the 
necessary ministerial authorization is obtained. Therefore, the clear words of 
the subsection mean that even a clear intention on the part of a band, or a 
band member, will fail in the face of a lack of the necessary authorization by 
way of permit. 

This approach to subsection 28(1) is supported by Re Attorney-General 
of Nova Scotia and Millbrook Indian B ~ n d , ~ 9  in which the Nova Scotia 
Coua of Appeal considered whether an agreement between the Band and a 
nnn-Indian, Ruth Rushton, purporting to allow occupation of reserve land 
was void by virtue of the operation of subsection 28(1). The Court placed 
great emphasis on the fact that there was no permit supporting the agreement 
between the Band and the occupier, and held that this deficiency rendered 
the agreement void: 

The reserve land on which the mobile park is situated is unsurrendered reserve 
land and the hf i~ster  of Indian Mairs and Northern Development has issued no per- 
mit authorizing the use or occupation of the land pursuant to s. 28(2) of the Indian 
Act, RSC 1970, c. 1-6, and, in particular, has issued no permit authorizing the use or 
occupation of the land by Mrs. Rushton. 

Section 28(2) permits the Minister to authorize a person, not a member of the 
band, to occupy or use a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise rights on a 
reserve. It is a validating provision qualifying s. 28(1), which reads as follows: 

468 ,U.D SIoan CmuUmts Ltd. 0. Derrickon i1991), 85 DLR. (4th) 449 a1 455 (WX). 
469 Re Attornq-Ceneml of Navr Scotia md MiU6mk Indian Band (1978). 13 DLR i3d) 230 (NSCA), 
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28(1) Subject to subsection (2), a deed, lease, contract, instrument, document 
or agreement of any kind whether written or oral, by which a band or a member of a 
band purports to permit a person other than a member of th.dt band to occupy or use 
a reseme or to reside or otherwise exercise any rights on a reserve is void. 

Any agreement by Mrs. Rushton with the Millbrook Indian Band respecting her 
occupancy of reserved land in the mobile park is clearly void by virtue of s. 
28(1).':O 

The decision of Mahoney J of the Federal Court's Trial Division in 
Springbank Dehydration Ltd u. further illustrates that the lack of 
a permit under subsection 28(2) voids an agreement attempting to convey a 
right of occupation and use of reserve lands. In that case, Mahoney J 
declined to grant an injunction to the plaintiff corporation on the basis that 
the statement of claim was predicated upon, but failed to disclose, an interest 
in certain reserve lands. 

The plaintiff was the sublessee of about 400 acres of reserve land under a 
lease in which the Minister of Indian and Northern Affairs had covenanted 
that, if the head lease should be terminated, a new lease for the balance of 
the term of the sublease would be granted to the plaintiff. On June 26, 1976, 
the plaintiff and the Band entered into an agreement in writing whereby it 
was agreed that 160 acres of other reserve lands would be leased to the 
plaintiff in substitution for 180 acres of the leased lands, the resulting parcel 
of some 380 acres being referred to in the judgment as the "Consolidated 
lands." Soon thereafter, the head lessee decided to surrender its lease effec- 
tive September 30, 1976, and on September 2, 1976, pursuant to his cove- 
nant, the Minister made an offer, open to September 29, 1076, to lease the 
original 400-acre parcel to the plaintiff. On September 28, the Band Council, 
by resolution, ratified, approved, and confirmed the agreement of June 26 
and requested the Minister to grant a lease of the Consolidated lands to the 
plaintiff. Relying on the agreement of June 26 and the resolution of Septem- 
ber 28, the plaintiff did not accept the Minister's offer and expended money 
on the Consolidated lands. No pennit had been issued pursuant to subsection 
28(2) of the Indian Act, however. 

The Band then decided to go into business for itself on the Consolidated 
lands and the plaintiff commenced an action seeking, among other hngs ,  
injunctive relief. Mahoney J. concluded: 

470 Re Attomq-General of Nova Smtia andMiUbmok Indian Band (19781, 93 DLR (3d1 230 n 231 ( N U ) .  
471 Springban4 Uqhdmtion Ltd. v. Charier, I19781 1 FC 188 (TD). 



hs 1 indicated at the close of the hearing, I am satisfied that, if the statement of 
claim discloses that the plaintiffs now have an interest in any of the lands, the injunc- 
tion ought to issue in respect thereof. 

. . .The interest in the Consolidated lands depends entirely on the effect of the 
agreement of June 26, 1976 and the subsequent resolution of the Band Council. . . . 

The agreement as to the Consolidated lands would appear to be clearly void by 
virtue of subsection 28(1). That matter has been dealt with too ojen to be open 
to any doubt in spite of apparent equities. Likewise, the resolution can have no 
effect, the agreement being voidi7" 

Because the plaintiffs claim for injunctive relief was premised entirely on its 
ability to establish a subsisting legal interest in the Consolidated lands, and 
because no such interest was made out, the injunction was not granted. 

In its earlier reports dealing with the surrenders of reserve lands by the 
Kahkewistahaw and Moosomin First Nations, the Commission has had occa- 
sion to review at length the competing policies of autonomy and protection 
inherent in the Indian Act, and the discussion of those policies in cases like 
Apsmsin and Chippmm of Kettle and Stony Point. The central principles 
in those cases have recently been renewed afresh in Opetchesaht, in which 
Major J, as already noted, stated: 

With the twin policies of autonomy and protection in mind, s. 37 and s. 28(2) reflect 
that, depending on the nature of the rights granted, different levels of autonomy and 
protection are accorded. Section 37 demonstrates a high degree of protection, in that 
the approval of the Governor in Council and the vote of all of the members of the 
hand are required. This indicates that s. 37 applies where significant rights, usually 
permanent andfor toral rights in reserve lands are being transferred. On the other 
hand, under s. 28(2), lesser dispositions are contemplated and the interest trans- 
ferred must be temporay. 1t is evident from a review of this permit that it does not 
violate the balance between autonomy and protection struck by the Indian Act. This 
is not a case where surrender, with all of its administrative and legal impositions was 
required in terms of the overall policy of the lndian Act?" 

On one hand, autonomy is achieved by respecting and honouring decisions 
that bands make with regard their reserve lands. On the other hand, protec- 
tion of the Indian land base is achieved by requiring Crown consent to many 
transactions contemplated under the Id inn  Act. The scheme of the Act is to 

472 Springbank Deybdration Ltd. u. Charles, 1119781 1 FC 188 at 191 (TD) In reaching this conclusion, Mahoney 
J footnoted theMcMasler and Easterhroob cases and the funher decision of [he Exchequer Caurt in T k  King r: 
Caur'chan Agncullural Society, [I9501 En. CR 448. 
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attempt to balance these competing policies by requiring both the band and 
the Crown to consent to dispositions of land. If a court were to uphold an 
agreement unilaterally entered into by a band or band member purporting to 
transfer an interest in reserve land without Crown consent, the entire under- 
lying purpose of protecting the Indian land base against erosion would be 
frustrated. As the Commission recently stated in its report dealing with the 
claim of the Eel River Bar First Nation: 

If use and occupation of reserve lands through means other than those specified in 
the Indian Act, including uses allowed solely by the Band, were sanctioned, the 
Crown would be released from its protective responsibility, c o n t r q  to the intent of 
the Indian Act and the oolicv that underlies it. Accordinelv. unless the use and occu- . , ", , 
pation has been authorized by the Crown in one of the forms contemplated by the Act 
- surrender, expropriation, or permit - the use and occupation of reserve land is 
contraq to the .4~t."'~ 

With these considerations in mind, we must now consider the 1977 Band 
Council Resolutions and any written or oral agreement or agreements under- 
lying them. These instruments must surely constitute one or more of the 
deeds, leases, contracts, instruments, documents, or agreements "of any kmd 
whether written or oral" enumerated in subsection 28(1), and thus they 
must fall within the scope of this subsection. As a result, since no permits 
have ever been issued under subsection (2), but subject to our comments 
below, the clear terms of subsection (1) provide that the Band Council Reso- 
lutions and any underlying written or oral settlement agreements must be 
considered void. 

Moreover, while it may have been arguable that the failure to issue permits 
in 1977 might be cured even at this late date by issuing them now, that 
option is not available in this case because the nature of the interest granted 
to the PFRA is not amenable to being authorized under subsection (2) in any 
event. The Commission is thus faced with the dilemma of a settlement that 
was wrongly conceived, but pursuant to which funds were paid over to the 
three western Bands and apparently spent by them. 

Bearing in mind the Commission's earlier conclusion that a permit under 
subsection 28(2) could not be used to authorize the flooding of reserve 
lands given the scope of the interest involved, we would conclude that, but 
for subsection 28(1), the settlements evidenced by the 1977 Band Council 

@74 Indian Cizims Cammission, Eel R i m  Aar Firs1 rvation inqrriy: Reprt on Eel River D m  C/aim(Otrawa, 
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Resolutions would have been valid. However, subsection 28(1) drives us to 
the conclusion that the senlement was void insofar as it purported to permit 
the PFRA "to occupy or use a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise any 
rights on a reserve." 

The next question we must consider is whether the settlement, which 
released the PFRA "from all past, present and future claims" arising from the 
flooding caused by the dams, is effective to preclude the QVIDA First Nations 
from claiming damages notwithstanding subsection 28(1) of the Indian Act. 

Did the Band Council Resolutions Release Canada 
and the PERA from Liability? 

Powers of Band Councils 
The QMDA First Nations contend that, if the Commission concludes that the 
Band Council Resolutions were not void ab initio, only then does it become 
necessary to determine whether a Band Council Resolution can release a 
third party from liability. The corollary to the First Nations' assertion is that, 
if the Band Council Resolutions were void ab initio, it should be unneces- 
sary to consider whether a Band Council Resolution can have such a releas- 
ing effect. 

Canada's position is, of course, premised on the assumption that a Band 
Council Resolution can be used to release a third party from Liability. It 
derives thls conclusion from the principle that the ability to pursue an action 
is a power that is necessarily incidental to the powers expressly granted to a 
band council under the Indian Act. In its written submission, Canada stated: 

The court in Whitebear Band Council v, Carpenters Provincial Council of S a y -  
katchewan and Lubour Reht~ons m r d  ofSaskafcheuumo5 describe? the roles and 
powers of a band council as follows: 

(iii) The nature of the Band Council 
As municipal councils are "creatures" of the Legislatures of the Provinces, so 
Indian band councils are the "crrdtures" of the Parliament of Cmdda. Parliament 
in exercising the exclusive jurisdiction conferred upon it by s. 91(24) of the Brit- 
ish ~Vofib Ama'ca Act, 1867 to legislate in relation to "Indians and Lands 
Reserved for the Indians" enacted the Indian Act, RSC 1970, c. 1-6, which pro- 
vides - among its extensive provisions for Indian Status, civil rights, assistance, 
and so on, and the use and management of Indian reserves - for the election of a 

475 Whilebear B a d  Council v Cmpenters h v i n c i a l  Council of Saskatchan andlnbour Rekztions Rwrd qf 
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chief and 12 councillors by and from among the members of an Indian band 
resident on an Indim reserve. These elected officials constitute Indian band coun- 
cils who in general terms are intended by Parkdment to provide some measure - 
even if rather rudimentary - of local government in relation to life on lndian 
reserves and to act as something of an intermediary between the band and the 
Minister of Indian Affairs. 

More specifically s. 81 of the Act clothes Indian band councils with such pow- 
ers and duties in relation to an lndian reserve and its inhabitants are usually 
associated with a rural municipality and its council: a band council may enact by- 
laws for the regulation of traffic; the construction and maintenance of public 
works; zoning; the control of public games ,and amusements and of hawkers and 
peddlers; the regulation of the construction, repair and use of buildings, and so 
on. Hence a band council exercises - by way of delegation from Parliament - 
these and other municipal and governmental powers in relation to the reserve 
whose inhabitants hwe elected it. 

I think it worth noting that the lndian Act contemplztes a measured maturing 
of self-government on lndian reserves. Section 69 of the Act empowers the Gover- 
nor in Council "to permit'' a band to manage and spend its revenue moneys - 
pursuant to regulation by the Governor in Council - and by s. 83 the Governor in 
Council may declare that a band "has reached an a d v ~ c e l d l  stage of develop- 
ment" in which event the band council may, with the approval of the Minister, 
raise money by way of assessment and taxation of reserve lands and the licensing 
of reserve businesses. Until then the band council derives its funds principally 
from the government of Canada. . . . 

In addition to their municipal and governmental function, band councils are 
also empowered, by the Indian Act, to perform an advisory role and in some 
cases to exercise a power of veto, with respect to certain activities of the Minister 
in relation to the reserve, including, the spending of Indian moneys, both capital 
and revenue, and the use and possession of reserve land.. 

Moreover, in light of the provisions of the single contribution agreement and 
some of the terms of the consolikdted contribution agreement, it appears that in 
practice, Indian band councils from time to time act as agents of the Minister of 
Indian Hairs  and representatives of the members of the reserve with respect to 
the implementation of certain federal Government programmes designed for 
Indian reserves and their residents - a complimentary role consistent with their 
function. 

The powers of band councils to contract as a necessary incident of the powers 
expressly granted to them under the Indian Act is discussed directly in the decision 
of the Alberta Court of Queen's Bench in Telecom Leasing Canada (TLC) Ltd. v. 
Enoch lndian Band of Stony Pkzin Indian Reserve No. 135.'51:6 This case dealt with 
whether a band council could enter into a guarantee of a lease to a corporate lessee 

476 Telecarn Leasing C a d  (TLC) Lld u E n d  Indian Band ofStony Plain lndian Kesne No 135, I1931 1 
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of certain road construction equipment. The court concluded that the band council 
was so authorized: 

The more significant question is whether the band council had the power to enter 
into such an agreement on behalt of the band. The defendant submits that it did 
not. The defendant argues that the band council derives its powers solely from 
statute, and entering into a contract of guarantee is not among the powers enu- 
merated in the Indian Act. Rather, the defendant argues, approval of the band as 
a whole and not just the council was needed. 

I disagree. Although the band council is clearly a creature of statute, deriving its 
authority solely from the Indian Act (Paul Band (Indian Resewe No. 1333 v. R., 
[I9841 2 WWR 540, 29 Alta. LR (2d) 310 (sub nom. R. v. Paul Indian Ban4 
[I9841 1 CNLR 87, 50 A.R. 190 (C.A.), at p. 549 [WWR, p. 94 CNLRI, it by 
necessity must hazepowers in addition to those expressly set out in the stat- 
ute. 'This was recognized by the British Columbia Supreme Court in Lindlty v. 
Dem'ckson (March 29, 1976), [I9781 CNLB (No. 4) 75, wherein it was held that 
a "band council must have the implied power to bring legal proceedings on behalf 
of the band  (p. 84). In this regard I accept the suggestion Jack Woodward 
advances in his book Native Law (Toronto: Carswell, 19891, at p. 166: . . . 

It may be said that band councils possess at least all the powers necessary 
to effectively carry out their responsibilities under the Indian Act, even 
when not specifically provided for. There is an implied power to contract, 
without the need for authority in the Indian Act. 

The British Columbia Supreme Court arrived at a similar conclusion in Joe v. Fi&y 
and Findl~y.~" In this case the band council was attempting to recover possession of 
some reserve lands from a band member that had stopped paying rent. In response to 
the question of whether the band council had authority to pursue the action, the court 
states: 

To say that [the council] has the power to allocate reserve land but no status to 
recover possession when rights it has granted have expired would, it seems to me, 
be to deny the council the ability effectively to carry out this important function. 
Council cannot exercise the legal authority vested in it if it has not the status in law 
to bring such an action as this against those who overhold. 

Accordingly, it is submined that the band councils had the authority to, and did, bind 
their respective First Nations with respect to releasing Canada and the PFUA from all 
damages as set out in the correspondence and the BCRS.~'~ 

The QVlDA First Nations submitted that, if the Commission were to con- 
clude that the Band Council Resolutions were not void a6 initio, the case law 
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suggests that a Band Council Resolution may be used for the purpose of 
releasing a third party from liability: 

[Wlhile a BCR cannot release Canada or the Band from their obligations under the 
Act, can a BCR release another party from liability to the First Nation? Case law has 
established that a Council of a First Nation can institute, prosecute and defend a legal 
action, and can bind a First Nation in a contractual sense. 

These cases suggest that if the BCRs releasing PFRA were validly passed by the 
Councils of the First Nations, they wiU likely be found to be binding on the First 
Nations. A release is essentially a contractual agreement by which one party, in return 
for valuable consideration, agrees to give up a claim against the other. The power to 
release a cause of action would be necessarily an attribute of the power to "institute, 
prosecute and defend a court action". In this case, the releases appear to have been 
entered into by the First Nations in return for the $265,000 in compensation from 
PFRA, and the First Nations appear to have been acting with legal advice. Based on 
these factors, it appears that the BCRs could bind the First Nations, in so far as they 
release PFRA from liability for past, present and future damages due to flooding!" 

Although it appears that a band council may, by resolution, "institute, prose- 
cute and defend a legal action, and can bind a First Nation in a contractual 
sense," in the Commission's view the question is by no means without doubt 
on the facts in this case. However, in light of our reasons that follow, it is not 
necessary for the Commission to decide the question here. 

Extent of Release 
Assuming that a band council can release a third party from liability for the 
unauthorized use and occupation of reserve land, it is questionable whether 
the Band Council Resolutions in this case release Canada generally from lia- 
bility, or only the PFRA. The First Nations point to cases like Apsassin as 
authority for the proposition that the courts are "showing an increasing will- 
ingness to treat different arms of the federal government as distinct entities 
for purposes of determining liability to First Nations for past  wrong^.""^ In 
Apsassin, the Supreme Court of Canada held that the Department of Indian 
Affairs was under a fiduciary obligation to undo a land transaction that had 
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been discovered to be unfavourable to the Band, whereas no such obligation 
was explicitly imposed on the Veterans' Land Administration, notwithstanding 
its status as another arm of the federal Crown. The QVIDA First Nations claim 
that the release in this case applies only to the PFRA. They say that, because 
Indian Affairs was only minimally involved in the settlement negotiations, it 
failed to uphold its fiduciary responsibility to ensure that the provisions of the 
Indian Act were complied with, and failed to protect the Bands' interests 
with regard to the foreseeable damage that would result from the erection of 
the Qu'Appele Valley dams. 

Canada takes a different view. Counsel argued that the Prairie Farm Reba- 
bilitation Act simply set up a pool of money to be administered by the fed- 
eral Minister of Agriculture to deal with drought and soil-drifting problems in 
Manitoba, Saskatchewan, and Alberta: 

Now the Minister of Agriculture is, of course, a miruster of the government, just like 
the Minister of Indian Affairs or, at that time, the Minister of the Interior, and is 
Canada inasmuch as any Department of Her MajesPj can represent Canada.'81 

In short, the argument is that, by releasing the PFRA, which is one arm of 
Canada, the QWlA Bands released Canada. 

In the Commission's view, it is not necessary to determine whether the 
First Nations are correct in their assertion that it is possible to sever the 
PFRA, to which the releases were granted, and pursue the unreleased 
remainder of the federal government. The real difficulty in this case centres 
on the fact that there is considerable doubt, based on the evidence before the 
Commission, whether the Pasqua, Muscowpetung, and Standing Buffalo First 
Nations suffered any damages for which they have not been fully compen- 
sated in 1977. Furthermore, to succeed on this ground, the First Nations 
would have to demonstrate that Canada was in breach of its fiduciary obliga- 
tions by fahng to protect them from entering into an exploitative bargain with 
the PFRA. In our assessment of the evidence, it is difficult to see how this 
transaction could be characterized as exploitative in either the procedural 
sense of the word or in the end result. 

Presumably, in the context of the 1977 settlement negotiations between the 
PFRA and the western QVIDA Bands, Canada's obligation was to ensure that 
those dealings did not result in a transaction that was, in the words of 
McLachlin J in Apsassin, foolish or improvident and thus exploitative of the 
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Bands. In this case, the Bands had the benefit of independent legal advice. 
Indeed, Indian Affairs wis asked to stay out of the negotiations because it was 
believed that lawyer Roy Wellman would not be limited in the way the Depart- 
ment would be, and that he would be better able to plead the Bands' case. To 
Wellman's credit, he was successful in negotiating a settlement of $265,000, 
which was roughly 10 times higher than the PFRA's opening position and 
double its "coni?dential" position. In fact, the final settlement figure of 
$265,000 was proposed by the Bands in the first place. It is difficult to 
understand how Canada, having seen that the Bands received the benefit of 
independent legal advice, and having reviewed the settlement and accepted 
the recommendation of the Department of Regional Economic Expansion that 
the settlement w;ls "reasonable and justifiable," can be said to have failed in 
fulfilling its fiduciary obligations to the Bands. In this context, we find the 
following words of Urie JA in the Kruger case to be apt: 

In essence, however unhappy [the members of the First Nation] were with the pay- 
ments made, they accepted them. The payments were for sums which could be sub- 
stantiated by the independent valuations received by both parties and which were 
determined after extensive negotiations and forceful representations on the Indians' 
behalf by the Indian Agent and other high officials of the Indian Affairs Branch. /fthe 
submissions advanced by the appellants were to preuail, the only way that the 
Crown could successfully escape a chape of breach o f fduc iay  dzrty in such 
circumstances would have been, in each case, to have acceded in fizll to their 
demands or to withdraw fmm the transactions entirely. The competing obliga- 
tions on the Crown could notpermit such a result. The Crown was in the position 
that it was obliged to ensure that the best interests of all for whom its officials had 
responsibility were protected. The Governor in Council became the final arbiter. In 
theflnal analysis, houleuer, if the appelhnts were so dissatisfied with the expro- 
priations and the Crown's offers, they could have utilized the Exchequer Court to 
determine the issues. For whatever reasons, they elected not to make these choices. 
They accepted the Crown's offers and, at least in the case of Parcel 6, the offer was 
at t h e h r e  which they had szrgested. I fail to see, then, how they could now 
successhlly attack, after so many years, the settlements to which they agreed.'8' 

Kruger was clearly decided in the context of an expropriation, with inde- 
pendent valuations and forceful representations on the Band's behalf by offi- 
cials in Indian Affairs. Despite the obvious differences in Kruger, there are 
important analogies to the facts before us. First, the Q W l A  Bands had inde- 
pendent legal advice from Wellman, who forcefully represented their interests 
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throughout the negotiations leading up to the 1977 settlement. Second, the 
Bands also could have rejected the 1977 settlement in favour of a litigated 
resolution, but chose not to do so. Finally, J.D. Leask, Indian Affairs' Director 
General for the Saskatchewan Region, reviewed the settlement and concluded 
that it was "fair and just." 

The only mmner in which it might be said that Indian Affairs fell short was 
in the fact that no independent valuations were obtained by either party. It 
will be recalled that the parties had initially agreed to proceed by having the 
PFRA prepare engineering assessments to quantify the areas affected. The 
Bands later asked to proceed in the absence of such assessments to avoid 
prolonging the process and incurring greater expense. In the result, the valu- 
ation chosen was the Bands' own figure, to which the PFRA initially made 
strident objection. Ultimately, to use the language of Urie JA in Kmger, the 
PFRA "acceded in full" to the Bands' proposed terms. The PFRA rationahzed 
the Bands' proposal as "reasonable and justifiable" by claiming to have paid 
the "present value of lost returns to the land between 1943 and the present 
[1977]," and fair market value for the flooded areas with regard to future 
damages, but clearly the settlement represented the Bands' figure. With these 
circumstances in mind, we would be hard pressed to conclude that the 
absence of independent valuations operated to the Bands' detriment in 1977. 

Severability of the 1977 Settlement 
Even if the 1977 settlement was fair and reasonable, subsection 28(1) ren- 
ders void any agreement whether written or oral "by which a band or a 
member of a band purports to permit a person other than a member of that 
band to occupy or use a reserve or to reside or otherwise exercise any rights 
on a reserve." What, then, are we to make of a settlement that contemplates 
damages for past trespasses as well as compensation and permits for future 
use and occupation, particularly where proceeding by way of such a permit 
was, in our view, invahd? Moreover, what is the effect of the money actually 
having been paid by the PFRA to the benefit of the Bands, and having been 
spent by them? Finally, what is the effect of the Bands having passed later 
Band Council Resolutions purporting to rescind the resolutions adopting the 
settlement? 

We will address the last question later in this report. With regard to the 
first two questions, we believe that the issue to be decided is whether subsec- 
tion 28(1) of the Indian Act renders the entire 1977 settlement void, or 
whether parts of the settlement can be severed and can remain effective not- 



withstanding the fact that other parts of the settlement are clearly illegal and 
thus void. 

To understand the effect of the words in subsection 28(1) that render an 
agreement "void unless the requirements of subsection 28(2) have been 
met, it is instructive to consider the following analysis by G.H.L. Fridman 
regarding "illegal" contracts: 

Invalidity through illegality. . . . 

(b) Illegality and other kinds of invalidity.. . . 
A contract for a purpose regarded by the law as improper, though it conforms to d 
other requirements of a valid transaction, will lack essential validity, and, therefore, 
will be void. Invalidity through illegality refers to the infringement by a contract of 
some statute or doctrine of the common law relating to the purpose or object to be 
achieved by such contract. The term "illegality", in this sense. does not mean "crimi- 
nal". An illegal contract, though invalid and therefore void, does not necessarily 
involve the contracting parties in liability for criminal conduct. However, the term 
"illegality" has been used to cover contracts which may have consequences in the 
criminal law, under the Criminal Code in Canada (or under statute or the common 
law in England), as weU as the consequence of contractual invalidity. 

(c) Illegality and voidness 
In the histoly of contracts which are invalid at common law the courts have fre- 

quently used the expression "illegal" to mean not only a contract which is undoubt- 
edly illegal under statute or under one of the heads of public policy to be examined 
later, but also a contract which at common law is not completely and truly illegal. As 
clarified by Denning L.J. in the English case of Bennett u, Bennett:X3 some of these 
"illegal" contracts at common law were not, and are not now, illegal in the fullest 
sense. They are really void to the extent of their illegality, but may be enforced as to 
the rest, if the illegal part can be severed from the legal. Thus, a contract in restraint 
of trade is void, but not illegal; insofar as it is possible to excise the illegal restraint 
from the rest of the contract, this will be done. In the more sophisticated language 
and ideas of the twentieth centuty, contracts may be invalid, in whole or in pan, 
without being illegal, and such invalidity may arise under statute or by virtue of the 
common law. Canadian cases, however, do not appear to make the same subtle dis- 
tinctions. They seem to use the phraqes "illegal" and "void interchangeably, and to 
make no real Merentiation between different classi6cations of invalidity, even though 
they have accepted and apply the English doctrines as to severability in relation to 
COntrdCts in restraint of trade and others, upon the basis of which the distinction 
between voidness and illegality may be said to rest. . . . 

One distinction does merit recognition, and that is the distinction behveen invalid- 
ity under statute and by virtue of the common law. There are sufficient differences 
behveen the nature of the invalidity in question and the operation of the relevanr 

483 Bennelt v. Bennett. I19521 1 KB 249 at 160 (M) 
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doctrines to justify classification of the types of invalidity in accordance to whether the 
source is some statute or some rule of the common law. 

2. Statutory illegality 

(a) Prohibition by statute 
In this context the statutes concerned are notper se  criminal, that is, the Criminal 

Code. They are statutes of a regulatory nature, the infringement of which may involve 
illegality. The prohibition of a contract by such a statute renders the contract void and 
of no effect. . . 

In the present case, there is no question that subsection 28(1) of the 
Indian Act gives rise to the sort of statutory illegality contemplated by 
Fridman. Unless the requirements of subsection 28(2) have been satisfied, an 
agreement by which a band or a member of a band purports to permit a 
person other than a member of that band to occupy or  reside or otherwise 
exercise any rights on a reserve is void, at least to the extent of its illegality. 
However, the balance of such agreements may be enforced, if, to use 
Fridman's words, "the illegal part can be severed from the legal." 

On the question of severance, Fridman continues: 

A . . . very important qualilicatiou of the doctrine of the voidness of illegal contracts is 
the idea of severance. Sometimes a court will recognize the separation of valid from 
objectionable parts of a contract, and, while refusing to enforce the latter, will give 
effect to the former. In this connection it should be mentioned that the argument that 
there is a distinction between illegal and void (but not illegal) contracts, whether by 
statute or common law, may depend upon the application of the idea of severance. If 
the consideration for a promise or set of promises is illegal, then all the promises 
which rest on, or  are dependent upon such consideration will be invalid. If some of 
the promises are dependent upon such illegal consideration, whether illegal at com- 
mon law or under statute, while others have an independent existence, and rest upon 
consideration which is not itself illegal, then such independent promises may be 
enforceable against the other party. This distinction lies at the root of the illegal-void 
dichotomy. To quote from one English case which is said to support this 

. . . there are two kinds of illegality of differing effect. The First is where the illegal- 
ity is criminal, or contra bonos mores, and in those cases . . . such a provision, if 
an ingredient in a contract, will invalidate the whole, although there may be other 
provisions in it. There is a second kind of illegality which has no such taint; the 
other terms in the contract stand if the illegal portion can be severed, the illegal 
portion being a provision which the court, on the grounds of public policy, will 
not enforce.4R' 

481 G.1l.l.. Fridrnan, The Law o/Contracf in Gamda, Ld ed. (Tamnto/Calg~Nmcouver: CmweU, 1986). 321-25 
485 Cwdimon v Cwdinson, 119541 2 QB 118 ar 120-21 (a), SornelveU LJ. 



It is suggested, by wdy of response, that in reality the test of the effect of the contract, 
in terms of its being wholly illegal or only partially void, must depend upon: (1) the 
policy of the common-law rule or statutory provision that is invoked, namely, can it 
be limited in its scope and application; and (2) whether, in the circumstances, not 
only is the contract one that is potentially severable, but severable in fact, having 
regard to the way the parties have contracted. Thus, the operation of the doctrine of 
severance rests upon its applicability to the type of contract that is in issue, as well as 
upon the practical question whether the particular contract before the court, though 
potentially severable, admits of ~everance."~ 

Therefore, to determine whether the 1977 settlement must be considered 
wholly illegal or only partially void, it would be necessary to consider, first, 
whether the scope and application of subsection 28(1) can and should be 
limited, and, second, whether the settlement itself is severable in fact, having 
regard to the manner in which the parties have contracted. 

However, in light of the positions the parties have taken in this inquiry, it 
would be premature for the Commission to decide these questions at this 
stage. Neither party has addressed the important question of severability of 
contractual terms in its written submission because each has taken an "d or 
nothing" approach - Canada seeking to uphold the entire settlement, and the 
QVLDA First Nations submitting that it should be declared entirely void. 

As already stated, the Commission is of the view that Canada's position 
cannot be sustained. By virtue of subsection 28(1), the settlement must be 
either completely void, as the First Nations contend, or, if the settlement is 
severable, it is at the very least void in relation to the proposed permit and 
any pre-paid damages from 1977 into the future. 

Assuming, without deciding the point, that the entire 1977 settlement is 
void, and assuming that the dams will continue to remain in place, it will be 
necessary for the parties to enter into negotiations to obtain the proper 
authority to flood reserve lands and to determine whether any compensation 
is stdl owed to the QVIDA First Nations on account of damages from the 
1940s to the present and into the future. In that event, the position of Pasqua, 
Muscowpetung, and Standing Buffalo would be no different from that of 
Sakimay, Cowessess, and Ochapowace, except to the extent of the set-off to 
be factored into the negotiations. Any amount negotiated with regard to Mus- 
cowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo would have to set off $265,000 in 
1977 dollars, whereas a settlement with the three eastern First Nations would 

in6 G.H.L. Fridman, The 'helour of Contract in C a d .  2* ed. (TomntolCalga~Nancou~er: CanweU. 19R6), 399~ 
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have to reflect the compensation of $3330 paid to them in 1943, less the $60 
credited to the Cowessess Indian Residential School. 

Alternatively, and again without deciding the point, if the portion of the 
settlement dealing with the damages for trespass before 1977 can be severed 
and remain in effect, it d still be necessary for the three western First 
Nations to renegotiate compensation from 1977 to the present and into the 
future. It is true that the effect of severing the settlement in this fashion would 
be to reduce by 35 years the period with respect to which compensation 
must be renegotiated, again subject to set-off of some portion of the compen- 
sation already paid in 1977. However, the important point is that, regardless 
of whether the settlement is severable, further negotiations between Canada 
and the three western First Nations seem inevitable in view of the fact that 
subsection 28(2) of the Indian Act could not he used to grant authority to 
the PFRA to flood reserve lands in the Qu'AppeUe Valley. Similarly, since it 
was not open to Canada to authorize use and occupation of reserve lands 
commencing in the early 1940s under section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act, 
negotiations with the three eastern First Nations are likewise required. 

Because we are without the benefit of argument on the question of sever- 
ability, we do not know whether the parties differ on this issue. We assume 
that the three western First Nations will continue to assert that the 1977 set- 
tlement should be considered entirely void. However, it is not inconceivable 
that Canada might also wish to take this position in preference to severing the 
settlement if it believes that the compensation paid in 1977 adequately com- 
pensated the First Nation for its damages. Since all six First Nations partici- 
pating in this inquiry will in any event be required to negotiate or renegotiate 
some or all aspects of the compensation paid to them, we recommend that 
the question be resolved in the following fashion. 

Unless Canada chooses to remove the control structures at Echo Lake, 
Crooked Lake, and Round Lake, it should take immediate steps to secure the 
necessary land rights required from all six participating First Nations to con- 
tinue the operation of those structures. Whether it chooses to acquire the fee 
simple or some lesser interest such as a right of way should be based on two 
considerations: ensuring that the interest acquired from each First Nation is 
sufficient to achieve the objectives for which that interest is acquired, while at 
the same time (to quote from the Commission's decision in the Sumas 



Q U ' A P P E L I , B  V A L L E Y  I N D I A N  D E V E L O P M E N ' I  A U T I I O R I T Y  I N Q U I R Y  

inquiry) doing "as little injury as possible to the Indians' intere~ts.""~ Simi- 
larly, whether Canada acquires the required interests in land by surrender - 
assuming that the First Nations would be prepared to consent - or expropria- 
tion is a decision best left to Canada after weighing and balancing the various 
interests of the First Nations with those of the other parties that Canada must 
consider. 

Canada and the six First Nations should also negotiate the remaining com- 
pensation, if any, payable to the First Nations for the use and occupation of 
the lands flooded by the control structures. As noted, the compensation paid 
to the three western Bands in 1977, and the use and occupation of their 
reserve lands by Canada since the early 1940s, should be factored into the 
compensation payable. Similarly, the compensation paid to the eastern Bands 
in 1943, and the PFRA's use and occupation of the lands since that time, 
should be factored into the compensation payable to those First Nations. If 
Canada and the western First Nations are unable to agree on whether the 
period from the early 1940s to 1977 can be severed and treated as settled, or 
if any First Nation is otherwise unable to agree with Canada on the outstand- 
ing compensation, if any, owed to that First Nation, it is open to the parties to 
bring those issues back before the Commission for its recommendation fol- 
lowing the submission of appropriate evidence and argument. 

Could the Bands Rescind the 1977 Band Council Resolutions? 
The QVIDA First Nations argue by analogy to municipal law that, "where a 
body is delegated the power to pass bylaws or resolutions, that power 
includes the power to repeal the bylaws and resolutions," subject to restric- 
tions where repealing a bylaw or resolution would affect "vested rights of 
third parties." In this case, the First Nations contend that, while it might 
appear that the PFRA had vested rights as a result of the preceding construc- 
tion and operation of the Echo Lake dam, the PFRA should not be protected 
by the vested rights doctrine since the 1977 Band Council Resolutions did not 
create vested rights and the flooding before 1977 was not authorized. There- 
fore, in the First Nations' submission, it should have been open to them to 
rescind the 1977 Band Council Resolutions as they subsequently purported 
to do. 

487 Indian (laims Comrmsion, S u m  Inquiy: Report on hdbn R e s m  #6 Roiluw Right of Wqy Chtm 
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If the 1977 settlement was entirely void ab initio under subsection 28(1) 
of the Indian Act, as the First Nations submit, this issue becomes academic 
since it would not have been necessary for the Bands to issue rescinding 
Band Council Resolutions to render the earlier resolutions ineffective. How- 
ever, to the extent, if any, that the 1977 settlement can be considered valid 
under section 28 of the Indian Act, the Commission agrees with counsel for 
Canada that the 1977 Band Council Resolutions were merely one form of 
evidence of an agreement between the PFRA and the western Bands regarding 
the settlement of damages for past flooding as well as the compensation and 
permits for future use and occupation of reserve lands. Other documents - 
such as correspondence among the parties, payment of the sum of $265,000 
by the PFRA to Indian Affairs for deposit to the respective Bands' trust 
accounts, and the receipt and expenditure of those funds by the Bands - 
would represent substantial evidence of this agreement even in the absence 
of the 1977 Band Council Resolutions. 

We do not consider the execution of these Band Council Resolutions by 
the Bands as an exercise of their legislative power to pass bylaws or resolu- 
tions, hut rather as independent evidence of an intention to enter into a con- 
tract. As parties to a contract, the Bands are subject to the ordinary princi- 
ples of offer and acceptance, consideration, capacity and so forth, assuming 
that such principles apply to this suigeneris field of law. To permit one party 
to an agreement to withdraw unilaterally from that agreement without the 
concurrence of the other party would he contrary to basic principles of con- 
tract law. 

Therefore, regardless of whether the 1977 settlement was valid in part or 
entirely void, we conclude that the rescinding Band Council Resolutions are 
irrelevant for the purposes of determining the interests of the parties in this 
case. 

Conclusions 
To summarize, the Commission concludes that it was not open to Canada in 
the early 1940s to authorize the PFRA under section 34 of the 1927 Indian 
Act to use and occupy reserve lands of the six participating QVIDA First 
Nations for flooding purposes. That being the case, the purported authoriza- 
tions granted by Canada at that time must he considered ineffective, such that 
the PFRA has been in trespass on the eastern reserve lands ever since, and on 
the western reserve lands until at least 1977. 
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With regard to the western First Nations, the 1977 settlement was void a 6  
initio under subsection 28(1) of the Indian Act, either entirely or at mini- 
mum with respect to that portion of the settlement relating to the permits and 
damages for future use and occupation looking forward from 1977. In any 
event, the nature and duration of the future right to use and occupy reserve 
land, as intended by the parties to be granted by the settlement, fell outside 
the scope of the permits authorized by subsection 28(2). The effect of these 
conclusions is that the PFRA remained in trespass on the Muscowpetung, 
Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo reserves after 1977. However, whether the por- 
tion of the settlement deahng with pre-1977 trespasses can be severed and 
operate independently is an issue the parties should negotiate. If they are 
unable to settle that issue or any other question relating to the quantum of 
compensation arising out of the PFRA's unauthorized use and occupation of 
reserve lands, it is open to the parties to return to the Commission for a 
further inquiry into such matters. 

ISSUE 5 ABORIGINAL, TREATY, AND RIPARIAN WATER RIGHTS 

Did those QWlA First Nations with reserves adjacent to or on both sides of 
the Qu'AppeUe River and lakes have common law riparian water rights, 
including rights to the river beds? If so, did the Crown have an obligation to 
ensure that these water rights were protected under the North-West Imga- 
tion Act, 1894, and the Dominion PowerAct, and to act in the First Nations' 
best interests when those rights might be affected? Moreover, did the Crown 
act in the best interests of the-QVIDA First Nations when it authorized the 
PFRA to construct control structures that altered the First Nations' riparian 
interests and caused consequential losses? 

As the final aspect of their claim, the QVIDA First Nations claim to retain 
aboriginal title and treaty rights to the bed and waters of the Qu'Appelle River 
adjoining their respective reserves, in addition to the riparian rights accruing 
at common law to those in possession of land adjacent to a body of water. 
The parties agree that riparian rights include the right of access to the water; 
the right of drainage; rights relating to the Row, quality, and use of water; and 
the right of accretion. The First Nations also contend that the Qu'AppeUe 
River is non-navigable, meaning that, by virtue of the common law principle 
of ad mediumfilum aquae, a presumption arises that the First Nations, as 
holders of riparian rights, also own the bed of the river and lakes to the 
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centre line (where a given First Nation owns land on one side of the hody of 
water) or the entire bed (where a First Nation owns land on both sides of the 
hody of water). 

In the first instance, the First Nations contend that Canada's implementa- 
tion of the North-West Irrigation Act in 1894 did not demonstrate the neces- 
sary "clear and plain intention" that case authorities may indicate is required 
to extinguish their aboriginal, treaty, and riparian rights. Alternatively, if their 
interests were damaged by Canada's implementation of the North-West In% 
gation Act and its failure to protect those interests by licensing the Bands' 
rights to use water for "domestic, irrigation and other purposes," then the 
First Nations argue that Canada breached fiduciary obligations to them. Fur- 
ther breaches arose, in the First Nations' submission, when Canada failed "to 
protect those treaty and riparian interests which were not forfeited by the 
~Vorth-west Irrigation Act, in permitting the flooding to take place which 
resulted in not only economic losses but a loss of treaty hunting, fishing and 
trapping rights."a8 

Counsel for Canada was perplexed by the First Nations' claim under this 
heading and contended that, for the following reasons, the Commission 
should find no outstanding lawful obligation owing by Canada for breach of 
the First Nations' water rights: 

The role of the Commission, Canada submits, is to assess whether a claim 
is "eligible for negotiation" - in other words, "a claim must show some 
loss or damage that is capable of being negotiated under the [SpeciJic 
Claims] P0licy."~9 The Commission's mandate does not permit it to issue 
declarations of legal rights or legal opinions concerning rights that are not 
brought directly into issue by the loss or damage that forms the subject 
matter of the claim. 

The claim in this inquiry is for loss of income from farming, hay produc- 
tion, wood products, hunting, and trapping as a result of damage caused 
by permanent and semi-permanent flooding of reserve lands. Canada con- 
tends that the First Nations' claim does not disclose which riparian rights 
were affected by the North-West Irrigation Act, nor how a licence issued 
under the Act would have preserved the rights claimed to have been 
affected. Moreover, Canada further questions how the losses alleged relate 
to the water rights claimed, and "how any such damages differ from the 

4% Submissions on Behait of she QVIDA First Nations, May 5 ,  1997, p. 77. 
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damages that are already being claimed as a result of the alleged illegal 
flooding of the reserves."" Even if the Commission shonld find a breach of 
the Bands' water rights giving rise to a separate cause of action, Canada 
submits that there is still only one set of damages eligible to be compen- 
sated, whether it he under the water rights claim or under the preceding 
claims for illegal use of reserve lands or breach of fiduciary duties. 

In rebuttal, the First Nations added that they lost the ability to use the 
waters of the Qu'AppeUe River in the same manner as they had prior to the 
erection of the dams, owing to pollution and other factors. Counsel also 
noted that there could be other damages besides those contemplated by the 
first four issues in these proceedings, such as special damages and punitive 
 damage^."^ 

In the Commission's view, it is unnecessary to address this issue in light of 
our Endings earlier in this report. Canada contends that any sustainable 
claims by the First Nations arising out of aboriginal, treaty, or riydrian water 
rights appear to represent alternative causes of action giving rise to the same 
damages dealt with in our comments relating to Canada's inappropriate use 
of section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act. If that is the case, then to the extent the 
PFRA and its successors can be shown to have interfered with the Bands' 
riparian or other water rights - whether rights of drainage, water quality, or 
others in the catalogue of such rights - as a result of the erection and opera- 
tion of the Qu'AppeUe Vatley dams, we are of the opinion that the First 
Nations are entitled to claim compensation from the PFRA for the damages 
caused by that interference. Those damages must be assessed with caution to 
ensure that there is no element of "double counting" in compensating the 
First Nations for their losses arising under alternative causes of action. Care 
must also be taken in considering the compensation of $3270 paid to the 
Cowessess, Ochapowace, and Sakimay Bands in 1943 and the settlement for 
$265,000 with the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo Bands in 
1977 to prevent duplicate awards for the same damages. Canada takes the 
position that all the First Nations have received atl the compensation to which 
they are entitled, subject to Eurther investigations being undertaken regarding 
the fairness of the $3270 paid to the eastern Bands in light of the possible 
limitations in P.A. Fetterly's abilities as an appraiser. While we are not pre- 
pared at this stage to conclude that the First Nations have been fully compen- 
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sated, we recognize that such a findimg represents one possible outcome of 
the steps we recommend the parties take at th~s time. 

Near the end of the oral session, counsel for the First Nations in rebuttal 
raised the question of damages caused by pollution. The evidence before us 
is equivocal at best as to whether raising the water levels in the Qu'AppeUe 
Valley has bad the effect of increasing or mitigating pollution levels. On one 
hand, some of the elders testifled that water quality has decreased as the 
dams have impeded the flow of the river and its natural "flushing" action. On 
the other hand, there is documented historical evidence to show that, during 
long periods of drought in the 1930s and at other times, low water levels 
contributed to stagnation, leading to requests for dams to increase water 
levels and enhance the diluting effects of having more water in the system. 
There is also some technical evidence to suggest that all river systems have a 
natural cycle in which they tend to become increasingly Med with sediment, 
algae, and other natural "contaminants" over the course of time, although 
this process "can be accelerated by human activities which increase the rate 
at which nutrients are contributed to the water."@Z Without better evidence to 
demonstrate how pollution levels have changed and how those levels can he 
linked to the construction of the Echo Lake, Crooked lake, and Round Lake 
dams and other control structures in the Qu'Appelle Valley, we are unable to 
decide this point. 

Finally, we do not believe it is necessq to comment on Canada's alleged 
failure to obtain licences in a timely manner to protect the Bands' riparian or 
other water rights following Canada's passage of the North-West Imgution 
Act in 1894. As counsel for Canada argued, such licences appear to deal with 
rights of consumption for domestic, agricultural, and other purposes, and no 
damages arising £ram the failure to protect such consumptive rights have 
been demonstrated to the Commission. For ths reason, we will refrain h m  
deciding whether riparian or other water rights were extinguished by the 
North-West Irrigation Act or other statutes, or whether the Crown failed to 
protect these rights, such as they may be, on behalf of the Bands. 
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PART V 

FINDINGS AM) RECOMMENDATIONS 

FINDINGS 

The Commission has been asked to inquire into and report on whether the 
Government of Canada properly rejected the specific claim of the Q m A  First 
Nations. In assessing the validity of the claim, we have considered the follow- 
ing issues: 

1 Could the Crown authorize the PFRA under section 34 of the Indian Act, 
1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes? If so, was 
the PFRA so authorized? If not, did Canada breach its fiduciary obligations 
to the QMDA First Nations by failing to obtain proper authorization under 
the Act? 

2 If Canada could and did properly authorize the PFRA under section 34 of 
the Indian Act, 1927, to use and occupy reserve lands for tlooding pur- 
poses, did the Crown nevertheless have a fiduciary obligation to consult or 
otherwise consider the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations before 
proceeding? 

3 Did the terms of Treaty 4 preclude the Crown from relying on section 34 
of the Indian Act, 1927, or otherwise require the consent of the QVIDA 
First Nations to authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for 
flooding purposes? 

4 Did the Band Council Resolutions signed by the Pasqna, Standing Buffalo, 
and Muscnwpetung First Nations in the 1970s effectively release the Crown 
and the PFRA from all past, present, and future claims for damage caused 
by the Echo Lake control structure built in the 1940s? 
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5 Did those QVIDA First Nations with reserves adjacent to or on both sides 
of the Qu'Appelle River and lakes have common law riparian water rights, 
including rights to the river beds? If so, did the Crown have an obligation 
to ensure that these water rights were protected under the North-West 
Irrigation Act, 1894, and the Dominion PowerAct, and to act in the First 
Nations' best interests when those rights might he affected? Moreover, did 
the Crown act in the best interests of the QVIDA First Nations when it 
authorized the PFRA to construct control structures that altered the First 
Nations' riparian interests and caused consequential losses? 

Our findings are summarized as follows 

Issue 1: Section 34 of the Indian Act, 1927 
Canada acknowledged that it had not acquired the right to use and occupy 
reserve lands of the QWlA First Nations by way of expropriation or surren- 
der, so the question that remained was whether such use and occupation 
could he authorized by the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs under 
section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act. Based on the reasoning of the Supreme 
Court of Canada in Opetchesabt, the Commission concludes that, even if sec- 
tion 34 is assumed to be an enabling provision rather than merely prohibi- 
tory, the rights conveyed to the PFRA were too extensive, exclusive, and per- 
manent to he authorized under section 34. Moreover, unlike subsection 
28(2) of the later Indian Act considered by the Court in Opetchesabt, sec- 
tion 34 does not contemplate consent by either a hand or a band council, 
meaning that it should he interpreted even more narrowly than subsection 
28(2). 

Since section 34 did not form an appropriate basis for authorizing use and 
occupation of reserve lands for flooding purposes in this case, it was not 
necessary for the Commission to consider whether Canada actually did 
authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands under the section. There- 
fore, it was necessary for the PFRA to acquire by surrender or expropriation 
the right to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding purposes. Having failed 
to do so, the PFRA has trespassed on the reserve lands of all six participating 
First Nations from the early 1940s to at least 1977, and on the reserve lands 
of the Sakimay, Cowessess, and Ochapowace First Nations to this day. The 
impact of the 1977 settlement on the PFRA's use and occupation of the 
reserve lands of the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo First 
Nations is addressed below. 
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Issues 2 and 3: Canada's Fiduciary and Treaty Obligations 
Given that the Commission has concluded that it was inappropriate for 
Canada to authorize the PFRA to use and occupy reserve lands for flooding 
purposes under section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act, it is unnecessary to 
determine whether Canada breached a fiduciary or treaty obligation to con- 
sult or otherwise consider the best interests of the QWlA First Nations before 
proceeding. 

Issue 4: Effects of the 1977 Band Council Resolutions 
For the same reasons that we concluded that it was not open to Canada to 
authorize the use and occupation of reserve lands for flooding purposes 
under section 34 of the 1927 Indian Act, Canada could not authorize such 
use and occupation under subsection 28(2) of the 1970 Indian Act as part 
of the 1977 settlement discussions with Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing 
Buffalo. The present case is distinguishable from Opetchesaht and the Eel 
River Bar First Nation inquiry because of the more extensive, exclusive, and 
permanent interest granted to the PFRA than to the British Columbia Hydro 
and Power Authority and the New Bmnswick Water Authority in those other 
cases. Moreover, the 1977 settlement was void ab initio under subsection 
28(1) of the Indian Act, either entirely or at minimum with respect to that 
portion of the settlement relating to the permits and damages for future use 
and occupation looking fonvard from 1977. The effect of these conclusions 
is that the PFRA remained in trespass on the Muscoqetun$, Pasqua, and 
Standing Buffalo reserves ajter 1977. The question of whether any pre-1977 
trespasses were settled by the I977 settlement depends on whether the Band 
Councils had the power to enter into binding settlements with respect to the 
unauthorized use and occupation of reserve lands and whether the release 
clause in the 1977 Band Council Resolutions can be severed from those por- 
tions of the agreement rendered void by subsection 28(1) of the Indian Act. 

Unless it chooses to remove the control structures at Echo Lake, Crooked 
Lake, and Round Lake, Canada should immediately commence negotiations 
to obtain, whether by surrender or expropriation, the interests in land it 
requires for flooding purposes from all six reserves. Canada should also 
commence negotiations to determine the remaining compensation, if any, 
payable to the Sakimay, Cowessess, and Ochapowace First Nations for flood- 
ing damages since the 1940s, taking into account the $3270 received by 
those First Nations as compensation in 1943. Similarly, Canada should com- 
mence negotiations to determine the remaining compensation, if any, payable 
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to the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing Buffalo First Nations for flooding 
damages to those reserves, again taking into account the compensation of 
$265,000 paid to the three First Nations under the terms of the 1977 settle- 
ment. Whether the settlement entered into by the Band Councils in relation to 
damages prior to 1977 is binding on the respective Bands, and whether this 
part of the agreement can be severed and can operate independently to settle 
the damages arising during that period, are issues the parties should negoti- 
ate. If they are unable to settle those issues or any other question relating to 
the quantum of compensation arising out of the PFRA's use and occupation 
of reserve lands, the parties may return to the Commission for a further 
inquiry into such matters. 

The Band Council Resolutions by which the three western Bands pur- 
ported to rescind the 1977 Band Council Resolutions and the settlement are 
irrelevant to these proceedings. If the 1977 settlement was entirely void ab 
initio under subsection 28(1) of the Indian Act, this issue is academic, 
since it would not have been necessary for the Bands to issue rescinding 
Band Council Resolutions to render the earlier resolutions ineffective. How- 
ever, to the extent, if any, that the 1977 settlement can be considered vahd 
under section 28 of the Indian Act, the 1977 Band Council Resolutions were 
merely evidence of the intention to enter into a contract. As such, it would he 
contray to basic principles of contract law to permit the First Nations unilat- 
erally to withdraw from the 1977 settlement without the concurrence of 
the PFRA. 

Issue 5: Aboriginal, Treaty, and Riparian Water Rights 
It is unnecessary for the Commission to address the nature and extent of the 
First Nations' aboriginal, treaty, and riparian water rights in light of our find- 
ings in relation to the first four issues. Nevertheless, to the extent that the 
interference with such water rights constitutes an alternative cause of action, 
and if the PFRA and its successors can be shown to have interfered with the 
First Nations' water rights, we consider the First Nations to be entitled to 
claim compensation for the damages caused by such interference. Due 
regard must be had, of course, for compensation already paid to the First 
Nations to avoid any element of "double counting." 

The evidence before the Commission is insufficient to link pollution in the 
Qu'AppeUe River conclusively to the construction and use of the Echo Lake, 
Crooked Lake, and Round Lake control structures. Similarly, we have been 
shown no evidence that the failure by Canada to license the First Nations' 
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consumptive rights under the North-West Irrigation Act of 1894 has caused 
any danldge to the First Nations. The Commission therefore declines the invi- 
tation to decide whether the First Nations' riparian or other water rights were 
extinguished by that statute, or whether the Crown failed to protect those 
rights. 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Having found that the Government of Canada owes an outstanding lawful obli- 
gation to the First Nations of the Qu'Appelle Valley Indian Development 
Authority with respect to the Prairie Farm Rehabilitation Administration's 
acquisition of the right to use and occupy their reserve lands for flooding 
purposes, we therefore recommend: 

RECOMMENDATION 1 

That Canada immediately commence negotiations with the QVIDA 
First Nations to acquire by surrender or expropriation such inter- 
ests in land as may be required for the ongoing operation of the 
control structures at Echo Lake, Crooked Lake, and Round Lake or, 
alternatively, remove the control structures. 

RECOMMENDATION 2 

That the flooding claims of the Sakimay, Cowessess, and 
Ochapowace First Nations be accepted for negotiation under 
Canada's Specific Claims Policy with respect to 

(a) damages caused to reserve lands since the original construction 
of the dams in the early 1940s, and 

(b) compensation for 

(i) the value of any interest that Canada may acquire in the 
reserve lands, and 

(ii) future damages to reserve lands, 

subject to set-off of compensation of $3270 paid to those First 
Nations in 1943. 
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RECOMMENDATION 3 

That the flooding claims of the Muscowpetung, Pasqua, and Standing 
Buffalo First Nations be accepted for negotiation under Canada's 
Specific Claims Policy with respect to 

(a) damages caused to reserve lands 

(i) since the original construction of the dams in the early 
1940s, or 

(ii) alternatively, since 1977, if these First Nations can be 
bound by the 1977 Band Council Resolutions and if the 
release for damages prior to 1977 can be severed from the 
invalid part of the settlement, and 

(b) compensation for 

(i) the value of any interest that Canada may acquire in the 
reserve lands, and 

(ii) future damages to reserve lands, 

subject to set-off of compensation of $265,000 paid to those First 
Nations in 1977. 

FOR THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION 

P.E. James Prentice, QC Carole T. Corcoran Roger J. Augustine 
Commission Co-Chair Commissioner Commissioner 

Dated this 19th day of February, 1998 
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APPENDIX A 

QU'APPELLE VALLEY INDIAN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY INQUIRY 
FLOODING CLAIM 

1 Planning conferences Regina, Januav 30, 1995 
Regina, June 6, 1995 

Regina, September 28, 1995 
Regina, April 3, 1996 
Regina, May 14, 1996 

Regina, February 28, 1997 

2 Community sessions 

The Commission conducted the following community sessions: 

September 18, I996 The Commission held a joint community session 
of the Sakimay, Cowessess, Kahkewistahaw, and Ochapowace First 
Nations in the Community Hall on the Sakimay reserve. Tes*ng were 
elders George Ponicappo, Alex Wolfe, Marie Kaye, Raymond Acoose, 
Edna Sangwais, Emma Panipekeesick, Jimmy Wahpooseyan, and Leo- 
nard Kequahtooway of Sakimay; Joseph Crowe, John Alexson, Mervin 
Bob, Man McKay, and Urhin Louison of Kahkewistahaw; Henry 
Delorme of Cowessess; and Margaret Bear, Marlowe Kenny, Arthur 
George, and Calvin George of Ochapowace. 

October 2, 1996 The second session involved testimony from elders 
of the Pasqua First Nation who were heard in the Pasqua Band Hall. 
The participants included David Obey, Stanley Pasqua, Clara Pasqua, 
Andrew Gordon, Raymond Gordon, Clayton Cyr, Lawrence Stevenson, 
Jimmy Iron Eagle, George Kahnapace, Lawrence Chicoose, Agnes Cyr, 
Dora B. Stevenson, Marsha Gordon, Bernard Gordon, Edith Merrifield, 
and Ina Kahnapace. 

October 3, 19%. The Commissioners convened in the Muscowpetung 
School gymnasium to hear the evidence of 11 elders of the Mus- 



cowpetung First Nation: Calvin Poitras Sr, Violet Keepness, Isabelle 
Keepness, William Pratt, Evelyn Cappo, Winonah Toto,  EM^ Toto, Earl 
Cappo, Paul Poitras, Norma Cappo, and Eugene Anaquod. 

April 4, 1997: The final community session was held at the Standing 
Buffalo Cultural Centre to hear from that First Nation's elders. Provid- 
ing oral testimony were Charlie Buffalo, Susan Yuzicappi, Isabelle Jack- 
son, Felix Bearshield, Ken Goodwill, Clifford G o o d d ,  Tony Yuzicappi, 
and, through Band Councillor Velma Bear, Cecil Wajunta, Victor 
Redman, Catherine Goodfeather, and Celina Wajunta. 

3 Legal argument Regina, June 26, 1997 

4 Content of formal record 

The formal record for the QVIDA Inquiry consists of the following 
materials: 

- the documentary record (6 volumes of documents) 

35 exhibits tendered during the inquiry, including transcripts from 
community sessions (4 volumes) 

transcript of oral submissions (1 volume) 

written submissions of counsel for Canada and the QVIDA First 
Nations, including authorities submitted by counsel with their written 
submissions and supplemental authorities submitted during oral 
submissions 

The report of the Commission and letters of transmittal to the parties d 
complete the formal record of this inquiry. 


